Stronger together,
driving positive outcomes




Who we are
DWF is a leading global provider of integrated legal and
business services.

Our purpose
Delivering positive outcomes with cur colleagues, clients
and communities.

What we do

We have listened to our clients, and there is a growing desire
for legal and business services 1o be delivered in an easier
and more efficient way. S0, we've built cur range of services
on this principle.

How we do it

We have three offerings — Legal Advisory, Mindcrest and
Connected Services. Our ability 1o seamlessly ccmbine
any number of these services to deliver bespoke solutions
for our clients is our key differentiator. Delivered through
our global teams across eight core sectors, our Integrated
Legal Management approach delivers greater efficiency,
price certainty and transparency for our clients without
compromising on quality or service.
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Highlights of our year

Financial highlights

Revenue

£416.1m

Fy22 £416.1m

FY21 £400.9m
FY20 £356.6m

Global expansion
We announced a new association in Portugal
and our first Connected Services association
in Iberia and Latin America. We alsc opened
aregional headquarters for business
services in Riyadh and our fourth Spanish
office, in Sevilte.

!
H
i
'

Net revenue

£350.2m

Fy22 £350.2m [

FY21 £338.1m
FY20 £297.2m

Profit / ({loss) before tax

£22.3m

i
|
Definition* \
|
|

Adjusted profit before tax

£41.4m

FY22 £22.3m FY22 £41.4m
Fy21 £{30.6)m FY21 £34.2

FY20 £18.2m FY20  £152m

Definition*

Cost to income ratio Lock-up days

FY22 38.4% FY22 179

FY21 39.2% FY21 184 !
FY20 41.4% FY20 206 i
Definition* Definition*

* See glossary to the financial statements for
definitions of all adjusted measures

i Client wins

We were appointed to 32 legal panels
through FY2022, including to the UK central

. government legal services panel.

Non-financial highlights

Client net promoter score

+03

An increase from +49 driven by our
ability to provide an integrated solution
to aur clients’ challenges, in more
markets than ever.

Launch of ESG Strategy

50%

We published our first Envircnmental,
Social and Governance {ESG') Strategy,
with ambitious targets on climate and
stretched targets to further improve
Diversity & Inclusion, These included
our commitment to reduce emissions
by 50% by 2030, compared with 2019,

Colleague engagement survey score

/0

Our engagement score remained 76,
whilst the response rate increased
by more than 10% with nearly 3,000
colleagues participating.

DWF Foundation

£317,725

awarded in grants in the past year

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Strategic report

Our business at a glance

Our vision Our offerings

To be the leading global Legal Advisory

provider of integrated |ega| Premium legal advice and excellent
. . client service. Gur teams bring

and business services commercial intelligence and relevant

- industry experience
Our purpose -
Delivering positive outcomes  Mindcrest

: : i Outsourced and process-led
with our colfeagues, clients alternative legal services offering,

and communities . designed to standardise, systematise,
scale and optimise legal workflows for
areas such as contract management
and ensuring regulatory obligations
are met for our customers.

Connected Services

Our range of products and
business services that enhance
and complement our legal offering.

We act with purpose:

To deliver positive outcomes with our colleagues, clients and communities

We have an ambitious and sector We are not just a law firm What does that mean for our colleagues?
leading ESG Strategy with a proven L. soeln sl e sloba! ek
track record of delivery

02 DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Our differentiator - Net revenue by division* )
Our integrated Legal | 2022 | Soa: E
Management approach ! . H
Our ability to segmlessly combine ' |
any number of our offerings to deliver £292 O ] I l 1
bespoke solutions for our clients is * :
our key differentiator. Delivered through (Revenue £355.1m) ' £285.3m
our global teams across eight core sectors, (Revenue £345.6m)
our Integrated Legal Management approach ! e — =
delivers greater efficiency, price certainty o 5
and transparency for our chents without Mindcrest _p 24 4m by
compromising on guality or service. - . a
! (Revenue £26.8m) [ £24.4m g
For more information, see pages 12 to 13 | ’ (Revenue 26.6m) g
£33.9m ;
' B
: (Revenue £34.2m) £28.4m Z
{Revenue £28 .8m) g
— 3
* see glossary to the financial statements for the defimtion of net revenue %
3

Where we operate

We continue 1o build our presence globally | DWF offices Associations
through acquisitions, associations and b e Australia * Hong Kong
lateral hires. This year we opened in + Canada = Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Seville, our fourth office in Spain, and we * France * Portugal
established a new regional headquarters + Germany . * Republic of Singapore
for business services in the Middle East, * India * Republic of South Africa
through the faunch of our office in Riyadh. + Ireland * Turkey
We also established a new association in * ltaly + United States of America
Portugal and we announced our first + Poland
Connected Services association. + Qatar

v Spain

+ UAE

* United Kingdem

* United States of America

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022 03
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Reasons to invest in us

We are a leading global provider of
integrated legal and business services.

The opportunity: The $750bn global legal
services market is growing at 5% annually
and itis transforming in a technology-driven
era, with the alternative legal services market
erowing at 15%.

A unique, modern A giobal business
and integrated with mult jurisdictional
service platform expertise

~ Predictable, recurring and

diverse revenues sit alongside
a quality M&A track recorc

DWF Group plc | Annual Regort and Ateounis 2022
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Talented and incentivised An experienced and Builcing on our established
experts at the heart of diverse management team programmes to become the
everything we do focused on growth market leader on ESG

Yie have set g number of ambitious rew
Larpets o drve progress acr 3
DLsiress, pardcalarly inr
neend cuuslity diversity ane:

ow Dusimess ard crarges buld or our established
cossatlour A <eis, | sare 5 N SCUGNE we Taen
S mpact and
lopment

GROS I N

SUSTAINABLE &
@ DEVELOPMENT GQN’ALS
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Strategic report

Chair’s statement

“Our new global operating
structure, which came
into effect on 1 May 2021,
is delivering the benefits
of greater integration

and alignment of our
colleagues and services for
the benefit of our clients.”

Jonathan Bloomer
Chair

Dear Shareholder,

I am delighted to welcome you ta our Annual
Report and Accounts for the year ended

30 April 2022. We have experienced another
year of global volatility, with the economic
recovery from COVID-19 impacted by
inflationary pressures and the terrible
events in Ukraine. Throughout this period,
DWF has focused on living its purpose as we
seek to deliver positive cutcomes with our
colleagues, clients and communities.

This focus on purpose is central to the
culture of our business and a critical reason

i why we have performed well. | would like to

offer my thanks, and the thanks of the whole
Board, to all of our colleagues across the
Group for their continued commitment,
dedication and high-quality delivery
throughout the year.

Group performance
In my statement in last year's Annual Report,
| said that our FY2020/21 performance had

: provided the Group with a platform to

deliver sustainable profitable growth. That
has certainly proven the case this year, with
both revenue and statutory profit growth
and a further reduction in leck-up days,
reflecting continued progress inimproving
our operational efficiency.

Our like-for-like net revenue growth rate
of 7% is strong and sustainable (reported

" revenue growth is 49%). We have good

momentum from the final quarter of
FY2021/22 which has continued into this
new financial year and so we look forward
with optimism.

- Our new global operating structure, which

came into effect on 1 May 2021, 1s delivering
the benefits of greater integration and

| alignment of our colieagues and services
© for the benefit of our clients. We see the

mmpact of this with more of our largest
clients interested in our ability to offer

a global, Integrated Legal Management
approach. We have secured a number of
important client wins including the UK
central government legal services panel,
NHS Resolution, Allianz and Lv=. We alsc
saw a sharp rise in our Net Promoter Score,
which Sir Nigel talks more about in his Q&A.

Leadership

It has been a year of stability, with no
changes to the Board. | would like to thank
all of our Board members for their time
and focus throughout this year. | would

¢ particularly like to thank Seema Bains

and Michele Cicchetti for their invaluable
contributions and diversity of thought
and experience as Partner Directors

on the Board.

Culture

Cur vision is to create a culture and working
environment where all colleagues can
contribute authentically at their highest
level to create long-term value aligned to
our purpose and vision. This means a
sustainable business where everyone is
included, engaged, valued and equipped
with skills for today and the future.

We know from our colleague engagement
survey, which saw an increase in
respondents as compared with the last
survey, that 89% feel treated with respect

by their colleagues and 87% feel they can

be themselves at waork. For the first time,

we asked celleagues if they feel supperted
to adopt a hybrid model of working. We were
pleased to find that 83% do feel supported,
which reflects the focus given to this topic as

" more and more of our colleagues wark in

this way.

Qur overall colleague engagement score of 76
has remained consistent despite significant
periods of change over the past two to three
years, both in the business and in the general
global economic and working environment.

We are proud that our main colleague
recognition programme, The Rubie Awards,
saw a record number of submissions this
year. More than 800 colleagues took the
time to nominate one of their peers for an
award, whilst there were around 15,000
instant recogmtions through our Achievers
platform. This focus on colleague
recogniuon 1s an important element of the

o culture we wish 1o ¢reate, ensuring everyone
~ feels recagnised, respected and thanked

- properly for their contribution to the overall
¢ success of the Group.

06
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Culture is also at the heart of our workplace
strategy. As we prepared for COVID-19
restrnictions to ease across our locations, we
consulted regularly with colleagues through
surveys and workshops to ask them how,
where and when they want to work. Their
views and preferences have been reflected
and now more of our colleagues than ever
are benefiting from our hybrid working
modetl, which continues to develop through
our workplace strategy.

Our role in society

ESG has been one of the core areas of focus
for the Board this year, with Kirsty Rogers,
Group Head of £SG, joining us at our Board
meetings on a regular basis to discuss
progress in the formulstion and delivery of
our first global ESG Strategy. | am delighted
that this strategy was published in
December, with Shareholders provided with
an opportunity to hear about it at our
half-year presentation.

Through this strategy, we have committed
to ambitious science-based targets to drive
climate action and to stretch targets to
further improve Diversity & Inclusion and
social mobility.

Early actions taken since publication of our
strategy include launching our ESG Client
Policy and establishing our Risk & Sanctions
Committee. We have also introduced D&l
chjectives for all people managers, secured
approvai of our climate targets from the
Science-Based Targets initiative and
achieved Bronze Standarc from the Carbon
Literacy Project.

We have also developed a programme

of activities and resgurces to support
colleagues’ physical and mental health, led
by the Group's Wellbeing Committee.

Stakeholders across the sector are holding
legal services providers to account for

their actions on ESG. Employees, clients,
communities and regulators, expect firms

to lead with purpose and to have a clear
strategy for improving performance on ESG
matters. DWF's own research has found that
companies risk losing clients and talent if
they have weak ESG performance.

DWF Group pl¢ | Annual Reportand Accounts 2022

ESG is a ¢ritical business issue, which is why
we focus on it so closely.

I talk more about our purpose, values and
cuttyre in the Governance introduction on
page 57. You can read more detail on our
priorities and actions in our separate
Sustainability Report and on pages 32 to 49.

Dividend

" The Group's capital allocation policy

prioritises having sufficient capital to fund

' ongoing operating requirements, and to

invest in the Group's long-term growth.
Taking this into account, the Board targets a
pay-out ratio of up to 70% of adjusted profit
after tax. For FY2021/22, the Board has
proposed a final dividend of 3.25 pance per
share, representing an increase of 8% on the
final dividend paid last year and taking the
total dividend for the year te 4.75 pence,
reflecting a pay-out ratio of 44%. This
pay-out ratio reflects a progressive dividend
in absolute terms, but retains a proportion
of FY2021/22 profits to invest in near-term
growth apportunities. If approved by
Shargholders at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting, the final dividend will be
paid on 7 October 2022 to all Shareholders

I onthe register on 9 September 2022,

Details of our dividend policy can be found
on pages 25 and 116,

Remuneration Policy

Our Remuneration Policy is being put
before Shareholders for approval at our
forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The
Remuneration Policy was reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee to ensure it
continues to support delivery of our
business strategy. Following that review,
some minor amendments are proposed in
order to provide greater clarity and to add
limited additional flexibility in specific areas.
More information is available in the

~ Remuneration report, which can

be found on pages 83 1o 114,

" Annual General Meeting 2022

The Annual General Meeting will be held on
28 September 2622. You can read more on

" the arrangements for the AGM on page 174

* Looking ahead

The first two months of trading for
FY2022/23 have been strong, showing
continued momentum in line with Q4 of
FY2021/22. As we progress through
FY2022/23, we will continue to execute
effectively against our strategy to drive
profitable growth through our Integrated
Legal Management propoesition. Despite the
prospect of challenging macro-economic
conditions, we remain confident in our
medium-term guidance,

Jonathan Bloomer

. Chair

20 July 2022
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Strategic report

Chief Executive
Officer’s review

“Our performance this
year evidences the
increasing maturity of
our business, the appeal
of our offering to clients
and our confidence in the
medium-term targets

we have outlined to
Shareholders.”

Sir Nigel Knowles
Group Chief Executive Officer

o8

How did the Group perform
this year?

We are pleased with the progress we

have made this year. FY2020/21 was a
transformational year for our business

and, in FY2021/22, we have continued to
transform, not least through the successful
implementation of our new global operating
rmodel, We have alsc embedded our working
capital and client programme initiatives
introduced in the prior year and are

. benefiting from the impact of various office

restructures. Together, these actions have
contributed to a year of sustained profitable

" growth. Adjusted profit before tax increasing

by 21% against a strong prior year is a result
we are proud of and has been achieved
thanks to margin improvement across each
of our three divisions combined with
ongoing rigour in our control of costs. This
has also led to a return to statutory profit
before tax for the year of £22.3m
(FY2020/217: loss of £30.6m},

Our performance this year is evidence of
the increasing maturity of our business,
the appeal of our offering to clients and
our confidence in the medium-term targets
we have outlined to Sharehoelders. With
like-for-lke growth of 7%, we have
demonstrated that we are on track to
deliver the top-line performance implied
in our guidance. Some of our transactional
pracuces had outstanding double-digit
growth, but we also have the bedrock of
Insurance in our business which, whilst it

¢ tends to grow at a slower rate, helps to

protect the business from the volatility
that can be seen in more transactionally
focused businesses.

How are your clients responding
ta DWF's Integrated Legal
Management approach?

Inshort, very well. We continue to see an
evolution in the legal services market,

with changing buyer behaviours and an
increasing demand for alternative legal
services and related business services.

Our differentiated proposition leaves us
really well placed in this regard and we have
seen a growing number of our key clients
taking services from more than one division.

We work with Deep-Insight, a research
company with more than 20 years'
experience with large B2B organisations,
to carry out regular independent customer
relaticnship quality assessments, including
calculation of our net promcter score,

We were delighted that our ability to provide
anintegrated solution te our clients’
challenges, in more markets than ever, was
a factor in the strong net promoter score of
+63 in our census of more than 500 clients

This year we commissioned independent
research from Thomson Reuters, the
findings of which support our confidence
in our business madel. Their analysis
shows that the legal services market overall
continues to grow, but with the strongest
growth in the ALSP market. They also found
that traditional faw firms are evolving but
are failing to adapt quickly enough to
respond to new COmMpetitors, or 1o
differentiate their services by offering
alternative approaches

Our highly cifferentiated proposition and

~ stellar client base leaves us well placed to
- compete effectively against traditional and
- new legal services providers. As we talk to

our largest and fastest-growing clients about
the benefits of our propasition, we are
already beginning to capitalise on these
shifting market dynamics.
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How has the ‘The Great Resignation’
and the 'war for talent’ affected
DWF this year?

There s o doubt that this has been one of
the bnggest issues facing the legal sector and
other professional services over the past

12 months. Sirmilar to other professional
services firms, we have seen attrition levels
increase and it will remain a challenge for
our business in the year ahead, but we are
confident in our balanced approach, which
responds to external market factors whilst
also offering a more progressive working
environment and seeking to capitalise on
our ability to use share incentives as part of
our reward strategy.

As | commented during this financal year,
offering more and more money to young
peaple is only a sticking plaster. It is not a
sincere, sustainable or healthy solution for
anyone. Of course we must ensure pay is
competitive, attractive and a fair reward,
but we believe there must be more than
this cne-dimensional offering.

We have emphasised our purpose-led
approach, delivering positive gutcomes
with colleagues, clients and communities.
We have committed to clear and ambitious
targets on climate, diversity and inclusion
through our ESG strategy, offering all
colleagues the opportunity to get invalved
and drive pragress. We have delivered a
true hybrid working model through which
our offices are just one environment in
which colleagues and clients work and
collaborate. Shortly after this financial
year-end, we appointed advisors to work
with us on improving the design of our
offices to ensure they are fit for these

new ways of working.

Furthermare, we have reviewed our reward
offering, including a comprehensive pay
review, share awards to more than 650
colleagues and reducing the vest period for
colleagues to receive such awards in future.
In the UK, we have also significantly
improved our family friendly policies,
demonstrating to existing and potential
colleagues that we put them first when
events in their lives naturally take priority
over their work commitments. Working with
our country leadership we will look to roll
cut many of these policies globally

moving forward.

In FY2021/22, you extended your
capabilities through new offices,
associations and M&A in Saudi
Arabia, Portugal, Spain and
Canada. Why those markels,

and where next?

We have a client-led approach to cur global
expansion. In late FY2019/20 and early
FY2020/21 we conducted a glabal review
to identify those markets where we felt we
needed a presence, either through a DWF
office or via a local association This work
helped us to identify pricrity markets and
we are pleased with the progress made in
the past 12 menths.

We returned to M&A early in FY2021/22
through twe bolt-on acguisitions in the
UK and Canada within Connected Services.

. We alsa have a strang pipeline of M&A
_ opportunities and anticipate having more

to reportin the short to medium term.

Our Saudi business is perfarming well and has
won a number of instructions, including with
Engineer Holding Group and its subsidiary, the
Saudi Media Company. We are also pleased
with our new association relationships,
including our affiliation with Hauzen LLP in
Hong Kong which we announced in May this
year. We now have association relationships in
eight markets, incuding cur first Connected
Services association with RTS Group in Iberia
and Latin America.

What is the putlook for the
year ahead?

The first two months of trading for
rY2022/23 have been strong, showing
continued momentum in line with Q4 of

¢ FY2021/22. Despite the prospect of

challenging macro-economic conditions,

we remain confident in our medium-term
guidance. This confidence is supported by
the defensive nature of the Group's revenue
being weighted towards litigation and the
recurring revenues in Insurance, which has
always protected the Group from artificial
peaks and hedges against a slowdown in
transactionat activity.

Sir Nigel Knowles

' Group Chief Executive Officer

20 July 2022
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Strategic report

Our market drivers

Market overview

Whilst the global economy remains
fragile, the past year has continued to
see growth in the legal and business
services market, The comparative health
of the sector has supported the drive
towards a consolidating market, with
more firms showing interest in growing
their offering through acquisition.

Similarly, the trend towards clients
spending an increasing proportion of
their legal spend on alternative legal
services has also continued, with that
segment of the market again outstripping
growth overall.

ESG, and especially the G of ESG, was
pushed to the very top of the boardroom
agenda this year as firms had to move
quickly to determine and then articulate
their business response to the war in
Ukraine and how they would engage clients
more broadly. This was underpinned by
a continuing focus on all aspects of ESG.
DWF research, including a survey of more
than 480 companies, found that 59% had
lost work due to a perception they were
not getting ESG right.

In that same research, companies also
reported difficulty attracting new recruits
if they didn't have a clear strategy on
ESG. This is just ong factor in the
competition for talent within the legal
sector, a new driver we include this year
to reflect the growing challenge facing
our industry and rmany others.

Market driver

Description

A globally growing and
consolidating market

VSN
v,

The legal services Industry continues to grow,

. with Themson Reuters tracking global growth

at around 5% each year, whilst sub-sets of
the industry, such as alternative legal
services, are growing much more quickly,

at 15% or more. As anticipated in last year's
Annual Report, we saw a resumption of M&A
activity in the latter half of 20271 and this
trend has gathered pace so far this year.
The war in Ukraine and gicbal inflationary
pressiures are ameng factors contributing to
market hesitancy, but we expect further
consohdation in our sector through the
remainder of 2022 and into 2023.

Alternatives to the
traditional law firm model

Alternative Legal Services Providers (ALSP)
have taken a firm hold in the legal marketplace,
with the ALSP rmarket estimated 1o be worth
at least $14bn. Furthermore, law firms and
corporate legal departments anticipate
increasing the range of ALSP services they
use in the years ahead. This market, in which
the clientis increasingly driving the demand,
is growing at more than 15% each year.

ESG rises up the agenda

ESG continues to gain significarice in the
sector, with growing expectations frem all
stakehaolders, including colleagues, clients,

* Sharehalders, prospective employees and

regulators. DWF's own research, published
in December 2021, found that due to 2
perception of weak ESG performance, 59%
of businesses had lost work and 40% found
It difficult to recruit. ESG has moved frem
being a nice thing to do, to being the right
thing to do, to becoming a critical focus on

. every boardroom agenda.

Competition for talent

Gwver the past year, the battle to recruit and

i retain the best talent has intensified. This is

true not only for the legal services industry,
but professional services more broadly and
other sectors across the economy. Growing
demand for legal services s resulting in
many firms seeking to recruit, which,
combined with factors such as ‘The Great
Resignation’, « resulting in very high levels
of movement by professionals within

the sector.

DWF Group pic | Annual Reportand Accounts 2022




What this means for our industry

Our opportunity

i Our response

COVID-19 has accelerated the pace of
change in our secter, with more law firms
responding to client demands by offering
digital-first services, improving service
availability through digital technologies or
greater use of Alternative Legal Services
Providers. Those businesses best equipped
to adapt to these changing expectations
should benefit most from a growing market.
They should also be stranger financially and
strategically more attractive, gllowing them
to grow more quickly through consclidation.

Our differentiated offering and innovative

approach 1s helping us to respond effectively |

to changing client expectations, as evidenced
by our strong net promoter score. We also
have a clear strategy of the markets in which
we must invest and in which order of priority
to support our global client base.

We have continued to expand our
presence globally through a combination
of recruitment, associations and M&A.

fn the past year this included new
associations in Portugal and our first
Connected Services association, in Spain.
We also opened a regicnal headquarters
for business services in Riyadh and our
fourth Spanish office, in Seville.

ALSP services will continue to grow 1o
hecome a significant market in therr awn
right, with an increasing number of blue chip
businesses creating ALSP panels alongside
their traditional legal services panels.
However, we are also increasingly seeing

law firms take a more coilaborative view of
ALSPs, recognising their value and seeking
to develop relationships to enable a scaling
or expansion of their own services.

We are the only legal and business

services provider to lead with the integrated
proposition that multinational clients want,
and the anly one to own a top ter provider
of alternative legal services in Mindcrest.
Whilst the market overall is growing guickly,
the fastest rate of growth is amang ALSPs
formed or owned by law firms as captive
service providers.

We have now owned Mindcrest for more
than two years and it became a division
in its own right in May 2021, We opened
our new facility in Pune with space for

up to 1,000 colleagues. in addition to
delivering services to existing new clients
and being a critical pillar in our Integrated
Legal Management approach, we also
continue te identify and transfer
appropriate work from elsewhere in

our business to our Mindcrest teams.

The trend among biue chip companies of
including ESG considerations as factors
when 1t comes to choosing their legal and
business services providers 15 gathering
pace. This s particularly the case in relation
to Diversity & Inclusion performance, but we
are also seeing growing expectations for
firms to have clear targets set on climate,
among other things.

As the only Main Market listed legal and
business services provider, we see a clear
opportunity on ESG. Our levels of disclosure,
boardroom governance and third party
measurement allow us to provide an open
and transparent story of our ESG progress
to colleagues, Shareholders, recruits and
clients. This experience can also enable us
to further strengthen client relationships as
we develop our client-facing proposition and
help us to deliver positive outcomes in our
communities in line with our purpose.

We have a long-establiished programme of
activities taking account of a wide range of
ESG factors and taking action in support
of the 10 principles of the United Naticns
Global Compact. In December 2021, we
went further with the publication of cur
first global ESG Strategy, which includes
ambitious science-based targets through
which we cocmmit to reducing carbon
emissions in line with the Paris Agreement,
along with stretched targets to further
improve Diversity & Inciusion.

This driver presents a number of challenges
for the industry, including the difficulty of
recruiting and retaining sufficient levels of
talent to deliver the services expected by
clients. Many firms have responded by
sharply raising salaries, especially for
newly-qualfied lawyers. This risks creating
unfair expectations on those \ndividuals
and there is increasing pushback from
clients unwilling to pay higher fees

to cover those salaries.

We believe there is an opportunity to offer
a differentiated proposition to colleagues.
We must ensure pay is competitive,
attractive and fair, but our opportunity is
in creating a total reward package that is
more appealing than this one-dimensional
offering. This includes the emphasis we
place on our purpose-led approach, our E5G
Strategy, our commitment to a true hybrid
working mode! and the ability to achieve a
preferred work-life balance.

We have reviewed our approach to reward
and benefits and made a number of
changes, including launching, in the UK, a
new and improved range of family friendly
benefits. We have also reduced the pericd
of time in which future share awards will
vest, helping more colleagues become
owners in our business, more quickly. We
have appointed a workplace consultant to
help us make the most of our physical
space within a hybrid working model. And
we have committed to ambitious targets
on climate and Diversity & Inclusion.

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022

1

7]
o
<
1]
iy
=
o
>
=2
m

SIUILUBIEIS {eIIUeLY S

uoijeuLioju 1ay1Q



Strategic report

Our business model

Our inputs

Our colleagues

Our clients

Our communities
Our values

Our knowledge

Our brand

Our systems

Our global footprint

QOur main activities

Legal Advisory
Premium legal advice and excellent client
service. Our teams bring commercial

I intelligence and relevantindustry
| experience.

Mindcrest
Qutsourced and process-led alternative
legal service offering, designed to

standardise, systematise, scele and optimise

legal workflows for areas such as contract
management and ensuring regulatory
obligations are met for our customers.

. Connected Services

Our range of products and business
services that enhance and complement our

legal offering.

Impacted by

- Market drivers

A globally growing and
consolidating market
Alternatives to the traditional
law firm model

ESG rises up the agenda
Competition for talent

Our stakeholders

Colleagues
Clients
Supphers

Debt providers
Shareholders
Communities
Regulators
Policymakers
Insurers
Landlerds

Qur values

Always aim higher

We exceed the expectations
of our colleagues and our
clients in everything we do.

sustain cur business,
clients and communities.

Disrupt to progress

We embrace change and
new ways of working to
enhance our perfermance
and reputation.

Keep all promises

By keeping the promises we
make to our colleagues and
our clients, we build trust,
loyalty and credibility.

r

Attend to details

We achieve the best results
to complex problems by
focusing on simple and
effective solutions.

Be better together

We listen, recognise and
support each other to
protect a diverse and
inclusive culture and

12
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Our business model, delivering
positive outcomes

How we create value

Our approacy

1. Diverse multidisciplinary teams
that think differently

We are a pravider of integrated legal and
business services with colleagues drawn
from many different professions,
backgrounds and skillsets,

2. Deep market expertise and
cross-sector insight

With expertise in eight primary sectors, and
offices and associations located across the
globe, we deliver commercial insights on the
challenges that our clients face.

3. Tailored technology
We offer mernodoiogies and solutions,
including the use of automation and aruficial
intelligence (*al"), that compiement and are
compatible with clients’ in-house technology.

4. Advisory expertise and

execution excellence

We have years of experience working
side-by-side with our blue chip clients to
help them execute their plans and deliver
on their strategies.

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022

Our differentiated position
Qur ability to seamlessly combine any number
of our offerings to deliver bespoke solutions
for our clients is our key differentiator.

. 8. Cost efficiencies !
' Our approach creates efficiencies and offers
© sustainable cost reduction.

" 9, Giving time back
 Combined, cur approach allows our clients

Our approach
helps clients achieve
so much more

5. Transformation 3
We assist clients to transform how their :
legal function supports their business. We
cover the full spectrum of transformation
from ways of working tc a fully outsourced
managed services delivery model.

6. Risk transfer
We reduce client risk by providing services

© on an outsourced basis against clear and
. agreed budgets.

! 7. Continuous improvement

i Qur data-led improvement of operatians
. offers scalability and flexibility, future-

¢ proofing client legal teams.

to focus their time and skills on the strategically
important activities within their functions.

Outcomes

Delivering positive outcomes with our
colleagues, clients and communities

Our colleagues

As g progressive, innovative globa!
business, our colleagues are at the
centre of everything we do. We provide
a rewarding and fulfilling work
environment, with routes to develop
and the freedom 1o grow.

/0

Engagement score (FY2020/21: 76}

Our clients

Delivered through our global teams
across eight sectors, our Integrated
Legal Management approach delivers
greater efficiency, price certainty and
transparency for our chents without
compromising on guality or service.

+63

Net Promoter score (FY2020/21: +49)

Cur communities

We are committed to making & positive
impact in the communities in which we
operate.

£317,725

donated by DWF Foundation
(FY2020/21: £203,515)

Our Shareholders

By delivering positive outcomes with our
colleagues, clients and communities, we
uitimately drive long-term financial value
to our Shareholders through consistent
revenue earnings growth together with
the payment of dividends in accordance
with our progressive dividend policy.

4.75p*

per share paid to Shareholders through
dividends (FY2020/21: 4.5p per share}

*FY2021/22 subject to AGM approval
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Strategic report

Our long-term profitable
growth strategy

Through our long-term profitable growth
strategy, we pursue sustainable organic and
profitable growth, inorganic growth through
M&A and the establishment of new services,
and margin expansion through a focus on
operationa!l excellence and cost management.
Together, these priorities enable us to fulfil our
purpose of delivering positive outcomes with
clients, colleagues and communities.

14 DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022




Organic growth

Inorganic growth

Margin expansion

Objectves

We deliver orgamic growth through the
continual development of our client
offerings, especially in relation to our
Integrated Legal Management approach.
We use our client programmes to build
relationships and seek to extend them into
more divisions and practice areas. We
develop our services through partner lateral
hires and by extending our global reach
through association agreements. We
provide engaging and rewarding careers
and incentivise colleagues to succeed in
alignment with aur strategy.

Chjectives

Inorganic growth is pursued primarily as
a consequence of our strategy to deliver
the right services for our clients in the
right locations. We pursue M&A with the
purpose of delivering positive outcomes
for our clients.

O e tives

We seek to improve the profitability of our
business through a focus on operational
excellence and cost management

Prcgress

* Group reported growth of 4%, with
like-for-like growth of 7%

« 24 partner lateral hires

= New association agreements in Iberia and
Latin America, a new regional
headquarters for business services in
Riyadh and a fourth office in Spain

» Engagement survey score of 76

© Progress

= Acquisitions of Zing365 and Barnescraig &
Associates, further developing our
Connected Services offering

* Astrong pipeline of M&A opportunities

Frroar

» Gross margin improvement in every
division

¢ Areduction in our cost-to-income ratio
from 39 2% to 38.4%

* Focuson pricing

« Property strategy

» Mindcrest work transition

hFls

¢ Revenue growth

+ Net revenue growth

= Like-for-like / organic net revenue growth
« Netrevenue per partner

» Net promater score

* Engagement survey score

KPls
= Reverue growth
~ Net revenue growth

* Net promoter score

iFls

* Gross profit margin
» Costtoincome ratio

* Reported profit before tax

+ Adjusted profit before tax / adjusted
profit before tax margin %

Underpinned by our strong commitment to our sustainability strategy

We published our first global ESG Strategy, with new targets on climate and Diversity &
Inctusion. See pages 32 to 49 for more detail.

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Our purpose

Our purpose is

to deliver positive
outcomes with our
colleagues, clients
and communities.




Our purpose in action

Positive outcomes —

Colleagues

We strive to create a positive and inclusive culture,
through which all colleagues can be themselves

at work and find an environment that allows them
to achieve their best performance. A key element
of this is recognising and being responsive to

colleague welibeing.

What we did

Wellbeing has long been an area of focus
within our people strategy and desired
culture. Over the past two years, this focus
has increased significantly, especially due
to the COVID-19 pandemic, which created
physical distance between colleagues. Over
this period, we have brought wellbeing to
the fore of our peaple proposition and
ensured that all colleagues know that they
have support avallable, no matter what they
are going through. This inchudes, but is not
limited to the following actions:

+ Creating a Wellbeing Commuittes in July
2020 to ensure Board level oversight of
our wellbeing activities and ensure
suppertis provided to colleagues across
ail aspects of wellbeing, from physical to
mental and lifestyle to work environment,

* Promoting our Employee Assistance
Programme to ensure all colleagues
globally are aware of the access to
confidential suppert at any time and
up to six free sessions of counselling.

Established wellbeing champions,
colleagues who are passionate about
advocating wellbeing, are empowered
to promote our initiatives and drive
engagement across the business.

We now have 15 wellbeing champions
in six locations,

+ Wellbeing Wednesday provided colleagues

with resources, guides, hints and tips for
how to manage personal wellbeing and
how to support calleagues on a wide
range of subjects including anxiety, health,
money management and digital overload.
All wellbeing Wednesday updates are
archived and available on the Group
intranet to access at all times,

We have trained Mental Health

First Aiders to help colleagues better
understand and more easily recognise the
signs of sumeone struggling with mental
health. This allows earlier interventions
and gets faster support to colleagues who
need it. We are now developing 3 mental
health and wellbeing course for all leaders
and line managers.

Qur A Clear Outlook campaign, which ran
throughout January, emphasised a need
for all colleagues to reduce email and
meetings with an aim of freeing
colleagues’ inboxes, diaries and minds.

We recently launched Gympass as an
available benefit to all colleagues.
Gympass provides cost-effective access
to a range of gyms, fitness classes and
health resources - including a free

plan provided by DWF which gives all
colieagues access to wellbeing apps
and online classes.

Why this matters

We want colleagues to feel that their
wellbeing is supported and that they
have the time needed to focus on it.
Coupled with our ongoing commitment
to the principles of the Mindful Business
Charter, itis the right thing to do because
it supports colleagues’ physical and
mental health. It is also the right thing to
do for our business because it is likely to
strengthen loyalty, increase alignment
between personal and business goals
and reduce the number of days lost

to illness.

The positive outcome

I our moest recent engagement survey,
78% of colleagues reported that they
have the support needed to focus on
their personal wellbeing (+2 compared
with last survey), 89% said they are
treated with dignity and respect by their
colleagues (+1), and 87% feel they can
be themselves at work (+1).

Our Achievers platform saw around
15,000 instant recognitions made by
colleagues to recognise their peers
through FY2021/22, including nearly
200 for wellbeing-related support

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Strategic report

Our purpose in action continued

Positive outcomes -

Clients

Through our integrated Legal Management approach,
combined with the quality and dedication of our
colleagues we deliver positive outcomes with our

clients every day.

LB & 5

What we did

Whilst the positive outcomes we deliver
with our clients derive predominantly
from the services we provide, we also seek
opportunities to work together to develop
ideas and solutions to tackle issues and
challenges that are important to our
colleagues, clients and communities

more broadly.

Since March 2021, DWF and Enterprise
Rent-A-Car have collaborated extensively on
a series of events and initiatives designed to
raise education and awareness within both
organisations and our respective sectors,
and to provide a platform te engage diverse
role models,

At the start of our relationship we consulted
with our diversity networks to ask them what
they wanted to hear about. Through this
process we identified a number of key themes
and developed our programme in response.

Our joint events have included celebrations
of International Women’s Day, Pride Month
and International Day of Persons with
Disabilities.

In these sessions, colleagues from across
both businesses have shared their views
and experiences in panel discussions.

We also shared educational content and
practical advice for impacted indviduals
and allies.

Events are advertised across both
organisations and through our external
websites and social media channels to offer
others in our sectors the chance to join and
contribute to the discussion.

Why this matters

Both BWF and Enterprise Rent-A-Car are
committed to creating workplace cultures
that support diversity and inclusion.

As part of DWF's ESG strategy we have
published several stretched targets to
further improve diversity and inclusion
within our business.

One element towards schieving those
targets is to ensure colleagues at all
levels are supported, have strong
networks and have visible role models.

The positive outcome

Attendance, interaction and feedback
fram these events has been very
positive. For International Women’'s Day
2022, we jointly organised an interactive
session on Imposterism which attracted
nearly 200 attendees.

The event saw great contributions
including attendees choosing to make

a pledge on how they will tackle imposter
syndrome in their career, or their
arganisation.

The strong relationships we have built
with Enterprise Rent-A-Car through this
initiative also led to the establishment of
a Peer-to-Peer mentoring initiative for
women across both businesses.

This initiative gave participants the
oppoertunity to build their network
and share career development ideas
and challenges.

18
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Positive outcomes —
Ccommunities

We are committed to making a positive impact in the
communities in which we operate. The DWF Foundation,
an independent charity founded by DWF, is at the heart
of these efforts. It has the sole aim of providing funds,
resources and mentoring support to help individuals,
groups and communities to achieve their full potential.

What we did | Most notably, in the past 12 months,
. . colleagues across our business came together
In the last financial year, the DWF | toraise more than £100,000 in support of the

Foundation awarded more than 100 grants . numanitarian response in Ukraine.

worth in excess of £315,000. -
! These funds are now being distributed by the

These grants supported charities seekingto | DWF Foundation, including to a number of
create positive outcames for people facing | Ukrainian and Polish charities providing the
challenging situations, - most immediate support to people affected.

The Foundation has identified six themes " This fundraising activity 1s supplemented
within which it tries to make a difference: ¢ by dividend income, following a donatien of
health and wellbeing, response to COVID-19,  shares to the DWF Foundation at the time
education, employability, environment and | of our IPO.

sustainability, and homelessness. ‘ )
In the last financial year, the DWF

It also has flexibility to make awards Foundation received more than £65,000
designed to support emergency responses through its dividend payments, which

to global events. supported its grant giving.

lts work is global in nature and in the past This source of funding has been especially
12 months it has supported charities in important over the past 12-24 months,
locatons ranging from Australia to India, when many fundraising activities were
and the US to the UK. impacted by COVID 19,

The Foundation's work also creates a strong
engagement opportunity for our colleagues,
with a range of fundraising events and
volunteering opportunities taking place
throughout the year.

DWF Group ple | Annual Repart and Accounts 2022

Why this matters

As a global legal business, we must

act responsibly: how we do business

is just as important as what we do.

This includes the impact we make and
the outcomes we deliver within the
communities in which we operate.
Through the DWF Foundation, we are
able to support those in our communities
who need the most help. The Foundation
is now more than seven years oid and
has provided support to no fewer than
400 different charities globally.

The positive outcome

With so many grants awarded, we have lots
of examples of where the DWF Foundation
funding has made a difference.

Take CPotential, a charity in London that
works with babies, children and young
people who have movement disorders.
It has received two grants from the DWF
Foundation which have been used to
help purchase a range of equipment for
its new physictherapy service.

Qr the Jagriti Schoal for blind girls 1
Pune, India, which the Founcation and
our locat Mindcrest team have supported
through regular grants to buy much
needed supplies and groceries.
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Strategic report

Key performance indicators

Financial KPis . . Revenue growth | Netrevenue growth

+3.8% +3.6%

Fy22 +3.8% B Fv22 +36%
‘ FY21 +124% Y21 +13.7%
" Ry20 +12.4%  FY20 +10.9%

|

i Definition: The change in statutory revenue  Definition: The change in net revenue

" achieved year-on-year {revenue less recoverable expenses)
achieved year-on-year

Gross profit margin ~ Cost to income ratio . Profit/{loss) before tax

51.7% 38.4% £22.3m

FY22 +51.7% FY22 +38.4% iOFY22 £22.3m

Fy21 +50.8% ¢ Fy21 +39.2% FY21 £(30.6)m

FY20 wa79% | Fr20 +414%  Fr20 £18.2m
Definition: Gross profit divided by Definition: See glossary to the

net revenue I financial statements

Diluted EPS Adjusted diluted EPS Net revenue per partner

6.5p 10.7p £975k

Fraz [ 6sp MM Fv22 10.7p I FY22 £975k

Fy21 (11.9)p Fy21 7.4p Y21 £924k
Fy2o 37p FY20 3.0p FY20 £784k
Definition: See glossary to the Definition: Net revenue divided by the
financial statements R total number of partnersin the Group
Free cash flow Net debt

£12.9m £/71.8mM

FY22 FY22 £71.8m

Fr21 £32.1m FY21 £60.2m
FY20  £(6.6)m FY20 £64.9m
Definition: See glossary to the Definition: See glossary to the
financial statements R financial statements
20
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Like-for-like revenue growth

+/%

FY22 +7%

Fr21
FY20 +2%

+8%

Definition: See glossary to the financial
statements

Adjusted profit before tax

£41.4m

FY22 £41.4m

FY21 £34.2m
FY20 £15.2m

Definition: See glossary to the
financial statements

R
Lock-up days
Fr21 184
FY20 206

Definition: See glossary to the
financial stataments

Non-financial KPls

Engagement survey score

/6

FY22 76
FY21 76
FY20 76

Definition: The aggregate score taken
from three key engagement statements in
our internal Pulse Survey

|
63
+

Net promoter score

Y22 63
49
47

! Definition: The proportion of clients

« surveyed who rank as ‘promoters’
* {scoring DWF a 9 or 10), minus the

. proportion of clients who rank as a

" ‘detractors’ (scoring DWF a2 1-6)

| % Executive Board roles held by women

36%

FY22
FY21
Fr20

36%
40%
25%

% senior leadership positions
held by women

29%

% BAME representation
in senior leadership positions

49

Fyaz 4%

DWF Group plc | Anrual Reportand Accounts 2022

Fy22 29%

FY21 29% Fr21 4%
| FY20 28% | Fy20 3%
| |
! Definition: The proportion of roles in ‘ Definition: BAME representation
i career bands 1 to 3a held by wemen R | declared in career bands 1 to 32 R
i \

R Linked to Directors’ remuneration
21
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Strategic report

Financial review

In FY2021/22, the German operations have
been scaled-back as a result of the ongoing
focus on profitable growth. The Berlin office
has been closed and a small number of people
© have departed the business in other locations
" within Germany. This is consistent with similar
actions taken elsewhere in the pasttwo years,
most notably in Dubai and Australia, which
have seen significantly improved performance
since restructuring. Costs associated with the
scale-back of German operations have been
. offset by a reversal of a provision relating to the
1 Australia scale-back as vacant properties have
been subsequently sublet. This has resulted in
a crediy of £0.2m in the year for office closures
i and scale-backs which has been recognised as
J non-underlying administrative expenses inthe
income statement.

Arecord year of profitable growth

The Group has deiivered another year of record
results with FY2021/22 being the first full year
under new leadership, These results include
reported revenue growth of 4% to £416m (PY:
£407m), net revenue growth of 4% to £350m
{PY: 338m), a 21% increase in adjusted profit
before tax to £41m (PY: £34m) and a return

to statutory profit before tax of £22m {PY: loss
of £31m).

. The Group has returned to M&A in the year
~ with the acquisition of Zing 356 Holdings
Limited (“Zing"} and Barnescraig & Associates
("BCA") which have been complementary
i acquisitions for the Connected division. The
Group also has a healthy pipeline of M&A
targets as we enter FY2022/23. As weli as
the return to M&A, the Group continues to
¢ grow internaticnally through an expansion
of its associations, in particular Al-Ohaly &
Partners in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,
Nobre Guedes & Associados (NGA} N
Portugal and RTS Group (RTS) based in
Spain. Since the year end the Group has
also announced a new association with
Hauzen LLP based in Hong Kang

Diluted EPS has increased to 6.5p (PY: loss per
share of 11.9p) and Adjusted Diluted FPS has
increased to 10.7p (PY: 7.4p), a 45% mcrease
and a record since [PC. The Group has also
reported lock-up days of 173 (PY. 184 days),
the lowest level for six years even with revenue
growth of 88% over the same time period. The
Board has declared a final dividend of 3.25p
per share, taking the total dividend for the year
to 4.75p (PY: 4.5p). This reflects a progressive
dividend in absclute terms, but retains a
proportion of FY2021/22 profits to invest in
near-term growth opportunities,

" The Group has produced a statutory profit
before tax of £22m (FY2020/21: loss before tax
of £31m) with the prior year loss being driven
by significant adjusting items totalling £64.8m,

i the majority of which related 10 expenses which

" formed part of the purchase price of the RCD
acquisition. On an adjusted basis, the Group
achieved adjusted profit before tax of £41m
(FY2020/27: adjusted profit before tax of
£34m}, an increase of 21% on the prior year.

Strong activity levels have led to like for like'
net revenue growth of 7%, despite having
experienced high levels of CQVID related
absence in Q4 as UK COVID cases peaked

due to the spread of the Omicron variant
Gross margin has increased by 0.9% to

51.7% despite ongoing inflationary pressures
including the continued Investment into
reward through the annual salary and benefits

As well as achieving strong profitable growth
in the year, the Group has also continued to
strengthen its balance sheet with net assets
increasing by £16m, which includes a £32m
increase in net current assets. Net debt has

. The Board is pleased to see further progress

towards medium term targets which were
communicated in July 21. The Group continues

" tafocus on profitable growth, which moves

the adiusted PBT into benchmark range with
the remaining listed legal business and some
comparators in the broader professional
services space. Working capital has also
improved with a further reduction in lock-up

- days. Whilst there are widely reported upward

pressures on staff costs in the sector and
broader inflationary pressures, the Group
believes itis well placed to retain key talent
and to mitigate other cost pressures through
specific cost reduction initiatives such as the
premises strategy.

Revenue

Revenue for the year is £416m

(FY2020/21: £401m) representing growth of 4%.
However, the Group focusses revenue
measurement on Net revenue as revenue

is distorted by the level of recoverable
expenses incurred on delivery of client matters
where such expenses do not necessarily reflect
the activity levels of the projects or the business.

Net revenue for the Group was £350m
(FY2020/21: £338m) representing like for Ike

" growth of 7% which excludes the impact of

the acquisitions of Zing and BCA as well as
the scale back of operations in Australia and
Germany. DWF's biggest market, the UK, has
seen net revenue growth of 7%.

Divisional performance

Effective from 1 May 2021, divisional
performance has been reported to the PLC
Board under the new global operating
structure that comprises the three divisions
of Legal Advisory, Connected Services and
Mindcrest. The implementation of this new
structure has resulted in greater integration
and alignment of our people and our services
and supports the continued execution of the
Group’s strategy.

Highlights of the performance by division
are set out below:

Legal Advisory {(83% of Group Net
revenue/85% of Group Gross profit)

review. The Group's cost-to-income ratio has
improved to 38.4% from 39.2% in FY2020/21.
This is another record for the Group since PO
and is a result of the continued focus on cost
control and operating discipline under the
new leadership team.

1 Like for like net revenue growth excludes the
impact of acquismions in the current and
preceaing year as well as the impact of scale-
backs and closures

increased by £12m to £72m (FY2020/21: £60m) FYZOZ;;

but this 1s principally down to the payment of

COVID-19 VAT deferrals and acquisition refateg  Revenue 355.1 3456 +2.8%

payments totalling £14m. The remaining Net revenue 2020 2853 +23%

deferred habilities on the balance sheet are just

£0.9m, compared o £28m at the endof Fy20  DTECLLOSES (138.7) (137.5] *09%
Gross profit 153.2 1478 +26%

Lock-up days have again reduced due 1o prof ‘

cngoing operational initiatives and stand Gross margin +0.7

at 179 days, a 5 day reduction from Aprit 21. (%)/ppts 52.5% 51.8% ppis

22
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Newly formed in FY2021/22, the Legal
Adwisory division has delivered like-for-like
net revenue growth of 7%, This growth has
been accomplished whilst holding overall
direct costs in line with priur yedr despite
inflationary cost pressure, resulting in a

1 percentage pointimprovement in gross
margin to 53%.

within Legal Advisory, the Insurance
business has delivered growth of 3%. This
has arisen from new contracts secured
{for example with LV = Allianz and NHS
Resolution), centinued expansion of cur
speciaiist London Market practice and
international presence, and an in¢rease

in claim volumes following the easing of
COVID-related restrictions. This has offset
the slower post-pandemic recovery of
claims velumes in other isolated sectors
of insurance and the non-recurrence of
one-off additional COVID-related werk in
FY2020/21 that arcse from the FCA business |
interruption litigation.

LK Corporate, Finance and Restructuring,
and Real Estate businesses have (ollectively
grown by 17%, with a strong rebound in
transacticnal areas following the easing

of lockdown and conclusion of Brexit.

The Dispute Resolution practice area has
continued to attract a healthy pipeline of work !
during FY2021/22, which has resulted in like
for like growth of 8% across all geographies.

A number of international locations, across
Europe and the Middle East, have seen
particularly positive results {including
revenue growth of 41% in Italy and 9% in
Spain), with increased collaberation as a
result of the revised Group structure
enhancing the division’s performance.

Ayear on from establishing the new
divisional structure, the outlook for
FY2022/23 is positive, with a strong pipeline
of work in place and greater efficiencies
being delivered through innovative ways
of working, both between practice areas
and with our clients. Plans are already
underway to continue the development of
key lacations {in the UK and further afield)
and expand into new locations which,
alongside continued mvestment in gur
people, will support future growth,

' The Group’s Connected Services division

© which exdudes the growth trought by the

Connected Services {10% of Group Net |
revenue/8% of Group Gross profit)

FY2021/ Ll T ‘

22 - i,

© Revenue 34.2 28.8 +18.9% ‘
Net revenue 33.9 284 +19.1%
Direct costs (18.8) (16.2) +16.0% |
Gross profit 15.0 12.2 +23.2% |
Gross margin +15
(%)/ppts 444% 429% ppts |

continues to deliver strong profitable revenue
growth delivering net revenue growth of 1%
to £33.9m, or 10% on a fike far like basis '

acguisitions of BCA and Zing365b in May 2021,
The cultural integration of both acquisitions
has been successful and they are both
working closely with colleagues across

 Connected Services and the rest of the Group

to share clients and enhance their pipelne.

We are particularly pleased that all service
lines have grown compared to the prior year.
Our Claims Management and Adjusting
business {with presence in Australia, Canada,
France, Ireland, Italy, UK and USA) has grown

. by 32%, or 17% on a like-for-like basis, due to

significant new client wins in the UK and the
US, anincrease in claims velumes as COVID-1S
restrictions eased and the continued receipt

- of business interruption claims. This is despite
' the disruption in Austraiia due to extended
~ local lockdowns,

' The launch of the Global Entity Management

proposition has been a success, with seven
new clients secured and an operating
system developed in collaboration with cur
software team ‘360", Investment in a sales
and marketing team, with an niual focus on

! 360, has resulted in net revenue growth of

19% and the development of a strong

i pipeline as we enter the new financial year.

One of our larger businesses, Ges-Start
(DWF Spain’s Connected Service which
offers Accounting, Tax and Labour
consulting), has grown net revenue by 16%
and gross profit margin by 6 percentage
points due to their recurring client base
being complemented by a number of large
new projects and a focus on cost control.

As the division continues to mature,
profitability has improved with gross profit |

_ margin increasing to 44%, 2 percentage

points ahead of the prior year. Although net |
revenue has grown by 19%, direct costs

have only increased by 16% as the division

! invests in technology solutions to deliver

work more efficiently and effectively.

Connected Services also plays an aver
ncreasing role in providing integrated
solutions for clients and provided recard
fee referrals to Legal Advisory in excess of
£8m (PY. £7m), as the benefits of the new
operating structure startto be realised

Management continues to look to the future
with confidence, assisted by a strong pipeline
of activity across alt businesses and a focus on
exploring more innovative ways to provide
integrated safutions to meet our clients’ needs,

Mindcrest (7% of Group Net revenue/7%

of Group Gross profit)

FY2021

122 . :

" Revenue 268 266 +D6%
Net revenue 24.4 244  +02%
Direct costs (11.8) (126) -68%
Gross profit 12.7 117 +78%
Gross margin +3.6
(%)/ppts 51.8% 482% ppts.

COVID-19 challenges combined with
Insurance Law Reform hampered US
external sales and UK Motor Voiume

growth respectively (the two largest Practice
Areas within the Division). However, this
disappointing performance was offset by
significant growth (240%) of eDiscovery and
much improved integration growth (57%)
with Group key accounts, to deliver revenue
consistent with the prior year.

COVIB-19 has also iImpacted the speed of
transition of certain legat workflows and legal
support from the Legal Adviscry division into
Mindcrest. The stabilisation of COVID-18 1n
Incha will see a return to office working with
various Group and Divisional initiatives
underway te maximise the cpportunity

of transitioning work and optimising and
standardising certain legal workfiows.

Enhancing US presence, deleveraging

© key client concentration, investment into

Legal Consulting and continued promaotion

- of Service Transformation {which will
mitigate current inflationary pressures)

are key strategic objectives for FY2022/23.
UK macro-economic inflation alsc provides
growth opportunities to capitalise on
market-leading propesitions in UK volume
litigation (Lender Services and Recoveries)

I as clients seek to control costs.

DWF Group plc | Annual Repert and Accounts 2022
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Strategic report

Financial review continued

Itis with this backdrop that management
can look forward to animproved year for
the division in FY2022/23 focussed on
unlocking significant benefits for both the
division and the wider Group through this
differentiating offering.

Direct costs

Direct costs, which reflect the salary costs
of fee-earning partners and staff, have
increased by £3m, or 2%, to £169m. The
acquisitions of Zing and BCA accounted for
£1m of year-on-year cost increases, so the
underlying trend on direct costs was an
increase of £2m, This increase reflects a
combination of tight cast and recruitment
control cormbined with investment in salary
¢osts and selective hiring into growth areas
of the business,

Gross profit

The combination of strong net revenue
growth and strict control of costs has delivered
a gross profit of £181m, representing a £9m,
ar 5%, increase vs. FY2020/21. This reflects

a gross margin % of net revenue of 51.7%
(F¥2020/21: 50.8%). This improvement reflects
uplifts across all divisions which is particularly
pleasing given higher than expected absence
rates in the second half of the year driven by
COVID-1S as well as ongoing cost pressures.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses (including
impairment) have decreased compared to
the previous year, from £197m in FY2020/21
to £153min FY2021/22. On an underlying
basis, excluding adjusting items,
administrative expenses for FY2021/22

are £134m (FY2020/21: £133m), which

is consistent with the prior year after
considering the acquisitions of Zing and

BCA contributed additional costs of over £1m.
This results in a cost-to-income ratio of 38.4%,
a reduction of 0.8% from FY2020/21.

Improved cost control s a key component
of the Group’s strategy ensuring the Group’s
resources are deployed in areas which
support sustainable profitable growth.

The control of underlying administrative
expenses is therefore pieasing given the
growth in the business in the year and
against a backdrep of inflationary pressures
on salaries and increases in energy costs.

In addition, fewer COVID-18 restrictions have
resulted in increases in travel and marketing
costs as our cofleagues spend more time
working collaboratively with each other,

and with cur current and prospective
clients. Whilst travel and marketing costs
have increased they are still signuficantty

24

below pre-COVID-18 levels, partly due 10
the restrictions that were in place during
the year but also as we have taken the
opportunity to cipsely review spend in
all areas of administrative expenses.

Our cost base continues to be an area of focus
for F¥23, with the ongoing execution of our
premises strategy expected to generate
savings as we right-size our office space for
our established hybrid working model. An
estimated 1/3rd of the Group's global office
space is considered as potentially surplus to
requirerments post-COVID which represents a
c£7m recurring annualised saving opportunity
in the medium term. Travel costs will be a
particular focus area given that COVID-19
restrictions have eased but also to ensure that
our colleagues are travelling with purpose in
order to meet our ambitious envirenmental
commitments Other reductions in our
exisung overhead base are underway, to allow
additional capital to be redeployed in areas of
the business which will contribute to greater
profitable growth.

Adjusting items have decreased significantly
to £18min FY2021/22 from £65m in
FY2020/21. The table below provides more
details with full analysis contained in note 2

~ 1o the financial statements:

2022

£'000 S
Office closures and
scale-backs {238) 14,898
Acquisition-reiated
expenses 9,564 20,743
DWF RCD modification
impact - 13796
Change of CEO - 1.0Mm
Impact of COVID-19 - 1,011
Other share-based
payment expenses 9,609 13,333
Refinancing costs 146 -
Adjusting items 19,081 64792

Adjusting items in FY2021/22 can be
summarised as:

1. Office closures and scale-backs which
relates to the scale-back of operations in
Austraha, which begann FY21, and the
scale-back of operations in Germany
which commenced at the end of FY22.
The amounts reflect a charge for working
capital, impairment of assets and people
costs in Germany, offset by the reversal of
a provision in Austratia as a sublease has
been entered into during the year;

2. Acquisition related expenses principally
relating to amortisation and impairment
of intangibles recognised on acquisition
as well as acguisition related remuneration
expense from the Minclcrest acquisition,
payments of which ceased in February 2022.

3. Share based payment expenses reflecting
grants from the Employee Benefit Trust
which is 8 pre-funded trust established
on IPQ; and,

4. Non-recurring costs relating to the

refinancing of the Group's RCF facility.

Net finance expense & interest payable
on leases

; Netfinance expenses relating to bank
charges and borrowings were £3.7m

(FY2020/27: £277m) Interest on bank
borrowings increased by £0.5m as a result
of anincrease in interest rates and a lower

i level of debtin the prior year due to COVID

deferrals. Bank and other charges includes
aone-off charge of £0.4m for accelerated

~ amortisation of bank fees connected with
. the previous RCF facility that has since been

extinguished and replaced with a new facility,

Interest payable on leases of £1.7m
(FY2020/27: £2 3m) reflects the notional

©interest cost relating to lease borrowings.

Profit/{loss) before tax
The Group reported a profit before tax of
£223m(FY2020/21: £30.6m loss before tax),

© with the prior year reported loss before tax

being driven by adjusting items totalling
£64.8m referenced under the administrative
expenses section above.

Adjusted PBT is £41.4m (FY2020/21: £34.2m)
which represents a 21% increase on the prior
year. Under new leadership the Group's
strategy continues to be implemented
aperationally with a greater focus on
sustainable growth, performance
transformation and cost control. These
factors together have generated an

adjusted PBT margin (using net reverue)

for FY2021/22 of 11.8% (FY2020/21: 10.1%).

Tax

The reported tax charge for the year, excluding
prior year adjustments, is £6.1m (PY: 4.7m) on
a profit before tax of £22.3m (PY: loss of
£30.6my, representing an effective rate of tax
of 27.4%. The effective tax rate was higher
than the UK statutory tax rate primarily due
10 tax losses that have not been recognised
as deferred tax assets (increasing the tax
charge by £2.1m) and the tax effect of
non-tax-deductible expenses (increasing the
tax charge by £0.7m) offset by the effect on

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022



deferred tax resulting from the change inthe
UK corporation tax rate from 19% to 25%
effective from 1 April 2023 (reducing the tax
charge by £0.8m).

The Group also booked prior year tax
adjustments of a net credit of £4.1m.

Those adjustments arise principally s a
result of (@} increased claims of the departing
Australian partners on the Group's UK profit
peol following the restructuring of the
Group's Australian business in FY21 reducing
the profits subject to UK corporation tax
(£5.1my}, offset by (b) revaluations of the
Group's deferred tax assets relating to tax
depreciation timing differences and expected
tax deductions for share based payments as
at 30 April 2021 (£1.4m).

This gives a net tax charge of £2.0m for the
year (FY2020/21: £4.6m).

There are no apen tax audits or
investigations across the group. In line with
group’s tax strategy, it is not censidered that
any aggressive or materially uncertain tax
positions have been adopted by any of the
group entities. As such, the level of tax risk
faced by the group is considered to be low.

EPS

Diluted EPS has increased to 6.5p in
F¥2021/22 from a loss per share of 11.9p in
FY2020/21, the highest Diluted EPS result
since the IPO. Adjusted Diluted EPS has
similarly increased in line with the increase
in adjusted PBT from 7.4p in FY2020/21 to
10.7p in FY2021/22, a 45% improvement,
and again a record since the [PO.

Dividend

The Group's capital allocation policy is to
prioritise having sufficient capital to fund
ongeing operating requirements and
strategic investment in the Group's
long-term growth. Taking this into account
the Board targets a pay-out ratio of up

1o 70% of adjusted profit after tax, For
FY2021/22, the Board has declared a final
dvidend of 3.25p per share, taking the total
dividend for the year to 4.75p (FY: 4 5p),
reflecting a pay-out ratio of 44% of adjusted
profit after tax {FY2020/21 61%). This
pay-out ratio reflects a progressive dividend
in absclute terms, but retains a propertion
of FY2021/22 profits to invest in near-term
growth opportunities. This final dividend

is subject to approval at the AGM on

28 September 2022 and, if approved, will be
paid on 7 October 2022 o all Shareholders
onthe register of members at the close of
business on 9 September 2022.

DWF Group plc | Annual Repart and Accounts 2022

| Working capital, cash flow & net debt

i The group measures working capital efficency

¢ using “fock-up days” Lock-up days are

, comprised of two elements: Work-in-progress

| ({WIP days), representing the amount of time
between performing work and invoicing clients,
and Debtor days, representing the length of
tirne between invoicing and cash collection.

Driving working caprtal efficiency has

continued ta be a key focus for the Group in

FY2021/22, with a number of operaticnal

© improvements being effected in order to
achieve a permanent reduction in the lock-up
day cycle. Closing lock-up days at the end of
April were 179 {FY2020/21: 184}, a five day
reduction and is the lowest level that lock-up
has been for six years, despite an 88%
increase in revenue over the same time
period. The five day reduction comprises a
one day increase in WIP days and a six day
reduction in Debtor days. The WIP day
increase is a product of a slight change in the

- mix of type of fee income, which is expected
to be a timing issue only. The Debtor day

~ reduction reflects an increase in the Group's

" cash collection efficiency and ongeing focus

¢ on operational discipline.

During the year, the Group has settied all
remaining COVID-19 VAT deferrals totalling
£10.7m. Under normal circumstances these
payments would have been made in
Fy2020/21. In additicn, the Group has had
cash outflows in the year relating to closures
and scale-backs of £3.8m. Normalising for
the impact of these would have meant a free
cash flow of £27.4m. This compares against
a reported free cash flow in FY2020/21 of
£32.1mwhich benefitted from a significant
working capital improvement, with lock-up
days decreasing by 20 days, driven from a
combination of operaticnal improvements
and also a catch-up of collections after the
impact of COVID-19 led to a build-up of
trade receivables.

As well as settling remaining COVID-19 VAT
deferrals in the year the Group has alsc paid
£3.5m in consideration for acquisitions with
only £0.9m of consideration still to be paid as
at the balance sheet date. As a result of these
i factors, net ¢ebt has increased to £71.8m

" from £60.2m at Aprit 2021 The Group's

i strategy continues to be to manage
borrowings such that the leverage ratio
{borrowings as a multiple of adjusted
EBITDA) reduces. Leverage at April 2022 has
increased from the prior year to 1.08 (PY: 1.04)
but the prior year included the benefit of
COVID-19 VAT deferrals as explained above.
The future reduction in leverage is expected

* 1o be achieved through a combination of

profitable growth and net debt gradually
reducing over time through working
capital efficiencies.

The Group successfully completed a
refinancing of its rolling credit facility (RCF)
in December 2021, obtaining a £100m facility
with an additional accordion facility of up to
£20m as well as a permanent relaxation of
certain covenants, The facility is for an initial
three year term with two, one year extension

* options. The Group expects to continue to

operate weli within its available facilities and
for all covenants to be compliant for the
remaining tenure.

Capital expenditure {Capex)

The Group is actively reviewing office space
and will consider selective investrments in
office refits in the coming years as the
premises strategy 1s executed, freeing up
redundant space and investing cost savings
into improving the remaining space.

* In additian, there has been continued

investment into IT during the year as the
Group builds its IT infrastructure to support
our colleagues in delivering for our clients.
Overall capex (excluding right-of-use asset
additions under IFRS 16, and intangible assets

: recognised from acquisitions) in FY2021/22

was £7.9m compared to £10.6m in FY2020/21.
The PY comparator included significant
one-off investment into the new Pune office.

+ Currenttrading and future outlook

The performance for FY2021/22 reflects
angther strong year for the Group after a

. transformational recovery in FY2020/21. The

results reflect record net revenue, adjusted
PBT, EPS and lock-up performance for the
Group. As well as seeing significant organic
growth opportunities from the existing client
base, buoyed by cur NPS score and client
listening Insights, the Group is actively
pursuing a strong pipeline of M&A
opportunities. Whilst macro-econamic

- conditions suggest harder times shead, the

defensive nature of the Group's revenue being
welghted towards litigation and the recurring
revenue base in Insurance, protects the Group
both from artificial peaks in growth but also
hedges against a slowdown in transactional
actlvity. The Group sees significant
oppartunity to apply self-help actions to

- control costs, with the premises strategy

and various back-office initiatives offering
protection from inflationary pressures.

Chris Stefani

. Chief Financial Officer
©20uly 2022
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Strategic report

Section 172(1) statement

Section 172(1) (a)-(f) of

the Companies Act 2006
(‘'section 172(1)’) requires

a director of a company

to act in the way he or she
considers, in good faith,
would most likely promote
the success of the company
for the benefit of its
members as a whole.

The Directors have had regard te the
matters set out Iin section 172(1) when
performing their duties. They consider they
have acted in good faith, in the way that
would be most likely to promote the success
of the Company for the benefit of its members
as a whole, while also considering the broad
range of stakeholders who interact with and
are affected by our business.

The chart to the right demonstrates the
Board process in considering section 172(1)
in i1ts decision making.

Details of how the Directors have had regard
to section 172(1) in carrying out their duties
in making two key decisions during the year
are set out on page 2/. See pages 28 to 37
for more information on how we engage
with our stakeholders and page 65 of the
Corporate Governance report on how the
Board's discussions and decisions have
been informed by different stakeholder
considerations.

Read more

Stakeholder engagement  pages 28 to 31

Board process in considering section 172(1} in its decision making

Leadership and management receive training

on Directors’ duties to ensure awareness
of the Board’s responsibilities

Board papers include information
considering section 172(1) matters

SN

Board
information

Section 172(1) matters considered in
the Board's discussions on strategy,
including how they underpin
long-term value creation and the
implications for business resilience

The Chair ensures decision making
is sufficiently informed by section
172(1) matters

Qur Board continually engages
with stakeholders. Read more on
pages 28 to 31

- |

The Group's culture helps ensure
that there is proper consideration
of the potential impacts of decisions

The Board performs due diligence
in relation to the quality of the
information presented and receives
assurance where appropriate

Actions taken as a result of
Board engagement

Board
Culture pages 06, 07,57 and 64 decision
Values page 12
Qutcomes of decisions assessed
and further engagement and
dialogue with stakeholders
26
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Key decisions

How we engaged

Outcome of engagement

Launch of global
ESG Strategy

Following a comprehensive review of
business processes and increased
engagement on ESG from a variety of
stakeholders, the need for 2 global ESG
Strategy was identified. A global £SG
Strategy will ensure the Group can operate
in a cohesive manner to achieve the ESG
targets and progress can be clearly
monitored. The Group can focus its
resgurces on making progress in the areas
that its stakeholders have deemed mast
important and measure the impact of the
actions taken.

Further information on our approach to ESG
can be found on pages 32 1o 48.

The Board considered the feedback from all
stakeholders and approved the global ESG
Strategy, noting the increased alignment
between the concerns of stakeholders and
those of the Group.

Appointed Business in the Community
to carry out an independent materiality
assessment, which included an in-depth
examination ¢f opinions on ESG from a
variety of stakeholders.

Conducted a client survey to listen t©
client opinicns on ESG.

The ESG Strategy was rolled out to
employees and partners via Virtual Town
Halls and announcements on Rubix, the
Group’s intranet

An update was made to the market by way
of RNS.

= Announcement of glebal ESG Strategy
In December 2021 focusing on the
matters that both the Group and
external stakeholders identified as
maost important.

= Aclear commitment to Net Zero.

= Commitment to publish a separate
ESG report, in additicn to disclosures
included in the Annual Report
and Accounts.

+ Invested in Learning and Development
activities, such as our Emerging
Leaders programme.

* Enhanced Diversity & Inclusion targets
as part of our new ESG Strategy.

+ Revised Employment Value Proposition
to ensure it was still fit for purpose.

Associations
[ ] ] ] e

The Board considered the need to enhance
our proposition in several important
markets and support our strategy of
offering integrated legal and business
services to our chents on a global scale.

Asteering group was created to ensure that
any proposed associations aligned with our
strategy. This included a review of current
arrangements and the termination of
associations that were not deemed to

be beneficial.

The Board considered the risks and impact
of changes (o asseciations (o the Group’s
key stakeholder groups, particularly our
colleagues and our clients.

Engaged with clients through the client
census and meetings to understand
what they expect from fegal and

business services.

Sought input from a select group of
colleagues to assess the impact any
proposed association, or termination of
association, would have on our clients,
our risk profile and our culture.

Announcements were made on Rubix,
the Company's intranet.

Foliowing entering into a new association,
an operating update was released to the
market via RNS.

= Successful associations in Hong Kong,
Spain and Portugal have been agreed
that complement our existing offering
to clients,

¢ Further strategically aligned
associations are being considered
and prioritised based on the potential
value add for our client base,

e Core policies were harmonised o
ensure the Group and associations
are aligned on key issues, in particular
on Diversity & Inclusion and ESG.

Key

m Likely consequences of decisions in the long term

n The interests of the Company's workforce

m The need to foster relationships with suppliers, custemers and others
Impact of cperations on the community and environment

High standards of business conduct

The need to act fairly between members of the Company

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Strategic report

Engaging with our stakeholders

/

P

Listening and responding
to our stakeholders

As a professional services
business, the relationships we
build and sustain are critical
to delivering our strategy

and ensuring the long-term
success of our business.

We use a range of engagement
mechanisms in order to understand and
consider stakeholder views in the Board's
decision making and general oversight.

In the following table, we set gut who our
key stakeholder groups are. By illustrating
why each stakeholder group is important to
us and through the engagement methods
we use with them, we are able to demonstrate
what 1s important to each stakeholder group.
This ulumately informs the decision making
of the Board and the Group as a whole.

For mare information, see page 63

' Stakeholder group

Why we engage

- Our colleagues
 (employees and partners)

: our colleagues are the heart and soul of our
i business and the key to its success. Itis
i important to properly incorparate our

people’s views in Board decision making.

We understand that it is vital that we recruit,
retain and develop the best people. By doing
this we will be able to implement our
strategy and fulfil our purpose.

Clients

SN

PR

i Clients are integral to everything we do,
v and so it s impaortant we understand how
" we need to evolve ta provide them with the

right support

Suppliers

O

Effective and trusted relationships are key
to our service offering. We engage (o ensure
suppliers are providing value for money,
performing to our standards and conducting
business to cur expectations for a mutually
beneficial relationship.

Debt providers

G

Access to working capital s the lifeblood

of any business, especially in the current
environment as companies need to ensure
they have sufficient liquidity to nawigate the
challenges presented by the macroeconomic
environment. It is essential we have strong
relationships with cur banking previders and
that they are clear about our strategy.

28
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How we engage

Key interests

Qutcome of engagement

= Virtual Town Halls hosted by the Group
Chief Executive Officer and supported
by Non-Executive Directors or Executive
Board members, as appropriate

* Weekly email and rerorded video briefings
from the Group Chief Executive Officer to
all colleagues

* Global Pulse Surveys

* Partner representation on the Board
through our Partner Directors

* Rubix, our Company intranet, provides a
range of useful information for our people
and updates on the performance of the
Company and cther business matters

+ Formal and informal engagements
with the Board appointed Designated
Naon-Executive Director for the workforce

* Rubies and Achievers employee
recognition platforms

*+ Strategy, business plan and budget
+ Recognition and fair reward

+ Opencommunication

* Diversity & Inclusion

= Ways of working including our response
to macroeconomic factors, such as
COvVID-19

* Opportunities for professional and

personal developrnent

*+ Increased provision and support for
flexible working

* Improved guidance on managing mental
health and wellbeing

+ Pulse Forum to consider the resulits
of the Pulse Survey and provide
recommendations to further improve
our people proposition, comprising
representatives from across our
locations, offices and career {evels

* Exploring opportunities to re-shape our
premises strategy following responses
1o the global employee survey

* Key Account Programme with a
dedicated Executive Board sponsor

+ Client Census to discover satisfaction
metrics and key themes of feedback

Client Relationship Partners

* High-quality service delivery

*» Legai and business services to be delivered
in an easier and more efficient way

. * Develcpment of new services and areas

of expertise

+ Expansion of our offering globally

» Where global law firms typically score
between 25 and 40 the Group received
an abgove industry average client Net
Promoter Score of 63

« Out of 500 clients surveyed 85% of our
clientsrated us a 6 or 7 on a scale of 1-7
for client satisfaction

= Astrong record of retaining existing
clients and winning new business such
as Allianz and the UK central
government legal services panel

Through a far and consistent
evaluation process

* Use of competitive Reguest for Proposal
(‘RFP) processes where appropriate

* Regular review meetings with key suppliers

* Ongoing feedback to maintain
openness and to improve value
from supplier relationships

RFP process

Due diligence requirements
+ Good governance expectatians

= Payment processes and terms

+ Strong supplier relationships

+ Development and continuous
improvernent of processes to improve
overall consistency such as a
standardised RFP, a supplier
categorisation and assurance framewaork,
and a Supplier Code of Conduct and
Ethical Sourcing Questionnaire

* Representatives from each bank
attend gur full-year and half-year
results presentations

* Management have regular discussions with
our banks about our strategic priorities

*+ Initiatives to improve lock-up days

Capital allocation strategy

Risk appetite and approach to leverage and
the provision of ancillary products aver
and above the revolving credit facility to
support the Group's growth ambitions

* Strong and supportive relationships

» Completicn of a refinancing exercise
took place in December 2021, delivering
an increase in the principal banking
facility and additional headroom on
some of the covenants with no
reduction in headroom in any covenant

tinued on the next page
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Strategic report

Engaging with our stakeholders continued

Stakeholder groupr 7 Why we engage

Shareholders Qur Shareholders play an important role in
monitaring and safeguarding the governance

of cur Group. Some are also employees and
partners, who have a critical role to play in
the continued success of our business.

We are also conscious of our need to act
fairly between the members of the Company.

=

Our communities We believe that we can build thriving
cormrmunities in which we live and work,

create a skilled and inclusive workforce
O O O today and for the future, and innovate
to repair and sustain our planet.

i Our regulators We engage with our regulatars in each
i jurisdiction in which we operate, including

the Solicitors Regulation Authority {SRA')
in England, which is our largest market,
to maintain and build the constructive
and trusted relationships vital to any
regulated entity.

policymakers, regulators and trade bodies
0 help shape policy for the benefit of the
i Company, our pecple, our clients and

! our communities.

i
i
. Policyma kers We work with national and local Governments,
|
|
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How we engage Key interests | Outcome of engagement g
=3
* Financial reporting and trading updates + DWF's strategy for growth and any | * Trading updates to the market §
via RNS ciate : nities . 2
associated nsks anc opportuniti * Engagement with larger Shareholders ¢
+ Aseries of events throughout the financial » Financial and operating performance and potential investors
vear, including our AGM, and presentations ' of the business
of our half-year and full-year results ‘ .
y y * Long-term sustainable and profitable
« Management attend relevant conferences growth of the Company -
and meet with investors and potenual ‘ 5
- w
investors throughout the year Progress in redl__lcmg debtor and WIP ]
days and reducing net debt 5
'« Environmental, Social and %
Governance issues 3
N p=)
. = Our response to macroecenomic factors, a
such as COVID19, the war in Ukraine, the
cost of living and inflation
ot
» Transparency and good governance a
5
* Volunteering in local communities * Environmental and social issues including * DWF Foundation donated £317,725 g
‘ . . climate change through 116 grants investing in EY
Charitable giving by the DWF Foundation . Develon il i ot education, emplayability, health and g
* 55TAR Futures, our community bj:e OpIng sKilis Irﬂkyrou;g people to wellbeing, homelessness, environment,
education programme, workshops Ome mare workready CCOVID-19 and emergency response
and awards evering . * Business ethics * 8,287 hours volunteered by
* Pro bono work , * Employment our colleagues
+ Wider community support programmes i * 1,850 hours of pro bono support
I
* Response to COVID-19 * 1,782 hours invested in education and

employability activities

* Regular meetings with our regulators * Professional standards and compliance © = Constructive relationships and an
: : open dislogue
» Quarterly meetings with our SRA » Training programme . P &
Regulatory Manager - = Regular regulatory updates provided

7 * Innovation and data-driven disruption to the Board
» Annual reporting to the SRA on
strategy, risk management and : . Regular engagement with the SRA which
regulatory compliance : has included a thematic review arcund
AML processes and specific engagement
around the solicitors Accounts Rules

and types of work including residential

+ Attendance at SRA-led Compliance Forum

plot sales
* Participation in consultations » Regulatory change in the sector © * Oppertunity to shape policy
- ‘ ) . ' development
* Attendance and participation at ¢+ Innovatian in the provision of legal services P
conferences and business netwark events .+ Positive client relaticnships with

i ; overnmental bodies
+ Membership of relevant industry bodies &

-

Creation of thought leadership
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Strategic report

Environmental, Social and '
Governance (‘ESG’) report

ESG is core to our business
model, strategy and decision
making, and starts with our
purpose of delivering positive
outcomes with our colleagues,
clients and communities.

The level of disclosure and transparency we
demonstrate gue to our listed status means
that all stakeholders can be confident that
our ESG commitments will be progressed and
that our governance in enabling delivery s
effective. Additionally, in supporting our
clients and communities on ESG-related
matters, we enhance our strategy.

Our position as the onfy Main Market listed
legal business gives DWF a unigue perspective
on ESG.

We have learned impartant lessons about
implementing effective ESG policies. An
operational focus is critical and means
committing to consistent high performance
around ESG. This is about how we do business
and is fundamental to our success as a giobal
legal business, specifically in terms of
delivering our Group strategy, realising
commercial advantage, and in retaining

and attracting key talent.

Our goals include ambitious science-based

targets through which the Group commits to .

reducing carban emissions in line with the
Paris Agreement and the 1.5 degree pathway,
along with strerch targets toimprove

our diversity.

Our ESG ambition sets out the future we
envision for the Group; what we want to
achieve between now ang 2030.

Our ESG Strategy

To inform our strategic priorities and £5G
metrics, we conducted a detailed independent
materiality assessment in order to identify the
issues that matter mast to our stakeholders,
and where we have the most potential to
create value aligned with our purpose.

The Group ESG Strategy has six priority areas:

Climate action:

We recognise our role as a responsible
business in supporting the global transition
to a sustainable low-carbon economy.
Qur aim is to be Net Zero by 2030.

Diversity & Inclusion:
Accelerating progress to improve
representation and diverse talent pipelines.

Empowering colleagues and

our communities:

Sustaining a skilled workforce today and
for the future, continuing to prioritise
colleague health and welibeing, and
taking action to help and collaborate
with communities in need.

Supporting and connecting with
our clients:

Being clear and transparent about how
we can help clients to improve their
sustainability performance through an
ESG-centric appreach.

Acting with integrity in everything
that we do:

Taking ownership and holding ourselves
accountable for the way we do business.

Building trust and increasing
transparency:

Enhancing the credibility of our own ESG
disclosure, consistent with cur purpose
of delivering positive outcomes with our
colleagues, cients and communities

Ahead of the strategy launch in December
2021, our Group CEQ invited all DWF colleagues
to a briefing session - 'Understanding ESG

- why it matters to everyone’. The session
explained what ESG s, how ESG 15 relevant to
the Group and why 1t has risen so rapidly up
the corporate agenda.

Our approach

~ We have already made significant progress

in embedding responsible business best
practice. Our business conduct impacts our
reputation and both are inextricably linked
to the long-term value we want to create as
a global business. i

We focus our efforts on connecting our
activities to our business purpose and
values, to accelerate our ESG work and meet
the needs of all our stakeholders. In doing
50, we set the stage for long-term value
creation determined by revenue,

sustainability, impact and reputation

As a force for good, we will continue to:

* create and sustain a skilled workforce
today and for the future;

» deliver service excellence to grow and
sustain our clients;

* build and strengthen ocur communities;
and

+ help to repair and sustain our planet.

SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

G:LALS

The Sustainable Development Goals ('SDGs’)
While we believe in and aim to contribute
to all 17 UN SDGs, we have prigritised five

i goals, aligned to our ESG agenda, where we
i can make the most impact.

EaEE

* Climate Action

« Gender Equality

+ Decent Wark and Econoemic Growth
« Reduced Inequalites

* Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions

Human rights and modern slavery

We are committed to respecting human
rights and upholding the UN Universal
Declaration of Human Rights and the UN
Guiding Principles on Business and Human
Rights in our business and supply chain,
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We also recognise the need to improve the | The Group Head of ESG reports quarterlyto  Our key focus is on actual reductions in our

tracking and monitoring of our human rights | the Executive Board and at least bi-annually  emissions by cutting energy use, transitioning g
approach and expand the scope of human  © to the PLC Board, on progress te date, ESG to renewables, significantly reducing the 3
rights training provided for our colleagues. risks and opportunities, and any actions i frequency and carbon intensity of commuting §
In 2022, we published our Human Rights necessary to ensure we are evolvm_g our and business travel and,‘ once we have Y
Statemém which builds on our previous ESG Strategy gnd contmual\y meeting the reduced our cgrbom emissions to the lowest
commitménts and reflects the increasin ESG expectations of both internal and level possible, investing in solutions that
mportance of integrating human rights g external stakeholders. Th_e Group CCO s remaove carbon from the atmosphere.
3¢ross Our business part of the ESG Lea;ershlp Group and
' meets fortnightly with the Group Head of Roadmap to Net Zero n
You can also read our 2021 Modern Slavery  ESG, as does the Group Director of Risk, P g
Statement here: httpg;/{dwfgrgup,com[ The Group Head of ESG sits within the . 5
en/notices/modern-slavery-statement. Group Risk and Excelience function. 202 /l March 2y
Certification to E
This contains information on our . Climate action new Standard 3
organisational structure, policies, the . 2030 Net Zero pathway IS0 14001:2015 3
management of our supply chain, training . DWF is responding to an urgent cali-to-action ¥
and stakeholder engagement to prevent the | for companies to set emissions reduction June
existence of modern slavery in our Group. targets in line with a 1.5°C future, backed by a Commitment to o
L ) . ‘ global network of UN agencies, business and i i =
within the reporting period we can confirm | o iy leaders. In May 2021, we signed the isrfzfitri]r;g\j[BJLr:aergets )
that there were no reported instances of Business Ambition for 1.5°C commitment, & 1.5 Pathway Ey
Modern Slavery within our own business campaign led by the SBTi in partnership ' 3
operations and supply chains. with the UN Global Compact, the Carbon ! December z
Our ESG governance Disclosure Project ({CDP), the World : Targets sent to 2
The ESG issues most impertant to all Resources Institute ("WRI'), the World Wide S8BT for Validation
stakeholders of the DWF Group are Fund for Nature (WWF') and the We Mean

contained in the ESG Strategy, which has the

! Business Coalition, demonstrating the highest

engagement of and accountability fromour level of ambition on climate and paving the SCIENCE
PLC and Executive Boards, along with all way to a Net Zero future. BASED
TARGETS

levels of leadership across our business.

The oversight provided by the Board and
its committees, which inciude our ESG

In December 2021, we submitted our carbon .

reduction targets for validation by the 58Ti.
The targets set are to reduce Scopes 1, 2

DRIVINE AMBITIOUS CORPORATE CLIMATE ACTION

Leadership Group, ESG Operations Board and 3 by 50% by 2030, with our overall . Jq-l;:eets validated
and Risk & Sanctions Committee, is guided ambition to be Net Zero by 2030. The SBTI b 8h SBT! ate
by DWF's Code of Business Conduct, which began the validation process in May 2022 y the SETi
applies to every DWF Board member and in June 2022 our targets were |
and colleague. successfully approved. i July

‘ Cur annual

ESG Governance Structure

Risk
Committee

PLC Board

Executive Board

Risk &
Sanctians
Committee

ESG

ESG

Leadership
Group

D&l
Leadership
Group

Commercial
Conflicts
Committee

QOperations

Board
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completion of
CDP and annually
thereafter

2024

March
Re-certfication to
1SC 14001:2015

2025

December
25% reduction across
Scopes 1,2 and 3

2030

March

Carbon Neutral/
Ambition to be
Net Zero
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Strategic report

Our ESG Strategy
at a glance

Bz

* Reduce our carbon emissions in line with the Paris Agreement.
. * Reduce Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 ermissions by 50% by 2030,

f « Reduce business travel emissions by 50% by 2030 (against a
2019 baseling).

= Achieve Net Zero in our operations by 2030.

Bertamar e 1o e .« Our key focus is on reducing our CO, emissions, and we have
committed to and submitted our rcadmap to a 1.5°C pathway with
the Science-Based Targets initiative ('SBTi"), which was approved in
June 2022, demonstrating the highest level of ambition on climate
and paving the way to a Net Zero future.

= Further details can be found in our environmental reporting on
pages 38 to 45.

ClEL T ol * Active management of carbon emissions aligned to e

1.5°C pathway.

Inspire colleagues to dnive meaningful impact and foster an

enlightened attitude around business travel.

+ Engage In atleast one project during FY2022/23 which provides
for additional emission reductions/emission removals from
the atmosphere.

+ Take action to ensure efficient use of resources, following the
‘Reduce, Reuse, Recycle’ waste hierarchy.

Invest in technology to help drive our sustainability agenda.
* Expand the scope of our continued 1SO 14001 certification.

+ Collaborate to develop, apply and promote environmental best
practice to enhance our resilience to climate change.

For more information, see pages 38to 45
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* Increase the proportion of women on the PLC and Executive
Boards to at least 40% by 2025, with the same target applying
to the propoertion of women in all senior management
roles gtobally.

+ In the UK, to increase the representation of Black, Asian and
Minority Ethnic colleagues across senior management to at least
10% by 2025,

* Inthe UK, to increase the representation of Black, Asian and
Minority Ethnic colleagues across all career bands to at least
13% by 2025,

« Inthe UK, toincrease Black representation overall and in senior
roles to at least 3% by 2025,

Achieve and maintain an overall global colleague engagement
score of 80+

100% of DWF employees globally earn a Living Wage according
to jurisdiction.

Raise sufficient funds for the Foundation to enable donations
made to reach £1 million in support of registered charities
globally by the end of FY2022/23.

Continue to advance social mobility within our talent pipelines.
Deliver 25,000 hours in volunteering hours to our communities,
or through pro bono work from FY2022/23 across the next three
years to FY2024/25.

* We strengthened our D&I infrastructure and built on the efforts
already made in inclusive recruiting to ensure we sustain
leadership engagement and ownership to progress and retain
diverse talent. This includes quarterly reporting of progress within
each division to our Executive Board, D&J objectives for all people
managers and tracking and modelling D&I datza to inform our
strategy, plans and actions.

In 2021, we launched our employee value propaesition to position
DWF as an employer of choice - DWF Life brought together for our
colleagues all of the essential elemnents of what it means to be 3
part of DWF. In September 2021, our colleague engagement index
increased from 75 to 76 (with an additional 382 colleagues
responding) and we retain Living Wage Employer status in the UK.

* Evolve, through the D&l Action Plans and Board oversight, talent
pipelines and succession planning within each division to ensure
a focus on female and Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic talent
in the UK, aligned to our current targets.

» Widen the roll out of Inclusive Leadership Traming following
a successful pilot last year.

* Expand race and ethnicity two-way mentoring beyond the PLC
and Executive Board members.

*+ Increase engagement on disclosure of global workforce data
continuing to encourage voluntary self-declaration (subject to any
legal restrictions) and communicating and measuring progress on
data collection.

= Continue to review and monitor the D&l composition of teams

servicing our clients, engaging and collaborating on activity

designed to advance our shared inclusion goals.

Increase support to and strengthen the impact derived from our

Affinity Networks.

* Ensure business infrastructure and design of operations
promotes inclusion in all aspects.

For more information, see pages 45 to 48

Sustain a skilled workforce today and for the future, whilst
continuing to prioritse colleague health and wellbeing.

Increase engagement through values-led behaviour to achieve
higher levels of job satisfaction.

Continue tc embrace hybrid working to sustain a high-performing,
inclusive workplace.

Continue to foster a culture of recognition and appreciation
throughout DWF.

Ermpower more colleagues to use their talent, skills and insight to
strengthen cur communities through volunteering and giobal pro
bono support.

Engage with our supply chain to develop ways to reduce
environmental impacts.

For more information, see pages 47 to 48
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Strategic report

Our ESG Strategy at a glance continued

Supporting and connecting with our clients

» Working with colleagues and clients collaboratively to improve
both our and their sustainability performance through an
ESG-centnic approach, building long-term relationships.

+ Understand the ESG/sustainability strategy for all key account
clients and assess the support DWF can provide or steps DWF
should take to ensure teams deliver work and relationships
consistent with any commitments clients make and our own
values and commitments to ESG.

i+ improve our net promater score for our Key ACcount programme

by at least 5% and mantain current market leading score.

+ 100% of new clients are assessed in line with the ESG Chent Policy,

due diligence and onboarding process.

+ The Group's net promoter score {'NPS') increased from 49 1o 63
This evidences a loyal client base driven by high levels of
satisfaction with service delivery and quality. This demanstrates
solid foundations for long-term relationships.

* Alsoin 2027, we published global research t¢ encourage clients to
implermnent robust ESG strategies and share ideas on how a better
and sustainabie future vision can be achieved.

+ Ermnbed our new ESG Client Policy, risk assessment matrix and
escalation process inte our client due diligence which extends to
new and existing clients.

« Continue to work with our clients t¢ help future-proof their
businesses by leveraging our own ESG expertise.

+ Continue to engage and collaberate on ESG with clients through
research, awareness and education, and sharing of ideas to create
solutions to navigate the future changing world.

*+ Increase the amount of sustainable work we undertake and have
a clear and robust way of capturing and communicating internally
and externally 1o be able to determine future KPIs.

« Identify opportunities to collaborate with clients on ESG or
environmental projects

For more information, see pages 48 and 49
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Acting with integrity in everythingwe do §

Building trust and increasing transparency

100% of colleagues read and confirmed understanding of our
Code of Conduct.

» Zerpinstances of bribery and carruption.

+ Zerginstances of modern siavery in our operations and
supply chain. See page 32 for mere information,

« Achieve and retain EcoVadis ‘gotd’ rating standard by achieving
a minimum score of 67, building on the silver standard
already achieved.

* |ncrease ESG operational resource to ensure effective
implementation of the strategy by 2023.

» We disclose annuatlly, our approach to climate-related risks
and opportunities using the most appropriate framework
{currently TCFD).

* Noreports of bribery and corruption during the financial year.
* No reports of modern slavery in our operations and supply chain

+ Toincrease transparency and improve the quality and consistency
of our risk assessment and decision making, we introduced a
process designed to lead to more informed client onboarding,
agreed at a leve| appropriate to the sensitivity of the issue
concerned. In addition, following the establishment of our Risk &
Sanctions Committee, set up in response to the war in Ukraine,
we have turned down the opportunity to act for more than 50%
of the matters referred to the Committee for consideration.

» We achieved a silver EcoVadis medal for our commitment to
sustainability. Ecovadis is the world's largest and most trusted
provider of business sustainability ratings.

.+ We were reassessed by the Business in the Community (BITC)

Responsible Business Tracker to evaluate and monitor our
progress, scoring 66% overall performance against a cohort
average of 47%.

+ We received g "D” rating with the Carbon Disclosure Project, however
this score was prior 1o the formal launch of our ESG Strategy in
Decernber 2021, We are submitting our re-assessment in July 2022.

* We conducted a detailed independent materiality assessment
to identify the issues that matter most to our stakeholders,
and where we have the most potential to create value aligned
with our purpose. The launch of our first ESG reportis an
irmportant milestone inincreasing reporting {ransparency.

+ Rell out an updated Code of Conduct globally to colleagues,
incorporating changes to internal policies and processes aligned
to cur ESG Client Policy and external best practice. i

+ Promote a culture where colleagues feel comfortable to raise
a concern and speak up.

+ Continue to embed and communicate cutcomes from our
newly established Risk & Sanctions Committee and ESG Client Policy.

* Improve the tracking and monitoring of our human rights
approach and expand the scope of human rights training
provided for cur colleagues.

* Embed our ESG communications strategy both internally
and externally to engage and inspire colleagues, enhance the
credibility of our own ESG disclosures and set an example
to others about our shared responsibility for people, profit
and the planet.

Continue to hardwire sustainability intc our business operations.

increase transparency and reporting against our ESG pricrities,
using internationally recognised reporting framewarks.
Proactively participate in ESG-related indices and publish ratings

including FSTE4Good Series, Carbon Disclosure Project, Ecovadis
and Business in the Community's Responsible Business Tracker,

= Continually improve and monitor the content and layout of our
sustainability journey on our website to more accurately reflect
our ESG Strategy.

= Initiate global gender pay gap reporung (currently only in the UK}
and continue to voluntarily disclose our ethnicity pay gaps.

For mare information, see pages 48 and 49
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Strategic report

Environmental, Social and Governance report continued

TCFD

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)
This is the first year that the Group has disclesed climate-related disclosures under the TCFD
framewark and, in doing so, we are complying with the requirements of the new Listing

. Rules on climate-related disclosures. Whilst significant progress has been made during the
: year to embed climate-related risks within our operations, we recognise that there is mere

work to do, including in our disciosures under the TCFD framework,

The risk to the business brought about by climate change is considered an emerging risk,
with more detail available in the principal risks section of the Strategic report.

The disclosures below summarise our disclosures against each of the TCFD disclosure
recommendations.

Governance

Describe the board’s oversight
of climate-related risks
and apportunities.

The Board oversees and has overall responsibility for ESG, including the impact of climate-

i related risks and opportunities on the business. The Board is supported by the Global Head

of ESG and the wider ESG Leadership Group, who together are respansible for ensuring that
climate risks are embedded into the Group's overall risk management framework to identify,
assess and manage climate-related risks and opportunities over the short, medium and
long term.

On a guarterly basis, the Global Head of ESG presents on ESG matters to the Board. At least
annually, this presentation will include an update on chmate-related risks and how the
business is working to mitigate the impact of such risks, as well as maximising any opportunities.

The Executive Board and PLC Board alsc recefve annual training on sustainability issues,
including climate change. This helps to inform the Group’s strategy in responding to the risks
that are borne out of climate change.

Describe management's role in
assessing and managing climate-
related risks and opportunities.

Our Global Head of ESG ensures that management assess and manage climate-related risks
and opportunities across all business areas including; Health, Safety & Environment, IT,
Procurement, Risk, Finance, HR and Clients. Each area contributes to the scenarios that will
likely impact their respective areas over the short, mediurn and long term. From the scenarios
provided, the Global Head of ESG, along with the ESG Leadership Group, will determine

! those that will have the highest impact on the business, both pesitively and negatively.

These are presented to the Board as outlined abave.

. During monthly ESG Leadership Group meetings, the latest environmental and climate-related

matters are discussed, and the Leadership Group actively monitors the latest informanon
and appraises updates on agreed actions to ensure we are dealing with climate-related risks
efficiently and effectively.

Newly identified risks are submitted into the Group’s existing risk management framework,

i as described in more detaill below. For any ernerging opportunities, actions are logged and

followed up with the appropriate individual within the Group to ensure opportunites are
being maximised.

. Qur management teams that are heawily involved in assessing and managing our cimate-related

risks and opportunities also receive training via the Carbon Literacy Project and our Global
Head of ESG has successfully completed the Oxford Sustainability Leadership Course in

; the year. This ensures the Leadership Group is aware of material emerging risks and

opportunities. Our ESG Leadership Group is alse informed by our Global Co-head of Energy,
being a legal expertin the field of emerging power, transition and supporting clients on
regulations, reporting, decarbonisation and policy.
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Risk management

Describe the organisation’s processes
for identifying and assessing climate-
related risks.

As we outlined previously, our ESG Leadership Team report on the climate-related risks that
they believe have the highest impact across the business. Ciimate-related risks that are

- identified are fed into the Group’s risk register. This forms part of the first line of defence

as part of the Group's existing Enterprise Risk Management (ERM') framework, which is

i outlined further on page 50.

. Also considered within the scope of the ERM, the business determines potential emergency

situations, including those that can have an environmental impact. These risks and
apportunities are reviewed at least annually.

Describe the organisation's processes
for managing climate-related risks.

The Beard, supported by the ESG Leadership Group, will ntegrate new, and refresh existing,
processes INto the Group's ERM to identify, assess and manage climate-related risks and
opportunities over the short, medium and long term. This happens at least bi-annually.

By assessing climate-related risks in the manner described above, this allows us to put plans
in place to either elimnate or reduce the impacts of those risks and ensure that we continue
to invest In the right areas to help mitigate the Group's climate-related risks.

. We determine the key risk risks associated with cur business by categorising these into

each of three areas of colleagues, clients and coermmunities, aligning with our purpose.
Additionally, we review the risks associated with infrastructure which includes our

IT systems

Our 150 14001:2015 certified Environmental Management System is also firmly embedded.

It identifies and controls the environmental impact of our business and supports our
working practices, thus allowing us ta further eliminate or reduce the impacts of those risks.

Describe how processes for identifying,
assessing and managing climate-
related risks are integrated into the
organisation’s overall risk management.

in the prior year, Sustainabilicy was included within the Group’s strategic risks and classified
as an emerging risk. Climate-related risks form a key part of this emerging risk. More detail
on how the Group manages its emerging risks are provided in the principal risks section

on pages 52 to 54.

Strategy

Describe the climate-related risks
and oppaortunities the organisation
has identified over the short,
medium and long term.

In the table on the following pages, we explain the key risks and opportunities that the
business faces due to the increasing impact of global climate change. Risks and opportunities
have been categorised into Infrastructure, Colleagues, Clients and Communities, although it
is noted that there is often overlap between these categories,

Time horizons have alsc been attributed to our risks and opportunities, being short term
{considered as one to five years), medium term (five to ten years) and long term {more than
ten years).

Describe the impact of climate-related
risk and apportunities on the
organisation's businesses, strategy
and financial planning.

The impact of climate-related risks and oppartunities on the Group has also been included
in the table that follows and primarily focuses on the gualitative impact on the business.
Whilst some limited guantitative impacts have been given, we expect to evolve our
assessment over time and intend to provide further detail in future reports,

Describe the resilience of the
organisation’s strategy, taking into
consideration different climate-related
scenarios, including a 2 degree or
lower scenario,

In identifying the climate-related risks and opportunities to the business, we have
considered two climate-related scenarios:

Svecano Global warming s limited to less than 1.5 degrees above pre-industrial levels,

This naturally leads tc risks and opportunities which relate to a rapid global transition to a
law-carbon economy. These have been included within the ‘transition risks’ section in the
table that follows.

Sre~ar o2 No mitigation of climate ¢hange, resulting in global warming of 4 degrees in the
long term. This scenario presents the greatest risks to the Group and its key stakeholders
and hence the business respanse is focused on limiting the impact of climate change on our
people, clients and operations.
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Strategic report

Environmental, Social and Governance report continued

Pt

Physical risks based on 4 degree warming

IT infrastructure | Infrastructure Medium Qur ITinfrastructure is critical to our Our core Internal’ systems infrastructure
and long ability to operate. This infrastructure is is operated from duplicated internat
term exposed to the consequences of extreme | (DC1)and external {DC2) data centres.

weather events, which could result in The external data centre is on a different
business disruption via power failure, power grid and is operated by a world-
flood or lgss of cooling. class operator, Equinix, which has a
strong climate event mitigation strategy
Our cloud-based services, which include
email, intranet and other core services,
i are hosted within Microsoft's Azure cloud
| infrastructure, for which Microsoft has
industry leading mitigation plans.

Impact of } Colleagues Short, Our offices are also exposed to ever The impact of COVID-192 has meant that

extreme | medium increasing extreme weather and climate the business has adapted successfully

weather and | and long events, especially those in higher-risk to a hybrid working model such that
climate-related term geographies. This could result in disruption short-term disruption to our offices
events on l to aur colleagues, operations and, as a can be mitigated by the ability of our

our colleagues i result, on our ability to service our clients. | colleagues to work from home.

1 It is difficult to guantify the likely impact of | Our premises strategy also considers the
; such a risk on the business as it depends resilience of new and current office space
i which geographies are impacted, the to extreme weather events proportonate
‘ severity of the impact and the success of to the level of risk in the relevant geography.
} our mitigating actions. Localised weather events could disrupt
our colleagues even when they are
working remotely due to it impacting
their homes and local infrastructure, and
i Inthe longer term the infrastructure in
| certain higher-risk geographies will come
j under increasing strain, increasing the
. level of disruption. These risks continue
: to be mitigated through the Group's
¢ business continuity planning.

Impact of © Clhents Medium The Group's clients are alsc exposed to " The Group continues to operate in

extreme i and long © risks of extreme weather and climate diverse sectors and geographies, and this

weather and 5 term i events. Some clients will be significantly diversification mitigates the impact of

climate events |
on our clients |

exposed due to either their location in

" higher-risk geographies, or where they have
* supply chains that are at high risk of

. they require from DWF.

disruption. In addition, our insurance clients
may be exposed (o the consequences of
extreme weather or climate events.

Our clients are therefore facing increasing
risks and such events could resultin
significant impact on their gperaticns and,
Inturn, a decrease in the level of services

disruption of any indwvidual client or sector.

in addition, we are well placed to provide
support to our clients as they face the
physical risks caused by extreme weather
and chimate events, for example
construction advice, planning and
development, casualty, local authority,
community development and investment,
and international energy and renewables-
retated disputes.

These risks continue to be mitgated
through the Group’s business
continuity plannming.

40

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022




=l
L

e lLhe o, Dolm T IR LA I

LG

Transition risks based on 1.5 degree warming

T

Talent . Colleagues Short, Our colleagues are key to the future Our Code of Business Cenduct applies to
i medium success of the Group. We need to take every employee globally and everyone is
‘ and leng meaningful action and be a leading player expected to contribute to our global
term within the legal sector in our response to efforts to reduce, reuse and recycle
the global climate emergency so asto wherever possible. Therefore, it s
attract and retain talent within the imperative to us as a business that
business. Failure to do so could result in everyone understands the role they play. o
| Digher attrition. This is both a risk and an Furth 4 ‘ ‘ &
| opportunity for the Group. urthermore, we are educating our senior 3
© leaders and other internal stakeholders 2
* around environmental topics such as the ®
; road 1o Net Zero. We believe that embedding
¢ these behaviours and values, and
providing education to our colleagues will
demonstrate our response to the climate
emergency and therefore attract and -
retain talent. §
Reputation/ Medium The DWF brand and reputation are As part of our Client ESG Pelicy, we have g
Brand and long impacted by the action taken by the identified the sectors and industries that £
term Group in response to the climate we consider to be the highest risk in g
emergency. In addition, cur association creating a negative impact on the global o
with clients who may be percelved as not climate emergency. These sectors and @
positively contributing to the global industries are continually reviewed by
climate emergency, or damaging it, could  our Risk and ESG Leadership teams, and
undermine the commitments we have . the policy is updated accordingly. The 9,-
made on climate and lead to accusations purpase of this policy is to improve on 3
of greenwashing and damage reputation. the quality and consistency of our risk £
This 15 hikely to lead to lost revenue from assessment and decision making 1o lead 3
" clients who decide they will not work with | to more informed client acceptance, on %
us going forward. the basis of our ESG material factors, S
with decisions taken at a level appropriate
to the sensitivity of the issue concerned.
We regularly engage with our clients and
industry experts about our approach to
combating the global climate emergency,
including the disclosure of our commitment
to the SBTi and our intended roadmap.
Adapting Medium There is a significant opportunity for the  + We realise the importance and challenges
our products and long Group to service existing and new clients  our clients face, and lock to support them
and services term as they transition to a low-carbon economy.  wherever we can. We have reviewed how
, we currently work with our clients and
Risks are also prevalent if we are unable structured this in a way to provide legal
to adapt our ;erwcﬁes to adequately advice across ‘Environment, Climate
service our clients’ needs. Change and Energy Transition’ issues.
Additionally, we are |ooking ta support
clientsthrough training and education on

enviranmental topics and considering the
development of a consultancy service 1o
further support our clients' needs.

We consider the impact on the
environment in the decision-making
process for new products and services.
These are referred to the ESG Operations
Board and ESG Leadership Group

where appropriate.
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Strategic report

Environmental, Social and Governance report continued

ST Cote T Teems

Supply chain Communities !Short,

rerm

i medium
and long

I' as reliant on our supply chain as other
" sectors, it still contributes significantly to
the Greup's carbon emissions.

and services which minimise the impact
on climate and the environment. Utility
providers may be unable to provide
sustained {and renewable) power to gur
workplaces, for example.

The supply chain may experience
disruption based on environmental and
geopolitical factors inhibiting supplies/
services to DWF. This could lead to

‘ Group to achieve its Net Zero pathway.

As a people-led business, whiist we are not

The Greoup's pathway to Net Zero by 2030
15 reliant an owur ability to procure products

increased costs or risks to the ability of the

‘ Increasing emphasis on supply chain

resilience will continue to be built into
the sourcing strategy, working with key
suppliers to ascertain their approach to
business continuity planning (BCP'} and
their corresponding ability to rapidly
and effectively deploy appropriate
contingency measures. In addition,

I should potentially disruptive scenarios
arise, a supply chain impact assessment
will be undertaken with providers of high
priority goods and services to determine
any adverse impact upon their capability
and capacity to support DWF and, where
any shortfall may be identified, apply a
collaborative approach to determining
mitigation measures.

Metrics and targets

Disclose the metrics used by the
organisation to assess climate-related
risks and opportunities in line with its
strategy and risk management process.

‘ We are committed to our rele in supporting the global transition to a sustanable low-carbon

econormy and our ambition is to achieve Net Zero greenhouse gas ({GHG') emissions anead

| of the UK Government's target of 2050, to achieve the goals of the Paris Agreement. This in

twrn enables us to mitigate the climate-related risks noted above through contributing to
global action to lessen the impact of dimate change on society.

Our key metrics are therefore the Group's GHG emissions and, in setting rargets, we have

committed to the 1.5°C pathway with the SBTI.

Disclose Scope 1, 2 and, if appropriate,
Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions and
the related risks.

The Group measures Scape 1, 2 and 3 emussions which are summarised in our

Environmental Report on page 43.

Describe the targets used by the
organisation to manage climate-
related risks and opportunities
and performance against targets.

The targets that have been set in accordance with the SBTi 1.5°C pathway are a reduction of

. 50% of Scope 1, 2 and 3 greenhouse gas emissions by 2030 against a 2019 baseline. These

targets have been validated by the SBTiin June 2022. More detall on the action being taken
by the Group in achieving these targets can be found below and on page 44.

Environmental reporting

Our appreach

In supporting the Group's ambitious target
to reduce GHG emissions, we are certified to
the 1SO 14001 2015 Standard and have an
Environmental Management System in place
to identify and cantrol the envirgnmental
impact of our business and support the
enhancement of our working practices.

By understanding our impacts together with
our climate-related risks and opportunities,
this allows us to adapt and evolve our
strategy together with the targets set, which
in turn will allow us to build the requisite
resilience needed to appropriately manage
climate-related risks.

Our targets

We are required to report on our
greenhouse gas emissions under the
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting
('SECR" framework for the UK. We report
our emissions under SECR consistent with
the Group’s financial year. We also have
greenhouse gas emission targets that have
beensetin accordance with the SBTI. These

- are set by calendar year.

- Greenhouse gas emissions are classified

under three different scopes:

o= All direct emissions from the
activities of the grganisation or an
organisation under its control, including
fuel cambustion on site, such as gas boilers,
fleet vehicles and air-conditioning leaks.

upe & Indirect emissions from etectricity
purchased and used by the organisation.
Emissions are ¢reated during the production
of the energy eventually used by the

. Organisation,

Zlluo L Altother indirect emissions from
activities of the organisation, cccurring from
sources that it does not own or control.
These are usually the greatest share of the
carbon footprint, covering emissions
associated with business travel,
procurement, waste and water.

The targets that have been set in
accordance with the SBTI 1.5°C pathway
are a reduction of 50% of Scope 1, 2 and 3
greenhouse gas emissians by 2030 against
& 2019 baseline. These targets have been
validated by the SBTiin June 2022.
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GHG emissions hy financial year:
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Energy consumption

The following data does not account for any renewable energy purchased

Gas and fuel kwh 1,655,369 - 1,655,369 1,248,614 - 1,248,614 {25%)
Electricity kwh 3,034,490 1,795,547 4,830,036 3,029,7%6 1,704,512 4,734,309 (2%)
Business travel cars kwh 69,267 103,381 172,649 162,075 28,381 250,457 45.%
Total energy used in kWh 4,759,127 1,898,928 6,658,055 4,440,486 1,792,894 6,233,380 (8%)
% split across UK and

international sites 1% 29% 7% 29%

Energy consumption The following data discounts renewable electricity purchased
Electricity kwh 71,810 1032278 1,104,788 118,663 346,159 1,064,822 (3.6%)
% split across UK and
internatignal sites 6.5% 93.5% 11.0% 89.0%

Carbon emissions

Scope 1 emissions (TCO3) 315 - 315 224 - 224 (29%)
Scope 2 emissions (TCO:) 6 570 587 25 470 495 (16%)
Scope 3 emissicns not including

procurement {TCOs) 278 263 570 427 396 823 44%

Scope 3 emissions breakdown (TCO,)

Waste 1 0 2 2 3 5 225%
Fuel and energy related activities

not included in Scope 2 193 222 415 228 251 479 16%
Gas 46 - a6 34 - 34 (25%)
Water 8 i 4 {53%}
Rall ¢] 10 16 52 9 61 293%
Taxi 12 20 10 14 24 21%
Air 9 23 32 60 97 158 395%
Car g 25 33 39 20 58 77%
Total Scope 1 & 2 emissions (TCO,)

Location based 33 570 901 249 470 718 {20%)
Total Scope 1, 2 & 3 emissions {TCO2}

Location based without

procurement 609 863 1,471 676 866 1,542 5%
Percentage of all scopes emissions 41% 58% A4% 56%

Total Scope 1, 2 & 3 emissions (TCO,}

Market based 1,611 1,324 2,635 1,590 1367.10 2,957 1%

We have taken the decision to include the rest of our Scope 3 emissions in [ine with the SBTi reporting we undertake
Procurement 3,586 3,177
Commuting 1,397 5,432
Total Scape 1, 2 & 3 emissions (TCOJ)

Location based including procurement and commuting 6,454 10,150
Total TCO; per head based on average headcount of 3,961 in
2020/21 and 3,960 in 2021/22 1.64 257

Methodology: DWF utilises a third party system (Accuvio) in which a record of energy, travel, waste etc. are recorded on a monthly basis, which then caiculates
the carbon emissions. {Flease note that procurement and commuting are not currently calculated within the Accuvic System and we utilise the Quantis Scope 3
Caiculator to calculate emissions.) Data records travel and energy usage globally with the exception of some international offices which are serviced offices
The analysis uses an operational control approach which means that where there are serviced agreements for utilities, the data is not included in the report.
Commuting data I1s reported on an assumption basis. Whilst figures have decreased for the last financial year, this is due to COVID-19. Any fuel figures provided
inditres have been converted into kWh or TCOze using Gov.UK and Defra conversion tabies. Mileage provided has been converted into TCQre using Defra
conversions, kwh figures for air, rail, taxi and other public transpart have been omitted as not practical to convert from passenger km or passenger fares, but

COse emissions have been calculated using Defra conversion factors.
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Strategic report

Environmental, Social and Governance report continued

GHG emissions by calendar year {(and in accordance with the SBTi):

Calendar vezr 202

iaad

"t

667 Tonnes of Co,

SBTi Calculated Target ' 321 Tonnes of CO,
Actual 298 Tonnes of CO, 559 Tonnes of CO,
Qverview Ahead of Target predominantly Ahead of Target predominantly

due to the Pandemic.

The lack of availability of renewables
alsc impacted Scope 1 across some
of our sites.

One of the most significant environmental
impacts is reliance on energy to run the
buildings. Cur key focus is ensure our
portfolic of commercial property 1s using
renewable energy with the aim that all UK
offices will be 100% green energy by 2030
at the latest. At present, there is a small
amount of gas (Scope 1) used across 44% of
our entire estate. The targetis to reduce this
usage, If not to eliminate where possible, by
at least 50% by 2030. In terms of electricity
{Scope 2), 61% of our estate is currently
utilising renewable energy (over 80% UK
only). Qur aim 1s to reduce this consumption
by 50% by 2030 Internationally, we will
ensure our estate is also transitioning to
renewable energy insofar as possible.

We have committed to work with Buiiding
Management to encourage the procurement
of Renewable Green Energy across those
sites that do not currently have this and

to look at whether water conservation
methods can be introduced; including any
future property expansion whether that be
an office move or officé space acquired
during M&A activity to assist with our Scope
1 and 2 Targets, Future office space will take
into consideration the EPC Rating as well as
BREEAM properties.

Whilst the pandermic brought about many
challenges, it also gave us the opportunity
to "mothball” some of our unused space and
at present there is no intention ta re-open
such spaces. Instead, we have created a
transient workforce which in turn requires
less space. Whilst we did see a drop in energy
related emissions, these were not significant
due to the fact that we need to run HVAC/
BMS systems at full at all times to mitigate
the risk of transmission of COVID-19

Our energy reduction plan includes
continually assessing how we can reduce
energy consumption through heating and
cooling set poinits, LED/P!R lighting and
automatic computer power downs

for example.

. We have created an Energy Management

Standard Operating Procedure (attached) to
sit alongside our Energy Management Policy,
which ensures that we continually monitor
energy usage and implement the actions

- necessary to reduce the amount of energy

we use.

SBTi methodology

. Our overall SBTI target was calculated by

following its methodology outlined i the
target setting tool.

We have calculated the reductions
necessary from a 2019 base year through
to 2030 and utilised this data to then create
our own internal metrics/plans to reduce
our emissions. These will be repcrted on

at least bi-annuaily, unless analysis shows a
material deviation from our planned targer,
at which point this will be reported as

. described above and remedial actions put in

place if the deviation is within our control.

! Energy efficiency
-~ COVID-16 brought about the opportunity

to transform the way we work, which has
had a positive impact on our emissions. We
have been able to reduce some of our floor
space due te having a transient workforce
and have broughtin a more stringent
travel policy.

. Meeting our ambitious reduction targets
: Energy
: Our key focus is to ensure our portfolio of

commercial property Is using renewable
energy with the aim that all UK offices wili
use 100% green energy by 2030 at the
latest. At present, there is a small amount of
gas (Scope 1) used across 44% of our entire
estate. The target is to reduce this usage, if
not to eliminate where possible, by at least
50% by 2030. In terms of electricity (Scope
2), 81% of our estate is currently utilising

- renewable energy (over 80% UK only). Our

aim s to reduce this consumption by 50%
by 2030. Internationally, we will ensure our
estate is also transitioning to renewable
energy insofar as possible.

due to the Pandemic.

The lack of availability of renewables
alsoimpacted Scope 2 across some
of our sites.

I Ourenergy reduction plan will also ensure
that we continually assess how we can
reduce energy consumption through
heating and cooling set points, LED/PIR
lighting and automatic computer power
downs, for example.

Travel and commuting

Proactive management of both business
rravel and commuting will bring about
travel reductions, which in turn will
reduce our emissians and well as being
financially beneficial.

Stationery and print

Further embed our digitalisation
programme, which in turn will reduce the
requirement for stationery iterns, 1.e. paper,
envelopes etc.

Supply chain
We are working with our supply chain te
develop ways to reduce environmental
impacts. We review the environmental
credentials of suppliers as part of the
i onboarding process and then throughout
the term of the contract, undertake audits
and review the provisions in place, ensuring
therr appropriateness throughout the term
of the contract.

Risks
Our ambition is to be Net Zero by 2030
However, a severe change in climate
conditions means that we need to be
conscious of the impacts this could have
on our colleagues, property and services,
and we will therefore continually monitor
" climate-related risks and cpportunities
" and adapt our business accordingly.
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We have identified areas we need to
continually monitor, applying the ‘Plan, Do,
Check, Act" model, which in turn will allow us
to adapt and evolve our strategy taking into
account those risks and opportunities
identified. Associated risks that can impact
our ability to meet these targets are
described below:;

v Achangeinthe proposed 1.5 degree
pathway will mean we need to reconsider
our approach, and significant changes
may also mean that our reduction targets
will not be achievable by 2030.

Disruption due to international conflict
may have a significant impact on global
emissions, therefore meaning our current
targets are unachievable.

Global situations may affect the
avallability of renewable energy sources,
impeding our ability to move to 100%
renewable energy across our portfalic.

* Energy costs are increasing significantly
and, if this continues, landlords/building
management as well as suppliers may
steer away from renewable energy,
teking the cheaper or more secure
nan-renewable option.

* Amaterial change in the size of our
business will mean we will need to apply
a revalidation process to our targets with
the SBTi.

Financial - Price increases as supplies
become less available.

* Supply chain may experience disruption
based on environmental and geopolitcal
factors inhibiting supplies to DWF.

Our Diversity & Inclusion performance

Engagement

We recently trialled the Pawprint app
across our offices in Scotland. This app is
an emplayee engagernent tool which helps
people measure, understand and reduce
their carbon footprint. It empowers
employees to fight climate change at work,
hcme and beyond.

The benefits of using an app like Pawprint
are thatit allows us to:

* Engage our colleagues; use our best asset
to drive sustainability initiatives.

» See gurimpact; transform ESG from a
box-ticking exercise into measurable impact.

+ Future-proof; protect the future of our
business, and our planet.

* Results were positive, with sigrificant

carbon savings; many habits formed which

. mean people will continue to take action to

. reduce their climate impacts; and lots of
! engagement and the sharing of ideas.

We are currently considering the results of
the trial and then a decision will be made as
to whether the Pawprint app is rolled out
further across the business.

Training

During 2021, we rolied out the Carboen
Literacy Project ('CLP) training for our
employees. In order for us to do this, we
have to create a course and have this
verified by the CLP. 5o far, training has taken
place with approximately 25 people - all
achieving certification. A schedule of training
has been put in place for FY2022/23 with

the aim of training at least a further 60

people across the business. We are pleased
to report that we have achieved Bronze
Standard from the CLP.

Diversity & Inclusion

. Our approach

Cur vision is to create a working

- environment and culture where colieagues

of all different backgrounds are able to
contribute at their highest level to deliver
positive outcomes with our colleagues,
clients and communities. This means
sustaining a workplace where everyone is
included, valued and eguipped with skills for
today and the future.

In May 2021, we launched our five-year global
D&l Strategy to work towards gender balance
across all levels of management, embed
ambitious new targets on both gender and
ethnic diversity, as well as expanding the

scope of our pay gap reporting.

. Our priorities:

S Ownersap

i Employee-led networks connect like-minded
colleagues and create a space to voice their

experience.

Represcenanon

Actions are data driven so we can build
diverse representation at all levels of our
business.

Sleoal cirection

Locations come together to celebrate and
champian Diversity & Inclusion through
global campaigns.

07 ving cecis cs
Divisional Action Plans and D&l Leadership
oversight helps to keep D&I top of mind.

Sense of belong ry

Addressing the engagement drivers that
most substantially continue to emplayee
and business outcomes.

Aeprosentolor an at
Gende- *emale epresentation és &t Marck 20223 3D Apal 2022 Target
PLC Board 30% 40%
Executive Board 38% 40%
Senior management 39% 40%
All colleagues 58%
Ethnicity
PLC Board members from a minority ethnic background 10%
Executive Board 0%
Senior management 4% 10%
All colleagues 12% 13%
Black representation overall and in senior roles 1% 3%
Disability
% of colleagues who disclose that they have a disability 3%
Sexual orientation and gender identity
% of colleagues who disclose that they are lesbian, gay, bisexual or trans 4%
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Strategic report

Environmental, Social and Governance report continued

D&I benchmarking
2021/22

= THE il TIMES =

TOP50

EMPLOYERS FOR

2022

191 aetrortlng with

Times Top 50
Employer for Women

My e

[esrrn iy

Global Stonewsall
Diversity Champion

Top 30 Employer for
Working Families

Top 75 Employer

o s inthe Socal
~ LT 1\ Mobility Index
( TOP 75 |
\ EMPLOYVER |
. .
Disability

Confident Leader

Gold Standard in the
Employer Network for
Equality & Inclusion's
TIDE {Talent Inclusion
& Diversity Evaluation)
benchmark

UK Living Wage
Employer since 2014

Social Mobility

DWF continue to take positive steps towards
tackling social mobility and have again
featured in the list of Top 75 employers in
the Social Mobility Employer Index at 51. The
Top 75 recogruses the organisations that are
taking the maost action to ensure they are
opento accessing and progressing talent
fram all backgrounds. We also publish our
social mobility data here (England only):
https://dwfgroup corm/about-us/diversity-
and-nclusion

Qur targets

Over the last three years, our D&I targets
have demonstrated to stakeholders that
we are serious about increasing gender
and ethnicity representation, particularly
at senior levels.

Qur new targets signal our intent to
do better:

* Increase the proportion of women an the
PLC & Executive Boards to 40% by 2025,

Increase the proportion of senior
management roles held by women
globally to at least 40% by 2025.

+ Inthe UK, increase the representation
of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic
colieagues 3cross senior management
to 10% by 2025.

* Inthe UK, increase the representation
of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic
colleagues across all career bands to 13%

|
Increase Black representation overall and ‘
in senicr roles to at least 3% by 2025. ‘

* The Board to initiate global gender pay
gap reporting by 2022 (In addition to
ethnicity, publish UK pay data by disability
and LGBT+ by 2023).

The Board to review additional targets
to include all DWF regions by end of
December 2022.

Gender and
ethnicity pay

gap report 2021

Progress against targets 2019-2022

« The Board to maintain its current gender
diversity with nc fewer than three women
on the board - Achieved

* Increase female representation on the
Executive Board to at least 33% by 2022
- Achieved

= Women 1o hold at least 30% of senior
leadership positions by 2022 - On target

= Targel to achieve at least 10% Black, Asian
and Minarity Ethnic representation across
semior leadership positions by 2022 - Not
on target

¢ The Board to imtiate ethnicity pay gap
reporting by the end of 2020 - Achieved

* Thetaunch of our latest D&I strategy in
May 20271 and subseguent ESG strategy
in December 2021, signalled our intent to
do better, recognising we fell short by a
considerable margin on our targetto
achieve at least 10% Black, Asian and
Minority Ethnic representation across
senior leadership positions by 2022. This
target was retained and incorporated
within a suite of new stretch targets
agreed to 2025.

Our Gender and Ethnicity Pay Gap Report
In March 2022, we published our fifth
gender pay gap report and marked the
second time we voluntarily included detalls
of our ethnicity pay gap. The figures are

| available on pages 113 and 114 of the report

and the report in full is published on
our website,

. Disability statement
* The Group is committed to creating

and sustaining a diverse and inclusive
organisation where colleagues with disabilities
or long-term health conditions feel valued and
supported. We also ensure oppaortunities for
training, career development and promotion
are available to all.
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DWF Life

We retain our Disability Confident
Leadership status, which recognises our
inclusive culture and the steps taken to
identify and remove barriers to disabled
talent reaching their full potential. Our use
of Clear Talents online software helps us
manage the pracess of identifying,
implementing and tracking the adjustments
that allow colleagues to feel included and
perform at their best. The platform is not
only there to overcome barriers that a
disabled person may face in recruitment
and employment but also to overcome
barriers which having caring responsibilities,
being of a particular race or culture or being
trans, for example, may present.

Delivering positive outcomes with

our colleagues

Our colleagues bring our purpose ta life and
so we remain committed to recruiting and
developing top talent, investing in their
development and wellbeing, advancing
social mobility and increasing engagement
through velues-led behaviour to achieve
higher levels of job satisfaction. We are
listening to understand how we can do
betrer and working hard to foster a culture
of recognition and appreciation
throughout DWF.

Responding to colleague feedhack and in
keeping with our purpose and the principles
of DWF Life, we are making significant
improvements to our family friendly policies.
From May 1, our UK colleagues will benefit
from an increasa in Maternity Pay and
Adoption Leave to 100% full salary for 26
weeks, Paternity Leave will increase from
two to four weeks at full pay and Shared
Parental Leave from full salary for the first
two weeks to eight weeks of full safary.

As a future-focused business, we continue
to embrace fiexible and agile ways of hybrid
working to sustain a high-performing,
inclusive workplace.

DWF Life

In 2021, we launched our employee value
propositian {EVP’) to position DWF as an
employer of choice in a competitive labour
rarket, and to make our brand accessible
to new talent. Our business thrives on
empowering each other to share experiences
and ideas, and where our colleagues feel
valued, recognised and can be themsefves,
DWF Life brings together all of the essential
elements of what it means 1o be a part of
DWT, ensuring that together all of our
colleagues continue to make DWF a great
place to work.

| Learning and development

. the skills they need to excel in thair current

Performance and career development
All of our colleagues receive an annual
performance review.

b
o
@
e
o

There are two routes to promaotion at DWF

- our annual process, driven by an individual
business case, and vacancy driven, which is
dependent on business need and managed
through our internal resourcing route.
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Colleague health and wellbeing

In delivering an our purpose, our wellbeing
strategy aims to create and sustain a healthy
working environment where everyone at
DWF feels supported and comfortable to
speak openly about their wellbeing. Our
Welibeing Hub provides colleagues with
gccess to a range of interactive guides,
information and support, and our Wellbeing
Leadership Group oversees our four pillars
of activity:

During 2021, the annual promotion process
positively impacted 224 colleagues.

¢ Promotion gender split

¢
I

Physical Mental Lifestyle  working |
Environment | -
o ] @8 Female 54%
in 2021, we formalised the role of the Mental - ale 46%

Health First Aider to help spot the signs and
symptoms of common mental health issues
and to provide preliminary support and
reassurance. Workplace Options, our
Employee Assistance Programme, is one

of our core benefits and is automatically
available to everyone from the day that

they start work at DWF. Itis available to
colleagues 24 hours a day, seven days a week

As a leading Social Mobility Employer, we

are taking steps to dismantie the barriers

1o accessing and progressing within the
profession. In the UK, we continue to use
contextual assessment of graduate
recruitment in a bid to attract a more diverse
talent pocl and increase social mobility.

In April 2021, we launched a targeted social
mebility scheme, designed to give diverse
underrepresented candidates from Black,
Asian and Minority Ethnic backgrounds the

. opportunity to gain exposure to commercial
law in practice and help progress their

legal careers.

At DWF, we are committed to developing
and supporting our internal talent, so that
everyane has an opportunity to contribute
more and grow their career. Our aim is to
recognise and nurture the knowledge, skills
and behavicurs to achieve our giobal
ambitions and we aim to appeint diverse,
agile and multidisciplinary colleagues across
every demographic.

Since May 2017, we have used the
apprenticeship levy allowance to future-
proof our skills pipeline, and attract a
diverse range of talent intc the business.
The programmes we offer range from level 3
. Paralegal, through to level 7 Solicitor’s
- master's degree apprenticeships.

Through our DWF Academy, we offer
colleagues three programmes of training

- Foundations, Essentials and Leadership.
Each programme is designed with a target
audience in mind to equip colleagues with i

Number of apprentices

180

role and prepare them for progression.

Mindcrest University is our divisional

training and development programme ‘
supporting colleagues within our Alternative |
Legal Services Provider division. Its

curriculum includes aver 200 courses and i
employs a variety of learning methods, i
including mentoring, classroom training, ’
online coursework and eLearning modules.
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Strategic report

Environmental, Social and Governance report continued

Benefits and pensions

Animportant element of DWF Life is the
rewards and benefits that we offer our
colleagues, in return for their perfarmance
within the workplace. Through our flexible
reward and benefits platform, Reward Plus,
we provide a number of core Company-funded
benefits, whilst providing colleagues and therr
families with a range of benefits designed to
meet the needs of our diverse workforce and
help to protect and enhance the wellbeing, !
work and personal life balance, and financial
security of our colleagues and their families.

Colleague engagement

The business is kept informed of the
Group's activities and performance through
communications including our Weekly
Digest, CEQ weekly updates by email,
videos, and interactive Town Halls, This is
supplemented by updates on our Intranet.

We carry out a bi-annual global Pulse Survey
as a key measure of engagement, tc find out
directly from our colleagues how they feel
about working at DWF. Given the challenging
working envirenment created by COVID-19, we
are pleased to see levels of engagement have
remained relatively stable in the context of an
Increasing number of respondents.

Recognition

We use a digital platform to recognise and
celebrate colleagues who live our values
and help shape our culture through their
performance and the contributions they
make to DWF.

On average, around 1,500 recognitions are
made monthly. Managers can '‘boost’ someone
else’s recognition and award extra points,
with 2,675 such boosts being made.

Rubic.

Qur annual Rubie Awards recognise
colleagues who have not only inspired but
who have gone above and bayond, as we
collectively work toward our purpose to
deliver positive outcomes with our
colleagues, clients and communigies,

Our Code of Conduct

The Board understands its role in setting the
tone of the DWF Group's culture, ensuring It
aligns with our purpose, values and strategy.
This year has further highlighted how
fundamental the combination of g strong
culture and values are in guiding the Group
towards achieving its purpose. On that basis,
we are rolling out an updated Code of
Conduct gtobally to colleagues, incorporating
changes ta internal policies and processes
aligned to our ESG integration and external
best practice

" 1 December 2015, a total amount of
© 416 grants.

. Grants awarded since The DWF

' DWF Foundation giving 2021722

-

Delivering positive outcomes with

our clients

Identifying and managing risk is key to our
business. We are working to deliver positive
outcomes by embedding responsible,
sustainable decision making into everything .
we do. Doing se helps us deliver long-term
Shareholder value and protects our

business, our colleagues and our reputation.

Clients want to understand how we can N
support them, and by integrating additional
ESG concerns into our client due diligence
and reframing the way we market our ESG
expertise to future-proof their businesses,
we will retain the ability to both retain and

: . B Health and wellbeing 33%

grow the number of clients we work with. B8 COvID-19/poverty 1%
We collaborate with our clients on issue-based Il Fducation 1%
topics aligned to sustainability and ESG . Il Emergency response 38%
through various ways, including: roundtables, Wl Employability 3%
sponsorships, webinars and podcasts. i Ernvironment and sustainability 6%
@B Homelessness/poverty 1%

in 2021, we surveyed 480 senior executives
at companies located all around the world
and across each of our eight sectors. The
research asked what companies are doing
now compared with what they were doing
two years ago, and what they are planning
to do to tackle climate change, embed
sustainability and build greater social and
economic equity for future generations.

Volunteering

Despite COVID-1G continuiNg to restrict
activities, colieagues invested 8,287 volunteering
hours to support their local communities and
1,850 hours in pre beno support.

DWF volunteering
1 May 2021-30 April 2022

The findings confirmed that £SG is not an issue
for the future, but something requiring
immediate attention, with one in five
companies explaining how perceptions of a
weak ESG performance are resulting in the loss
of work (60%) and difficulties recruiting talent.

Delivering positive outcomes with
our communities

Our colleagues continue to be the driving force

behind our community engagement efforts ‘
To support their work, we will empower more
colleagues to use their talent, skills and insight
to strengthen our communities through

volunteering and global pro bono support. W General 629
DWF Foundation Bl Homeless 1%
The DWF Foundation is an independent B Health and wellbeing 5%
charity, founded by DWF. It has the sole aim @ :ducation and emplayability 21%
of providing funds, resources and mentoring 8 cnvironment 2%

Fundraising 9%

support to help indiduals, groups and
communities to achieve their full potential.
Since the Foundation launched on

Standing with the people of Ukraine
DWF is shocked and appalled by Russia's
assault on Ukraine. We condemn the

- invasion. We stand togetherin solidanity with

. the people of Ukraine and hope for a swift

i and peaceful resolution.

£897.852 has been awarded through

" We have no offices in Russia or Ukraine, but

. we are doing all we can to support any of
our colleagues and communities who are
affected by this conflict. We are especially
proud of our colleagues in Poland who are
supporting refugees in the provision of aid,
as well as providing pro bono legal advice.
In support of the wider humanitarian effort,
in conjunction with the DWF Foundation and
with the help of colleagues around the world,
we raised over £100,000.00.

£897,852

In the last financial year:
Raised £317,725

Number of grants 116
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Non-Financial
Information Statement

The following table sets out where stakeholders can find relevant non-financial information within this Annual Report and Accounts, further
to the Financial Reporting Directive requirements contained in sections 414CA and 414CB of the Companies Act 2006. Where possible, it also
states where additional information can be found that support these requirements.

Rewarin gt Tuloes aend standares whick govern our aporoach | AU REDOMT ang ACLOUNG: sechion icterence Fage nuriber
Envirenmental s Environmental, Social and Environmental, Social and Governance report 321048
Gavernance Strategy
i * Supplier Code of Conduct
* Sustainable Development Goals
Employees + Environmental, Social and Environmental, Social and Governance report -
Governance Strategy Delivering positive outcomes with our colleagues 47 to 48
+ Code of Conduct Engaging with aur stakeholders 26 to 31
+ Ethics Statement Corporate Governance repoert 571071
+ Diversity & Inclusion policy
¢ Speak Up pelicy and Helpline
Social and * Environmental, Social and Environmental, Social and Governance report -
community Gavernance Strategy Delivering positive outcomes with our communities 48
matters * DWF Foundation Engaging with our stakeholders 26t0 31
Respect for * Environmental, Social and Environmental, Social and Governance report 32t048
human rights Governance Strategy 1 Engaging with our stakeholders 2610 31
» Supplier Code of Conduct ‘
* Maodern Slavery Statement
* Human Rights policy
Anti-Bribery s Anti-Bribery and Corruption policy 1 Corporate Governance report 66
and corruption 5
Business model I Our business model 121013
Principal risks * Risk taxonomy I Risk management 50ta 51
and uncertainties | + Risk register Principal risks 52054
[ Risk Committee report 80 to 82
Non-financial * Environmental, Social and Key performance indicaters 20to 21
KPIs Governance Strategy |
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Strategic report

Risk management,
our approach

Risk management

_ The Group's risk management framework

outtines the Group's commitment and
approach to good risk management. The
framework is reviewed annually to ensure
that it aligns to both the internal and
external environment, as well as to the
Group's strategy. Its purpose is to ensure
that the organisational approach to risk is
clearly understood and effectively managed
across all areas of the business.

The framework identifies the roles and

© responsibilities of everyone inthe Group
. and the integral part that they play inthe

management of risk.

All risks are assessed considering the
combination of impact and likelihood end, as
risk management is an ongeing process that
is centred on the identification of the risks
and responding to them proporticnately,
assessments are reviewed quarterly. This
allows us to manage risk to a tolerable level.

Risks are assessed by using a risk matrix and
our defined risk appetite. The appetite itself,
which Is set by the Board of Directors, is also
reviewed annually. Overall, DWF has an ‘open’
appetite for risk in the pursuit of its strategic
and business objectives. This means that
the business is willing to consider all potential
options when faced with risk and will

choose the one that 1s most likely to result

©in successful delivery of our strategy.
" whilst ensuring an acceptable level

of risk and reward.

Since the launch of our ESG Strategy, we
have applied an ESG lens when assessing
aur risks; our review for FY2022/23
recommends a designated principal risk
for ESG in our risk taxonomy.

At DWF, we recognise the importance of
© astrong culture of compliance, ethics and

integrity, and we have an ‘adverse’ appetite
for risks relating to legal and regulatory
compliance, ameong others

Our underpinning risk principles

The Board of Directors has overall
responsibility for ensuring the business has
rohust risk management and internal controk
arrangements in place. The Board sets the
tone for risk managerment and internal
control, defines the organisation’s risk
taxonomy and overall risk appetite, and
influences the culture of the business.

The Risk and Audit Committees are
established as committees of the Board

of Directors. They are responsibie for
overseeing risk management and assurance

processes.

Each Executive Board (‘ExBo'y member is
responsible for setting the tone for a strong
risk management and internal control
culture across all areas of the business.

The Group Risk team is responsible

far designing and implementing a fit for
purpose Enterprise risk management
framework, and working with management

- and ExBo to ensure key risks are properly

understood, and are being appropriately
managed/mitigated.

All colleagues with management
responsibilities are responsible for ensuring
the key risks within the areas of activity
under their management are clearly

- understood, and that appropriate controls

are in place to effectively manage and
mitigate those risks.

Control activities - three lines of defence
DWF operates a three lines of defence model.

First line roles provide service excellence to
our clients, whilst managing the risks to
delivery of that service.

Our second line rales provide expertise,
support, monitoring and challenge on
risk-related matters.

The third ine roles provide independent and
objective assurance and advice on all matters
related to the achievement of objectives.

In addition to our internal mechanisms,
we have external assurance providers who
provide reviews and input to our risk
management activity.

50
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Three lines of defence

Governing body

Pkt T etk

Governing body roles:
Integrity, leadership and transparency
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Management Internal Audit

s (including managin ) i Orga ional oby =5 dependent
First line roles: Second line roles: Third line roles:
Provision of products/services Expertise, support, Independent and objective assurance
to clients, managing and menitoring and challenge and advice on all matters related to the
reporting risk on risk-related matters achieverment of objectives

Risk appetite

The Group’s risk appetite, set by the Board and reviewed annually, sets out how we balance risk and cpportunity in pursuit of
our objectives.

Appetite DWE nisk gppe-e definoen

Averse Avoidance of risk and uncertainty in achievement of key deliverables or initiatives is paramount. Activities
undertaken will only be those considered to carry virtually no residual risk.

Minimalist Preference to undertake activities considered tc be very safe in the achievernent of key deliverables or initiatives.
Activities will only be taken where they have a low degree of residual risk. The associated potential for reward/
pursuit of cpportunity is not a key driver in selecting activities.

Cautious willing to accept/tolerate a degree of risk in selecting which activities to undertake to achieve key deliverables
or initigtives, where we have identified scope to achieve significant reward and/or realise an oppartunity.
Activities undertaken may carry a high degree of inherent risk that is deemed controliable to a large extent.

Open Uindertakes activities by seeking to achieve a balance between a high likelihood of successful delivery and
a high degree of reward and value for money. Activities themselves may potentially carry, or contribute to,
a high degree of residual risk.

Hungry Eager to be innovative and choose activities that focus on maximising opportunities (additional benefits
and goals) and offering potentially very high reward, even if these activities carry a very high residual risk.

Overall risk appetite statement
DWF overall maintains a ‘cautious’ risk appetite; this is tempered with an ‘averse’ risk appetite for criminality and non-compliance in the areas
of conduct and ethics.

As a Group, we will only behave in ways that:

= do not conflict with the Group’s values and are aligned with its risk appetite and business strategy;

* do not expose the Group’s capital position or the resilience of its services;

+ do not conflict with the Group’s ESG Strategy and are aiigned with the needs to reduce any negative impact we may have on our planet
and communities;

» are aligned with the needs of the Group’s clients and ensure that they are treated fairly; and

= are always in accordance with local laws and regulations.
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Strategic report

Principal risks

Principal risks

During the financial year 2021/22, there
have been two significant évents that
have created global risks:

* the changing approach to the
COVID-19 pandemic, including the
restrictions, changing expectations
regarding work patterns and their
impact on economies and people; and

« theinvasion by Russia of Ukraine,
which has brought with it sanctions
against individuals and crganisations

and increased overall global instability.

DWF rermains alert to these situations
and actively implements actions to limit
their impact on, and ensure the
sustainability of, our business.

i Business, commercial and strategy risk

Conduct and ethics risk

Ribe rai g, Stable  Risk zimg Stable

Continuing to deliver to g broad client base
across diverse sectors, through a wide-
ranging portfolio of integrated legal and
business products and services, has enabled
us te limit negative iImpacts and optimise
business opportunities. Having a multi-

; jurisdictional reach has ensured that we are

well equipped to handle the material
rmacroeconomic challenges as well as more
local changes in laws, client needs and the
range of demands on our colleagues.

We continue to retain an overall ‘oper’
risk appetite when managing our business
model and strategy.

Our relattonships with our chents,
regulators, sector and all stakeholders are
based on our reputation, and we retain
a'‘tautious'risk appetite in that regard.

E=ETTOE T e

AN T

We have introduced a new policy and
process for risk assessing our clients against
our ESG Strategy. This will ensure there s no
compromise to our goals, and that chients
who require help on their journey can tap
inta our knowledge and expertise in

this area.

We continue 1o have an ‘averse’ risk

appetite for any risks that threaten our ability
to compty with all relevant

laws and regulations.

Seavpe of sk T nanL o

The Group maintains an active dialogue,
and strong relationships, across all its
key regulators. This ensures awareness
of changing legal and regulatory
landscapes, allowing a proactive
approach in ensuring complance.

_ The Group's Risk & Sanctions Committee

ensures we comply with changing sanctions
globally imposed as a resuit of the Russian
nvasion of Ukraine

People risk

[T R Stable

The expertise, commitment and
professionalism of our colleagues have
enabled the DWF of today; to protect that,
we have a ‘Cautious’ appetite for risks that
threaten our ability to recruit and retain
our pecple.

We have an ‘averse’ risk appetite for
discrimination, bullying and unfair treatment
of our colleagues, and actively promote cur
Diversity & Inclusion agenda.

With ever-increasing job market dernands, we
focus on attracting and retaining the highest
calibre of individuals who are best placed to
deliver service excellence for cur clients.

We have broadened the scope of and been
more innavative in, our approach to reward

and recognition.

To achieve our purpose of delivering positive
outcomes with our colleagues, we have a
Code of Conduct and an ethos of supporting,
developing and incentivising our colieagues
thraugh 'DWF Life’, built an our values,
culture and excellence.
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Principal risks

Uperational risk

* Financial and reporting risk

Firtancial crime risk

R s<rafing Stable ! Risk ranng: Stable  Riseraz e Stable
VISTIIL TS, Puiabilty rise Yes

Wizh e on

At the beginning of our financial year
2021/22, we reviewed our overall appetite for
operationaf risk, and amended it to ‘open’.

We have maintained and, in a number of
areas, strengthenad appropriate operational
processes, systems and controls to suppoert
delivery of, and entancement to, those
systems. This closed the gap with our
‘hungry’ appetite for taking well managed

risks where opportunities to create discernible

benefits through innovation could assist in
the achievement of our objectives.

However, 1o operate as an effective risk-
based legal and business service provider,
we have a heavy réliance on information
and data, meaning we maintained our
‘minimalist’ appetite for inappropriate
disclosure of sensitive information

Frarpecf ried “wipanee aconsre

Our strategic projects portfolio continues
across our business to align to the
mitigation of risks in some of our key
operational areas.

We have continued to invest in
infrastructure and security controls to
further protect us and our clients from
increasing global, and particularly iegal
sector, cyber attacks,

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022

We have maintained our ‘minimalist’ eppetite
for finance and reporting including liquidity
risk and for any risks that may threaten our
financiai stability.

The Group manages its working capital with
the use of external debt facilities including
the Group's revolving credit fadility. As with
many organisations, the Group actively
manages its liquidity risk, ensuring
compliance with covenants and managing
the future availability of funding.

Fearpie o neh it getng acnie

The Group Treasury function is responsible
far managing the Group's liquidity and
ensuring compliance with financial
covenants, Forecast covenant compliance is
reviewed on a monthly basis. This exercise
reflects reported results as well as regular
updates to forecast results. Scenario
analysis, alongside these monthly reviews,
is performed on a regular basis to ensure
reasonable worst case scenarios do not
cause an unexpected financial stability
1Issue and any material events can be
pre-emptively managed. Liquidity risks
brought about by unexpected and material
professional indemnity claims are mitigated,
in part, by the insurance policies we hold
across the Group.

The Treasury function manages our
relationships with the Group's debt providers.
In the year, the Group has refinanced its
revolving credit facility, which expires in

December 2024, with two one-year extension

options. The Group aims to renaw or
extend its main facilities 18 10 24 months
before expiry.

We do not waiver on our ‘averse’ risk appetite

for internal fraud or the inadvertent facilitation

of finandial crime (including anti-bribery

. and corruption).

Fraud and general financial crime have been

" more prevalent across the legal sector since

the constraints of COVID-16.

We continue to maintain, and regularly review,

appropriately robust controls and sanctions
to maximise our prevention, detection and

deterrence of potential financial crime activity.

Frarrple of nizk mitgathirys acuss

The Greup has a suite of policies and
mandatory training implemented which

is regularly reviewed to ensure we are able
to identify and mitigate the risk of any
SUSPICIOUs activity. We have various risk

. assessments undertaken on new clients

and new matters. Our Anti-Bribery and
Corruption policy is an example of one of
our financial crime policies.

We also have a Speak Up policy and Speak
Up hotline should anyone have the need
to report on suspicions, and we take these
very seriously, with rigorous and in-depth
Investigations carried out on any reports.
Subsequent actions are taken on
investigative findings and lessons learnt,
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Strategic report

Principal risks continued

Emerging risks and uncertainties

The Group defines emerging risks as
new or unforeseen risks, often external
in nature that may be difficult to quantify
but may materially affect the Group.
Where such risks merit further analysis
and consideration, they are defined

as emerging

The Group Risk function continues to
work with first line of defence subject
matter experts to enhance the quality
and detail of emerging risk updates.
GQuarterly Divisional Risk Register reviews
and those of the support functions include
discussions on emerging risks which are,
where necessary, escalated to the Group
and Strategic Risk Registers.

Our manitoring af emerging risks enables
the Group to:

« identify and monitar a broad range
of potential emerging risks;

*+ take a proactive approach to their risk
management and reparting; and

* present andimplement plans to
mitigate those emerging risks which
couldmpact the delivery of the
Group's Strategy.

The Risk Committee is presented with
an annual update on emerging risks,
supplemented by deep dives into the
management and control of selected
emerging risks.

Our Executive Board continue 1o horizon
scan and monitor emerging risks and
uncertainties that could impact our
business, such as economic risk/inflation
and government instability, and are
glways poised to take mitgating actions
to protect our business and our dients.

Our response to COVID-19

[ Stable

o Yes

During the financial year 2021/22, the global
management of COVID-19 moved to

implementation of vaccination pregrammes
and gradual Iifting of lockdown restrictions.

The Group continued to follow Government

, guidelines across all jurisdictions,

supporting our colleagues with the tools to
do their jobs remotely and providing safe
locations from which they could work

when reduced restrictions allowed. Our
ways of working have been flexible to the
needs of our colleagues, our clients and our
communities, to ensure both physical and
mental health is protected, whilst service
excellence is not compromised.

| We have embraced technology which has

" afforded us enhanced connectivity across

our lacations, colleagues and clients without
any negative impact cn our ESG aspirations.

The Group's Crisis Management framework
continues to support the ongoing
management of the changes in legislative
and societal requirements as the virus
continues to mutate and impact in
varying ways.

Our response to the Russian invasion
of Ukraine !

et L Stable

During the financial year 2021/22, Russia
invaded Ukraine. Whilst DWF does not have
an office presence in Ukraine, many of cur
colleagues, particularly those based i our
Polish office, have family, friends and clients
across the border in Ukraine

As details of acts of suppaort, heroism,

" generosity and humanity among our

colleagues emerged, DWF mobilised its
efforts to support financislly the Ukraine
relief efforts.

DWF's Risk & Sanctions Committee oversaw
the appropriate response, governance and

© decision making in light of the changesin
" sancticns legislation swiftly imposed by

Governments across the world.

wWhilst DWF does not have a significant
numper of Russian clients, we did see an
increase in potential new instructions which
were all reviewed by the Committee, The
majority of new enguiries considered by the
Cemrittee were declined.

! Sustainability including ESG

Rtk alTg Stable
ELimTy e

Following the endorsement by the Board
of our ESG Strategy, to scale our callective
ambition and impact glcbally, the Group
Head of ESG sits on the Executive Board

. and supports itin overseeing the

effectiveness of the strategy. Together
these forums determine the further actions

. needed to improve our ESG performance.

The ESG Leadership Group and its
respective teams have a number of
initiatives underway through an ESG
programme reporting 1o the Leadership
Group. This programme aligns the initiatives
with the six pillars of our ESG Strategy:

+ (lmate action

+ Diversity & Inclusion

* Empowering colleagues and
our communities

+ Supporting and connecting with
our clients

~* Acting with integrity in everything that we do

+ Building trust and increasing transparency

These pillars have been developed and
expressed to engage our caolleagues, echo

- the concerns raised by our stakeholders and
" help to prioritise our areas of focus. The key

ESG areas of concern for stakeholders
identified through the materiality
assessment are:

» Ethics, Integrity, Fraud, Bribery & Corruption;
» Governance;

+ Diversity & Inclusion;

« Climare Action, and

+ Trustand Transparency.

The continuation of ESG integration into
our risk management is designed to deliver
even mare robust processes, ta ensure

we continue to work with law-abiding
businesses that demonstrate responsible
business in pracuce, meeting all legal and
regulatory requirements, and support
clients to improve their ESG performance,
whilst we continue to iImprove ours.
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Viability statement

Viahility
in accordance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code 2018, the Directors have
assessed the viability of the Group, taking
inte aecounit the current financial position
including financing arrangements and the
Group's principal risks. This assessment is
designed tc encourage directors to focus

on the future prospects of the Group and

to ensure that principal risks are being
managed effectively and for the longer term.
In assessing the Group's viability, a number
of factors are considered, including the
business model (see pages 12 to 13), the
Group's strategy (see pages 14 to 15}, risk
management (see pages 50 to 51) and the
Group's principal risks (see pages 52 to 54},
Those factors which have a material impact
on the Group's viability are outlined below.

Assessment peried

The Directors’ assessment of viability covers
athree-year period to 30 April 2025 which is
consistent with the following:

* Strategy: The Group's three-year plan,
which 15 updated and approved annually
by the Board sets out the strategic vision
and pricrities over that period to ensure
the Group delivers on its ambition against
the backdrop of the principal risks
outlined in the Strategic report.

Financial strategy and funding: The
Group’s principle financing facility is a
rolling credit facility which was refinanced
in December 2021 for an initial period of
three years (with two one-year

extension options).

+ Employee benefits: employee share
awards typically have an average vesting
period of three years or less and LTIP
awards for executive directors are made
over a three year performance period.

The three year period is alsc deemed
suitable against an ever changing macro
environment in which the Group
currently operates.

Risks considered within the :
viability period

In the assessment of the Group’s viabllity |
the following factors have been considered:

Group strategic aims and purpose !

The Group has a number of strategic
initiatives in order to achieve future growth |
as considered in the three-year planning '
cycle. These focus on delivering positive |
outcomes for our clients, colleagues and
communities and centre around delivering
profitable organic growth, Inorganic growth
via carefully selected acquisitions and
establishment of new services and margin
expansion. The cost impact of these
strategic priorities are considered within
the budget base case.

Macro environmental factors

The current macroeconomic environment
remains volatile and the Directors remain
vigilant and agile to the continually changing
environment. Directors continually monitor
the actual results and reassess the forecast
outlock on a monthly basis to consider
appropriate action on the ever-changing
risk horizon.

Financial resources

The Group closed the year with committed
Banking Facilities of £127m {of which £97m
were drawn, but with a net cash balance of
£25m), the largest of which is the £100m
rolling credit facility (RCF) which was
re-financed in December 2021 to Increase
the facilities available to the Group. This RCF
has an initial maturity of three years with
two one-year extensions and 15 subject to
financial covenants as outlined in the going
concern assessment on pages 130 to 131,
The undrawn portion of the RCFis readily
accessible and does not require any further
approval for drawdown by the Group's
banking syndicate. Associated with the
facility is a further £20m accordion facility
which 1s available on the same terms as the
original RCF but is subject to the agreement
of the banking syndicate for drawdown. The
modelted assumpticn is that we do not draw
on this. The facility agreement also permits
the Greup to obtain a further £30m of
external funding and £15m of ieasing
facilities if required. We expect to be able
to refinance external debt and renew
committed facilities as they become due,

" which is the assumption made in the viability |

scenano modelling. The 3 year plan also
anticipates a reducing net debt profileand |
a reduction In leverage. :

Principat risks

All of the principal nsks detailed on pages
52 to 54 have been considered but three
scenarios have been identfied which are
linked to the Group's principal risks and
waould likely have a material impact on the

. Group’s business model. These scenarios

form the severe but plausible downside
scenario that has been assessed against the
Group's projected cash flow position and
banking covenants over the three-year

1 viability period.

Although not specially highhighted, the
scenarios noted above inherently include
the Finance and Reporting Risks which are
included within the Group's principal risks.

Assessment of viability

The viability pertod has been appraised
based onthe Board approved base case
sensitised for the severe but plausible
downside cases noted above. None of the
modelled scenarios presented a significant
threat to the Groups liquidity position and
ability to meet covenant thresholds. Each
scenaric censiders available mitigations to
the Group in the event the downside
scenario would materialise and these
include but are not limited to:

+ Freezing recruitment and a slowdown in
investment in recruitment and reward;

= Reduaing discretionary operating spend
such as marketing and travel,

* Reducing non-committed capital
expenditure;

+ Revision of the existing dividend policy;
and

» Cost cutting measures in non-fee earning
areas including an acceleration of the
execution of the Group's real estate
strategy and a reduction in headcount.

Conclusion

Based on the severe but plausible downside
scenarios modelied above the Directors
consider the Group to have sufficient
resources to continue in operation, comply
with all covenants over the viability period
and to meets its liabilities as they fall due
across the three-year assessment period.

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022

55

=]
=]
<
i)
=
=
o
>
o]
3

S1UALIAILIS [BIURUH

uoneuLIoI I3YI0



Strategic report

Viability statement continued

ME&A activity Business, Commercial
and Strategy Risk

A scenario was modelled on a range of potential M&A activities assessing
impacts on Net Assets, Cash flows and Covenants, including the potential
short-term downside impact on the Leverage covenant.

Commercial downside that Business, Commercial and
results in Revenue downside  Strategy Risk Peoplé Risk

That we see a reduction in demand caused by either macro environment
factors, commercial pipeline, attrition and our ability to retain or attract the
correct level of talent,

Increased inflationary Business, Commercial
pressures and Strategy Risk

inflationary pressures that have been seen in the macro envirgnment result
inincreased supplier and people cost base. The scenario modelled is that
inflation continues to rise above that set out In the base case,

Approval of the Strategic Report
By order of the Board

jonathan Bloomer
Chair

20 July 2022
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Governance

Chair’s governance overview

“Our values are integral
to the achievermnent of our
strategy. They influence
actions and behaviours,
complement our strategic
direction and support the
integration of colleagues
that join our business.”

Jonathan Bloomer
Chair

Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased te
present the Corporate Governance report
for the year ended 30 April 2022.

At DWF, we recognise the importance of
effective corporate governance in supporting
the long-term success and sustainability of
our business. This section of the Annual
Report and Accounts sets out how we have
ensured all of the Group’s actvities are
underpinned by the hignest standards of
corporate governance and illustrates how
the Board has ronsidered the Group's
purpose and strategy throughout its
decision making,

Purpose, values and culture

The Board understands its role in setting the
tone of the Group's culture, ensuring it aligns
with our purpose, values and strategy. This
is of particular importance when considering
the sigmificant change the Group has
undergone in recent years, and also the
headwinds affecting all businesses globally.

Our values are at the heart of our inclusive
culture, providing a clear foundation for
our colleagues, and are integral to the
achievement of gur strategy. They influence ‘
actions and behaviours, complernent
our strategic direction and support the
integration of Colleagues that join our r

business. As we continue our growth strategy
via acquisitions and associations, this will be

fundamental to our success. !

Further information about our strategy,
values and culture can ke found on pages
06,07,12,14,17 and 64.

_ Board membership, succession planning

and diversity

. The Directors of the Company in office at

the date of this report are listed on pages 58
and 59. The Nomination Committee and the
Board have kept the composition and skills
of the Board and its committees under
review and, following a number of changes
in the previous financal year, see no reason
for any further changes at this time. There

' have therefore been no changes to the

Board membership during the financial year.

Succession planning and the development
of our talent pipeline has been a focus
during the year, and this will continue into
FY2023. Diversity of gender, ethnicity, skills,
background and personal strengths are all
important drivers of Board effectiveness
and are key to ensuring we deliver our
strategy. Details on succession planning can
be found within the Nomination Committee
report on pages /2 ta 74.

At DWF, it is our vision to create a working
environment and culture where peaple of all
different backgrounds are able to contribute

+ at their highest level and where their
- differences have a positive impact for

our colleagues, clients, communities and

! Sharehclders. This is underpinned by our

Diversity & inclusion and Dignity at Work
policies. An inclusive and diverse culture
across the business improves effectiveness,
ercourages constructive debate and
supports good decision making. Further
information on our Diversity & Inclusion

. priorities can be found on page 45.

' The Company currently has three women

on the Board (30%) and five woemen on the
Executive Board (40%), both of which are
representative of the Group’s Diversity

& Inclusion targets.

" For full details of the Board and Executive

Board composition, please see pages 58
tc 59 of this report.

Board effectiveness

As Chair of the Board, | am responsible for
providing leadership to ensure the operation
of an effective Board. In accordance with
the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018
{the ‘Code"), we conduct annual evaluations

" of the effectiveness of the Board and its

committees, and this year we undertook
our first externally facilitated evaluation as
a listed company. This was carried out by
SCT Consultants, which used a combination

- of interviews, questionnaires and meeting
observations to formulate its report to

the Board.

Overall, | am pleased to report that the
Board and its committees are operating
effectively. SCT Consultants has presented
its recommendations to the Board and

an action plan has been developed to
implement the recommendations.

Further details of the outcomes following
the Board evaluation can be found on
page 71.

Environmental, Social and

Governance ('ESGY)

The Board recognises the importance of
ESG matters and is committed to strategically
integrating and advancing our sustainability
efforts. During the course of the year, DWF
announced a new ESG Strategy, through
which we have set a number of ambitious
new targets to drive progress, particularly
in relation to climate action and equality,
diversity and inclusion. Further detail on
our ESG Strategy can be found on pages
3210 49.

In addition, | am pleased 1o annpunce that,
for the first time, DWF will publish an ESG
Report that provides maore detail of our ESG
activities during the year. The ESG Report
can be found on our website.

Focus in FY2022/23

The Board has determined that the following
areas will be governance priorities for
FY2022/23:

+ Monitoring progress against the new
ESG Strategy

* Implementing the Remuneration Policy,
subject to Shareholder approval at the
September 2022 Annual General Meeting
(AGM")

* Impiementing the action plan that has
been developed following an external
Board evaluation

Annual General Meeting
Our AGM will be held on 28 September

¢ 2022 at 2.00pm. Full details of the meeting

arrangements and the resolutions to be
proposed to Shareholders can be found
Inthe Notice of AGM which will be made
available on our website dwfgroup.com/
en/investors. The outcome of the
resolutions put to the AGM, including results
of the poll, will be published on the London
Stock Exchange’s and the Company’s
websites once the AGM has concluded.

I hope you find the information contained
within the Corporate Governance report and
the rest of the Annual Report and Accounts
helpful and iInformative.

Jonathan Bloomer
Chair

20 July 2022

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Governance

Board of Directors

Key

Audit
Nomination
B3 Remuneration
BB Risk

B Char

1. Jonathan Bloomer |
Chair |
i
|

T August 2020

Jonathan has over 40 years of experience in
financial services and has significant board
experience both as an executive and
non-executive director. His previous
positions include Chair of the JLT Employee
Benefits Group, Senior Independent
Director of Hargreaves Lansdowne plc, and
Non-Executive Director of Railtrack plc.
Jonathan was Group Chief Executive Officer
of Prudential Group plc and has held senior
roles at Arthur Andersen. Jonathan 1s a
Fellow of the institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales.

Chair of Margan Stanley & Co International plc
and of SDL Property Services Group Limited

58

hio | v IR PR

2. Chris Sullivan
Deputy Chair and Senior Independent

! Non-Executive Director

' Cﬁriis wés appointed Deputy Chair on

1 August 2020, in additicn to his rele as
Senior Independent Non-Executive Directar
and the Designated Non-Executive Director
for the workforce. Chris has extensive
expernience of corporate, investment and
retail banking and asset financing together
with general management experience. He
was Chief Executive of the Corporate and
Investment Bank at Santander UK and has
held a number of executive roles within RBS
Group plc. In recognition of his services (o
Scottish banking during his various roles at
RBS, Chris earned a Fellowship of the
Chartered Institute of Bankers Scotland.

Senior Independent Director of Alfa Financial
Software Holdings PLC and Chair of the
Westminster Abbey Investment Committee

1 November 2018
ooo

3. Sir Nigel Knowles
Group Chief Executive Officer

1 November 2018

26 May 2020
None

SN I

Prior to Sir Nigel's appointment as Group !
Chief Executive Officer, he was Chair of the
Board frem November 2018 to 28 May 2020
Sir Nigel spent over 38 years at DLA Piper,

a glabal law firm, where he was Global
Co-Chair and Senior Partner, and, previously.
Global Co-CEQ and Managing Partner,

In 2009, he received a knightheod in
recognition of his services to the legal
industry. He was admitted as a solicitor by
the Solicitors Regulation Authority in 1980
and is a registered foreign lawyer with the
Law Society of Scotland.

ST et e

[

R ‘:I PR AR B N -z
Chair of Zeus Capital Limited and of

- Morses Club plc

4. Chris Stefani
Chief Financial Cfficer

10 September 2018
1 None

jase R

Prior to joining DWF, Chnis was the Finance
Director of Ernst & Young's EMEIA Advisory
business. Chris held a number of senior
roles within Ernst & Young including the role
of Chief Finance Officer for Ernst & Young
Republic of Ireland. Chris has 20 years of
experience in the professional services
sector and extensive experience in advising
executive boards on all aspects of financial
management, centrol, and performance and
profitability improvement, as well as a
record of optimising businesses to improve
profits and cost savings while supporting
revenue growth. Chris was admitted to the
Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in 2001

None

5. Michele Cicchetti
Partner Director

22 October 2020
None

Michele 1s Managing Partner of DWF in Italy
and 1s widely regarded in Italy as a specialist
in acquisition finance, mergers & acquisitions
and finance related transactions. Befare jcining
DWT, he was a corporate finance partner at
Pavia e Ansaldo and has also gained significant
experience In the banking and finance sector at
White & Case LLP. Michele was admitted as a
solicitor by the Italian Bar Association in 2005,

Non-Executive Director ofthe}tallan
subsidiary of Enfinity Global

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022




6. Seema Bains !
Partner Director

22 Octeber 2020
None

appoanted o tbe Beare
Comm riee merhberst L
e, Seails an
Seema is a senior partner in the INsurance
division and has led the Global Diversity and
Inclusion Leadership Group since its formation
in 2014. Before joining DWF, Seema was an
insurance partner at Weightmans. She was
admitted as a sclicitor by the Solicitors
Regulation Authority in 1997 and is a
registered foreign lawyer with the Law
Society of Scotland.

G ExISnET L

SIgTt LAt sxternIl g oo Nt G

None

© Tea's previous roles include Group Human

8. Teresa Colaianni
Independent Non-Executive Director

1 November 2018
i
<y skills ano expenence

Teresa {Tea) has more than 30 years of .
experience in human resources management.
She has previcusly served on numerous
boards including Bounty Brands Holdings,
Mothercare pic, and Poundland Group plc.

Resources Director at Merlin Entertainments
plc and Vice President of Human Resources,
Europe, at Hilton Hetels Corporation.

SIENFICETT eale NEl sSppairtre 1
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
of The Watches of Switzerland Group plc

10. Samantha Tymms
(also known as Samantha Duncan)
Independent Non-Executive Director

1 December 2018
[ 2o ] v f g ) R

Apnorried 1o the Bos s
Conmrtas meriberss
bty 2kl = @00 expenioT e

" Samantha (Sam) has more than 30 years of

experience in the financial services sector,
including extensive work in corporate
governance and risk management. She has
undertaken & number of roles at the Financial
Services Autharity and previcusly served as
a Non-Executive Director on the board of IG
Group ple, and chaired its risk committee.

SlAuficErT enteral aupLimients
Managing Directar at Promontory Financial
Group (UK) Ltd

7. Matthew Doughty :
Group Chisf Operating Officer |

1T November 2018
None

orhe Bosre
reeTnorst ps
Key cki's amo expenoroe,

ARDG TTen .
Prior to becoming an Executive Director on ]

o

22 Ocrober 2020, Matthew served on the
Board as Partner Director. Matthew has ;
been a partner at DWF since june 2016 and
has held carporate partner roles at Squire
Patton Boggs, Dorsey & Whitney, and
Addleshaw Goddard. He was admitted as a
solicitor by the Solicitors Regulation Authority
IN 1996 and s a registered foreign lawyer

with the Law Society of Scotland.

SIS atere al apear ety

None

Capparted wo e Roare

© Keygaanls 2md ©

. 9. Luke Savage

Independent Non-Executive Director

1 November 2018 -
omoo

ershios

CoT TIrTee T e

Luke has more than 35 years of experience
in the financial and professional services
sector, with experience in managing
regulatory, analyst, investor and banking

i relationships for major institutions. He has

previously served as a Non-Executive
Director on the boards of HDFC Life
Insurance Company Ltd, Standard Life

i Employee Services Ltd, Standard Life

Finance Ltd ang Standard Life Overseg
Holding Ltd. He has held CFO positons at
Standard Life and Lloyd's of London. Luke is
a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of England and Wales.

Senifcarlesterral apporiments
Chair of Chesnara PLC and of Numis
Securities plc

11. Darren Drabble
Group General Counsel & Company Secretary

SRS 20 April 2021
Darre ing senior
management with strategic legal advice,
while overseeing legal compliance, and
corporate governance across the Group.

; Darren has more than 20 years of private

practice and in-house legal experience.
Previously, Darren was Group Legal Director
and Company Secretary at Radius Payment
Solutions, and prior to that was Group
General Counsel and Company Secretary of

. Moneysupermarket.com Group PLC. Darren

is a member of the Law Society of England.

Board and Committee attendance table

Board meetings Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk
Sir Nigel Knowles B I b & = . . - -
Jonathan Bloomer (0 I G G0 D 0 W T meEoaew
Matt Doughty T I "
Chris Stefani 3 1 1 1 1 1 | B
Luke Savage “mEaeee onew =T amee Ty
Tea Colaiann| 'YLl = T saaes T
Sam Tymms L 3 1 1 1 I ]} ([ 1 1 1 1 ] - - . [ 2 1 1 1 | 1 ] ] |
Chris Sullivan L1 1 1 1 I ] ] (17 7 1 J ] b u - B . O 1 1 1
Michele Ciccherti -0 mhDee _ -
ieirna Bains i D fh & & ..
8 Attended meeting
Unable to attend meeting
Mot reguired to attend meeting
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Governance

Executive Board

: Qur Executive Beard is fundemental in
promoting our inclusive culture and each
member is the Executive Sponsor 1o a strand
of our Diversity & inclusion strategy, as
shown in the table below. They each support
the delivery of action plans that encompass

" gender, race & ethnicity, LGBT+ disability and
mental health. To ensure our Inclusive culture
is set from the top, our three Executive

The role of the Executive Board is to lead the day-to-day
operational management of the Group. The Executive Board
comprises the Executive Directors, Divisional CEOs, Regional
Managing Partners, Central Services function heads and the
Head of Clients and Markets. Full biographies of our Executive
Board can be found on our website dwigroup/en/investors.

Executive Board

Executive Board

Directars are overall sponsors of the
i implementation of cur Board approved
© Diversity & Inclusion strategy:

Executive Divisional Regional Central Other
Directors CEOs Managing Partners Services
I I I | I
Sir Nigel Knowles Paul Rimmer Ignasi Costas* Daniel Pollick Hilary Ross
Group Chief Legal Advisory Europe, Middle East & Chief information Head of Clients
Executive Officer ; Laun America and Officer & Markets
w27 Gender Country Managing

s Overall - Partner Spain Tnovilc Race & ol s Gender
Diversity & Inclusion Reb Marks Ethnicity -
- Mindcrest ‘i w7277 Disability _— Kirsty Rogers
Chris Stefani . . B Zelinda Bennett Group Head of ESG
Chief Financial Officer oo Flexible Damien van Chief Marketing Officer  and Office Managing
o Working Brunschot o Partner Manchester
il Overall Australasia “i.vil0 Race &
Diversity & Inclusion Jason Ford Ethnicity Co-Chair of Gender

- Connected Services oo LGBTH - Netwark
Matthew Doughty Helen Hill

Group Chief Operating
Officer

oo Overall
Diversity & inclusion

* Advisor 10 the Executive Board.

o770 Mental
Health

For complete biographies, please see
dwfgroup.com/en/investors

60

Chief People Officer
oo Disability

Darren Drabble
Group General
Counsel & Company
Secretary

LLLT o7 Mental
Health

Deborah Abraham
Group Director of Risk

- Gender
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Statement of compliance with
the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the ‘Code’)

The Corporate Governance section of this

Annual Report and Accounts, which includes
the Committee reports, together with certain A.
disclosures contained in sections of the

Section 1: oy

Effective and entrepreneurial board to promote the long-term sustainable success
of the company, generating value for shareholders and contributing to wider scciety

Strategic Report, provide details of how the B. Purpose, values and strategy with alignment to culture
CQ”Qpﬁ”V applied the principles and complied | "= pacrreac for the company to meet its objectives and measure performance.
with the provisions of the Code during the Controls framework for management and assessment of risks
year ended 30 April 2022. This Corporate : - old o stakehord
Governance Statement fulfils the requirements D. Effective engagement with shareholders and stakeholders
of the FCA's Disclosure Guidance and E. Consistency of workforce policies and practices to support long-term sustainable success
Transparency Rule 7.2 (DTR 7.2'). A copy * Chair's statemant p0& to p07
of the Code is available on the Financial |+ Strategic report p02 to p56
Renorfing Connci's website, www freorg.ik. |« Board engagement with key stakeholders p28 to pil
For the year ended 30 April 2022, the Poe Shareholdef engagement P30, p317;md pgg
Company complied with all relevant principles * Auditand Risk Committee reports p/>top

* Conflicts of interest p115

and provisions set out in the Code with the
exception of Provision 11 (at least half the

board, excluding the chair, should be Section 2: ) it
non-executive directors whom the board F. Leadership of board by chair
considers to be independent). The Board G. Board composition and responsibilities

comprises the Chair of the Board, three

Executive Directors, four Independent H. Role of non-executive directors

Non-Executive Directors and two l. Comparny secretary, policies, processes, information, time and resources

Partner Directors, * Board composition p58 tc p39

The position of Partrer Director is designated | Key roles and responsibilities . P68 to pbo

by the Board as a Non-Independent * General gualifications required of all Directors p70

Non-Executive Director position. A Partner * Infermation and training _ . P79
* Board appointments and sucgession planning p70 and p74

Director represents the partners of DWF
Law LLP and DWF LLP and i1s therefore a
partner Shareholder representative on the
Board. Partner Directors are not members

Section 3: ¢ A :
|. Board appointments and succession plans for board and senior management and

of any cornmittees of the Board. i promotion of diversity

If these Unique Partner Director roles are K. Skills, experience and knowiedge of board and length of service of board as a whole
excluded from the analysis, then at least halff L. Annual evaluation of board and directors and demonstration of whether each

the Board, excluding the Chair, would be director continues to contribute effectively

Non-rléxeiutlve E_)irectors whom the Boa_rd « Board composition p58 to pS9
consicers to be md;eper;dent. T,ak'nﬁ this « Diversity, tenure and experience p&9 and p70
inta account, and after discussing the + Board, committee and director performance evatuation p71
composition of the Board. the combination + Nomination Committee report p72 to p74

of skills, experience and knowledge together
with the value of the input received and
diversity of thought from all members of . . — .
the Board, the Board has concluded that M. Independence and effectiveness of internal and external audit functions and integrity
the composition of the Roard provides the of financial and narrative statements

appropriate balance of skills, experience and | N. Fair, balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s position and prospects

knowledgg to be effective and entfepreneur4al 0. Risk management and internal control framewark and principal risks the company

In promoting the long-term sugta\nable is willing to take to achieve its long-term objectives

success of the Group, generating value for . - -

Shareholders and contributing to wider | * Audit and Risk Committee reports _ P75 to p82

society. The Board do not consider this to | = Strategic Report - Risk management, Principal risks p50 to p55

be a risk to the standards of governance I« Fair, balanced and understandable Annual Report pt19

operating within the Group. It has not been * (oing concern basis of accounting p118, p119 and p131
* Viability statement P55 to p56

raised &s a concern by shareholders and not
highlighted as a concern as part of our

external board evaluation. The Board section 5: v

consider the representation and views the P. Rernuneration policies and practices to support strategy and gromote jong-term
Partner Directors add to the Board to be sustainable success with executive remuneration aligned to company purpose

vitally important. The make up of the Board and value

has been considered during the course of Q. Procedure for executive remuneration, director and senior management remuneration

the year and will be kept under review. — ‘
R. Authorisation of remuneration outcomes

+ Directors' Remuneration report p83topl4

You can find further information on
compliance with the Code as per the chart
on this page.

For information on compliance with DTR
7.2.5 please see the pages referred to in
section 4 of the chart,

DWF Group plc | Annual Reportand Accounts 2022 61
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Governance

Board leadership and Company purpose

Matters Reserved for the Board

The Board has a formal schedule of matters
specifically reserved for its decision and
approval, which includes but s not limited

The Board has collective responsibility to i Regulation in England and Wales
promate the long-term sustainable success ' As a legal business we also have to comply
of the Group, generate value for Shareholders . with the regulatory requirements of the
and contribute to wider society. An effective

| Solicitors Regulation Authority ('SRA}IN
board develops its collective vision of the
purpose, values, culture and behaviours
to promote across the Group in order to
achieve the strategic objectives it sets.
This is achieved through good governance
and a board with the necessary skills,
knowledge and experience to provide

effective leadership te the Group. The Board

recognises the contribution made by good
governance to the Group’s success and the

importance of the right structures to deliver

the Group's strategy.

How the Board operates

The Board has a standing schedule to meet

at least six tmes a year but holds further
meetings as required. Agenda planning is
undertaken in advance of every meeting to
ensure there 1s an appropriate allacation
of time to consider significant topics. The
Board and its commuittees held a number
of meetings in FY2021/22 at which senicr
executives, external advisors and
independent advisors were invited to attend
and present on business developments

and governance matters. The Cornpany
Secretary attended all scheduled Board
and committee meetings. All meetings are
structured to allow open discussion.

The table on page 59 sets out attendance
at the scheduled Board meetings during
F¥2021/22. Additional meetings were held

. England and Wales and take account of

regulations imposed by other relevant

legal regulatory bodies 10 every country

we work in. In particular, that regulatery
framewcrk has led to a specific structure
to our Executive Board and to the structure
of the Group, as well as to certain
restrictions on shareholding.

In addition te the standard requirements of
gocd governance, the applicable regulatory

 regime imposes three major requirements

on the business:

. 1 The majority of executive management

responsible for the day-to-day running
of a legal business must be lawyers. Qur
business is managed by an Executive
Board (see page 60)and the majority

of its members are lawyers.

2. Arestriction on the holding of certain
interests in an SRA-licensed entity,
including holdings of 10% or more of
the voting rights by a non-authorised
person, unless such person has the
prior approval of the SRA. If someone
does acguire such a holding and is not
authorised to do so, then the Company's
Articles of Association entitle the
Company to impose certain restrictions
on all of that person’s shareholding,
which may include disenfranchisement
or compulsery disposal of such shares.

ta the following:

Strategy, including responsibility for

the overall leadership of the Group

and setting the Group's viston, purpose,
values and standards, satisfying itself
that these align with the Group's culture.

Capital and structure, including changes
related to the Group's capital structure,
major changes to the Group's corporate
structure and changes to the Group's
management and control structure.

Board, committee and other
appointments, changes to the structure,
size and compaosition of the Board, and
succession planning for the Board and
senior management.

Remuneraticn, including determining
the overall remuneration palicy, setting
the remuneration of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors and introduction
cr amendments of the Group’s share
plans and equity incentive plans to be
put to Shareholders for approval.

Financial and annual reporting,
ncluding explanation of the Group's
business model and strategy for
delivering the objectives of the Group,
approval of the Annual Report and
Accounts, and statements contaning
finagncial information, including any

throughout the year tc discuss operational,
strategic, governance and regulatory matters.
If a Director was unable to attend a meeting,

Further details are set out on pages 116
and 117 of the Directors’ report.

half year report and preliminary
announcement of financial results.

they still received the papers in advance of
the scheduled meeting and any input they
provided was considered fully.

. 3. Asset outin the Company’s Articles of

Association and certain other Group
constitutional documents the Company
and the Directors must ensure that
appropriate systems are implemented
and maintained te enabie the provision
of legal services by the Group and

our people, in accordance with the
professional duties of legal practitiocners

ineach jurisdiction in which they practise.

To the extent that there is any conflict,
or potential conflict, between (1) the
Coempany's and the Directors' statutory
and other duties at law and under the
Arucles of Association of the Company
to Shareholders and (it} the professional
duties of cur people and our Group
entities, then those professional duties
will prevail.

Contracts, including approval of
transactions that are material strategically
or by size and investments and capital
projects exceeding £1m per annum and
£10min aggregate.

Risk management and internal
controls, including ensuring that the
Group manages risk effectively by
approving its risk appetite.

Partner matters, including approval of
lateral hires with associated costs of more
than £1m, expulsion of any partner of the
Group and determining the leaver status
of any partners and emplcyees who are
members of the Executive Board.

Policies, including approval of any new
key palicies for the Group, or material
amendment to existing key policies.

Matrers Reserved for the Board are reviewed
annuatly. You can find them on the Company’s
website dwfgroup.com/en/investors.
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Key activities in FY2021/22

The Board recognises the value of
maintaining close refationships with 1ts
stakeholders, urderstanding their views
and the importance of these relationships
in delivering our strategy and the Group's
purpose. The Group's key stakehclders and
their differing perspectives are taken into
account as part of the Board's discussions.
Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006
reguires the Directors to act in a way they
censider, in good faith, would be most likely
to promote the success of the Company for
the benefit of our Shareholders as a whole.
In doing so, the Directors must have

regard to various matters identified in the
legislation. You Can read more in our section
172(1) statement on pages 26 and 27 which
include some principal decisions taken

by the Board during the year

Board meetings follow a carefully tailored
agenda that is agreed in advance by the
Char, in conjunction with the Executive

. Directors and Company Secretary. A typical

Board meeting will comprise reports on

. operational and financial performance, legal

and gevernance updates and one or two
detailed deep dives into areas of particular
strategic importance.

Each meeting includes an update from

© the Chairs of our committees on the

proceedings of those meetings, including

" any key decisions, any material discussions

and any recommendations to the Board
for approval.

The Board recognises the importance of
engaging with and considering the views
of key stakeholders in strategic planning,
decision making and building long-term

- sustainability.

' Stakeholder groups
@ Colleagues (employees and partnars)
@8 Clients
@8 Suppliers
@8 Oebiproviders
Sharehclders
@8 Communities
M8 Regulators
B Policymakers

Strategy and performance
[ N N N N ] -

Approved the Group's strategy. Continued
to Monitor progress against the strategic
objectives through regular updates from
the Group Chief Executive Officer and
Group Chief Operating Cfficer.

Deep dived intc new acquisitions and

Approved various trading updates to the

associations, and how they were performing market regarding performance against

within the Group, reviewed next steps and
how they aligned with the Group strategy.

budget and the implementation of the
Group’s strategy.

UOIBWLIOUI JBLID

Financial
| N N B N | -

Approved the annual budget and key
perfarmance indicators, and monitcred
the Group's achievement against them.

Legal and risk management

Recommended a final dividend for
FY2020/21 of 3.0 pence per share and
approved an interim dividend for payment
for FY2021/22 of 1.50 pence per share in
line with the Company's dividend policy.

Approved the Company entering into a new
revolving facility agreement to assist with its

working capitat requirements.

Reviewed and approved the Group Risk
appetite. Received regular updates on
litigation and insurance claims across
the Group.

Reviewed and considered the effectiveness
of the Group’s systems cf internal controls
and Risk Management Framework.

Reviewed risk areas across the business

including cyber security, IT systems and data
infrastructure, and risks faced by each of the

Group's divisions.

Board and Executive Board leadership

Reviewed and considered the composition
and diversity of the Board and its
committees.

ESG
L B N N -

Cantinued to moniter the skills, experience
and knowledge of the Board as a whole.

Monitored the implementation of the
new operating structure and approved
appointments and resignations to/from
the Executive Board.

Approved the Group ESG Strategy and the
introduction of ESG targets and measures.

Governance

Reviewed and approved corporate
statements including the Modern Slavery
Statement.

Received reports on pecple issues including

Diversity & Inclusion, employee wellbeing
initiatives, and gender and ethnicity pay
gap reporting.

Received reports from the committees and
considered recommendations for approval
including leaver status determination, UK
tax strategy, a hew remuneration policy and
changes to the Executive Board.
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Updated the Matters Reserved for

the Board and the committees’ Terms

of Reference to ensure they were
appropriately scoped and in accordance
with the requirements of the UK Corporate
Governance Code 2018 (the ‘Code’).

Conducted an annual review of Board and
committee effectiveness, facilitated by an
external provider, reviewing the cutcomes
and implementing actions to address the

areas for improvement.
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Governance

Board leadership and Company purpose continued

The Board's continued response

to COVID-19

The Board has continued to monitor the
impact of and challenges presented by
COVID-19. Whilst the immediate uncertainty
presented by COVID-19 has t¢ some extent
subsided, the Board acknowledges its role in
supperting colleagues as we navigate our
hybrid working processes.

The Board and Executive Board contnued
to prioritise regular communication with
cclleagues, alongside good governance to
facilitate quick and responsive decision
rmaking, with cur stakeholders at the
forefront of these dedisions.

The effects of COVID-19 required us to adapt
our ways of working. Our priority continues
to be ensuring we are doing all we canto
protect the health of everyone in the

Group and therr families. Agile warking
arrangements have continued for everyone
in the tusiness as office capacity continues
1o be limited in line with the Group's global

COVID-19 policy. As we navigate the 'new
normal’, the senior leadership teams have
been encouraged 1o increase their presence
in the office and to encourage their teams
ta atrend the office on a regular basis, to
facilitate collaborative working and support
more junior colleagues. This long-term
flexibility continues to be supported by the
business’ updated policies and procedures,
with ongoing monitoring key to its
sustamability as well as continued
Investment in initiatives to support effective
resilience, line management, effective
working, and additional guidance for our
people on physical and mental wellbeing.

Regular risk assessments continue to be

carried out across our offices to monitor the
effectiveness of safety measures to be taken

when working from the office, including
items such as working from an office,
travelling to work, entry/exit from office
buildings, dealing with visitors and

the provision of facilities

How our Board monitors cuiture

The Board establishes the Group's purpose,
values and strategy, and satisfies itself that
these and its culture are aligned. Details

can be found on pages 06, 07 and 57. The
following table demonstrates how the Beard
considered culture through various actions
taken during the financial year. The table
also shows the linkage of culture to purpose.

53 robacron e ulare Jrk: o purpoan
Non-Executive Directors as well as Provided a top-down approach to corporate culture and enabled ,@\
Executive Directors participated in oversight of the culture through interaction with employees Y Jy‘

virtual Global Town Halls, and partners.

Chair of the Board attended the Allowed the Board to assess the culture of the leadership I,/@'f\
Leadership Conference. within the Group to ensure it is representative of the corpcorate PR

culture.

The Group Chief Executive Officer and
Group Chief Cperating Officer and Group
Chief People Officer provided updates at
Board meetings on people matters,
including peopte surveys.

Provided information to help understand the culture, through data
on recruitment and retention of partners and employees. Feedback
from surveys allowed the Board to gauge the culture.

Reviewed and approved all key workforce
related policies including the Speak Up
policy.

Assisted assessment and oversight to ensure that policies
reflect the desired values and behaviours to help embed the

corporate culture.

Reviewed and approved Modern Slavery
Statement.

Enabled assessment of the broader culture of the Group and its

relationships with suppliers and customers,

Reviewed health and safety matters,
for example health and weilbeing.

Enabled feedback on the wellbeing of employees and partners
which assisted with monitoring of corporate culture.

Considered the views of Partner Directors
who attend all Board meetings.

Provided an insight into the culture amongst partners and the
extent to which the values and behaviours are embedded within

the Group.

Key

J/ //_: o o O\
\\_// ‘\l/_/’l k)/
Colleagues Clients Communities
&4
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Workforce engagement
in action

As part of Group's commitment to
compliance with the Code, Chris Sullivan
has been Designated Non-Executive
Director for the workforce since the
Company’s IPO. Chris was chosen due to
his senior position on the Board as Senior
independeant Director,

Sir Nigel Knowles held virtual Town Halls
Auring the year, tn ensiire top-down
visibility and to keep colleagues updated
on our strategy and performance, whilst
providing opportunities for meaningful
dialogue between the Board and
colleagues.

Results of engagement with the workforce,
including leadership meetings, are fed
back to the Board through reports
presented by th& Group Chief Executive
Officer, Group Chief Operating Cfficer and
Group Chief Pecple Officer, and verbal
updates by the Designated Non-Executive
Director for the workforce. These were
taken into account during Board discussions
and in particular have influenced our
ongoing response to colleague
engagement and mental health and
wellpeing initiatives. The Board continues
to view this as an effective workforce
engagement mechanism, which has
worked well to ensure werkforce matters
are considered by the Board.

Further information on our people initiatives
can be found in the ESG report on pages
47 and 48.

In addition, the two Partner Directors
continue to have a unique role in providing
constructive challenge to executive
decisions from the partner perspective
within the business and provide
representation for the partners across

the Group.

“The increased
transparency... continues
to facilitate building
trust in the business and
improve performance.”

How do you consider the rele of

Partner Director has evolved since
you were appointed?
Seema: The increased transparency provided
by this role continues to facilitate building
trust inthe business and improving

* performance. | have been invited as a

regular attendee at meetings of the Risk
Committee, which provides greater
oversight and involvernent.

Michele: | continue to provide a voice in

particular for partners based outside the UK |

and to ensure Beard discussions reflect the
interests of the entire Group. My interest in
Board discussions around strategy and

budget have been further developed by my
standing invitation to meetings of the Audit

' Seema: As Head of the Global Diversity

Committee, giving me further opportunity 1o

- particularly drawn to the opportunity the

+ position of Partner Director would provide
to increase the Board's understanding

voice my own perspective, as well as those
of our colleagues.

How do you bring the voice of the
workforce into the boardroom?

Seema: We bring an understanding of the
organisation that is different from the rest
of the Board, and our perspective can
stimulate discussions and provide ideas

and constructive insight into the views of
partners. We can consider and articulate
how the partners may be impacted by Board
decisions. Qur presence raises the profile of
our colleagues and other stakeholdersin
decisian making, particularly as the majority
of the partners are Shareholders in the
Company, too.

i what impact has this had?

Michele: We are the people who have
direct experience of working in accordance

i with the Group’s values and bebhaviours,

and we see the culture across the Group
below an executive ievel. This enables us to
provide feedback on partner perspectives
around the implementation of policies

and how collaboratively we are working
towards the ‘one team, no borders’ culture.
We are able to provide insight intoc what's
important for multiple stakeholders.

What actions have you taken

to increase the Board's
understanding and consideration of
diversity within the workforce and

and Inclusion Leadership Group, | was

of Diversity & Inclusion within the
workforce. | have the cpportunity to

. presentto the Beard and the Nomination
" Committee biannually on Diversity &

Inclusion matters, providing them with an
update on progress against our targets
and our policy, as well as answering any
questions they may have. As & result,

- Diversity & Inclusion has a greater
. presence in decision making by the Board.

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Governance

Board leadership and Company purpose continued

Workforce policies

The Board reviews and approves all

key policies that impact our workforce to
ensure that policies and practices support
the Group's purpose and reflect our values.
Our Global Code of Conduct sets out how
we put our values into practice. It also
provides practical advice on the individual
responsibilities of our colleagues and
guidance for certain scenarics, and
highlights the specific areas on which the
Group has a zero tolerance approach. This
helps ermbed the values, behaviour and
principles as part of our culture.

The Group takes a zero tolerance approach
to bribery and corruption, and the Anti-
Bribery and Corruption policy continues to
be reviewed on an annual basis. This policy
aims to protect the integrity, independence
and objectivity of the Group, and to clarify
the position of partners and employees

in giving or receiving such gifts, invitations
or hospitality, and thereby to ensure
compliance with ali applicable laws and
regulations. Where appropriate, the policy
is also communicated to third partes,
associated persons, clients and contacts.

It may also be incorporated into contracts
for the supply of geods and services.

Mandatory training is undertaken by all our
people on key policies, with self-disclosure
of completion now required at half- and
full-year check-ins, to ensure that they are
understood and embedded.

information on how the Company invests in
and rewards its workforce can be found on

pages 46 to 48 and 110.

_ Speak Up policy and helpline

We are committed to maintaining an

. open culture with the highest standards

of honesty and accountability, a culture

where colleagues can report any legitimate
concerns in confidence. Our Speak Up policy
outlines the process to raise a concern
about wrongdoing, safe in the knowledge
that it will be investigated promptly and

" effectively. The Speak-Up policy was
" reviewed and updated during the year.

Reports made under the Speak Up policy

" are reviewed by the Audit Committee and

the Audit Committee in turn reports to the

~ Board on an annual basis.

Shareholder engagement

The Beard is committed to open and
transparent dialogue with Shareholders.
The Chair, Senior Independent Non-
Executive Director and other Non-Executive
Directors are available to meet with major
Shareholders on request. The Group
ensures that it comrmunicates the
information that its investors require through
Regulatory News Announcements, press
releases and the Annual Report and Accounts.

- Our AGM, to be held on 28 September 2022,

will provide an opportunity for further
Shareholder engagement, for the Chair

! to explain the Company's progress and,

alongside other members of the Board, to

answer any questions.

Shareholder activities during the year
« Committee Chairs engaged with
Shareholders on significant matters
relating to their areas of responsibility,
including in respect of the global
ESG Strategy.

+ Investor and analyst presentations were
held following the announcement of our
full-year and half-year results.

¢+ After those presentations, investor
roadshows were held with key Shareholders
and prospective investors.

* The Executive Directors continued to be
active participants in market events.

" Shareholders by type

‘;‘%

i
‘\

@ Retail

34.57%

@B Asset Manager 19.63%
@8 Other (<3%) 10.54%
@ crployees 9.30%

Private Equity/Venture Capital 6.22%
@B Private Investor 6.12%
B \eaith Management 375%
## Company related 3.50%
3B Corporate 3.24%

Pensiocn Fund Manager 3.14%
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Division of responsibilities

DWF Group PLC Board

The Board provides leadership within a framework of prudent
and effective controls. There is a clear division of responsibility
amongst the Board with the overarching goal to promote the

Group’s long-term sustainable success.

Governance framework

versions can be found on the Company’s
website dwfgroup.com/en/investars.
Membership of the Audit Committee and
the Risk Cornmittee is limited to Independent
Non-Executive Directors, in accordance
with the UK Corporate Governance Code

2018 (the '"Code". The Chair of the Board
chairs the Nomination Committee and is
a member of the Remuneration Committee.
All Independent Non-Executive Directors

sit on all four committees.

The Board has established four committees
and one standing committee. In addition to
. the schedule of Matters Reserved for the
" Board, each cormmittee has written Terms of
Reference defining its role and responsibilities.

These are reviewed annually and the current

Committees [

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee assists
the Board in discharging its
responsibilities including
assessing the integrity of
financial reporting, ensuring
the independence and
effectiveness of external
and Internal Audit functions
and controls, reviewing the
Company's annual and
half-yearly financiai
statements, making
recommendations on the
appointment, reappointment
and removal of the Auditor,
monitoring the independence
of the Auditor, reviewing the
objectivity and effectiveness
of the audit process and
reviewing the scope of the
audit ard non-audit work
undertaken by the Auditor.

Risk Committee

The Risk Committee’s duties
include oversight of the
Group Risk Management
Framework and risk
appetite, providing advice to
the Board in relation to the
assessment of the principal
risks facing the Group, the
management and mitigation
of those risks, and considering
the effectiveness of the
Group's compliance funcuon,
as well as providing oversight
and advice 1o the Beard in

relation to future risk strategy.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee
assists the Board in
reviewing the structure,
composition and diversity
of the Board and its
COMMILtees, sLccession
planming, evaluating the
balance of skills, experience,
independence and
knowledge on the Board,
leading the precess for
Board appcintments, and
making recommendations to
the Board on such rmatters.

Itis also responsible for
assisting with any evaluation
process, both internal and
external, 10 assess the
overall and individual
performance of the Board
and its committees, and
reviewing the policies on
Diversity & Inclusion, as
well as progress against
achieving objectives under
those policies.

|

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration
Committee assists the Board
in fulfilling its responsibilities
N relation to remuneration,
including making
recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s
policy on remuneration,
determining the individual
remuneration packages,
including pension rights

and any compensation
payments, of each of the
Company’s Executive
Directors and senior
management.

The Remuneration
Committee is also responsible
for considering and making
recommendations to the
Board on the design and
targets of share plans and
equity incentive plans and
reviewing the angoing
appropriateness and
relevance of the remuneration
arrangements across

the Group.

Standing committee

Disciosure Committee

DWF Group plc | Annual Reportand Accounts 2022
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Governance

Division of responsibilities continued

There is a clear division of responsibility between the running of the Board by Jonathan Bloomer and the responsibility for the running of
the Group’s business by Sir Nigel Knowles. The foilowing table sets out the policy on the division of responsibilities of the Board during
the year ended 30 Aprit 2022.

Rrie - Respors Cnltes

Chair of the Board ;. (a) Leadership of the Beard and ensuring its effectiveness on all aspects of its role
. (b} To chair and set the agenda of all meetings of the Board

. {Q) To promote a culture of apenness and debate, by facilitating the effective contnibution
of Non-Executive Directors and Partner Directors

: (d} To communicate with Shareholders and other stakehelders

Deputy Chair of the Board and Senior {3} To step into the role of the Chair, in the Chair's absence

Independent Non-Executive Director ‘
P () To act as a sounding board for the Chair and to serve as an intermediary for the other

Directors

{¢) To ensure that the Chair and Group Chief Executive Officer comply with the policy on
division of responsibilities

{d) To be available to Sharehaolders if they have concerns that cannot be or have not been
addressed, or are inappropriate to be addressed through the usual channels of the
Chair, the Group Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer

{(a) Responsible for the day-to-day management of the businesses of the Group in
accordance with such policies and directions as the Board of the Company may
determine from time to time

Group Chief Executive Officer

(b} To manage the Group's operations, including the development of strategic plans
(¢) To develop and maintain good, open and transparent regulatory relationships

{d) To provide effective leadership of senicr management of the Group in the day-to-day
running of the Group’s business and oversight of executive meetings

Chief Financial Officer {a) To manage all aspects of the Group’s financial affairs and to contribute to the
managernent of the Group's operations
Group Chief Operating Officer {&) To collaborate with and suppert the Group Chief Executive Officer to effectively design,

implement and execute the Company's strategy in accordance with such policies and
directions as the Board of the Company may determine from time to time

Independent (&) To constructively challenge and contribute to the development of strategy

Non-Executive Directors - : —
{b) To scrutinise management performance against agreed goals and objectives, and the

on-going appropriateness of those objectives

(c) To contribute to open and honest debate in Board meetings, providing constructive
challenge to Executive Directors and senior management

{d) To ensure financial contrels and risk management systems are strong and secure

{e) To take into account the views of Shareholders and other key stakeholders
where appropriate

Partner Directors {a} To constructively challenge and contribute to the development of strategy

{b) To scrutinise management performance against agreed goals and objectives

i {c) To provide constructive challenge to executive decisions made by the Executive
Directors and the senior management

- (d) To take into account the views of Shareholders and other stakeholders
where appropriate

{e} To devise and recommend proposals for the Board te have mearingful and regular
dialogue with all of the Group’s partners and employees
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Composition, succession and evaluation

Board changes during the year
There were no changes to the Board during
the financial year to 30 April 2022,

As at 30 April 2022, the Board comprised
10 Directors, made up of the Chair, who
was Independent on appointment, three
Executive Directors, four Independent
Non-Executive Directors including the
Senior Independent Non-Executive
Director and two Partner Directors.

Our urigue structure means we also have
two Board positions for Partner Directors,
each of whom serves far an initial term of up
1o three years. The Partner Directors have a
spedific role which, while similar to that of a
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director,
includes providing constructive challenge

to executive decisions from a standpoint
within the business. They are not entitled

to receive a fee for undertaking their role

as Partner Directors but are remunerated
as other partners are from their membership
of our Group entities. For the purpose of the
Directors’ Remuneration report, they are
treated as Non-Independent

Non-Executive Directers.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors
bring & broad perspective to the
deliberations of the Board, having been
selected for their diverse commercial

and sector expertise rather than a legal
backgraound. The combination of skills
and experience of the Board is

illustrated opposite.

Board skills and experience

Environmental, Socizl & Governance

International Business Experience

PLC Expenence/Corporate Governance

10das ndsrens

v
i
i
i
i

Professional Services

Risk Management and Risk Mitigation

Strategy

Finance Capital Markets

Human Resources

Mergers & Acguisitions

Regulatory

|
|
1

Transformation/Growth

Finance/Accounting/Audit

Inforrnation Technology

|
S
ES

450,

0%
Length of tenure
0-2 years SR
3-5years s
S+ years
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Governance

Composition, succession and evaluation continued

Regulation

To comply with certain local regulatory
requirements, the majority of our Executive
Board must be lawyers. Qur Executive Board
meets this requirement with 8 of the

14 members being lawyers.

Board succession

The Nomination Committee continues

to review succession plans for the Board
and Executive Board each year. Further
information on cur approach to succession
planning, cur Diversity & Inclusion pelicy
and Board appointments can be found in
the Nominaticn Committee report on
pages 72 to 74,

Board induction and training

Inducticn pragrammes are provided for ail
new Directors, which are tailored to each
new appointee. Each programme includes: a
comprehensive induction pack of background
information relating to the Company and the
Group, alongside material on governance
matters; introductory meetings with their
Board colleagues, the Group Generai Counsel
and Company Secretary, senior management,
other key people within the Group, and,
when relevant, the Company's advisors.

The induction pregramme is designed to
ensure that all new Directors develop
sufficient knowledge and understanding of
the Group and our businesses, people and
processes, as well as of their duties as
Directors of the Company, to oversee the
operatians of the Group and contribute
effectively to strategic discussions

Ongoing and tallored training is provided
for all Directors, as necessary, to provide
oversight and broaden knowledge of the
Group and the matters affecting it. The
General Counsel and Company Secretary is
responsible for supporting the Chair of the
Board in defining the training programme
and maintaining the training agenda for the
Board ang its committees during the year.
Training comprised a mixture of formal and
informal training sessions, as well as deep
dives into the Group's businesses.

Non-Executive Directors’ independence
and time commitment

Non-Executive Directors are required

to be independent In character and
judgement. Any relationships that may
interfere materially with this judgement are
disclosed under the Conflicts of Interest
policy, see page 115. On behalf of the Board,
the Nominaticn Committee assesses the
Non-Executive Directors' independence,
skilis, knowledge, experience and time
commitment annually. Additional external
appointments will not be undertaken without
approval from the Nomination Committee.

70

The Nomination Committee concluded
that every current Non-Executive Director,
with exception of the Partner Directors,

is independent. Each Non-Executive
Director continues to contribute effectively,
and demonstrates they were committed
to the role. Each current Director will
submit themselves for election or
re-election at the 2022 AGM, in line with
the recommendations of the UK Corporate
Governance Code 2018 (the ‘Code’).

Board and committee support

The Company has systems in place tc ensure
the Board is supplied with appropriate

and timely information that helps Board
members discharge their duties. We utilise
a fully encrypted electronic Board portal

to distribute Beard and committee papers,
which also enables the efficient distribution
of business updates and other resources

to the Board. Board members may request
additional information or variations to
regular reporting as required.

The Group General Counsel and Company
Secretary is responsible to the Chair for
advising the Board on all governance
matters. The Group General Counsel and
Company Secretary has been appointed

© secretary to all the committees of the Board
- and meets regularly with the respective

Chairs to brief them cn areas of governance
and committee requirements. All Directors
alsa have access to the advice and services
of the Group General Counsel and Company
Secretary. They are also able to take
independent legal and professional advice
when they believe it is necessary to do so.

Diversity & Inclusion

The Board recognises the value diversity
brings to the boardroom, and believes

the Board will perform better, and gain
wider support for its overall objectives

and strategy, if it includes the best people
available, who also represent a wide range
of backgrounds, skills, experience and
views. The Company has aimed to appont a
diverse Board of highly talented individuals,
from a mixture of gender, ethnicity and

. social backgrounds, with a view to the Board

meeting the recommendations of both the
Hampton-Alexander and Parker Reviews.
The Nomination Committee recognises the
need for development of a diverse pipeline
for succession to senior management within
the business itself.

The Board and the Executive Board are
committed to buillding a diverse and inclusive
environment where our people can bring
therr whole self to work and enable our
diversity to truly flourish. We encourage

and support our peaple to take ownership
and respansibility for our inclusion agenda.
The Board is committed in maintaning its
current gender diversity, with no fewer than
three women on the Board at the end of
FY2021/22. We have achieved and exceeded
our target of at least 33% female

representation on the Executive Board
by 2022, following the commencement
of the new Executive Board which took

. effect on 1 May 2021.

The Board appreciates that diversity
includes, but is not limited to, gender and
seeks to encourage diversity of gender,
social and ethnic backgrounds, cognitive
and personal strengths at Board level and
throughout the Group. More information
on DWF's Diversity & Inclusion strategy,
benchmarking and targets can be found
within the ESG report on pages 45 and 46.

The following charts provide a summary
of the Board, Executive Board, senior
management and all employees' gender

- diversity as at 30 April 2022.

. Board gender

B \vale 7

70%
@ remale 3 30%
Executive Board gender’
M vale 9 64%
Wl remale 5 36%

1 The Executive Board gender splitis as at 30 April
2022, The current composition of the Executive
Board s 64% male and 36% female excluding the
one individua! listed as Adwisor te the Execative
Board on page 60.

2 Senior management is defined as the Executive
Board and direct reports (excluding administrative
and support staff) as at 30 April 2022 This includes
directors of subsidiaries
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Senior management gender? - Board and committee evaluation

The Board has previously undertaken two
internal Board evaluations and progress ‘
has been made against findings, including

a review of processes to improve the

quality and timeliness of Board and
committee papers ‘

yodas i8aens

In ine with best practice and the
provisions of the Cade, for FY2021/22,
it was agreed to undertake an externally ‘
| facilitated evaluation of the Board. }
© After a tendering process, the Board ‘
appointed SCT Consultants to carry
out the Board evaluation. As this was the
first external evaluation the Group have i

- . conducted, SCT Consultants have not

‘ T ) evaluated the Group Board previously, nor

@ Male 85 61% | did they have any prior business refationship
M remale 55 39% | with the company.

All employee gender ¢ This evaluation censidered the Board as

a whole, the operation of each committee,

the performance of individual Directors,

as well as the Chair. All Board members

" participated in the evaluation which was

undertaken confidentially using anonymous

guestionnaires to be completed by each

Director, review of Group publications and

" Board papers, one-to-one interviews with

each Director and Board and committee

meeting observation. SCT Consultants ]

presented its findings at a meeting of the i

Board. The Board discussed these and an |

| action plan was subsequently developed '
and agreed with the Chair. Progress ,
against this plan will be menitored ‘
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- \ale 1735 42%

| The main findings of the Board and
@ remale 2361 58% | committee evaluation process, together |
| with related actions for the year ended
30 April 2022, are as follows:
‘ l
Evaluat on firdirg Actson for TY2022053
Board » When looking at refreshing the Board, consider developing the Board's membership to include more commercial

and professional services know-how.

+ Ensure consistently simple, clear information flows to the Board and that in future, when major investment
decisions are made, post-investment appraisals are carried out at an appropriate time.

* Look far opportunities to spend more informal time together as a Board, to stand tack and review how the
Group is doing and identify possible topics for future discussions.

Stakeholders = Regular systematic stakeholder feedback should be built inte the forward agenda, particularly from clients and
employees. This should include updates on how the organisation’s culture is being developed and reinforced.

« Keep under review the Group's cverall talent strategy to ensure it is underpinning and driving its business
strategy, including its means of attracting, retaining, motivating, rewarding and performance managing, in order
to continue to be competitive in the way it manages and rewards its pecple.

Strategy « Ensure there is a detailed strategy implementation plan with timescales, milestones and measures, and that
from time to time the Board schedules an in-depth review of each of the various aspects of its strategy.

* The Beard should ensure the risk management information it receives is not over-complicated and that it
focuses sufficiently on mitigating actions and their follow-through.
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Governance

Composition, succession and evaluation continued

Nomination Committee report

Jonathan Bloomer
Chair, Nomination Committee

Members

Jonathan B8loomer (Chair)
Luke Savage

Tea Colaianni

Sam Tymms

Chris Sullivan

Each member's expertise and experience
is set out in their bicgraphy on pages 58
and 59, alongside their attendance at
Committee meetings.

Focusin Fy2021/22

* Monitored the Group's adoption of its new cperating structure

* Further developed succession planning arrangements for Directors and
serior mariagement

« Continued tc monitor progress in line with the Group's Diversity & Inclusion policy

* Reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board and its committees

* Consider the skills, experience, independence and knowledge required to ensure the
business continues to be effective

Focus in FY2022/23

+ Continue t© monitor progress against the Group's Diversity & Inclusion targets
r line with the Graup's Diversity & Inclusion palicy
+ Continue to consider succession planning arrangements for senior management
1o the Board and Executive Board
+ Continue to renew the structure, size and composition of the Board and its committees
* Continue to consider the skills, experience, iIndependence and knowledge required
to ensure the business continues to be effective

Dear Shareholder,

Since 1 May 2021, the Group has operated
through its new structure of three global
divisions of Legal Advisory, Mindcrest and
Connected Services. The transition went
smoothly, with the implementation of a
training pregramme for the new global
matrix leaders being delivered promptly and
received positively. Equally, relevant changes
to the finance and HR systems finished
ahead of scheduie. You will recall that, as
part of its role in keeping the leadership
needs of the Group under review, the
Nomination Committee {the ‘Committee’)
recommended to the Board a number of
senior management changes to suppaort our
new operating structure, which came inte
effect from 1 May 2021. Since then, the

: Committee has monitored the effectiveness
- of these changes and is pleased to see the

positive contribution these appomntments
are making to the success of the Group.

During FY2021/22, the Committee cantinued
to focus its attention on ensuring orderly
succession for the Board and Executive
Board, to ensure that the right people are

in the right place to deliver the Group's
strategy and that there is continuous talent
management to ensure a diverse pipeline of
individuals fully able to deliver the strategy in

. the future. In accordance with our policy

~ commitment, all appointments to the Board

are made on merit, taking into consideration

+ the requirements of the UK Corparate

Governance Code 2018 (the ‘Code’) and
ensuring that the business continues to have
the appropriate mix of skills, experience,
independence and knowledge for its
continued effectiveness. The Committee has
considered succession plans for the Board
and Executive Board at regular intervals.

The Group maintains a strong focus on
Diversity & Inclusion and, throughout the
year, the Committee continued its focus on
the Diversity & Inclusion policy and the
Group's diversity targets, on which further
information can be found on pages 45 and
46. We are pleased to report that female
representation on the Executive Board is
now at over 33% and there are three women
on the Board.
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Our Partrner Directors have continued in Responsibilities - The Committee held three scheduled

their roles and the Committee has taken I The Committee’'s main responsibilities include: | meetings during FY2021/22 and the table
care to monitor the effectiveness of these ' on page 59 provides details of members’
unigue positions. During the year, the i attendance at those meetngs. At the
Committee requested Board approval for . invitation of the Chair of the Committee,
the two Partner Directors to extend their other regular attendees, who can withdraw

| ¢ regularly reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board with
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remit and start to attend meetings of the . regard to any changes, as necessary, were in attendance at some

Risk Committee and Audit Committee. The + giving full consideration to succession I or all of the meetings. These included

Board approved this request an the basis planning for Directors and senior * the Group Chief Executive Officer, Group

that this would enhance the Directors’ skills, management and overseeing a diverse © Chief Financial Gfficer, Group Chuef

experience and knowledge of the Company ‘ pipeline for succession; Operating Officer, Group General Counsel

and also bring the views of the partners to ) & Company Secretary, the Chief People

these meetings. * keeping the leadership needs of the Group * officer and the Deputy Company Secretary.
under review with a view to ensuring the

Further information on the considerations | continued ability of the Group to compete

taken by the Board regarding composition effectively in the market; \

of the Board can be found on page 69. ) o
+ identifying and nominating, for the

approval of the Beard, candidates to fill

jonathan Bloomer Board and se.nior management vacancies 5
Chair, Nomination Committee when they arise; and é
.+ keeping under review the Group’s policy Y
. on diversity, including gender, age, ES
' educational and professional background 3
| and any measurable objectives that it has 2

' setinimplementing the policy, and

progress on achieving the objectives.

} The Committee's duties and responsibilities §
i are set outinits Termns of Reference, 2
which are reviewed annually. These are )
available on the Group’s website at E:
dwfgroup.com/en/investors. §

Membership

The Committee is made up of a minimum

of three members, a majority of whom are
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The
Chair of the Board chairs the Committee
except when the Committee is dealing with
the appeintment of a successor to the Chair
of the Board. |

. Meetings

i The Committee halds a minimum of two
meetings each year and meets at such other
times &s the Chair of the Committee shall

* require. To enable it to carry out its

. responsibilities, the Committee has an
annual rolling agenda maintained by the |
Company Secretary, and regularly reviewed |
in conjunction with the Chair of the
Committee. The Company Secretary also
maimntains a tracker of actions arising frem i
rmaetings. At the next scheduled Board \
meeting, the Chair of the Committee reperts ‘
i formally to the Board on the Committee’s
proceedings, including how it has discharged
its responsibilities.

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022 73



Governance

Composition, succession and evaluation continued
Nomination Committee report continued

The table below summarises the key activities and considerations of the Committee during the year,

Beard
composition

» Regularly reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Beard, taking into consideration the skills,
experience, independence and knowledge required to ensure the business continued to be effective

» Approved and oversaw policies and procedures by which applicable partners of the Group were able
to nominate themselves o the Committee for the position of Partner Director

« Reviewed the time required frem an Independent Non-Executive Director and assessed whether he or she
contributed effectively and demonstrated commitment to the role

i Additional detail can also be found on pages 69 to 71 of the Corporate Governance report

Succession
planning

= Gave full consideration to succession planning and oversaw the development of a diverse pipeline for succession
for Directors and senicr management

* Kept the senior management arrangements of the Group under review to ensure the continued ability of the
Group to compete effectively in the market and was informed about the issues affecting the Group and the
market in which it operates

« ldentified and nominated, for the approval of the Board, candidates to fill senicr management vacancies as they
arase or a3 new need emerged taking into account the challenges and oppertunities facing the Group and the
skills and expertise needed in the future

Diversity
& Inclusion

* Kept under review the Group's policy on Diversity & Inclusion and progress against achieving the measurable
objectives that it has set in implementing the policy

« Considered diversity in all appointments and succession planning discussions and processes to promote new
and innovative thinking, maximise the use of talent, and support better business decisions and governance

+ Actively supported the drive towards our diversity goals throughout the year to make a significant contribution
to our Diversity & Inclusion agenda, maintain competitive advantage, and enablé our pecple to operate in a way
that maximises their contribution to our business

Additional detail can also be found on pages 70 and 71 of the Corporate Governance report

Governance

« Reviewed the Committee’s performance to ensure it is aperating at maximum effectiveness

» Produced a report describing the roles and responsibilities of the Committee and the actions taken by the

| Committee to discharge those responsibilities for inclusion in the Annual Report and Accounts

| = Considered the Board and Committee evaluation process and the skills assessment of the Board to inform the
Committee’s reviews of Board composition and its processes far appointments to the Board

74
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Audit, risk and internal control
Audit Committee report

Luke Savage
Chair, Audit Committee

Members

Luke Savage' (Chair}
Tea Colaianni

Sam Tymms

Chris Suilivan

Each member's expertise and experience
is set out In their biography on pages 58
and 59, alongside their attendance at
Committee meetings.

1 Luke Savage qualifies as a person with recent
and relevant financial experience

Focus in FY2021/22

* Oversaw the transition to a new External auditor and monitored its quality of audit
* Monitored the Group's adoption of its new operating structure

+ Coentinued attention on managing the impacts of COVID-19

« Monitored the integrity of the Group’s financial reporting

+ Assessed the effectiveness of internal control process

Focus in FY2022/23

« Continue to monitor the quality of audit prowided by the External Auditor
« Continue ta moniter the integrity of the Group's financial reporting
» Continue to access the effectiveness of internal control processes

DWEF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022

Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to present the report on

the activities of the Audit Committee (the
‘Committee’) for the period ended 30 April
2022. Buring the period, the Committee
has continued to monitor the integrity of
the Group's financial reporting, assess the
effectiveness of internal control processes,
oversee the work and quality of the Group's
Internal Audit function, and monitor the
quality of audit provided by the External
Auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

('Pw '), with particular regard to its
effectiveness, objectivity and independence.

The principal matters on which the
Committee focused in FY2021/22 are set
out in this report. These included regularly

- reviewing significant 1Issues, accounting
. policies and areas of management

judgement, monitoring the Half-Year and
Fuli-Year results timetables and all applicable
documentation, maintaining a8 good
relationship with both the internal and
External Auditors, and monitoring their
performance, and management of any
impact on the Group's systems of risk
management and internal control. Foilowing

" last year's tender for audit services, the

Audit Committee oversaw the appointment
and onboarding of our new External Auditor
PwC for the year ended 30 April 2022

During the year, an external evaluation

of the effectiveness of the Committee was
conducted, as part of the Board evaluation
process, further detail of which can be found
on pages 57 and 71. The Committee
considerad the outcomes of the external
evaluation as it pertained to Its own
performance and effectiveness. | am pleased
to report that the Committee considered
itself to be performing effectively.

As Chair of the Committee, | am pleased
to present this report for the year ended
30 April 2022, If you would like to ask any
questions about our work during the year
at the AGM, please see the notes to the
Notice of AGM which sets out the
arrangements for this year.

Luke Savage
Chair, Audit Committee
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Governance

Audit, risk and internal control
Audit Committee report continued

Responsibilities
The Cammittee’s main responsibilities include:

* monitoring the Group's financial reporting
process and the integrity of the financial
statements and any significant financial
reporting judgements;

* reviewing and challenging the adegquacy
and effectiveness of the Group's internal
financial controls (that is, the systems
established to identify, assess, manage
and monitor financial risks) and the
Group’s internal control and risk
management systems;

of the audit process and reviewing the
scope of the audit and non-audit work
undertaken by the External Auditor;

» annually approving the Group's Internal
Audit Plan and Charter, and receiving
regular reports on internal audits;

« monitoring the work of the Internal
Audit function;

¢« evaluating and challenging the External
Auditor's role, work and effectiveness; and

» averseeing compliance with applicable
legal and regulatory requirements,
including monitaring ethics and
comphance risks.

The Committee's duties and respensibilities
are set out in its Terms of Reference,

which are reviewed annually. These are
available on the Group's website at
dwfgroup.com/en/investors.

Membership

The Committee is made up of a minimum
of three members, each an Independent
Non-Executive Director. The Chair of the
Board is not a member of the Committee
but may attend its meetings by invitation,
For the purposes of the UK Corporate
Governance Code 2018 (the 'Code’), the
Chair of the Committee, Luke Savage,
qualifies as a person with recent and relevant
financial experience. The Committee as a
whole has competence relevant to the legal
and business services sectors in which the
Group operates, The Committee received
training during the period on matters
including the Principal Risks and Viability
Statement, and the Task Force on Climate.
related Financial Disclosures.

Meetings
The Committee meets at least three times a

i year, 10 coincide with key dates in the financial

reporting and audit cycle, and ctherwise as

the Chair requires. To enable it to carry out

its responsibilities, the Committee has an
annual rolling agenda maintained by the
Company Secretary, and regularly reviewed
in conjunction with the Chair of the
Committee. The Company Secretary also

" maintains a tracker of actions arising from
- meetings. This ensures that the agenda for
© each meeting aligns with both the financial

i L - " reporting and audit cycle, as well as
. h nd effi en k 1 )
reviewing the objectivity and effectiveness . particular matters arising throughout the

year considered appropriate by the
Committee for its scrutiny. At the next
scheduled Board meeting, the Chair of the
Committee reports formally to the Board on
the proceedings of the Committee, including
how it has discharged its responsibilities.

The Committee held five scheduled meetings
during FY2021/22 and the table on page 59
provides details of members’ attendance at
those meetings. At the invitation of the Chair
of the Committee, other regular attendees,
who can withdraw as necessary, included at
some or all of the meetings: the External
Auditor, the Chair of the Board, the Group
Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial
Officer, the Group Chief Operating Officer,
the Group General Counsel & Company
Secretary, the Deputy Chief Financial Officer,
the Group Director of Risk, the Head of
internal Audit, Deputy Company Secretary
and the Senior Assistant Company
Secretary. The Committee also met privately

" with the External Auditor and the Head of
Internal Audit during the year.

76

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022




The table below summarises the key activities of the Committee during the year. -
— 5

el

Financial * Monitored the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, including review of the Company's annual =
reporting and half-yearly reports, preliminary announcements and any other formal announcements refating to the 2
o

| Company's financial performance, alongside reports from management and the External Auditor

* Considered and reported to the Beard on significant financial reporting issues and judgements contained in
them, and submitted recommendations and proposals to ensure the integrity of the financial reporting process.
The key areas of judgement or assumption considered by the Committee and discussed with management and
the External Auditor are set out on page 78

* Reviewed the clarity and completeness of disclosures in the financial reports and statements and considered
whether the disclosures made were set properly in context

* Reviewed all material information presented with the financial statements, such as the Strategic report,
Directors’ report and the Corporate Governance statement {in so far as it relates to the audit)

* Reviewed the assessment of going concern and the viability statement in respect of these financial statements

* Concluded that these Annual Reports and Accounts when taken as a whole were fair, balanced and
understandable and provided sufficient information to enable the reader to assess the Group's position
and performance, business model and strategy

-
Internal controls * Kept under review the adeguacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal financial controls (that is, the systems 2
and risk established to identify, assess, manage and monitor financial risk and risk management systems 2
management * Received regular reports on any control deficiencies identified and considered the adequacy of management's o
response to identified deficiencies including mitigation actions taken and the implernentation of longer-term %
control improvements 3
* Considered reports from the External Auditor on progress and the results of the External Auditor's testing of 2
controls as part of the External Auditor's work
* Reviewed the adequacy and security of the Group’s Speak Up policy arrangements whereby staff and contractors
of the Group may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or other o
matters, and monitored any incidences of reports made under the palicy 5
* Reviewed and approved the Group’s tax strategy and tax policy =
p— [=]
Internal Audit * Reviewed and approved the annual schedule of work of the tnternal Audit function 3
* Approved the Internal Audit Charter §

* Received reports on the results of the internal Auditor's work on a periodic basis and received reports
addressed to the Comrnittee from the internal Auditor
* Monitored and reviewed the effectiveness of the work of the Internal Audit function including the capacity

within the function

External Audit * Following the appointment of PwC, monitored the onboarding of the External Auditer and the transition from
the previous incumbent

* Oversaw the relationship with the External Auditor, inciuding agreeing remuneration, terms of engagement and
scope of, and plan for, annual and interim audits

« Monitored the audit of the Company and consolidated financial statements ensuring an effective and high-quality
audit was conducted

* Assessed the External Auditor's independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the external audit process

* Ensured co-ordination with the activities of the Internal Audit function and evaluated the risks to the guality and
effectiveness of the financial reporting process in light of the Auditor's communications with the Committee

* Reviewed, and oversaw the application of, the Group’s formal policy on the provision of non-audit services by
the External Auditor as described further on page 79

Governance * Conducted an annual review of its Terms of Reference
* Reviewed the outcomes of an external evaluation of the Committee’s performance to ensure it is operating

at maximum effectiveness
= Compiled a report describing the roles and responsibilities of the Committee and the actions taken by the

Committee to discharge those responsibilities for inclusion in the Annual Report and Accounts
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Governance

Audit, risk and internal control
Audit Committee report continued

Key areas of judgement
In relation ta the period under review, the Committee assessed the appropriateness of the accounting policies adopted and the reasonableness
of any judgements and estimates. The Committee considered management papers and reports, in conjunction with reports from the
Externat Auditor, in considering the following key areas of judgement and how to address them.

AE, L LOYETET L
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Unbilled revenue

There are significant estimates involved in valuing
the Group's unbilled revenue and the amount that is
expected 1o be recoverable from clients on unbilled
matters. Key assumptions include histarical recoverability
rates, contractual arrangements, the cutcomes of
previous matters and agreements with clients.

The Committee has reviewed and challenged management’s
estimate of unbilied revenue. The Committee focused on the

i key assumptions within the estimate including the historic

recoverability rates and management’s methodology in
deriving an appropriate estimate. The Committee discussed
and challenged PWC on the audit work performed by them
and their condlusions reached. Considering all of the above,
as well as both management and PWC responses to
challenge, the Committee was satisfied that the assumptions
used were reasonable.

, Seenote 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Adjusting items
used in
Alternative
Performance
Measures (‘APMs")

The reporting, classification ang consistency of
adjusting items is an area of focus for the Committee,
in particular, the adherence to the guidance on

© APMSs provided Dy the Eurcpean Securities and

Markets Authority (‘(ESMA).

The Committee considers this & key consideration
when reviewing the financial statements to ensure
that they are fair, balanced and understandable.

The Committee has considered the nature, classification
and consistency of adjusting items, and the adherence
to the guidance provided by ESMA. The Committee alsc
reviewed the disclosures of the Group's APMS to ensure
that they are clear, transparent and assist Shareholders
and wider stakeholders in measuring the performance
of the Group. The Committee discussed the use of APMs
with PWC, including the disclosures of the Group's APMs
with respect to the applicable guidelines. The Committee
determined that disclosures are clear and transparent and
assist shareholders and other stakeholders in measuring
the operating performance of the Group. The Committee
therefore concluded that adjusting items were
appropriately captured and disclosed

APMs are discussed In the Financial review and also
detailed in note 2 and the glossary to the financial
statements.

Control over the
Alternative
Business Structure
(‘ABS’Y and
non-ABS groups

Regulations in certain jurisdictions in which the
Group is represented allow ABSs where legal firms
can be owned by non-lawyers. This is not the case in
other jurisdictions {'non-ABS). As a result, DWF LLP,
the head of the non-ABS Group, is not directly
owned by any entity within the ABS Group {which
includes the ultimate parent DWF Group plc).

Consolidation of DWF LLP and the other non-ABS

© entities depends on the assessment of whether a
. member of the ABS group is exposed, or has rights,

to variabie returns from its involvermnent with such
entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over such entity.

The Committee has reviewed the judgement that the
Group continues to consolidate the non-ABS entities,

. and has had due consideration of the Group's exposure,

or rights, to variable returns from non-ABS entities and
its ability to affect those returns. The Committee also
assessed the work perfarmed by PWC. The Committee
was satisfied with the ongoing consclidation of the
non-ABS entities.
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Internal Audit

The Group's Internal Audit function, which
provides independent assurance to the Board
on the Group's risk management and internal
control framewaork, has regularly provided
nput into Committee meetings. The Head of
internal Audit has direct 4Ccess to, and regular
meetings with, the Chair of the Cammittee,
and attends all meetings of the Committee.

A private meeting of the Committee and the
Head of Internal Audit was held during the
year to provide an opportunity for feedback
without the Executive Directors present,

In addition, the Internal Audit function has
unrestricted access to employees and
documentation acrass the Group to enable
itto perform its duties. There are also
arrangements in place to enable the function
o commission the support of technical
experts and other additional support as
required. During the yvear, the Committee
monitared progress of the Internal Audit
function against the Internal Audit Plan and
ensured that the function had sufficient
resource to carry out its duties effectively.

The Committee approved the Internal Audit
Charter and the Internat Audit Annual Plan,
which was formulated via a comprehensive
risk assessmentinvolving senior managernent.
During the year, the Committee receved
reports on the outcomes of the Internal Audit
function's work at each scheduled meeting,
and the Committee closely monitored
management's response to actions identified
inthe reports. A focus for the Committee in
FY2022/23 will be to menitor the number of
days Internal Audit actions remain open and
continue to support management with
progress to reduce these.

Effectiveness

The Committee reviewed the effactiveness
of the Group's systems of risk management
and internal control using the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations Internal

Control Framework. The Committee noted
improvements in the contrals environment
during the year. The Cammittee considerad
that the review of the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems
was robust and concluded that the existing
risk management and internal control systems
were effective, noting the ongoing work to be
carried out in strengthening these further.

The Committee received a report in its
September 2021 Commuttee meeting pack
from the Head of Internal Audit containing
a self-assessment against the Institute

of Internal Auditers' Internal Augit Code
of Practice {the'llA Caede of Pracrice’).

The paper provided an overview of the
Internal Audit function's performance
during the year against key performance
indicators, reviewed resources available
to the Internal Audit function, considered
management's implementation of required
actions, and highlighted certain areas for
improvement which the Internal Audit
function is addressing.

External Auditor

Appointment

The Audit Committee carried out
competitive tender process and as a result,
the Audit Committee recommended to the
Board that PwC be appeinted as External
Auditor to the Company. The recommendation
was made free from third party influence
and no restrictive contractual clause has
been imposed on the Caompany.

Following the passing of an ordinary

resolution by Shareholders at the 2021

Annual General Meeting of the Company, i
PwC was appointed to act as External Auditor |

- for the financial year ended 30 April 2022.

The audit partner s Jonathan Studholme.

Deloitte LLP {'Deloitte’) therefore stood :
down as External Auditor at that time and an
audit transition plan was enacted to ensure

i an effective transition to PwC.

The Company has complied with the
provisions of the Statutory Audit Services
for Large Companies Market Investigation
(Mandatory Use of Competitive Tender

: Processes and Audit Committee
" Responsibilities) Order 2014

Independence, objectivity

and effectiveness

During the year, the Commuttee assessed
the quality and effectiveness of the Auditor,
having particular regard to:

» the External Auditor's understanding and
insights inte the Group's business;

» the External Auditor's approach to key

areas of judgement, the extent of

challenge and the quality of reperting;

the quality controls in place to deliver

the audit and how the agreed audit plan

was delivered;

+ the External Auditor's independence and
ohjectivity;

+ the safeguards put in place by the
Committee and the External Auditor
to avoid any compromise of the
independence and cbjectivity of the
External Auditor;

* management’s feedback on the External
Auditor; and

» private sessions with the External Auditor
without management present.

-

The assessment took the format of a
guestionnaire which was completed by
members of the Audit Committee and
other key internal contacts who interact
with the External Auditors. The feedback
and scoring was collated and reviewed by

. the Audit Committee,

The Committee is satisfied that the audit, as

* carried out by the External Auditor, is effective

and dermonstrates appropriate, independent
and objective professional scepticism and
challenge to management’s assumptions.
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Non-audit services

¢ The Committee reviewed the Company’s

policy on the engagement of the External
Auditor for the provision of non-audit
services, and recommended some minor

: changes for approval by the Board. The
ron-audit services policy sets aut rigorous

controls intended 1o ensure the independence
of the Auditer 15 not impaired, and takes into
account the changes required by the EU
Audit Regulation and Directive (the ‘Audit
Regulation’y and FRC’s Ethical Standard.

The amended policy stpulates:

1. the nature of non-audit services the
Auditor is permitted to perform;

2. levels of authority for the Executive
to engage the Audiror for approved
non-audit services; and

3. that any non-audit services to ke provided
by the Auditor must be approved in
advance by the Committee. For a single
permitted project where the fee is no
more than £5C,000, the non-audit
services are considered trivial for the
purposes of the Audit Regulation, and
can instead be approved by the Chief
Financial Officer (or Group Chief Executive
Officer in his absence) (whose authority
to approve such projects will be capped
at a cumulative value of £300,000 in any
one financial year),

As a result of this policy, and to avoid conflict
with 1ts role, the External Auditor does not
act as Remuneration Advisor to the Company.
The Committee also approved the Company's
policy in relation to the recruitment of
former employees of the External Auditor,
again to manage any potential conflicts

of interest.

The audit fees payable to the Auditor

for the year ended 30 April 2022 were
£635,000 and non-audit service fees
incurred totalled £105,000 which solely
related to assurance services relating to the
Selicitors” Accounts Rules accountant report
required by regulation.

This equates to a non-audit to audit fee
ratic of 14%. We continue to ensure the
level of non-audit fees is compliant with
the Company’s 50% non-audit fee cap rule
{noting that this cap exciudes fees payable

+ for non-audit work required to be carried
! out by the External Auditor by law or

regulation or arising from any assessment
of the Group’s compliance with the Solicitors
Accounts Rules). The Committee has
concluded that the provision of non-audit
services has not comprormised the External
Auditor's independence and objectivity.
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Governance

Audit, risk and internal control continued
Risk Committee report

Sam Tymms
Chair, Risk Committee

Members

Sam Tymms (Chair)
Luke Savage

Tea Colaianni
Chris Sullivan

Each member’s expertise and experience
is set out in their bicgraphy on pages 58
and 59, alongside their attendance at
Committee meetings.

Focus in FY2021/22

+ Continuing attention on managing risks relating to the impact of COVID-19

+ Monitoring the Group's adaption of its new operating structure

+ Monitoring the impact of risks associated with our increasing focus on ESG

*+ Increased attention on assurance aclivities in connection with operational risk,

particularly in the area of cyber attacks

Focus in FY2022/23

= Continue to monitor the impact of risk associated with our new ESG Strategy.
+ Continue to focus on particular areas of nisk the organisation may face, such as the

80

external environment, people and cyber risks.

Dear Shareholder,

I'am pleased to present this report, which

i provides insight inta the Risk Committee’s

(the ‘Committee”) activities during the
penod ended 30 Aprit 2022. The Committee
supports the Board in fulfilling its obligations
1o ensure a framework of prudent and
effective controls, which enable it 1o assess
and manage risks, including those to the
long-term success of the Group. The
Committee considers an integratad
approach to the risk taxonomy, rnsk register
and risk assurance activity to be paramount.

The Committee’s activities throughout the
period included: overseeing the continuing
development of the Group Risk Appetite and
supporting framewoerk; determining the
nature and extent of the Group's principal
risks; conducting deep dives into divisional
risks; and monitoring assurance mapping.

During the year, an external evaluation of
the effectiveness of the Committee was
conducted, as part of the Board evaluation

- process, further detall of which can be

found on pages 57 and 71. The Committee
considered the outcornes of the external
evaluation and specifically its own
performance and effectiveness, | am pleased
to report that the Committee considered
itself to be performing effectively.

Alongside all my Independent Non-Executive
Director colleagues, | sit on each of the
committees of the Board. | particularly value
the close and effective monitoring of risk
management achieved by my membership
of the Audit Committee, as well as the Chair
of the Audit Committee’s membership of
this Committee.

| shall be avaiiable at the Company’s AGM

| to answer any questions you may have.

: Sam Tymms
© Chair, Risk Committee

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022




Responsibilities
The Committee’s main responsibilities include:

*+ adwvising the Board on the Group's overall
Risk Appetite, tolerance and strategy;

+ overseeing and advising the Board on the
Group's current risk exposures and future
risk strategy;

*+ keeping under regular review the Group's
overall risk assessment processes;

* providing advice to the Board on the

assessment of principal risks facing

the Group;

approving the remit of the sk Management

and Compliance functions;

« considering tie major findings of internal
investigations and management's
response; and

* ensuring it obtains suitable assurance on
the risk management and internal controls
embedded within the organisation.

The Committee’s duties and responsibilities
are set out in its Terms of Reference,

which are reviewed annually. These are
available on the Group's website at
dwfgroup.com/en/investors.

Membership

The Committee is made up of a minimum
of three members, each an independent
Non-Executive Director. The Chair of the
Board is not a member but may attend
Its meetings by invitation. Members of
the Committee have experience of risk
management mattars and practices. The
Committee received training during the
year on matters including risk appetite
and the application of competition law to
the business.

Meetings

The Committee meets at least three times
a year ana atherwise as the Chair or
members reguire. To enable it to carry out
its responsibilities, the Commuittee has an

. annual rolling agenda maintained by the

Company Secretary, which is regularly
reviewed in conjunction with the Chair of
the Committee. The Company Secretary
also maintains a tracker of actions arising
from meetings. At the next scheduled Board
meeting, the Chair of the Committee reports
farmally to the Board on the Committee’s
proceedings, including how it has discharged
its responsibilitias,

The Committee held four scheduled meetings
during FY2021/22 and the table on page 59
provides details of members’ attendance at
those meetings. At the invitation of the Chair
of the Committee, other regular attendees,
who can withdraw as necessary, included at
some or ali of the meetings: the Chair of the
Board, the Group Chief Executive Officer,
the Chief Financial Officer, the Group Chief
Operating Officer, the Group General
Counsel & Company Secretary, the Group
Director of Risk, the Head of internat Audit,
Ceputy Company Secretary and the Senior
Assistant Company Secretary.

Risk management governance structure
Board

The Board establishes the risk appetite for
the Group, so management can manage,
measure and report on risk appropriately
across the Group. The Board delegates
oversight of risk management activities 1o
the Risk Committee. You can find more detail
about the Board's activities on page 63.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee oversees the
development and implementation of the
Group's Internal Audit assurance framework

. and as part of this, regularly reviews the

effectiveness of the Group's Risk Management
Framework and internal control systems.
You can find more detail about the Audit
Committee’s activities on pages 7510 79

Risk Committee

The Risk Committee classifies the Group's
principal areas of risk through the Group
Risk Taxonomy. 1 his ensures oversight ot
the Group's approach to risk management
and the development af management and
mitigation approaches, to ensure risks
remain, or are guickly Brought within,

. the Group's risk appetite.

The Risk Committee also monitors and

" reviews the effectiveness of the Group's

compliance function, as well as providing
oversight and advice to the Board in relation
to future risk strategy.

Executive Risk Committee ["ERC")

The Executive Risk Committee 1s a
management committee chaired by the
Group Chief Executive Officer. It comprises
senior management including members of

. the Executive Board. The Commirtee

oversees the operational management of

© the Group's risks by identifying, assessing,

mitigating, and reporting risk.
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Governance

Audit, risk and internal control continued
Risk Committee report continued

The table below summarises the key activities of the Commuttee during the year.

Risk

Regulatory

Systems
and controls

Governance

* Advised the Board on the Group’s overall Risk Appetite, tolerance and strategy, and the principal and
emerging risks

* Kept under review the Group’s overall risk assessment processes, including the use of both qualitative
and quanuitative metrics

+ Reviewed the capability of the Group to identify and manage new and emerging risks

* Conducted deep dives into divisional key risks

= Monitored progress against key milestanes in the risk management roadmap

. » Obtained assurance an the Company's ability to reduce the likelihood of principal risks materialising

and the impact on the business of risks that do materialise

* Reviewed compliance against SRA standards
» Conducted a review of the adequacy of current health and safety compliance
« Considered the impact of TCFD on risk management systems and reporting

* Reviewed reports on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management systems and coentrols
and any non-compliance thereto, including in relation to detecting fraud and financial crime, the prevention

of bribery, corruption and money laundering, and compliance with the Market Abuse Regulations
Approved the Group's Anti-Bribery and Corruption policy

Received regular reports from the Group Director of Risk

+ Considered any major findings of internal investigations and management's response

* Considered the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's Risk Management function including recewving

a self-assessment report on the implementation of the risk management process which highlighted th

atr

a comprehensive Risk Management Framework had been established and identified areas of focus going forwards

Conducted an annual review of its Terms of Reference

« With the assistance of an external evaluation, reviewed the Committee’s performance to ensure 1t is operating

at maximum effectiveness

* Compiled a report describing the roles and responsibilities of the Committee and the actions taken by the

Committee to discharge those responsibilities for inclusion in the Annual Report and Accounts

B2
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Remuneration
Directors’ Remuneration report

Tea Colaianni
Chair, Remuneration Committee

Members

Tea Colaianni (Chair)
Luke Savage

Sam Tymms

Chris Sullivan
Jonathan Bloomer

Fach member's expertise and experience
is set cut in their biography on pages 58
and 59, alongside their attendance at
Committee meetings.

Focus in FY2021/22

Determined remuneration arrangements resulting from the Group's adoptien of its
new operating structure.

Reviewed the executive remuneration framework.

Reviewed the appropriateness and refevance cof the Remuneration Policy.
Continued te monitor the impact of COVID-19 on remuneration arrangements.
Reviewed pay fairness and transparency by cansidering wider workforce

palicies, to ensure alignment with Executive Director and senior management
remuneration arrangements.

Developed further the communication with prospective members of the wider.
workforce on the benefits of the equity element of the remuneration package offered
by the Group.

Focusin FY2022/23

Recommend a revised Remuneration Policy to Shareholders for approval

atthe 2022 AGM.

Engage with Shareholders on the proposed revised Remuneration Policy.

Determine the incentive arrangements and outcomes for the Executive Directors and
senior management.

Develop further the communication with prospective members of the wider
waorkforce on the benefits of the equity element of the remuneration package
offered by the Group.

Continue to tonsider wider workforce policies to ensure alignment with Executive
Directors and seniar management remuneration arrangements.

Dear Shareholder,
I am pleased to present the Directors’
Remuneration report for the year ended

© 30 April 2022.

Our current Remuneration Policy was
approved by 98.99% of Shareholders at the
2019 AGM. In line with the normal three-year
renewal cycle, we will be seeking Shareholder
approval for a revised Policy, set out on pages
88 to 107, at the AGM 1n 2022. in advance of
this, the Remuneration Committee undertook
a review of our current Policy and engaged
with cur major Shareholders as well as key
representative bodies on the proposed
changes.

Pages 108 to 109 of this report constitute
the Annual Report on Remuneration,
sumrnarising the outcomes for FY2021/22
and how we intend tc operate the policy
during FY2022/23.

This Directors’ Remuneration report sets
out the context of, and insight into, cur

Director pay arrangements, how our
rernuneration framework is aligned with
the rest of the workforce, and the decisions
the Committee made as a result of business
performance for this year. Where the
Committee has exercised its judgement

or discretion, it is documented clearly.

Directors’' Remuneration Policy -

2022 review

Our reward phrulosophy remains unchanged.
We believe In a simple and transparent
framework which rewards our Executives

' based on the financial and strategic
performance of the business, the value

created for our Shareholders, and their

! individual performance. We also recognise

that investor expectations around executive
pay continue to evolve.

| In determining the new Policy, the

Commuttee followed a robust process which

+ included a thorough review of the current

Policy at Committee meetings in 2021 and
early 2022 to ensure that it contnues to
support delivery of our business strategy.
The Committee considered input from our
Executives and our independent advisors
as well as considering best pracuce,
Shareholder guidance and any specific
feedback from our major Shareholders.

Following the conclusion of that process, the
Remuneration Committee has determined
that the remuneration framewark in our
Policy remains consistent with our core
strategic objective of delivering long-term
sustainable and profitable growth and
supports our performance-orientated
culture. In particular, the Committee agreed
that an incentive model comprising an
annual bonus and perfarmance shares
currently remains appropriately aligned with
these goals. Accordingty, the Committee
concluded that no substantial changes are
required to the Policy at this time.
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Governance

Remuneration continued

Some minor amendments only are
proposed in the new Policy in order to
pravide greater clarity in specific areas as
outlined on page 88.

Approach to remuneration in 2022/23
Alongside the review of the Policy, the
Remuneration Committee also assessed the
performance measures used in the incentive
plans to ensure they remained appropriately
aligned with strategic priorities. Following
this assessment, we have made some
modest Changes to the weighting of
performance measures in our incentive

structure for 2022/23, in particular
introducing a specific element of the
annual bonus inked to ESG performance,
whilst maintaining our focus on key

. financial metrics. The changes were made
. as the three performance measures are
considered equally important in contributing

to the success of the Group

The resulting structure of performance
measures that we currently intend to apply
In 2022/23 is summarised in the table below.

How the Policy was implemented in the
2021/22 financial year

Bonus

The Committee considered the financial
performance of the Company when
determining the banus outcomes far the
Executive Directors. The performance

| conditions were:
"+ 70% adjusted PBT;

+ 20% strategic and operational objectives;
and
+ 10% lock-up days target.

The adiusted PBT performance condition

. was achieved between threshold and target.
_ The strategic and operational objectives

- were fully achieved, however the gross

KPI 2021/22 2022/23 Strategic rationale

Annual bonus:

one-year performance

Adjusted PBT (Financial) 70% 50% Consistent with our strategic aim of
sustainabie, profitable growth. Maintains
the pnmary focus on 3 profit measure in
short-term incentivisation

Lock-up days (Financial} 10% 20%  Consistent with our strategic aim of
improving operational efficiency to deliver
sustainable, profitable growth

£5G - 10%  Consistent with our strategic aim of
developing a market leading position

o on ESG matters

Strategic and operational 20% 20% Fnables a focus on specific personal

objectives strategic and operational deliverables o

Equity Incentive Plan:

three-year performance )

EPS 40%  33.3% Consistent with our strategic aim of
sustainable, profitable growth

ROCE 40%  33.3%  Consistent with our strategic aim of
generating sustainable profitability

) and creating Shareholder value
Cash conversion 20%  33.3%  Consistent with our strategic aim of

improving operational efficiency

Group performance for the 2021722
financial year

The implementation of our strategy

(as outlined on page 103) has been
measured against the KPIs set out below:

Financial KPIs

* Netrevenue growth 3.6%
(FY2020/21: +10.9%)

*+ Underlying organic net revenue growth
+7% (FY2021/22: +8.0%)

+ Gross profit margin 51.7%
(FY2020/21. 50.8%)

+ Costtoincome ratio 38 4%
(FY2020/21: 39.2%)

+ Adjusted EBITDA £66.7m
(FY2020/27: £58.1m)

+ Adjusted profit before tax £41.4m
(FY2020/21: £34.2m)

* Profit/{Loss) beforetax £22.3m
(FY2020/21° £(30.6)m)

» Adjusted diluted EPS 10.7p
(FY2020/21: 7.4p)

* Netrevenue per partner: £375k
(FY2020/271 £324k)

* Lock-up days 179 days
(FY2020/21: 186 days)

* Free cash flow £12.9m
(FY2020/21: £32.1m)
* Netdebt £71.8m (FY2020/21: £60.2m)

Non-financial KPls

» Net promoter score 63 {(FY2020/21: 48)

* Engagement survey score 76
(FY2020/21: 76)

+ % Executive Beard roles held by women
36% (Fy2020/21: 40%)

* % senior leadership positions held by
women 29% (FY2020/21: 28.9%)

v % Ethnic Minority representation in
senior leadership positions 4%
(FY2020/21: 4.2%)

lock-up days target was not achieved. This
meant that each Executive Director was
eligible to receive a bonus of 47% of their
maximum oppartunity.

Having carefully considered this formulaic
outceme, the Committee was sausfied that
the bonuses earned were appropriate and

* that no exercise of discretion was required.

The resuitant bonuses were 70.4% of salary
{(£373k) for the Group Chief Executive Cfficer,
47% of salary {£150k) for the Chief Financial
Officer and 47% of salary (E141k} for the
Group Chief Operating Officer. You can find
details on the strategic and operational
objectives on page 106 of this report.

* The resulung total bonus award for the

three Executive Directors was in aggregate
£665k (rounded down to the nearest £1k
as illustrated on page 105). Following
determination that the above bonuses had
been earned and should be awarded, the
Group Chief Executive Officer advised the

i Committee that it was his view that each
" Executive Director had contributed equally

as “one team” to deliver excellent, robust
results and requested that the Committee
consider taking the available bonus total
and awarding this equally. The Committee
considered the Group Chief Executive
Officer's request and concluded that the
appreach was consistent with the
Remuneration Policy, would not result in
any Executive Director receiving more than
theirr maximum bonus opportunity and that
Shareholders wouid not be disadvantaged
as the total aggregate borius remarned
unchanged at £665k (rounded down to the
nearest £1K as illustrated on page 105).

The Committee further discussed the
individual contributions made by the
Executive Directors, and in particular the
Chief Financial Officer and Group Chief
Operating Officer, and therefore considered
the approach to be appropriate in respect
of the FY2021/22 honus ang approved that
the aggregate total bonus of £665k be
distributed equally between the three
Executive Directors As set out on page 105,
the actual bonuses paid were 41 8% of
salary (£221k) for the Group Chief Executive
Officer, 69.3% of salary (£221k} for the
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Chief Financial Officer and 73.9% of salary
(£221k) for the Group Chief Operating
Officer, with 50% being awarded in cash
and the remaining 50% being deferred in
shares The Committee noted that the
circumstances were such that the
approach should be supported.

The Committee further noted that the
approach does not gverride the formulaic
outcome in respect of bonus costs.

2019 LTIP award
The performanre perind for the 209 1 TIP

award, made under the Equity Incentive Plan

('EIP"y ended on 30 Aprit 2022. The formulaic
outcome of the award was 41% vesting.
This comprised full vesting of the cash
conversion measure following a substantial
improvement in lock-up days cver the
period, partial vesting of the ROCE measure
and zero vesting of the EPS measure. Full
details of targets and performance are on
page 107. The Remuneration Committee
considered the outcome in the context of
business performance and the broader
environment over the performance period
and was satisfied that the vesting cutcome
was appropriate and that no exercise of
discretion was required. The vested shares
will be subject 10 3 two year holding period.

LTIP awards granted during FY2021/22
The Company granted an LTIP award in
August 20271, which will vest following the
expiry of the three-year performance
pericd end is subject to the satisfaction of
performance conditions. The vested shares
are thereafter subject to a two-year holding
pericd. The awards were made with the
following performeance conditions to S
Nigel Knowles at 175% of salary and to each
of Chris Stefani and Matthew Doughty at
125% of salary:

+ EPS {40% weighting);
* ROCE growth (40% weighting); and
+ cash conversion (20% weighting).

The level of awards and percentage
weighting were unchanged from the
pricr year.

You can find further details of the LTIP
metrics, including targets and rationale,
on page 107 of this report.

Executive Directors’ Pay Review

The Remuneration Committee undertook
its regular annual review of the Executive
Directors’ base salaries and agreed an
increase of 49 effactive from 1 May 2022.
In coming to this determination, the
Committee took into account various
relevant internal and external facters
including the average employee and
partner salary increase in January 2022 of
5.65%. This is the first pay rise, excluding
promotions, in the Executive Directors’
salanes since [P in 2019,

Shareholder considerations

to maintain transparent and open diatogue
and engagerment with our Shareholders.

" As part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Pclicy Review, major Shareholders and proxy

agencies were contacted to notify them of
the limited propesed changes and to give
them an opportunity to feedback any views,
Feedback received by the Committee was
reviewed and any suggestions made were
implemented. Of the responses received,

all were supportive of the changes.

Wider workforce considerations

© When considering executive pay, the

Committee takes into account the wider
workforce remuneration and conditions.

. We believe allowing all our employees to

share in the success of the Company is a key
perfarmance driver. We continue to issue
share awards to cur people for promations

" and exceptional cantributions to the

business Following the approval of the
scheme last year, ‘Emerging Talent’ awards
were made during the course of the year to
retain and motivate talent and suppaort
succession planning. During FY2021/22, we
continued to offer a Buy As You Earn (BAYE")

i matched-share scheme in the UK, US and

Spain. Matching shares are received on a
one for two basis, so for every two shares

. purchased over the 12-month investment

period, participants receive cne matching
share three years from the start of the

relevant 12-month investment period subject

to certain conditions. In totat, 11% of our
eligible people are currently participating in
a BAYE matched-share scheme. There are
currently no plans to expand number of
jurisdictons the BAYE operates in however,
this is kept under review.

On pages 110 to 114 of this report, there are

details of the pay conditions of our wider

workforce, our CEQ-to-worker pay ratio, our
incentives throughout the business, and our

gender and ethnicity pay gap statistics.

You can find further detail on the key
matters covered by the Committee during

. the year on pages 86 and 87.

Effectiveness

During the year, an external evaluaticn of
the effectiveness of the Committee was
conducted, as part of the Board evaluation
process, further detall of which can be
found on page 771.

The Committee considered the outcomes

. of the external evaluation as it related 1o

the Committee’s own performance and
effectiveness. | am pleased to report
that the Committee recommended to

' the Board that it considered itself to be

performing effectively.

; ‘ ' Further detall of how our remuneration
Similar to previous years, we have conunued | e

for Executive Directors aligns with our
strategic priorities is set out on page 102
of this report.

If you would like to discuss any aspect of this

Directors’ Remuneration report, | would be
happy to hear from you. You can contact
me through the Company Secretary,
Darren Drabble. If you would like to ask any
questions in respect of this report at the
AGM, please see the notes to the Notice of

. AGM which sets cut the arrangements for

this year. I lock forward to your support on
the Directors’ Remuneration Policy and the
Annual Report on Remuneration at the
upcoming AGM.

Tea Colaianni
Chair, Remuneration Committee

Inglagenn s eport Fages

The Remuneration 86 and 87

Committee and its

activities during the year

Directors’ Remuneration 91 to 101

Policy

Remuneration -

At a glance including:

Business context and how 102

our incentive performance

measures align to our strategy

Remuneration outcomes for 103 and

FYZ2021/22 - At a glance 104

Annual report 108 to

on remuneration 109

Wider workforce

remuneration including:

Remuneration principles and 110

wider workforce remuneration

across the Group

Communication and 111

engagement with employees

and partners

CEO-to-worker pay ratio 111 and
112

UK gender and ethnicity 113 and

pay gap reporting 114
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Gavernance

Remuneration continued

The Remuneration
Committee and its
activities during the year

Responsibilities
The Committee's main responsibilities include:

* making recommendations to the Board
regarding the Group's framewaork or
broad policy for the remuneration of
the Chair of the Board, the Executive
Directors and senior management;

* determining the entire individual
remuneration packages for those
individuals, including;

* approving any severance compensaton
arrangements in accordance with the
Remuneration Policy, which are fair, do
not reward failure and fully recognise
the individual's duty to mitigate any
loss; and

+ considering how the pay and work
conditions of the Group's wider
workforce should be taken into account
when determining remuneration;

= consistent with the approach applicable
to the wider workforce, determining and
administering the Group's share plans
and equity Incentive plans in respect
of the Chair of the Board, the Executive
Directors and senior management; and
approving awards and performance
conditions, including satisfaction of
performance conditigns and the exercise
of any discretion by the Committee;

» regularly reviewing the ongoing
appropriateness and relevance of the
Remuneration Policy; and

* reviewing remuneration and related
policies applicable to the Group's
wider workforce.

The Committee’s duties and responsibilities
are set out in its Terms of Reference, which
are reviewed annually. These are available
on the Group’s website at dwfgroup.com/
en/ investors/sharehelder-hub/governance.

© Membership
" The Committee 1s made up of a minimum

of three members, and each is an
Independent Non-Executive Director.
The Chair of the Board is a member of
the Cormnrmuittee and was considered
independent on appointment as Chair of
the Board. Members of the Committee
collectively have appropriate knowledge,
expertise and professional experience
concerning remuneration policies and
practices. The Committee received training
during the period on matters including

¢ rernuneration corporate governance,
* as well as regular updates on best
| practice and remuneration trends.

Meetings

The Committee meets at least four times a
year and otherwise as the Chair or members
require. To enable the Committee to carry
out i1ts responsibilities, the Committee has
an annual rolling agenda maintained by the
Company Secretary, and regularly reviewed
In conjunction with management. The
Company Secretary alse maintains a tracker
of actions arising from meetings. This
ensures the agenda for each Committee
meeting aligns with the remuneration
strategy, as well as particular matters arising
throughout the year considered appropriate
by the Committee for its scrutiny. At the next
scheduled Board meeting, the Chair of the
Committee reports formally to the Board on

" the Committee's proceedings, including how

it has discharged its responsibilities.

The Committee held five scheduled meetings
during FY2021/22, and the table on page 59
provides detalls of members’ attendance at
those meetings. At the invitation of the Chair
of the Committee, other regular attendees,
who can withdraw as necessary, included at
some or all of the meetings were: the Group
Chief Executive Officer (CEQ’), the Chief
Financial Cfficer {{CFO'}, the Group Chief
Operating Officer (COO"), the Chief People
Officer, the Company Secretary and the
Deputy Company Secretary. No Director or
member of senior management was present
for any discussions that related directly to
their own remuneration.

None of the Committee members has any
personal financial interest {(other than as
Shareholders) in the decisions made by the
Committee, canfhicts of interest arising
from cross-directorships or day-to-day
invelvement in runming the business.

Fellowing its appointment as remuneration
consultant, Deloitte LLP advised the
Remuneration Committee during the
financial year on all aspects of the
Remuneraticn Policy for Executive Directors
and senior management. As the outgoing
External Auditor, Deloitte provided audited
services during the financial year; however,
audit services were ceased before Deloitte
provided any advice to the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration Committee
was satisfied that no conflict of interest
exists or existed in the provision of these
services. Deloitte was appointed by the
Committee, and the Committee is satisfied
that the advice provided s independent.
Deloitte is a member of the Remuneration
Consultants Group and the Voluntary Code
of Conduct of that body is designed to
ensure objective and independent advice 1s
given to remuneration committees. Fees of
£29,505, chargeable on a time and materials
basis, were paid to Deloitte during the year
inrespect of remuneration advice received.
Deloitte attends meetings of the Committee
by invitation. Deloitte does not have any
other cannectien to the Company ar

its Directors.

Deloitte were appointed as remuneration
advisors by the Rermuneration Commitree
following a tender process.

86
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The table below summarises the key activities of the Committee during the year.

Remuneration
and risk

* In conjunction with the Risk Committee, considered the compatibility of the Group's remuneration strategy with
the Group's risk management policies

Entire individual
remuneration

* Made recommendations to the Board regarding the application of the Remuneration Policy for the Chair of the
Board, the Executive Directors, the Partner Directors and senior management. This included pension rights,
any compensation payments, and the level and structure of their remuneration, giving full consideration ta the
matters set out in the UK Corparate Governance Code 2018 (the ‘Cede’), including Provision 40, and any other
relevant laws and regulations in the jurisdictions where the Group operates

Remuneration
Policy

* Regularly reviewed the ongoing appropriateness and relevance of the Remuneration Policy to ensure that
reward policies wul ked Lo promote Lthe long-term success of the Company and its long-term strategic geals

* Ensured that a significant proportion of the remuneration of the Executive Directors is linked to Company
and individual performance and that any performance-related elements of remuneration are transparent,
stretching and rigorously applied

* Monitored the Executive Directors’ progress against objectives and determined Exacutive Director bonus outcomes

Wider workforce
remuneration

* Reviewed remuneration and related policies applicable to the wider workfarce (partners and employees),
including receiving the Company’s Gender and Ethnicity Pay Gap Report and reports on the Group’s partner
and employee engagement mechanisms

*+ Supported the Board's monitoring of whether Group remuneration policies and practices support its culture
and strategy

* Considered how pay and work conditions across the Group should be taken into account when determining
remuneration of the Chair of the Board, the Executive Directors, the Partner Directors and senior management

* Oversaw arrangements for the wider workforce bonus plan

Share plans
and equity
incentive plans

* Determined and administered policies for the grant of awards/options to the Executive Directors, the Partner
Directors and senior management ensuring that they are provided with appropriate incentives consistent with
the Remuneration Policy

* Approved awards, and associated performance targets, for Executive Directors, Partner Directors and
senior management

* Determined whether performance targets had been met for awards held by Executive Directors, Partner
Directors and senior management

= Oversaw the administration of the wider workforce share plans and equity incentive plans, including reviewing
policies and their application to ensure fair and consistent administration across the wider workforce

Shareholders

* Receiving reparts on engagement with proxy advisors and major Shareholders from the Chair of the Committee
and the Company Secretary

Governance

* Received presentations from the Committee’s remuneration advisors on developments in carporate
governance and market trends, to inform the Committee’s regular review of the Remuneration Policy

* Conducted an annual review of its Terms of Reference

* Received feedback on the Committee’s performance from an external evaluator to ensure it is operating effectively

* Prepared this Annual Report, setting out the Company’s remuneration policies and practices and its duties and
activities during the year
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Governance

Remuneration continued

Following its review, the Committee . Remuneration strategy

; concluded that ne substantial changes were | DWF’s Remuneration Policy is designed

¢ required to the Rermuneration Policy at this ' to provide a framework to.

. time. It also agreed that a number of minor

~ amendments should be made in the new
Remuneration Policy to provide greater
clarity and flexibility in specific areas in

. line with standard market practce, including

| the following;

Directors’ Remuneration
Policy

The current Directors’ Remuneration Policy
(the ‘Remuneration Policy’) was approved by

our Shareholders at the 2019 AGM and can
be found in full in the 2019 Annua!l Report,

« promote the long-term success of

the Company;

support DWF's strategy, linked to key
KPIs such as driving incremental revenue
and improvement in profit margin over
time, as well as enabling DWF to deliver
thvidends to Shareholders in ine with
the Group's dividend policy;

recruit, retain and develop high-quality
people who are experts in their field and
to focus the Executive Directors and
Executive Board on the delivery of the
Group's strategy;

encourage widespread eguity ownership
across the Executive Directors, Executive
Board as well as the broader partner and
fee earner population in order to create
a compensation maodel which is distinct
from those coffered by the Group's law
firm peers and to ensure a long-term
focus and alignment of interest with
Shareholders;

»

We are required by law 1o seek renewed
Shareholder approval for a Remuneraticn
Policy at the 28 Seprember 2022 AGM that
will govern and guide the Company's future
remuneration payments. The Remuneration
Policy described in this section will be
applicable for up to three years from

the 2022 AGM, subject to approval * The post-employment shareholding
by Shareholders. i guideline has been updated 1o align to

! Investrment Association guidance, namely  »
The Remuneration Committee has established ' 1009 of the Directors' in-employment’
the Remuneration Poticy for the remuneration guideline for two years after stepping
of the Chair and Executive Directors, and the down as a Director. The Committee's
Board has established the Remuneration discretion ta amend, waive or interpret
Policy for the remuneration of the shareholding guidelines in appropriate
Non-Executve Directors. circumstances has been clarified,
* The new Remunerauon Policy contains
flexibility for the Commuttee to set and

!« The new Remuneration Policy clarfies

. thatthe leve| of pension provision for
Executive Directors is capped in line with .
the pension contribution applicable to the
wider UK workforce.

Committee process to determine new
Remuneration Policy

The Committee undertook a thorough
process to determine the Remuneration

measure bonus targets other thanonan  : »

annual basis. It is expected that use of this

provide an appropriate balance hetween
fixed and performance-related pay to

flexibility will be reserved for exceptional support a high-perfarmance cuiture and

Policy, as follows:

The Committee reviewed how the existing
Policy has worked in practice over the
period it has been in force including pay
and performance outcomes.

The Committee considered the

Group's strategy and the best way

te align the remuneration.

The Committee received advice from its
independent remuneration consultant,
Deloitte, on the impact of the Code,
Regulations and current investor opinion
Pay policies and conditions throughout the
Group, including considerations around
fairness and equality, were reviewed.

The Committee considered previous
feedback received from Shareholders

and employees.

The Committee also consuited with the
CEOQ, CFO and COOC con the proposed
Remuneration Policy.

The Committee was mindful in its
deliberations on the new Remuneration
Policy on where there were potential
conflicts of interest and sought te minimise
them through an open and transparent
process internally and by seeking
independent advice from Deloitte.
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*

circumstances (e.g. a pandemic), for
example, where there 15 limited visibility
to set robust 12-month targets. Flexibility
will also exist in the Annual Bonus Plan for
the Committee to alter the weighting of
financial and non-financial performance
measures in exceptional drcumstances or
te amend any performance condition if &
material event occurs which causes the
Committee to determing that the original
condition is no longer appropriate.

Minor amendments have been made to
the recruitment remuneration policy to
clarify the scope of potential costs and
repiacement awards that could be made
to a newly appointed Director and also o
set out the Committee’s flexibility tc use
a different performance condition for
the individual's initial EIP award. Minor
amendments have also been made in
the payments for loss of office section

to reflect the Committee’s flexibility to
determine the form and calculation of a
departing Director's annual bonus

In recognition of the required time
commitment, the new Policy will permit
the payment of supplementary fees
where a NED takes on aaditional
responsibilities, it will also permit the
provision of additional travel allowance
payments to NEDs for time spent
travelling internationally on Company
business -1t 1s currently envisaged that
any use of this provision would be
restricted to non-UK-based NEDs.

a platfarm for delivering high-quality,
complex legal services to clients, taking
into account lacal factors;

take into account the interests of

alt stakeholders;

promote DWF's cultural values; and
adhere to principles of good

corporate governance and appropriate
risk management.
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In determining the new Remuneration Policy, the Committee paid particular attention te Provision 40 of the Code. The following table

wvi

summarises the Commitlee’s views: <
£

A

Facta- o our rew Remaneratien Po oy aliens T
2

Clarity The proposed Remuneration Policy sets out clearly the basis for any payments and the terms of the incentive 3

arrangements operated.

The performance conditions used for the Bonus Plan and Equity Incentive Plan are based on a number of
the Company's KPI's ensuring direct alignment between the successful implementation of the strategy and
the reward provided to the Executive Directors.

Simplicity The Incentive Plans are in line with standard UK market practice and designed to be easy to understand,
and to be simple and transparent to all stakeholders.

Risk The Remuneration Pelicy includes:

« setting defined limits on the maximurm awards which can be earned under the Bonus Plan and the Equity
Incentive Plan;

= requiring the deferral of a substantial proporticn of the incentives in shares for a material period of time; o
+ aligning the performance conditions with the strategy of the Group; &
« ensuring a focus on sustainable performance through the Equity incentive Plan; g
« ensuring there is sufficient flexibifity 1o adjust payments through malus and clawback; and o
» an overriding discretion to depart from formuiaic outcomes under the Incentive Plans. gf
These elements mitigate against the risk of target-based incentives by: %
* |imiting the maximum value that can be earned;
« deferring a significant proportion of the vaiue earned in shares for the long-term which helps ensure that the
performance earning the award was sustainable and thereby discouraging short-term behaviours; g
« aligning any reward tc the agreed strategy of the Group; g
« focusing on the sustainability of the performance over the longer term under the Equity Incentive Plan; g
« reducing the awards or cancelling them if the behaviours giving rise ta the awards are inappropriate; and 3
+ reducing the awards or cancelling them, if it appears that the criteria on which the award was based do not %
p)

reflect the underlying performance of the Company.

Predictability The Remuneration Policy sets out clearly the potential rewards available to the Executive Directors depending on
the performance achieved. In addition, ail the checks and balances set out above under Risk are disclosed as part

cf the Rermuneration Policy.

Proportionality The Group’s Incentive Plans clearly reward the successful implementation cf the strategy and, through deferral
and measurement of performance over a number of years, ensure that the Executive Directors have a strong
drive to ensure that the performance is sustainable over the long term. Poor performance cannot be rewarded
due to the Committee’s overriding discretion to depart from the formulaic cutcomes under the Incentive Plans
if they do not reflect underlying business performance.

Alignment A key tenet of the DWF culture is a focus on ensuring long-term sustainable performance. This s reflected directly
to culture in the type of performance congitions used in the Incentive Plans which assess sustainable performance using
a variety of non-financial and financial measures, as appropriate.

The focus on share ownership (and the partnership ethos encapsulated in shared ownership) and long-term
sustainable performance is also a key part of the Group's culture.
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In addition, the Remuneration Policy reflects key remuneration elements of the Code:

~ey Hemgnecann s ~lerrert of roe {oge

AlprEatantt Son Romanarat or Falis,

Five-year period between the
date of grant and realisation
for equity incentives

¢ The Equity Incentive Plan meets this requirement.

Phased release of equity awards

The Equity Incentive Plan ensures the phased release of equity awards through annual

rolling vesting.

Discretion to override
formulaic outcomes

The Remuneration Policy contans the ability to override formulaic outcomes and apply

discretion where deemed necessary.

Post-cessation shareholding requirement

We have a two-year post-cessation shareholding requirement. This will be held in such a
mechanism as the Commuttee deems appropriate

Pension alignment

The pension entitlernent for Executive Directors is in line with eligibility for the wider

UK workforce.

Malus and clawback

The current malus and clawback provisions comply with the Code.

Remuneration Policy discretion

The Rernuneraticrt Committee has the
ability to exercise independent judgement
and discretion when approving any of the
outcomes of the Remuneration Policy,
including the ability to override formulaic
outcomes which may invelve upward or
downward adjustments. Any discretion
applied would take inte account individual
performance as well as Group performance,
and the wider environment. The
Remuneration Committee may also exercise
same adrnistrative and/or operational
discretion under relevant plan rules approved
by Shareholders. The Remuneration
Committee also has the discretion to amend
the Remuneration Policy with regard to
minor or administrative matters where it
would, in the opinion of the Remuneration
Committee, be disproportionate to seek or
await Sharehaolder approval.

The Remuneration Committee reserves the
right to make any remuneration payments
and payments for loss of office (including
exercising any discretions available to it

in connection with such payments}
nctwithstanding that they are netin line
with this Remuneration Policy, where the
terms of the payment were agreed (i) before
this Remuneration Policy came into effect,
proavided that the terms of the payment
were consistent with the Shareholder-
approved Remuneration Policy in force at
the time they were agreed; or (i) at a ume
when the relevant individual was nat a
Director of the Company and, in the opinion
of the Remuneration Committee, the
payment was not In consideration for the
individual becoming a Director of the
Company. For these purposes, ‘payments’

90

includes the Remuneration Committee
satisfying awards of variable remuneration
and, in relation to an award over shares, the
terms of the payment are ‘agreed’ at the
time the award is granted.

Where discretion is applied, this would be
clearly stated, along with clear rationale,
in the following Remuneration report.

Operation of the Policy

The Committee's policy is to target a
remuneration package thatis at around
median, for median performance, and m the
upper quartile for exceptional performance,
and which is closely linked with the Group's
strategic abjectives. In setting all elements
of remuneration the Committee is advised
by independent consultants and periodically
uses data from external research into the
salaries and benefits paid by companies

of a comparable size and complexity to

the Company.

The aim of the Policy is ta attract, retain
and continue to rmotivate talented Executive
Directors while atigning remuneration
with Shareholder interests and with the
achievement of strategic performance
objectives. This is achieved by balancing

a basic fixed package, which 1s periodically
benchmarked against a comparator group,
with the cpportunity to achieve upper
quartile remuneration fram a combination
of stretching but achevable incentives.

The terms of reference for the Committae
also include the responsibility for setting

the policy on incentive reward for senior
employees, in particular those whe could
have a material impact on the risk profile of
the Group. The Committee has, in the design

and application of the Company's variable
performance-related incentive plans,
incorporated risk adjustment mechanisms
to encourage consistent and sustainable
levels of Company performance and to
ensure, when selecting performance
conditions and the level of challenge within
those conditions, that they support the
long-term future of the Company. In
reviewing its policy and determining
remuneration the Committee also considers
the wider economic conditions and pay and
reward packages elsewhere in its sector and
within the business.
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Policy - Executive Directors
The table below sets out the key elements of the Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors:

Obhjective and 1nk
10 SITETREY

|

Operaton

Yortaximu platelela WIGHEY

Performance condinc s
and assessroent

Base salary
Torecruit and retain
Executive Directors
of the appropriate
calibre and
expertise in their
field to achieve

the Company's
business strategy.

Executive Directors’ base salaries are
reviewed annually, usually effective
from 1 January each year, or when
there is a change in position or
responsibility.

Base salaries will be set at competitive
levels. When determining an
appropriate level of salary, the
Remuneration Committee considers:

* the Executive Director's experience
and responsibilities;

+ the perfermance of the individual
Executive Director and the Group;

* pay and conditions throughout
the Group;

« salary increases provided to the
workforce as a whole;

* the economic environment; and

+ salaries of peers, taking into
account the size and complexity of
the Group and its growth strategy.

Individuals who are recruited or
promoted to the Board may, on
occasion, have their salaries set below
the targetad policy level untl they
become established in their role. In
such cases subsequentincreases in
salary may be higher than the general
rises for employees until the target
positioning is achieved.,

Typically, the base salaries of

Executive Directors in post at the start
of the Policy Period and who remainin |
the same reole throughout the Policy
Period will be increased by a similar
percentage to the average annual
percentage increase in salaries of all
other employees in the Group.
Exceptions to this rule are at the
Committee’s discretion and may
include where:

+ an individual’'s package 15 below
market level and a decision is taken
to in¢crease base pay to reflect
proven competence in the role; or

* thereis a material increase in scope
or responsibility in the individual’s
role,

The Committee ensures that
maximum salary levels are positicned
in line with companies of a similar size
and validated against industry/sector
peers, so that they are competitive.

The Committee intends to review the
comparators periodically and may add
or rermave companies from the Group
as it considers appropriate. Any
changes to the comparator groups
will be explained in the report on the
imptermnentation of Remuneration

. Policy in the following financial year.

No performance conditions,
although the salary reflects
the performance and calibre

" of the Executive.

No recovery provisions apply.

Benefits

To provide
competitive levels
of employment
benefits, supporting
the wellheing of
Executive Directors.

Berefits include:

* private medical insurance for the

Executive and their spouse or

civil partner as well as any

dependent children;

private health insurance;

life insurance up te four times

salary {up to £1 million);

* annual car parking ticket;

* reasonable business expenses;

* participation in the Group's
employee-wide flexible
benefits scheme,

The Committee recognises the need
to maintain suitable flexibility in the
benefits provided to ensure it is able
to support the objective of attracting
and retaining personnel in order to
deliver the Group strategy. Where
appropriate, additional benefits

may therefore be offered, such as
relocation allowances on recruitment
with associated benefits not
extending beyond twe years.

The maximum level of benefit is the
cost of providing the relevant benefits,
as determined by market rates,

! No performance or recovery
| provisions apply.
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Remuneration continued

Soecliegmulna

Jneraticn

L aal™ UM opoortarity

Performisree Lo dnens Znd Zisessment

Pension

To enable Executive
Directors to make
appropriate
provision for
retirement.

Executive Directors are
entitled to join the defined
contributicn scheme
operated by the Group.
The Company contributes
at an agreed percentage of

. basic salary.

Executive Directors may
take a pensioris allowance
in place of the Company’s
contribution to the scheme.
Pension allowances are
excluded for the purposes
of calculating any other
element of rermuneration
based on a percentage

of salary.

The maximum Company
contribution er pension
allowance is capped for
Executive Directors in line
with the pension
contribution applicable to
the wider UK warkforce. In
2022/23, this will be 7% of
salary.

Annual Bonus Plan
The Annual Bonus
Plan provides a
significant incentive
to the Executive
Directors linked to
achievement in
delivering goals that
are clasely aligned
with the Group's
strategy and the
creation of value
far Shareholders.

In particular, the
Annual Bonus Plan
supports the
Group's objectives
allowing the setting
of annual targets
other than on an
annual basis based
on the business's
strategic objectives
at that time,
meaning that
awider range

of performance
metrics can be used
that are relevant
and achievable.

The Remuneration
Committee will determine
the maximum annual
participation in the Annual
Bonus Plan for each year,
which will not exceed 150%
of salary.

The performance period is
usually one financial year
with pay-out determined
by the Committee following
the year end, based on
achievement against a
range of financial and
non-financial targets.

Half of any bonus earned
will normally be deferred
into shares for three years.
There are no further
performance targets on
the deferred amount.

Maximum opportunity
150% of salary.

Threshold performance
for financial measures:
20% of maximum.

On-target performance
for financial measures:
50% of maximum.

Straight-line vesting
between these points.

No performance or recovery provisions apply.

The specific performance measures, targets and
weightings will be reviewed annually and so may vary
from year tc year in order to align with the Group's
strategy over each year, The measures may include
financial and non-financial measures. However, other
than in exceptional circumstances, circa 70% of the
awards will be linked te financial measures.

The measures will be dependent on the Group’s
goals over the year under review and directly link
te the key measurable strategic milestones to
incentivise Executive Directors to focus on the
execution of the strategy. The performance
targets are calibrated each year to align with the
Group's strategic plan.

The Remuneration Committee retains discretion in
exceptional circumstances to change performance
measures and targets and the weightings attached
tc performance measures part-way through a
performance period if there is a significant and
material event which causes the Remuneration
Committee to believe the original measures,
weightings and targets are no longer appropriate.

Discretion may also be exercised in cases where
the Remuneration Committee believes that the
bonus outcome is not a fair and accurate
reflection of business perfarmance, individual
performance, or the broader environment.

Any adjustments or discretion applied by the
Remuneration Committee will be fully disclosed
in the following year's Remuneration report.

The actual performance targets set will not

be disclosed at the start of the financial year,
as they are considered 1o be commercially
sensitive. These will be reported and disclosed
retrospectively at the end of the year in order
for Shareholders to assess the basis for any
bonus outcomes.

The Annual Bonus Ptan contains malus and
clawback provisions.
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Maximum opporturity

Performance cordinons ard assessmient

EIP

Awards are designed
to incentivise the
Executive Directors
over the longer-term
to successfully
implement the
Group’s strategy.

Under the EIP, Executive
Directors will be granted
awards in the form of
nil-cost options or
performance shares.

Vesting of EIP awards is
usually based on
performance achieved in

a three-year performance
period. Vesled awards are
usually subject to a further
two-year holding period.

Participants may be
entitled to dividends or
dividend equivalents on the
EIP shares representing the
dividends paid curing the
vesting and holding period.

! to provide an equivalent equity
interest in the Group a hugher
! than normal award under the

Maximum value of 200% of
salary per annum based on the
market value at the date of
grant set in accordance with
the rules of the EIP.

Up to 209% of the award will vest
for Threshold performance.

100% of the award will vest for
Maximnm performance.

Straight-line vesting between
these points.

The Remuneration Committee {
has the ability to award grants
up to 400% of salary in
exceptiocnal circumstances.

[t is the Committee’s intention
to usually oniy use this
discretion on recruitment of
an Executive Director hire

where there is a requirement I
to replace their previous
compensation (for example,
their equity share from their
previous law firm} with an
equity stake in the Group.
Remuneration in the traditional
law firm model is based around
an equity entitlement giving
rise to a profit share. In these
cases, itis highly unlikely that
there will be histeric incentive
awards to buy out. Therefore,

EIP would likely be reguired.

insuch cases, the
Remuneration Committee will
carefully evaluate the value
of the interest being given

up at the previcus business
to ensure as far as possible
an equivalent fair value is
provided under the EIP award. !

It would be the Committee’s
intention to revert back i
to the usual level of EIP
award following the year !
of recruitment. :

Awards vest based on performance against
stretching targets, usually measured over

a three-year performance period. The
Remuneration Committee will review and
set weightings and targets before each grant
to ensure they remain appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee may change
the balance of the measures, or use different
measures or targets for subsequent awards,
as appropriate. No material change will be
made 1o the type of perfoermance conditions
without prior Shareholder consultation.

The Remuneraticn Committee retains
discretion in exceptional circumstances to
change performance measures and targets
and the weightings attached tc performance
measures part-way through a performance
pericd if there is a significant and materia
event which causes the Remuneraticn
Committee to believe the original

| measures, weightings and targets are

no longer appropriate.

Discretion may also be exercised in cases
where the Remuneration Committee believes
that the outcome is not a fair and accurate
reflection of business performance

or individual performance, or the

broader environment.

Any adjustments or discretion applied by
the Remuneration Committee will be
fully disclosed in the following year's
Remuneration report.

Details of the performance conditions for
grants made in the year will be set outin
the Annual Report on Remuneration and
for future grants in the section headed
Implementation of Remuneration Palicy,
in the future financial year.

The EIP contains clawback and
malus provisions.
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eand e«

Cperar.on

AL CRRGTTGTIT,

coditin 2558550 |

Lo Z55RNANN

Minimum

i shareholding
requirement and
post-cessation
shareholding
requirement
To encourage
Executive Director
equity ownership
and to ensure a

| fong-term focus and
alignment of interest
with Sharehcliders.

v Whilstin employment,

Executive Directors are
expected within five years
fram the date of their

! appointment to build their
i shareholding requirement.

If a person to whom the
reguirement applies does
not meet the requirement,
they will be expected to
retain shares vesting under
the Company’s incentive
plans until the requirement

. is met, although they may

dispose of shares to satisfy
any tax or social security
liability to which they are
liable on the exercise or
vesting of the award.

The Remuneration
Committee will review

! progress towards the

guideline on an annual
basis and has the
discretion to adjust the
guideline in what 1t feels

| are appropriate

circumstances.

Shares qualifying for
the shareholding

I requirement include:

* shares held

on Admission;

shares acquired following
Admission;

deferred bonus shares
{on an assumed net of
tax basis);

shares subject to an EIP
award during the hoiding
period {on an assumed
net of tax basis); and
vested and unexercised
awards under the
Company's share plans
(on an assumed net of
tax basis) not extending
beyond two years.

»

« CEO: 250% salary 7

* Other Executive Directors:
200% salary

The Remuneration Committee

' retains the discretion to increase |

shareholding requirements.

For two years following
cessation of employment,
Executive Directors are
expected to hold shares to
100% of the value of the
shareholding guideline that
applied at the cessation of

| their emplayment; or, in cases

where the individual has not
yet met this level, the level of
shareholding at cessation.

The Committee retains
discretion to waive or amend
this guideline if it is not
considered apprepriate in the
specific circumstances. It also
retains discretion to exempt
shares acguired by an Executive
Director in their personal
capacity from this guideline.

' No performance or recovery provisions apply.
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Malus and clawback

Elerr ent Apoheat o of rmalusslawsali

Annual bonus - cash awards Malus will apply up to the date of banus determination and clawback will apply for a period

of two years post-bonus payment.
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Annual bonus - deferred share awards Malus will apply during the share deferral period.

Malus will apply during the vesting period and clawback will apply for a period of two years
post-vesting.

EIP awards

The circumstances in which malus and Equity Incentive Plan ' CEO

clawback could apply are as follows: . The Group operates an Equity Incentive Plan 3500

+ discovery of 3 material misstatement ' which is utilised, where appropriate, to grant | ’

o ; - ; awards to employees under a variety of 3,000

resulting in an adjustment in the audited | circumstances including promotions, |

. a;wumg' of the Gr:OUD or Co;npany, emerging talent awards, exceptional b2 I
the assessment that any performance | contributor awards, and for lateral and [ 2000 2
condition or conditon in respect of senior hires. LTIPs are alsc granted under = £
the annual bonus or EIP award was | this plan to the Executive Directors, the 51500 g
baSEd On error. or Inaccurate or " Executive Board and selected senior | 1000 o}
m‘s’e?d'”g Informarion; . managers. Further detail can be found on ' 3

» the discovery that any information used to ‘ 7

determine the Group annual bonus or EIP
award was based on errar, or inaccurate
or misleading information;

+ action or conduct of a participant which
amounts to fraud or gross misconduct;

.

page 103. \ 5001
Lo -

Share e_awards . ' Miimum  Target  Maximum Maximum - Actual
The listing has given the Group the } <50% share  FY22

apportunity to offer shares to the wider ‘ price growth
employee group, thus further aligning an ‘

UCIEWIOJI JaYI0

* events or the behavicur of a participant element of remuneration with Company " CFO
have led to the censure of the Company performance, executive remuneration, ‘ 1,600
c;rgroup bfy a re%ulatory authority or have ' and the Shareholder experience. | 1400

ad a significant detrimantal impact on ‘ P
the reputation of the Group or Company The Gr‘obup ‘op;rlateslaf B,AYE pl?fm an an ted ‘ 1,200
provided that the Board is satisfied that ’ annuaj basis. 7 c;uaé;f\}régbsta ar,e,:w € L1100
the relevant partcipant was responsible to participate in the f y a;qulrfl g | ’
for the censure or reputational damage ordlnqry shares ou;o de%gct|ogs rom I égoa
and that the censure or reputational saiary; and aW?’de ;ﬂatc ng =7 al;esl " )
damage is attributable to the participant; respect of ordinary s arelsl acqmi;rg It ‘Sff |

+ failure of risk management; or m;endt_ed ;hateach year all gualifying sta i 400

will be invited to sign up to buy shares over | 200

. failure. ;
corporate failure a 12-month investment period. Matching

shares will be received on a one for two |
basis, so for every two shares purchased |
over the 12-month investment period, |

Differences in Remuneration Policy Minmum Targer

for all employees
Fixed pay

Maximum Maximum — Actual
+50% share  Fy22
price growth

The Group seeks to establish remuneration

participants will receive one matching share

packages that will attract, retain and three years from the start of the relevant coo
motivate high-quality employees. Salary 12-month investment period subject 1o | 1400
and benefit packages for all employees certain conditions. i
are linked to both individual and business . licati ¢ | 1,200
performance. Executive pension levels ; IIlustratmng of application o

. : L ‘ Remuneration Palicy 1.000
are aligned with the majority pension ' Th h thi Kt
contribution level applicable to the wider ; Inegrapns onthis page seek ta | ., 80O
UK workforce. i demonstrate how pay outcomes may.\ook .-

' for the Executive Directors under various | S 600

Bonus | performance scenarios, based on the D a0
The Group operates an Annual Bonus Plan ¢ proposed Remuneration Policy for the
for employees that is aligned to the . 2022/23 financial year, | 200

Executive Directors' Annual Bonus Plan and |

based upen the Group achieving key targets |
in that financial year. ’

Maximum Mawmum  Actual
) +~50% share  FYZ2
I price growth

Mimmum  Target

I Base salary
| @ Pension

‘ Benefits

| @ Bonus
@l LTIP
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Assumptions for the scenario charts

J Crnrznge

Flement : Ry Loy f Vae LT

Fixed pay + Base salary of £551,200 for CEQ, £312,000 for COO and £332,800 for CFO.

] * Pension of 7% of salary. )

Annual bonus’ | None 50% of maximum award i 100% of maximum award 100% of maximum award
EIP? , None 50% of maximum award 100% of maximum award 100% of maximum award

T Mamimum annual bonus for the CEQ 1s 150% o salary, CFC ana COGO 100% of saiary.
2 Maximum EIP award for the CEQ is 175% of salary, CrO and CQO 125% of salary

Policy - Chair and Non-Executive Directors
The table below sets out the key elements of the Remuneration Policy for the Chair and Non-Executive Directors:

Clyichive 37d linx

ThsIrafagy

Cpel stion

Slasreor s

Chair

To attract a Chair of
the Board with the
requisite skills and
experience (o
contribute to the
strategy of the
Group and to review
its implementation.

The Chair has specific terms of
engagement and his or her
remuneration is determined by the
Committee within the limits set by the
Articlas of Assaciation.

The Chair receives no additional fees
for the membership of Board
committees or for chainng them.

The Committee reviews the fees of the

- Chair annually taking into account the

following factors:

+ the workfoad and level of
responsibility of the Chair under the
changing corporate governance
expectations of Shareholders and
their representative bodies; and

* the current market rate for fees for
Chairs based on the comparators
used for the Executive Directors.

The Chair does not participate in any
variable remuneration or benefits/
pension arrangements.

i In general, fee rises will be imited to
the level provided to employees of the
Group as a whole.

In setting fees, the Committee looks at
the fee levels of companies of broadly
similar size and complexity.

On an annual basis, the Committee
will review the comparator groups 1o
ensure they appraprately reflect the
Group's size, operations and business
complexities.

The Campany will pay reasonable
expenses incurred by the Chair and
may settle any tax incurred in relation
to these.

The Articles of Association impose a
¢ limit on the aggregate annual sum

. that can be paid to the Chair and
Non-executive Directors by way of
fees (excluding amounts payable
under any other Articles) of
£2,000,000 cr such larger amount

i+ as the Company may by ordinary
resolution determine.

No performance or recovery

provisions apply.
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NED fees

To attract Non-
Executive Directors
with the requisite
skills and experience
to contribute to the
strategy of the
Group and Lo review
its implementatinn

All Nor-Executive Directors have
specific rerms of engagement and
their remuneration is determined by
the Board within the limits set by the
Articles of Association.

Each Non-Executive Director receives
a fee which relates to membership of
the Board and additional fees are paid
tor chairing committees. The Company
reserves the flexibility to provide
additional fees for committee

membership and other responsibilities.

In exceptional circumstances, fees

In general, fee rises will be limited to
the level provided to employees of the
Group as a whole.

In setting fees, the Board locks at the
fee levels of companies of broadly
similar size and complexity.

On an annuat basis, the Board will
roviow the comparator groups to
ensure they appropriately reflect the
Group’s size, operations and business
complexities.

The Company will pay reasonable

Ne performance or recovery

provisions apply.
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N . " : expenses incurred by the Non- T
ray als ‘ :
Speynt C;E ?ﬁepgétinfsgsjglgﬁ;ig?e | Executive Directors and may settle §
outside of the normal duties. Additional | 27 8% Incurred in refation to these. %
payments may also be made to As stated above, the total fee limit to o
. . . . -]
Non-Executive Directors for time be paid to the Chair and Nen-Executive 3
spent travelling on Company business. | Directors by way of fees is £2,000,000. 3
Wi
The Board reviews the fees of the
Non-Executive Directors annually taking
. - 1
into account the following factors: H g
m
* the workioad and level of =
responsibility of the Non-Executive g
Directors under the changing :
corporate governance expectations g

of Shareholders and their
representative bodies; and

+ the current market rate for fees
far Non-Executive Directors based
on the comparators used for the
Exacytive Directors.

Non-Executive Directors do not
participate in any variable remuneration
or benefits/pension arrangements.

It should be noted that the role of Partner Director is viewed by the Board for the purpeses of remuneration
as a Nan-Independent Non-Executive Director. This approach was discussed and agreed by the majority

of independent Shareholders consulted at listing. A Partner Director represents the Partners of DWF, many of
whom are Shareholders, and is therefore a Shareholder representative on the Board. Partner Directors do not
currently receive any fees for their role on the Board as they are partners of DWF. The Committee retains the
discretion to pay fees to Partner Directors in ine with the Policy for the other Non-Executive Directors set

out above.

Partner Diractor
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Governarnce

Remuneration continued

Approach to recruitment remuneration

In making decisions about the remuneration arrangements for newly appointed Executives, the Committee is mindful of keeping grants
within moderate limits. Appointing high-calibre executives to the Board and to different reles on the Board s necessary to ensure the Group
is well positicned to develep and implement its strategy and deliver long-term value. The remuneration package for any new Executive
Director would be assessed following the same principtes as for the current Executive Directors.

Where an existing employee is promoted to the Board, the Remuneration Policy would apply from the date of promotion but there would
be no retrospective application of the Remuneration Policy in relation to subsisting incentive awards Gr remuneration arrangements.
This separation is deemed appropriate given the partnership-style remuneration structure below Board Accordingly, prevailling elements
of the remuneration package for an existing employee would be honoured and form part of the ongoing remuneration of the employee.
These would be disclosed to Shareholders in the following year's Annual Report on Remuneration.

The Company’s detailed Remuneration Policy when setting remuneration for the appointment of new Executive Directors is summarised

i1 the table below:

RECILNGET OIS gl

e arer golic,

Base salary
and benefits

The salary level will be set taking into account the responsibilities of the individual, experience and the salaries
paid to similar roles in comparable companies. The Committee will apply the Remuneration Policy set out on
salaries for the current Executive Directors in the Remuneration Policy table.

The Executive Director shall be eligible to receive benefits in line with DWF's benefits policy as set out in the
Remuneration Policy table. Where necessary, the Remuneration Committee may approve the payment of legal
fees and other costs incurred by the individual in relation to their appointment.

For any new Executive Director appointments, the pension contribution or allowance will be in line with the

Pension
majority pension contribution applicable to the wider UK workforce.

Bonus The new Executive Director will be eligible to participate in the Annual Bonus Plan, with performance targets and
weightings aligned to the Policy, and set at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee. Award levels may be
pro-rated according to the portion of the performance pericd which the Executive Director is in post for.

The maximum banus oppertunity is 150% of salary.

Long-term The new Executive Director will be eligible to participate in the EIP and granted an award at the next available

incentives grant date. The maximum normal EIP award 1s 200% of salary. In exceptional circumstances this may increase to

400% of salary for the first year of appointment. See page 95 for full details of when the Committee may exercise
its discretion to make an exceptional award. In the first year, the Remuneration Committee may set different
performance measures and targets for the EIP to those of the other Executive Directors, depending on the timing
and scope of any appointment.

Maximum variable

In the normal operation of the Policy this will be 350% of salary. In exceptional circumstances in respect of the

remuneration year of appointment this may increase to 550% of salary (if an exceptional EIP award 1s granted).
‘Buy Out’ of The Remuneration Committee's policy s not to provide replacement awards as @ matter of course. However,
incentives should the Remuneration Committee determine that the individual ¢ireumstances of recruitment justified the

forfeited on
cessation of
employment

provision of a replacement award, the value of any incentives or compensation arrangements that will be forfeited
on cessation of an Executive Director’s previous employment will be calculated taking into account the following:

» the proportion of the performance period completed on the date of the Director's cessation of empioyment;

« the perfermance conditions attached to the vesting of these incentives and the likelihood of them being
satisfied; and

= any other terms and conditions having a material effect on their value ('lapsed value').

The Remuneration Committee may then grant up to the same value as the lapsed value, where passible, under
the Company’s incentive plans. To the extent that it was not possible or practical to provide the buyout within
the terms of the Group's existing incentive plans, a bespoke arrangement would be used.

Relocation policies

If a new Executive Director is required to relocate in order to carry out their role, the Company may provide
one-cfffongoing benefits, for up to two years, to reflect the cost of relocation for the new Executive Director
in cases where they are expected to spend significant time away from their country of domicile.

The level of the relocation package will be assessed on & case by case basis but will take into consideration
any cost of living differences/housing allowance and schooling for dependent children.

The Company's policy when setting fees for the appointment of a new Chair or Non-Executive Directors IS to apply the policy which apphies
to the current Chair or Non-Executive Directors,

a8
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Payments for loss of office

When determining dny luss of office payment for g departing Directar, the Committee will always seek to minimise the cost to the Campany
whilst complying with the contractual tarms and seeking to reflect the circumstances in place at the time. The Committee reserves the right
to make additional payments where such payments are made in good faith in discharge of an existing legal obligation {or by way of damages
far breach of such an obligation); or by way of settlement or compromise of any claim arising in connection with the termination of an
Executive Director's office or employment.

The table below sets aut the Company’s termination policy for each element of total remuneration. For each element the table also Sets out
the boundaries of Committee discretion.

Rer L ghion eler gt

Anoroacth

General

The Remuneration Committee will honour Executive Directors’ contractual entitiements. Service contracts do not
contain liguidated damages clauses. If a contract is to be terminzated, the Remuneration Committee will determine
such mitigation as it considers fair and reascnable in each case. There are no contractual arrangaments that
would guarantee a pension with limited or no abatement on severance or early retirement. There Is no agreement
between the Company and its Directers or employees, providing for compensation for loss of office or employment
that occurs because of a takeover bid. The Remuneration Cornmittee reserves the right to make additicnal
payments where such payments are made in good faith in discharge of an existing legal obligation (or by way of
damages for breach of such an obligation); or by way of settlement or compromise of any claim arising regarding
the terminaticn of an Executive Director's office or employment.

Base salary
and benefits

In the event of termination by the Company, there will be no compensation for loss of office due to misconduct
or normal resignation.

Base salary and benefits wil! be paid over the notice pericd and may be provided as a lump sum payment.n lieu
of notice.

Pension

Pension contributions or payments in lieu of pension contribution will be made during the notice period and may
be provided as a lump sum payment in lieu of notice.

Annual bonus

Good leaver reason
Performance conditions will usually be measured at the bonus measurement date. Bonus will normally be
pro-rated for the pericd worked during the financial year.

Other reason
No bonus will be payable for year of cessation.

Discretion
The Remuneration Committee has the following elements of discretion:

* To determine that an Executive Director is a good leaver It is the Remuneration Committee’s intention to onty
use this discretion in circumstances where there is an appropriate business case which will be explained in full
to Shareholders.

= To determine whether to pro-rate the bonus for time. The Remuneration Committee's normal policy is that
it will pro-rate for time. It is the Remuneration Committee’s inténtion to use discretion to not pro-rate in
circumstances where there is an appropriate business case which will be explained in full to Shareholders,

Qetureranon elertent

Apzeogch

EIP - LTIP awards

Good leaver reason
Pro-rated for time and performance in respect of each subsisting LTIP award.

Other reason
Lapse of any unvested LTIP awards.

Discretion
The Committee has the foilowing elements of discretion:

+ To determine that an executive is a good leaver. It is the Remuneration Committee’s intention to only use
this discretion in circumstances where there is an appropriate business case which will be explained in full

to Shareholders.
« To measure performance over the original performance period or at the date of cessation. The Remuneration

Committee will make this determination depending on the type of gocd leaver reason resulting in the cessation.

+ To determine to vest the LTIP award at the end of the criginal performance period or at the date of cessation.
The Remuneration Committee will make this determination depending on the type of good leaver reason
resulting in the cessation.

= To determine whether the holding pericd will apply including whether in full or in part.

* To determine whether to pro-rate the maximum number of shares 1o the time from the date of grant to the
date of cessation. The Remuneration Committee's normal policy is thatit will pro-rate awards for time. It is the
Rermuneration Committee’s intention to use discretion to not pro-rate in crcumstances where there is an
appropriate business case which will be explained in full to Shareholders.
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Governance

Remuneration continued

Definition of ‘good leaver’ under the Group's incentive plans
A good leaver reasen is defined as cessation in the following circumstances:

* death;
« ill health;
* termination of a participant's membership in DWF Law LLP or DWF LLP in breach of the relevant constitutional deed;
» any reason, permitted by the Commiittee n its absolute discretion in any particular case {except where termngtion is for dishonesty,
fraud, misconduct or other circumstances justifying sumrary dismissal) which may include:
« njury or disability;
+ redundancy;
* retirement (in agreement with the Company},
+ employing company ceasing to be a Group company; and
* transfer of employment to a company which is not a Group company.

Cessation of employment in circumstances other than those set out gsbove 1s cessation for other reasons.

Change of control

clarrant Troolrmertan Cnatge of e

Annual bonus Pro-rated for time and performance to the date of the change of control.

The Remuneration Committee has discretion regarding whether to pra-rate the bonus for time. The Committee’s
normal policy 1s that it will pro-rate the bonus for time. It is the Committee's intention to use its discretion to not
pro-rate in circumstances only where there is an appropriate business case which will be explained in full

to Shareholders.

Deferred t Subsisting deferred share awards will vest on a change of cantrol.

share awards . ) . . ‘
The Rermnuneration Committee has discretion regarding whether to pro-rate the awards for tme. The Remuneration

Committee's normal policy is that it will not pro-rate awards for time. The Remuneration Committee will make this
~ determination depending on the circumstances of the change of control.

EIp - The number of shares subject to subsisting LTIP awards will vest an a change of control, pro-rated to time
LTIP awards and performance.

The Remuneration Committee has discretion regarding whether to pro-rate the LTIP awards for time. The
Committee’s normal policy is that it will pro-rate the LTIP awards for time. itis the Committee’s intention to use
its discretion to not pro-rate in circumstances only where there is an appropriate business case which will be

‘ explained in full to Shareholders.
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Consideration of employment conditions elsewhere in the Group

The Remuneration Committee also gives consideration to pay and employment conditions in the rest of the Group, including any base salary
increases awarded. The Committee Is provided with data on the remuneration structure for management level tiers below the Executive
Directors, and uses this information to ensure consistency of appreach throughout the Group.

Whilst the Remuneration Committee takes inta account the pay and conditions of the wider werkforce, the Company did not consult with
employees when developing the Remuneration Palicy and undertook no specific engagement with the wider workforce to explain how
executive remuneration aligns with wider Group pay policy. This was not considered necessary due to the minor nature of the changes to
the Remuneration Policy.

Consideration of Shareholders views

The Remuneration Comimittee carefully considers the views of the Shareholders and carried out extensive consultation with key
Shareholders when 1t proposed its first Remuneration Policy to Shareholders in 2019, Shareholders views are considered when evaluating
and setting remuneration strategy and the Remuneration Committee commits to consulting with key Shareholders prior to any significant
changes to the Remuneration Policy,

Given no substantive changes are proposed to the Policy this year, the Committee wrote to key Sharehoiders prior to the finalisation of the
Policy to notify them of the limited proposed changes and to give them an opportunity to feed back any views. The Committee also regularly
reviews the policy in the content of published Shareholder guidelines.

Service contracts
Details of the service contracts or letters of appeintment for the Directors are included in a table on page 109

when setting notice periods for Executive Directors, the Committee has regard to market practice and corporate governance best practice.
Notice periods will not be greater than 12 months.

The Company’s practice is to appoint the Chair and Non-Executive Directors under letters of appointment. The current appointment is
for aterm of three years. However, the appointment of the Chair can be terminated early by either party on three months’ notice in writing.
The appointment of each of the Non-Executive Directors can be terminated early by either party on one month's notice in writing.

All service contracts and letters of appointment are available for viewing at the Company's registered office. In line with best practice,
all Directors are subject to annual re-election at the Company’s Annual General Meeting.
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Governance

Remuneration continued

Remuneration - At a glance

This section of the Directors’ Remuneration report provides an overview of:

» the business context and how our incentive performance measures align to our strategy:
« remuneration outcomes for FY2021/22; and

* Remuneration Policy operation in FY2021/22 and intended implementation in FY2022/23.

Business context and how our incentive performance measures align to our strategy

Business context

We delivered a year of record resuits in FY2021/22 with net revenue growth of 4% and L4L net revenue growth of 7% and a return to a statutory
profit before tax of £22m. Adjusted profit before tax of £41m was in line with market expectations and has grown 21% compared to the prior year.
It was particularty pleasing to see each division delivering both net revenue and gross profit margin growth in FY2021/22 compared with the prior
year. The Group continued to reduce its cost to Income ratic to 38% compared with 38% in the prier year as we continue to execute the strategy of
sustainable growth. The Group sees opportunity to execute further actions to control costs, with the premises strategy and varicus back-office
initiatives offering protecticn from future inflatonary pressures and macro-economic headwinds. Lock-up days have reduced by five days to 179
days, as we continue to implement operaticnal improvements. Net debt has increased 1o £72m in the year as a result of settling remaining
COVID-19 VAT deferrals and deferred consideration from acquisitions.

How our incentive performance measures align to our strategy
The implementation of our strategy (as outlinad on pages 14 and 15) for FY2021/22 was measured against certain KPIs (et out in the table below).
The Committee continually considers the performance measures we use for our incentives, to ensure they support the delivery of our strategy.

Qur strategic priorities

How we compete
Doing things differently:
We continue to talk 1o our clients about
our strategic differentiator - our dehvery
of integrated legal and business services
through any combination of Legal
Adwvisory, Mindcrest ang Connected
Services - whilst also leveraging our
ability to identify new innovative products
and services based around current and
emerging client needs. We are beginning
to oivot the right work to Minacrest
to provide an enhanced chient service

Where we compete

Understanding our clients: Through
a‘'one team’ approach we aim 1o grow
the number and contribution of our

! institutional client relationships,
extending those relationships INto new
jurisdictions and practice areas. We will
do this through our enhanced customer
value propoestion.

Geography: We wiil strengthen in priority
' locauons through M&A, assotiations and
recruitment We create channels for
. greater collabaration to bring all of the
strengehs within our business ta help
support our clients,

Services: We continue to Invest

In our Legal Advisory capabilities,
 butwe will alsa scale our Mindcrest
platform and seek new ways o
intraducing our clients to Mindcrest
and Connected Services globally

Qur enablers

Engaging our people: We are embedding a culture of open,

transparent and honest communication to further increase
engagement across the business. By doing the right work, in

the right nlace through the right people, we wili drive greater
profitability and therefore deliver greater reward and incentivisation

. for our strong performers. We recruit, retain and develop people

aligned to our values, improving diversity and agility.

Governance, risk and compliance: The legal market 15 changing
and we need to adapt and evalve as the world continues to emerge
from COVID-19. We have defined our culture and values, our
partner and employee value proposition, including our commitment
to Diversity & Inclusion, and our global ways of warking. We have
also geveloped our Group Risk Taxonomy and forused on
excellence through our Behaviours Framewaork, Code of Conduct
and DWF Academy.

Infrastructure: We ensure that we remain operancnally efficient
through our business, with the right infrastructure ang services that

" are robust and scalable for future growth, We actively manage our

cost base and lock-up days and have introduced better controls on
pricing and cost

Our key performance indicators:

Financial
F Underlying | T : ‘ ' Net ‘
N H | L / Fi
et organic net Gros COSt Adjusted Adjusted ! (Loss) Adjusted revenue Lack-up ree
revenue | profir to inCome profit profit i cash 1 Netdent
revenue R ; | EBITDA H diluted EPS per days ‘
growth © margin ! ratic ; beforetax  beforetax flow
growth ) [ | . partner |
Non-financial
T T T -
i lack, A
Net oter s E ent sCore % Executive Board % senior |eadershin E;%I;r?f(SB;"\N?Ea')nrzmrjeh:el?ftmtt'én
prom core NEagem Survey rotes held by women positions held by womien - . p atl
- in senior leadership positions

Annual bonus

Long-term incentives

Adjusted PBT: Ensures focus on profitable growth. Is a key measure of
organic growth and is linked to Shareholder value

Lock up: Ensures focus and effective management of working capitat and
efficient billing processes

ESG ebjectives: Ensures focus on the gelivery of stakeholaer value and
encourages sustainable business practices

Strategic and operational ebjectives: Ensures focus on key strategic and
operaticnal objectives to deliver Shareholder value. Designed to ensure the
Executive Directors focus on operational efficiencies, manage risk effectively,
remain chent-focused, and are required ro drive employee engagement

102

' EP5: Links reward to in-year' underlying equity returns to Shareholaers
ROCE: Promates disciplined capital allocation by linking reward to
INVESTMEnt return. Supparts the strategy of growth, both organic and

~ through acguisitions. Ensures facus on the efficency by which earnings
are generatea
Cash conversion: Supports focus on cash collection
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Remuneration arrangements for FY2022/23 - At a glance

[ [N

[ I -

T I ST TR A A

Base salary CEQ £530,000 CEO £551,200
CFO £320,000 CFO £332,800
COO £300,000 COO £312,000
= Average employee tincludes partners) rise 5.65%" The Executive Direciors received a 4% pay rise
o with effect from 1 May 2022.
Bl Benefits In ne with policy No change )
i.|§_ Pension in lIne with palicy: No change

CEQ 7% of salary
CFO 7% of salary
COO 7% of salary

Annuat bonus

Inline with policy
Maximum opportunity,

CEQ: 150% of salary
CFO. 100% of salary
COO:100% of salary

Performance conditions and weightings.

70% adjusted PBT

30% strategic and operational objectives

Weightings and targets of performance conditians are reviewed annually, as well
as any bonus cutcomes and strategic and operational objectives.

See page 105 for detalls of the performance targets, their level of achievemnent
and the corresponding bonus earned by the Executive Directors.

The Annual Bonus Plan contains malus and ¢lawback provisions. Full details are
setout pn page 95.

Following discussions by the Remuneration
Committee on the most appropriate weighting
for targets this year, performance conditions
will be weighted as follows:

70% financial metrics including adiusted PBT
and lock-up days, with adjusted PBT
accounting for 50% and lock-up days 20%

20% strategic and operational chjectives
10% ESG objectives

The actual performance targets set are not
disclosed at the start af the financial year, as
they are considered commercially sensitive.
These will be reported and disclosed
retrospectively at the end of the year in order
for Shareholders to assess the basis for any
bonus paid.

LTIPs {(made
through the EIP)

oy
3]
Q.
o
el
ki
o
1’
=

Maximum opportunity:

CEO:175% of salary

CFO 125% of salary

CO0:125% of salary

Measures and weightings:

Cumulative three-year EPS (40% weightng): EPS was considered to be an
appropriate performance condition to use for the LTIP given the investment case

made at IPO on earnings growth, and is simple and well understood by investors.

Average annual ROCE (40% weighting): ROCE was considered to be an
approfriate performance condition to use to support the strategy of growth,
both organic and through acquisitions, and to focus on the efficiency by which
earnings are generated.

Average cash conversion (20% weighung): Cash conversian was considered to be
an appropriate performance condition as improving cash conversion was a key
focus of the strategy set out in the prospectus.

See table on page 107 for details of the performance conditions and targets.

The EIP contains clawback and malus provisions. Full details are set out
on page 95.

Following discussicns by the Remuneration
Committee on the most appropriate weighting
for targets this year, performance conditions
will be weighted as follows:

Cumulative three-year EPS {33% weighting)
Average annual ROCE (33% welghting)
Average cash conversion (33% weighting)

The Committes 1S presently reviewing the
targets to ensure they are sufficiently
stretching and will finalise these prior to the
grant being made. The targets will be disclosed
by way af RNS when the awards have

been granted.

No change has been made to the maximum
opportunity for the Executive Directors.

Non-Executive
Director fees?

¢+ Non-Executive Director: £65,000 per annum

= Deputy Chair of the Board (additional): £20,000 per annum

* Senior Independent Non-Executive Director (additional) £10,000 per anrum
* Committee Chair {gdditional): £7,500 per annum

* Partner Director® £0 per annum

Shareholding Executive Directors are required to held 100% of their pre-cessation No change
requirements shareholding requirement (or actual shareholding, if lower) for two years

following their cessation of employment.
Chair and » Chair of the Board. £170,000 per annum No change

Notes

1 The average empioyee rise of 5.65% 15 the Group average figure for eligible employees excluding Mindcrest employees in the JS and India, and RCD employees In Spain.

2 Inaccordance with the Articles of Assocation of the Company, fees paid to Directors shall not exceed in aggregate £2,000,000 pe” annum.

2 The position of Partner Director is designated by the Board as & Non Independent, Nan Executive Director position. A Partner Director represents the partners of DWF

Law LLP ang DWF LLP and 1s tnerefore a partner Shareholder representative an the Board. Partner Directars do not receive any fees for the position on the Board
because therr remuneration Is s a member of DWE Law LLP or DWF LLP {determined by his or her *home office’), and in some circumstances also by way of a imited
salary as an employee of DWF Connected Services Holdings Limited
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Governance

Remuneration continued

Remuneration outcomes for FY2021/22 - At a glance

Directors’ Remuneration for the year ended 30 April 2022

Certain details set out on pages 106 to 111 of this Directors’ Remuneration report have been audited by the Auditor. These details
have been identified as ‘audited’ where appropriate.

Single total figure of remuneration {(audited)

The table below sets out the single total figure of remuneration paid to each Director of the Company. Figures provided have been
calculated in accordance with the UK disclosure requirements: the Large and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups {(Accounts and Reports)
(Amendment) Regulations 2013 {Schedule 8 to the Regulations).

it is the Committee's view that it is important, when considering the remuneration paid in the year under the single figure, to take a holistic
view of the Executive Directors’ total remuneration linked to the performance of the Company. In the Committee’s opinion, the impact on
the total remuneration of the Executive Director 1s more important than the single figure in any one year. This approach encourages
Executive Directors to take a long-term view of the sustainable performance of the Company. The ability for the Executive Directors to gain
and lose, in alignment with Sharenolders, dependent on the share price performance of the Company at a level which is material to their
total remuneration, is a key facet of the Remuneration Policy.

Executive Directors

Sir Nigel

Knowles? 530000 487896 3754 4,214 221,680 295000 NAA NJA 37,100 34151 WA N/A L 792,534 821 261570,854 525261 221,680% 295000
Chris

Stefan 320,000 320,000 4,693 4,584 221,680 285000 124,034 N/A 21.801° 21,851 N/A  N/A  692,208641,435 346494 346,435 3457147 295000
Matthew

Doughty’ 300,000 157955 5208 2,380 221,680 158,000 NiA N/ 21,0000 11,520 N/A - N/A 547,888 329,855 326,208 171,855 221,680 158000
Andraw

Leitherland® N/A - 44,167 N/A L 264 N/A N/A N/A - N/A N/A 3,092 NA - N/A N/A 47,523 N/A 47523 N/A N/A

Non-Executive Directors

Sir Nigel

Knowles® N/A 15873 N/A - N/A N/A MNAA MNFA N/A NFA NAA - NIA NIA N/A 15,873 NiA - 15,873 N/A N/A
Jonathan

Bloomer® 170,000 127,500 NAA - NIA N/A NIA N7A N/A N/A N/A  N/A NAA 170,000 127,500 170,000 127,500 N/A N/A
Chris

Sullivan @ 95000 90000 N/A  NA N/A N/A NAA N/A N/A N/A - N/A - N/A S 95,000 90,000 95000 90,000 N/A NZA
Luke

Savage' 72500 72500 NA NA N/& NeA N N/A NiA N/A  N/A S N/A 72500 72,500 72500 72500 NAA N/A
Tea

Colaianni 72500 72,500 N/A  N/A N/ A N/A NAA N/A N/t N/A - N/A - N7A 72,500 72,500 72500 72,500 NZA N7A
Sam

Tymms’’ 72500 72500  N/A L N/A N/A N/A NAA NAA NAA N/A L N/A NA 72500 72,500 72,500 72,500 N/A NFA
Vin Murria ¢ N/A 42,493 NFA N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A - N/A N/A N/A - 42,493 N/A 42,493 N/A N/A
Notes

1 Taxable benefits for the CEC, CFO and OO0 comprise private medical Imsurance for the Executive Director and thew spouse or 0wl pariner as well as any dependent
children, permanent health insurance, and life assurance up to four times salary (up to £1m}).

2. Bonusis paid 50% in cash and 50% - shares. The aggregate total bonus cutcome of £665k was distributed equally betweer the three Executive Directors as descnbed
an page 105

3. LTIPs are made through the Equity Ircentive Plan (EIP). Further getails can be found on page 93

4. 51r Nigel Knowles stepped down as Chair of the Boarg on 29 May 2020 on his appointment as CEQ ard the respective remuneration for each role s separated outin
the table accordingky.

5 Chnis Stefani's LTIR consisting of 336,134 shares 1s due to vest on 27 August 2022, witn 41% performance conditions achievea A £0.90 share pnice at vest Nas
been assumed

€ The pension paid to the CFO was partly paid directly into the Company provided pension scheme with an additional amount paid as a cash allowance Together these

payments were equivalent ta 7% of the CFO's salary. There was a shght underpayment made o the CFOin F¥2020/21 of £549 due to a change ir the HMRC rules

around tapered allowance and this was rectified in FY2021/22 The pension paid to the CEC and COO 15 paid as 8 cash allowance due to ife time allowance hmis and
annusl allowance hmits,

Matthew Doughty was appointed as COO on 22 October 2020 and the table snows his remuneration from that date

Andrew . eitherland steppead aown as CEQ on 25 May 2020 and the table shows his remuneration up to that date.

Jonathan Bloomer was appointed Chair of the Board on * August 2020 ana the table shows fis fees from tnat date,

0 Fees paid to Chris Sullivan include Non-Executive Directer fees and Senior Independert Non-Executive Director fees from the beginning of the pertod. On 1 August
2020, Chris was appointed Deputy Char of the Board and the table incluaes s addional remuneration for that role from thar date. Further details can be found or
page 97

11, Feesinclude Non-Executive Director fees ard fees for the chaining of commirtees Furtner detalis can be found on page 7.

12 Vin Murnia stepped down as a Non-Executive Director an 30 December 2020 and the tables show her fees up tothat date She therefore did nat receive any fees during
the Fy2021/22.

13, The position of Partner Director is designated by the Board as a Non-Independent, Non-Executive Director positior A Partner Director represents the partners of DWF
Law LLP and DWF LLP and s therefore 3 partner Shareholder representative onthe Board, Partner Directors do not receve any fees for the position on the Board
because thesr remuneration s as a member of DWF Law LL? or DWF LLP (determuned by his or her ‘haome office’), ard in some circumstances also by way of a limitea
salary as an employee of DWF Connected Services Holdings uimited Michele Cicchetti provides qualifying services to the Group through his position as country
managing partner of ltaly, Michele’'s remuneration in respect of these quahfying services was £418,417 (2020/21, £82.760) His remuneration for FY20/21 is pro-ratea
from commencement of his apponiment to the Board. Seema Bains does rot prowde quahfying services to the Group induding to the subsidianes as she does not
Fold any management roles as a member of DWF Law LLP and hence no remuneration is disclosed

=0 00~

104 DWF Group plc | Annual Repart and Accounts 2022




Bonus for the financial year ended 30 April 2022 (audited) 0
Ttk - Cf:
B TR I ‘,- L0 vl 1~ Lt -{g
LS B R L o P ol Lt LA cao o g B B Vo R N oy g
Adjusted PBT £39.7m £41.8m £43.9m £41.3m 70% 27% 27% 27%
Lock-up days 173 days 179 days 10% 0% 0% 0%
Strategic and operational objectives See details on page 106 100% 20% 20% 20% 20%
objectives
met
Percentage of maximim A7% 47% 17%

performance achieved

TLO7 T e

Calculated total bonus ocutcome! £374k £150k £141k

comprising:
- Cash £187k £75k £k 3
—— . N S
- Deferred shares’ £187k £75k E71k s
Total bonus outcome as a percentage of salary 70.6% 46.5% 47.0% g"
1
Aggregate total bonus cutcome’ £665k 7
Individual share of aggregate total bonus outcome! £221k £221k £221k
comprising: ) ) o
- Cash £111k £111k E111k &
- Deferred shares £111k £111k £111k §
Individual share of aggregate total bonus ocutcome as a 41.7% 69.1% 73.7% g
percentage of salary 5

Notes
Rounded to the nearest £1k.

Maximum bonus eppeortunity for the CEQ was 150% of salary and for each of the CF0O and COO was 100% of salary.
The aggregate total bonus outcome of £665,000 was distributed equally between the three Executive Directors as described on page 84.

Payment of all elements of the bonus was subject to achievement of the threshold adjusted PET target.

[CA T T ]

Payment of the deferred element of the banus is subject to employment conditions and deferred for three years.
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Details of strategic and operational objectives for FY2021/22
The strategic and operational objectives are made up of a number of personal weighted objectives for specific matters to be achieved
during the financial year 1o safeguard the business and contribute to, or form, the essential financial and strategic priorities and ocutcomes.

The Executive Directars performed strongly across their personal weighted objactives, which were fully achieved, as described below:

Sir Nigel Knowles

Clients {33% weighting)

ESG {33% weighting)

Growth (33% weighting)

(CEQ)

Objective Embed and deliver our vision Finalise and communicate our tdentify growth opportunities
through our Integrated Legal Global ESG strategy to 2030 including M&A and new
Management (ILM) approach associations
with a focus on Mindcrast

Outcome + ILM revenue increased fram * ESG has been a key area of + We entered into an exclusive

£116.5min FY21 to £1395min communication since the association in Saudi Arabia
FY22 which was a growth rate launch of the new ESG and established a Regional
of 20%, being more than the Strategy in December 2021 headquarters there also.
budgeted rate of growth of 7%. and messaging has been « An exclusive association with
+ Achieved, as at the end of F¥22 embedded into key policies NGA in P | has b
we have 50 clients billing £1m+. and procedures, HR strategy VoA I POTTUE! s D8en
+ Achieved, GAT clients continue and our website. sgned,ﬁnd we havte) .
to outperform the average Streng;f eﬁed our Iberian
chient. As at end of FY22, YOY CMA offering through an
growth for this client set association with RTS in Spain.
was 20 4%, * We have hired aninsurance
litigation partner on a cost
share basis with Hauzhen in
Hong Kong and finalised terms
for an association agreement
which was signed in May 2022.

Attainment  33% 33% 33%

Chris stefani Debt Funding (33% weighting) ESG (33% weighting) Cost Reduction {33% weighting)

(CFO) Objective Achieve a successful re-financing  Agree science based targets that [dentify and enact operational
of the Group’'s revolving credit align with our strategy efficiencies in the Finance
facility function

Outcome « Executed new RCF agreement  » Costtoincome ratio s * An action plan was developed

onimproved commercial terms delivered in line with budget, + Discovery was undertaken
as compared to the current RCF reflecting appropriate and external providers were
(positive) ESG strategy impact consulted where required
on overheads. + Implementation has
commenced

Attainment  33% 33% 33%

Matthew Doughty ESG - D&l ESG - Governance, Risk and Operating Model {33% weighting)
(COOy {33% weighting) Compliance (33% weighting)

Objective Build a diverse and inclusive Embed a stronger understanding Centinue to scale up the
organisation by driving the D&4 of our values, risk appetite and Mindcrest division and develop
targets in relation to female and  ESG agenda with an increased plans for the pivot of mare work
ethnic minerities represented focus on risk management from Legal Advisory

across the business
Outcome + D&l targets have since been * Risk registers embedded » The projectis currently in the

replaced by our new D& across the Group process of being implemented
targets to be achieved by 2025, + Improvements to client = This will include ongoing

* AL 30 April 2022 we had onboarding in the process cansultation with clients
achieved the following results: of roll our « The benefits of this project

* Senior femmale leadership + Training delivered to address will be seenin FY23, increasing
at 28 9%, partcular risk issues identified in FY24

* Senior ethric minority at 4.3%.

Attainment  33% 33% 33%
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Vesting of 2019 long-term incentive award

I he three-year performance period for the EIP award granted on 27 August 2019 ended on 30 April 2022, The formulaic outcome of
the performance conditions was 41% vesting (as detailed below). The Remuneration Committee assessed this outcome and deemed it
appropriate in the context of averall business performance over the performance period.

sl Lo
. CE S TS e B A

ST e A ey AN »or

Cumulative Three-Year EPS (40% weighting) 38.1 pence 42.2 pence 46 4 pence Z1.4 pence 0%

Average Annual ROCE (40% weighting) 29.5% 32.8% 361% 33.0%' 21_%_
Average Cash Conversion (20% weighting) _78% 87% ) 96% 131% 20%
Notes

1 The Committee used a pre-IFRS 16 basis for ROCE when assessing the achievernent of the ROCE target for the 2019 LTIP. This basis has been adopted to ensure
pe foningiee agaitist e ROCE 1af get was measured consistently over the entire LI IF pertormance perncd as the ROCE target was imitially set on a pre-IFRS 16 basis,
This approach therefare provides a ‘like for Iike' comparison

Long-term incentive awards made in the financial year ended 30 April 2022
LTIP awards, which are conditional share awards made through the EiP, were granted to the Executive Directors on 17 August 2021,

TR B B ] Do, el U luat, Toae el S e

Sir Nigel Knowles (CEQ) 17 August 2021 175% 819,346 £927,500

Chris Stefani (CFO) 17 August 2021 125% 353,356 £400,000
Matthew Doughty (COO) 17 August 2021 125% 331,272 £375,000
Notes

1 Based on the five-day Volume weighted average price share price of the Company of £1.132 as at 17 August 2021,

These LTIP awards have a three-year performance period to the end of the 2024/25 financial year and following vesting are subject to a
two-year holding period

The following table sets out the performance conditions and targets:

[ E I

T FY I SN S L L IR RLI AT R [ N B

Cumulative Three-Year EPS (40% weighting} 33.8 pence 37.6 pence 41.3 pence

Average Annual ROCE (40% weighting) 26% ) 29% ) 32%
Average Cash Conversion (209 weighting) i 82% 91% 101%

* Straight-line vesting applies between these points.
No other awards were made to Executive Directors during the year.

Achievement of shareholding guidelines as at 30 April 2022

The following chart illustrates the achievement of the shareholding guidelines by the Executive Directors as at 30 April 2022, against the
minimum shareholding requirement under the Remuneration Policy (see page 94 for a detailed breakdown). The chart is designed to
ilustrate the value of their shareholding as a percentage of base salary. Their shareholding for these purposes does not include unvested
LTIP awards. For full information on all Directors’ interests in shares, see the table on page 108.

R ' " A [ER TR

e = _ - TR <

I SaTae L, o it T v

Sir Nigel Knowles (CEO) £530,000 2,667,211 £2219,120 2,677,211 £2.044,922

Chris Stefani (CFO) £320,000 1.032.814 £859,301 928,097 £1,020,907

Matthew Doughty (COO) £300,000 2,669,421 £2220,958 2,669,421 £2,936,363
Notes

1 Based on share price of the Company as at 30 April 2021 of £0 832,
2 Based on share price of the Company of £1.10 as at 29 April 2022,

3 On 21 July 2021, restricted shares from Chris Stefani's IPO award vested and he sold 104,717 shares to cover tax liabilties.
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Remuneration continued

Annual Report on Remuneration

The following table sets out where in the Remuneration report the information can be found or where itis not relevant a statement to
that effect:

Single figure of remuneration for each Executive Director 104

Share interests awarded during FY2021/22 107
Payment torpast Directors - ) - 105T
Statement of-E;irectors’ sharehoiding and‘share interests 1087
Percentage change in remuneration of D\rectors and all emp\oyrees (including partners) 1§
Pay ratio information in relation to the total remuneration of the Director undertaking tHe role of the CEO 17
Statement of the implementation of the Remuneration Policy nFY2022/23 " 7 103
Consideration of matters relating to Directors' remuneration 88 and 89
Statement of voﬂmg at General Meeting i 109

Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below shows the percentage change in total salary costs and Shareholder distributions (1.e. dividends) from the financial year ended
30 April 2021 to the financial year ended 30 April 2022, There have been ne changes between 30 April 2022 and the date of this report.

Sharehalder distributions paid in the year’ 6.5 135 1076
Total remuneration cost: 210.8 2182 35
Notes

1 Dwidenas paid per year 1s defined in note 7 of the financial statements

2 Total remuneration cost is defireain note 25 of the financial statements

Directors’ share interests (audited)
The Directors' interests in shares as at 30 April 2022 are provided below. There have been no changes between 30 April 2022 and the date
of this report.

Executive Directors

Sir Nigel Knowles 2677211 556% 250% 130300 2,122,380 0 4929891
Chris Stefani 928,097° 319% 200% 130300 1,251,445 0 2309842
Matthew Doughty 2,669,421 579% 200% 130229 858,105 0 3657825
E{-Executive Directors -

Jonathan Bloomer 40000 N/A N/A NIA NIA N/A 40,000
Chris Sullivan ' 409,836 N/A N/A NIA A N/A 409,836
Luke Savage ' 32693 NIA N/A N/A N/A N/A 32,603
Tea Colaianni 49,180 7 N/A N/A N/A, NJA N/A 49,180
Sam Tymms 0 N/A N/A N/A MNA NiA 0
Seema Bains 1,400,000 /A N/A NiA N/A N/A 1,400,000
Michele Cicchetti ' 1531379 /A N/A 56,349 33000¢ 1255170 1,746,245

Notes
© Calculated using the share price of £1.10 an 30 Apri 2022,

2 These Deferred Bonus Plan Share awards represent S0% of the borus awarged for the period up 1o 30 Apri! 2021 For the purposes o° ts awarg, the volume weighted
average price for the 5 days immedately preceding the date of grant of £1.132 was used

3 On 21 july 2021, the second tranche of Chris Stefani's IPO awara vested ard he sold 104,717 shares to cover tax habilties

4 This celates 16 ar award granted to Michele Cicchett before he was appainted as Partrer Director The awars vests over five yearsin ten equal ranches, fre tranches
or employment and five or performance The second two trariches vested on 27 August 2023

5 Thisis a conditional award over 156,897 ordinary shares granted to Michele Cicchettion "4 January 2021, wnich wiil vest over five years inegual trarches and are
<0t subject to performance conditions This award s unrefated (o his role as Partner Cirector for wnich be receives no remuneration as described or page “04
The first tranche of 31,380 ordinary shares vested on S December 2021
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Service contracts or letters of appointment

The following table provides details of the service contracts or letters of appointment for the Directors. All service contracts and letters
of appointrment are avaitable for viewing at the Company's registered office. In line with best practice, all Directors are subject to annual
re-election at the Company’s AGM. The Chair of the Board and the Independent Non-Executive Directors are appointed subject to
re-appointment at the AGM for an initial term of three years commencing on the admission of the shares to trading on the London Stock
Exchange. The initial period of three years s renewable by one additional period of three years and renewable thereafter at the discretion
of the Company. Partner Director letters of appointment provide that their duties as a Director are subject to their professional duties as
solicitors autherised by the SRA or equivalent regulatory authority.

Executive Directors

Sir Nigel Knowles 29 May 2020 Rolling service contract wirh no fixer axpiry date 12 months

Chris Stefani 10 September 2018 Rolling service contract with no fixed expiry date. 12 months

Matthew Doughty 22 October 2020 Rolling service contract with no fixed expiry date. 12 months

Non-Executive Directors

Jonathan Bloomer 1 August 2020 Rolling letter of appointment for an initial term of three years with 3 months

7 no fixed expiry date. )

Chris Sullivan 1 Novemnber 2018 Rolling letter of appointment for an initial term of three years with 1 menth
no fixed expiry date.

Luke Savage 1 November 2018 Rolling letter of appointment for an initial term of three years with 1 menth
no fixed expiry date.

Tea Colaianni 1 November 2018 Rolling letter of appaintment for an initial term of three years with 1 month
no fixed expiry date.

Sam Tymms 1 December 2018 Ralling letter of appointment for an initial term of three years with 1 month
no fixed expiry date.

Seema Bains 22 October 2020 Rolling letter of appointment far an initizl term of up 1o three years 1 month

with no fixed expiry date. The Partner Director is not entitled 1o
receive a fee for undertaking the role.

Michele Cicchetti 22 October 2020 Rolling letter of appointment for an initial term of up 1o three years
with no fixed expiry date. The Partner Director is not entitled to
recelve a fee for undertaking the role.

—

month

Payments to past Directors/payments for loss of office (audited)
During FY21/22 Andrew Leitherland was paid a total of £47.815. This payment was the final monthly tranche of his paymentin lieu of natice, as
disclased on page 106 of last year's Remuneration report, and was paid after he had stepped down from his role as an Executive Director,

Shareholder voting at the 2021 AGM

-

N i E ol EEREE ) o, At R RS

To approve the Directors’ Remuneration repart 156,947,973 98.95 1,665,397 1.05 158613370 1,325,148

Shareholder voting at the 2019 AGM

To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Policy 106,935,200 98.99 1,091,112 1.01 108.026,312 o]
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Governance

Remuneration continued

Wider workforce remuneration
This section of the Directors’ Remuneration report provides an overview of remuneration principles and wider workforce remuneration
across the Group including:

« CEO-to-worker pay ratio, and
* UK gender and ethnicity pay gap reporting.

Remuneration principles and wider workforce remuneration across the Group |
The Committee considers remuneration principles and wider workforce remuneration across the Group to enable it to take into account ‘
wider workforce pay and practices, and the alignment of incentives and reward with culture, when setting Executive Director remuneration

As set out below, key areas considered by the Committee include: Group remuneration principles; grading structure; basic pay; bonus; share

plans; pension; benefits; and termination policies

The Commirttee is satisfied that the approach to remuneration across the Company is consistent with the Group’s principles of
remuneration. In the Committee’s opinion, the approach to Executive Director remuneration aligns with the wider Group remuneration
principles, and there are no anomalies specific to the Executive Directars.

Group remuneration principles
The table below sets out the Group’s remuneration principles:

Competitive and fair Salaries set around market median
Benefits reflect best practice and workforce needs

Flexihility in share plans to attract and retain key talent

Rewarding (the right) high performance We are a high-performing business and when we conduct-our end of year reviews,
we recognise high performers

We operate an annual performance-review process to ensure we have good
performance discussions i

We can recognise those who make outstanding contributions through share awards

Simple to understand We try to avoid unnecessary complexity

We provide accessible and relevant information

Supports DWF values Incentives, performarice-management and recognition approaches support DWF values
and culture and culture

Benefits suppaort our inclusive culture

Grading structure
DWF has a centralised approach to grading, with a new grading methodology introduced on 1 March 2027 to reflect the complexity of the
Group and to allow for future growth, with colleagues (Executive Directors, partners and employees) graded from band 1 to 4.

Overview of findings
The Group's workforce has a unique structure, comprising both employees and members of partnerships. The partners, who represent the
principal generators of income for the Group, remain subject to partnership remuneration and benefit arrangements.

Salary

Average salary increases for employees and partners across the Group are being applied on an equitable and objective basis. Salary
increases are based on external benchmarking and position in pay range compared with market medians. Itis cur policy to increase the
salaries of the Executive Directors using the same appreach and with wider workforce remuneration arrangements in mingd.

Bonus

The majority of our employees and partners can share in the success of the Company through mcentive compensation. In hine with markeat
practice, the level of incentive compensation and whether it 15 paid solely in cash orin a mixture of cash and deferred shares, depends on
the level of senionity of employee and partners.

Share plans

Equity participation is offered to all UK, US and Spanish employees of the Group thraugh the BAYE scheme, and to senior management and
Executive Directors through the LTIP and Deferred Bonus Plans, each of which involves the award of shares. It1s the Group's policy to allow
employees and partners to share in success by means of equity participation.

The BAYE continues to operate on an annual basis. All qualifying colleagues are invited to participate in the BAYE scheme by acquiring
ordinary shares out of deductions from salary, and awarded matching shares in respect of ordinary shares acquired. Each year, all qualifying
colleagues will be invited ta sign up to buy shares over a 12-month investment period. Matching shares are received on a one-for-two basis,
so for every two shares purchased over the 12-month investment period, participants receive one matching share three years from the start
of the relevant 12-month investment period subject to certain conditions.

The IPO gave DWF the opportunity to offer shares to the wider employee group, thus further aligming an element of remuneration with
Company performance, Executive Director remuneraton, and the Shareholder experience.
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The E{P is in operation for partners and employees and offers a number of awards such as promotion awards, lateral hire awards and
exceptional contributor awards. These plans are designed 1o enable the business to attract and retain the right talent for the future
sustainability of the Group.

The Group's Deferred Bonus Plan will be used for the Executive Directors’ deferred bonus shares for the period. The plan rules enable it to
be used for other senicr employees and partners.

Pensions

All UK employees are eligible for enrolment in a Company defined-contribution pension arrangement. The current employee contribution
is 3-5% of salary and employer contribution is 5-7% of salary. The contribution for Executive Directors is 7% of salary, in line with the
majority pension contributions apphcable to the wider UK workforce. Outside of the UK, pension arrangements for employees are in line
with local legal requirements.

Benefits
UK employees and par Liers are ullered g range of berefits including life assurance and health insurance, and tlexible benefits by way
of salary sacrifice. Elsewhere in the Group, benefits are in line with local market practice.

Termination
An employee ar partner must be in employment and not serving notice to be eligible for any bonus payment. The treatment of leavers
15 governed by the respective share plan rules, agreed leaver status delegated authorities and operating guidelines,

Communication and engagement with employees and partners

The Board is committed to ensuring there is an open dialogue with our employees and partners over various decisions. The business is kept
informed of the Group's activities and performance through communications and the arculation of carporate announcements. This is
supplemented by updates on Rubix, our intranet, to which all Non-Executive Directors have access.

To encourage opportunities for continuing dialogue, feedback and recognition, we continued with our Pulse Forum, established to ensure
that we listen to colleague voices within all of our jurisdictions and embed changes to enhance both cur working environment and
engagement with our Group strategy. The Forum assesses the outcomes from future Pulse Surveys and share our actions and the progress
we are making as well as helping to shape initiatives to improve everyone's experience within the Group. During the course of the financial
year, plans were put in place to change our family friendly policies as a result of the feedback we had received.

Chris Sullivan, as the designated Nan-Executive Director for the workforce, engages with the workforce with regard to Executive Director
remuneration arrangements. Further details on how we have engaged with employees and responded to their feedback is continued within
our section 172 report on page 26.

For more information, please see pages 63 and 64 of the Corporate Governance report and 45 to 48 of the Environmental, Sociat and
Governance report.

CEO-to-worker pay ratio as at 30 April 2022
DWF is committed to fairness and eguality across the Group, and takes the CEG pay ratio, alongside a number of other factors, into
consideration when reviewing pay tevels across the Group.

Te calculate the CEQ pay ratio, the Group used prescribed methodology A to calculate the pay and benefits of all UK employees (including
partners) on a full-time equivalent (FTE} basis for the financial year, to identify the quartiles. The pay and benefits for all UK employees and
partners for the relevant financial year is calculated and ranked from lowest to highest, to identify the employees and partners at P25, P50
and P75. We chose methodology A as we felt it comprehensively reflects the pay levels of our employees {including partners).

The salary and total remuneration of UK FTE employees (including partners) at the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile, and the ratios between
the CEC and these employees (including partners) are shown in the table below. The information in the table below was collated using
available data as at 30 April 2022.

£23,795 £37,811 £63,067 £27,232 £43,928 £72,215

Amount FY2021/22 A
FY2020/21 A £25000  £40000  £65000  £26109  £42134  £69,587
FY2019/20 A £23.000  £36445 59400  £24383  £39088  £64,487
Ratic Fv2021/22 A 221 141 8.1 29,1 18.1 1.1
FY2020/21 A 2111 121 8.1 35.1 221 13.1
FY2019/20 A 231 151 91 24:1 15:1 9:1

The Company believes the median pay ratio for FY2021/22 is consistent with the pay, reward and progression policies for the Group’s UK
employees (and partners). We complete a rigorous pay and benchmarking exercise annually on all roles, and adjust appropriately based on
performance and affardability, to ensure employees {and partners} are remunerated fairly and in line with the Group's pay philosaphy.

In assessing our pay ratio versus likely ratios from industry peers, we believe we are towards the lower end of the range but note that annual
and long-term incentive payments have varied considerably amongst this group. In our case, the CEQ single figure comprises fixed pay,
bonus, taxable benefits, and pension benefits, given that no long-term incentive vested in respect of performance in FY2021/22. we also
recognise that ratios will be influenced by levels of employee (and partner) pay, which may vary from other sectors.

Over time, we expect there may be significant volatility in this ratio, and believe this will be caused by the following:
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Remuneration continued

+ Qur CEQ pay is made up of a higher proportion of incentive pay than that of cur employees {and partners), in ine with the expectations
of our Shareholders, This introduces a higher degree cf variability in CEO pay each year, which affects the ratio.

= We recognise that the ratio is affected by the different structure of the pay of our CEO to that of our employees {and partners), as well as the
make-up of our workforce This ratio varies between businesses even in the same sector. What s important frem our perspective is that this
ratio is influenced only by the differences in structure, and not by divergence in fixed pay between the CEO and wider workforce. Where the
structure of remuneration is similar, as for the Executive Board and the CEO, the ratio 1s likely to be much more stable over time.

Performance against Tetal Shareholder Return (‘TSR")
The following chartillustrates the Company's TSR performance (share price growth plus dividends paid) from the date of Admission against the
performance of the FTSE All Share Support Services, a broad-based index the Company has been a constiruent member of since Admission.
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Historic CEQ remuneration

Total remuneration £70.949 £530,000 £8638,784 £792,533

Annual bonus as a percentage ofopportuni-ty (% 0% 37.1% 28.0%
LTIP as a percentage of opportunity N/A N/A N/A N/A
Notes

1 Figures for FY2020/21 are based on total remuneration pard to Andrew Leaitherland up to 28 May 2020 and Sir Nigel Knowles from 29 May 2020

2 The aggregate otal bonus outcome of £748,000 for FY2020/21 was distributed equally, on a pro-rata basis for length in role. between the three Executive Directors as
described on page 93 of the Annuat Report ana Finanaial Statements 2021 The masimum bonus opportunity for the CEO was 150% of base salary

3 The aggregate total bornus outcome of £665k for FY2021/22 was distributed equally between the three Executive Directors as described on page 105 The maximum
bonus opportunity for the CEQ was 150% of base salary.
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Percentage change in remuneration of the Directors and alt employees and partners

The position of Partner Director is designated by the Board as a Non-Independent, Non-Executive Director position. A Partner Director
represents the partners of DWF Law LLP and DWF LLP and 1s therefore a partner Shareholder representative on the Board. Partner Directors
do not receive any fees for the position on the Board because their remuneration is as a member of DWF Law LLP or DWF LLP (determined
by his or har 'home office’), and in some circumstances also by way of a limited salary as an employee of DWF Connected Services Holdings
Limited. Therefore, Partner Directors are not included in the table below.
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Executive Directors

Sir Nigel Knowles 9% 0% 11 0 -25%

Chris Stefani 0% % 24 15% 25%

Matthew Doughty 90% 0% AL 0 40%

Non-Executive Director -

Sir Nigel Knowles N/A G A NA N/A N/A

Jonathan Bloomer 34% 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A -

Chris Sullivan 6% 20% A A N/A N/A g

Luke Savage 0 0 N/A N/A NAA N/A >

Tea Calaiann] 0 0 N/A NA /A N/A &

Sam Tymms 0 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A g

Vin Murria N/A -35% N/A N/A N/A N/A ’

Average employee (includes partners) 9% -0.2% -28% 31% -42% 522% o

Notes 3

1 ?&m&g;rwles stepped down as Chair of the Board on 29 May 2020 and his appeintment as CEQ and the respective remuneration for each role is captured g;

2 Matthew Doughty was appointed as COO on 22 October 2020 and the table shows his remuneration from that date. §
5
e

w

Jonathan Bloomer was appointed Chair of the Board on 1 August 2020 and the table shows his remuneration from that date,

b

Fees paid to Chris Sullivan include Non-Executive Director fees and Seror Independent Non-Executive Director fees fram the beginning of the period.
On % August 2020, Chnis was appointed Deputy Chair of the Beard and the table includes his additional fees for that rofe from that date.

5 vin Murria stepped down as a Non-Executive Director on 30 December 2020 and the table shows heér fees up 1o that dare.

o

The aggregate total bonus outcome of £748,000 for FY2020/21 was distrnibuted equally, on a pro-rata basis for length in role, between the three Executive Directors as
described on page 93 of the Annuat Report and Financial Statements 2021, The aggregate total outcome of £665k for FY2021/22 was distributed equally between the
three Executive Directors as described on page 105,

The Committee uses this information to satisfy itself that there is not an increasing gap between the level of fixed pay for the Director and
for employees (including partners). Based on the above analysis, the Committee is satisfied that this is the case.

UK gender and ethnicity pay gap reporting
We reported on our UK gender and ethmicity pay gap for 2021 1in March 2022, The full 2021 Gender and Ethnicity Pay Gap Report is available
on our website at dwfgroup.com.

The Group’s UK gender pay gap

Mean hourly pay gap 50% 48% 39% 37% 35%
Median hourly pay gap 36% 32% 33% 33% 28%
Mean bonus pay gap 51% 45% 37% 38% 24%
Median bonus pay gap 32% 23% 35% 38% B%
Note

1 The figures above are combined figures for both employees and self-employed partners. For both hourly pay rates have been used.

While we are working hard to speed up the pace of change in our business, there 15 a gender pay gap due 10 the fact that we have more
men at senjor levels in higher-paid roles. We are taking targeted and sustained action where there is currently under-representation,
and we are making positive progress. We know that changing decades of imbalance in our business and sectar is going to take time,
but we are committed to addressing it. This sustained focus on meaningful actions will result in a more diverse workforce, supported
and empowered through our inclusive culture and values.
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Governance

Remuneration continued

Ethnicity pay gap reporting
As part of our wider inclusion approach, we have worked hard aver the past year to build a rmore accurate picture of our black and minority
ethmi¢ (BAME') population.

The Group's UK ethnicity pay gap

Mean hourly pay gap 23% 24%

Median hourly pay gap 22% 23%
Note

1 The figures above are combined figures for both employees and self-employed partners. For both, hourly pay rates have been usea

We are committed to increasing the representation of minority ethnic employees across all career bands and, when compared with 2020,
we have seen an increase across all pay quartiles. However, we continue to see the largest representation of minority ethnic empioyees

in the lower pay quartile and fell short of achieving our target of at least 10% BAME representation across senior leadership positions
(currently 4%). In addition, we have to rely on our colleagues to disclese their diversity data to help determine our ethnicity pay gap. Since
our last pay gap report, we have continued to promote the importance of volunteering this information and the level of self-disclosure has
increased by 25%. We do understand that some colleagues may not feel comfortable shering this information, so either decide not to
disclose or use our ‘prefer not ta say’ category. We will continue to encourage our colleagues to disclose their diversity data to improve the
accuracy of our reporting, whilst the launch of our latest representation targets, to 2025, will drive action and hold ourselves accountable
to change.

The recent launch of our ESG Strategy atso included publication of new stretch targets to increase the gender and ethnic diversity of our
workforce and unlock the potential of women and BAME colleagues. More details on these targets can be found on pages 46 and 47.

Tea Colaianni
Chair, Remuneration Committee
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Directors’ report

Directors' report

The Board of Directors present their report for the financial year
ended 30 April 2022 as required by the Companies Act 2006.
The Directors' report, together with the Strategic report on
pages 1to 57 form the Management Report for the purposes

of the FCA's Disclasure, Guidance and Transparency Rule ({DTR'}
415R(2)and DTR 4.18R.

Statutory or regulatory information contained elsewhere

in the Annual Report and Accounts

The Board considers that some of the matters required to be
disclosed in the Directors' report are of strategicimportance and
these are therefore included in mare detail in the sections of the
reput Las indicaled in (e table below.

Irformatos Secuon Pzaoe
Likely future developments Strategic report 07
in the business

Risk factors and principal Strategic report 50 to 55

risks; going cancern and
viability statements

Note 19 to the 152 to
Consolidated 153
financiat statements

Financial instruments:
information on the Group's
financial instruments and risk
management objectives and
policies, including our policy
an hedging

Ervircnmental, Social  32to 33
and Governance report
Corporate 66

Governance report

Governance arrangements;
human rights and
anti-corruption and
bribery matters

Environmental matters Environmental, Social 38 to 45

including annuel greenhouse  and Governance report

gas emissions and SECR

Social and community matters  Environmental, Social 49
and Governance report

Financial risk management Consaolidated financial 152 to

staterments 154

Section 172(1) 26to0 31
and stakeholders

Section 172(1) statement

Disclosure of information required by DTR 7.2.1R
The corperate governance statement as required by DTR 7.2.1R
IS setout on page 61,

Disclosure table pursuant to Listing Rule ('LR’) 9.4.8C
The following table provides references to where the information
required by LR 9.4 8C is disclosed:

LSUNE Rule LsUTE Rale rega rement

9.8.4(4) Long-term incentive schemes Directors’
Remuneration

report, 8310 114

9.8.4(12) Walver of dividends by Directors’
a Shareholder report 116

9.8.4(13) Waver of future dividend by Directors’
aShareholder repcrt 116

Board of Directors

You can find the names of all current Directors and their biographies
on pages 58 and 59. All Directors intend to seek election or re-election
at the 2022 AGM in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company (the ‘Articles of Association’) and the recommendations of
the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the '‘Code’),

Appointment, reappointment and removal of Directors
Directars are appointed and may be removed in accordance with
the Articles of Association and the provisions of the Companies
Act 2006.

A Director may be appointed to the Board by ordinary resolution
of the Shareholders in a general meeting, either to fill 3 vacancy or
as an additional director. No person other than a Director retiring
in accordance with the Articles of Asscciation shall be elected or
re-elected at any general meeting unless:

1. recommended by the Board; or

not less than 14 nor more than 42 days before the date appointed
tor the meeting there has been given to the Company, by a member
(other than the person to be proposed) entitled to vote at the
meeting, notice of the intention te propose a resolution for the
election of that person, stating the particulars which would, if they
were so elected, be required to be included in the Company’s
register of Directors and a notice executed by that person of their
willingness to be elected.

A Director may be removed by the Company in certain
arcumstances set out in the Articles of Association or by special
resolution or by ordinary resolution of which special notice had
been given in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Powers of Directors

The business of the Company is managed by the Directors who are
subject to the Articles of Association, provisions of the Companies
Act 2006 and any directions given by spacial resolution. Specific powers
relating to the allotment and issuance of ordinary shares and the
ability of the Company to purchase its own securities are also included
within the Articles of Association, and such authorities may be
submitted for approval by the Shareholders at the AGM each year.

Directors’ indemnities and insurance

As permitted by the Articles of Assocdiation and to the extent
permitted by the law, the Company has indemnified each Director
in respect of any liability arising out of, or in connection with, the
execution of their powers, duties and responsibilities, as Directors
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. These indemnities in force
during the year and that continue to remain in force are qualifying
third party indemnities as defined by section 234 of the Companies
Act 2606,

The Cornpany also maintains directors' and officers’ liability insurance
as provided for in the Articles of Association. The Directors may also
obtain, at the Company's expense, externat legal or professional
advice necessary to enabie them to carry out their duties.

Directors’ interests

Directars’ interests in the share capital of the Company as
at 30 April 2022 are set out on page 108 in the Directors’
Remuneration report.

Conflicts of interest

The Articles of Association give the Board power to authorise
matters that give rise to actual or potential conflicts. The Company
has a policy and procedures in place for identifying, disclosing,
evaluating and managing conflicts of interest so that Board
decisions are not compromised by a conflicted director. Directors
have a continuing duty to ensure the Board is updated on any
changes to these conflicts. The Company Secretary maintains a
register of conflicts and any conflicts that have been authorised
by the Board. The register of canflicts is reviewed annually and
approved by the Board.

Articles of Association

The Company's Articles of Association may only be amended by
passing a special resolution of the Company at a general meeting.
The Articles of Association are available an our website at
dwfgroup.com/en/investors.

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Governance

Directors’ report continued

Dividends

The Board recommends a final dividend of 3.25 pence per ordinary
share to Shareholders. Subject to Shareholder approval at the
Company's 2022 AGM, this will become payable on 7 Cctober 2022
to all Shareholders on the register of members at the close of
business on 9 September 2022, During the year, the Board declared
an interim dividend of 1.50 pence per ordinary share which was
paid to Shareholders on 4 March 2022, There are no guarantees
that the Company will pay dividends, or the level of any such
dividends in the future.

Share capital structure and share rights

As at 30 April 2022, the Company's share capital comprised
325,352,865 ordinary shares of 1 pence each, fully paid up and
guoted on the London Stock Exchange.

Rights attributable to the Company's ardinary shares are as set

out in the Articles of Association (which are available on our website
at dwfgroup.com/en/investors) and in applicable campany [aw.
Holders of the Company’s ordinary shares have the right to attend,
speak and vote {either in person or by proxy} at a general meeting
of the Company, and the right to benefit in any distribution of

the Company, which includes, but 1s not limited to, dividends.

No Shareholder owns shares with special rights as tc control.

The Company operates a number of employee share plans, which
are detailed both in the Directors’ Remuneration report on pages 83
0 114 and in note 23 16 the conschdated financial statements. The
voung rights of shares held in trust for the share plan participants,

as beneficial holders, are exercised at the direction of the participant.
Inrespect to any voting rights of shares held in trust that are not
allocated to share plan participants, Ocarian Limited (the ‘Trustee')
will abstain from voting these shares, unless directed otherwise by
the Company, and then only in accordance with the Trustee’s
discretion. The Trustee of the Employee Benefit Trust and the Reward
Share Trust has waived its right to dividends on all unallocated shares
within the Trusts.

Substantial shareholdings

The table below shows the direct and indirect holdings of major
Shareholders in the Company's ordinary issued share capital,
as at 30 April 2022. The Company had been natified in accordance
with the provisions of Chapter 5 of the DTR or was otherwise aware,
of the following interests in the Company’s veting rights:

DWF Group Plc Employee Benefit Trust 30,242,231 9.30
Premier Miton Investors 18,990,212 5.84
Cartesian Capital Group 17,814,338 5.48
Aberdeen Standard Investments 16,258,652 - 5.00
Border to Coast Pensions Partnership 8,711,709 2.68

1 Issued share capital as at 30 Ap~il 2022 was 325,352,865,

AT 20 July 2022, no further notifications had been received under the
DTRs in relation to interests in the Company’s shares.

116

Authority to allot and purchase own shares

. At the Company’s 2021 AGM, the Directors were authorised to:

i. allot ordinary shares {or grant rights to subscribe for, or canvert
any securities into, ordinary shares) up to an aggregate nominal
amount equal to £1,084,509 (representing 108,450,900 ordinary
shares of 1p each) and to allot further shares up 1o an aggregate
nominal amount equal to £1,084,509 (representing 108,450,500
ordinary shares of 1 pence each) for the purpose of a nights issue;

ii. allot ordinary shares having an aggregate nominal amount of
£162,277 (representing 16,227,700 crdinary shares of 1 pence
each) for cash, without offering them ta existing Shareholders
in proportion to their holdings;

.allot additional shares having an aggregate nominal amount of
£162,277 (representing 16,227,700 ordinary shares of 1 pence
each) for the purposes of financing a transaction which the
Board of the Company determines to be an acquisition or other
capital Investment, without offering the shares first to existing
Shareholders in proportion to their holdings; and

iv. make market purchases of up to 32,455,465 shares in the
Company, representing 10% of the Company’s 1ssued share
capital atthe time.

To date the Directors have used none of these authorities. The
Directors confirm therr intention to renew these authorities at

the forthcoming AGM. Further details are set out in the Notice

of Annual General Meeting, which can be found on our website
at dwfgroup.com/en/investors.

Restrictions on transfer

As part of the Group, DWF Law LLP, 1s regulated by the SRA,
and the Company and Shareholders are subject to statutory
ownership restrictions pursuant to the Legal Services Act 2007,

Itis a cardinai principle of the Company that a ‘Non-authorised

. Person’ shall not hold, nor take steps to acquire, any ‘Restricted

Interest’ in the Campany other than in compliance with the Legal
Services Act 2007 and the arrangements, rules and regulations
of any ‘Relevant Licensing Authority’, which includes the SRA and,
where applicable, other designated regulators of the legal
professions m England and Wales.

A Non-authorised Person includes any person who 1$ net
approved to carry on legal activities by the SRA or anather
Relevant Licensing Authority

A Restricted interest in the Company exists where a persan (slone or
with their associates):

a) holds at least 10% of the shares in the Company;

b) 15 able to exercise significant influence over the management of
the Company by virtue of their shareholding in the Company;

o

15 entitled to exercise, or contral the exercise, voting power in the
Company which, if it consists of voting rights, constitutes at least
10% of the voting rights in the Company; and

d) is able to exerase significant influence over the management of
the Company by virtue of the person's entitlerment o exercise,
or control the exercise of, voting rights in the Company.
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If a member (or prospective member} whe is a Non-autherised
Person proposes 1o acquire a Restricted Interest in the Company,
that member {or prospective member) shall not take any steps to
acquire such Restricted Interest until after it has:

a} notified the Company and the Relevant Licensing Authority in
advance of its proposal to acguire such Restricted interest; and

b) received the necessary approvals from the Relevant Licensing
Authority, as may be required under the Legal Services Act 2007
and Regulatory Arrangements.

ttis a criminal offence under the Legal Services Act 2007 for a
Non-authorised Person to fail to comply with these obligations.

If the Company believes the Divestiture Condition may be satisfied
in relation to a Non-autherised Person (a '‘Defauiting Person’), the
Company may give notice to the Defaulting Person that all of the
restrictions referred ta below shall apply to all of that Non-authorised
Person's shares in the Company (the ‘Relevant Shares'):

a) subject to a compulsory disposal provision set out befow,
a transfer of or agreement to transfer the Relevant Shares,
or in the case of unjssued shares, the transfer of (or agreement
to transfer} the right to be issued with them, is void; }

Other than as set out above, where imposed by law or regulation,
or where the Listing Ruies require certain persons to obtain
clearance before dealing, there are no restrictions regarding the
transfer of shares in the Company. The Company is not aware of
any agreement which would resultin a restriction on the transfer
of shares or voting rights.

Change of control - significant agreements

There are a number of agreements that take effect, alter or
terminate upen a change of control of the Company, including
following a takeover bid, such as supplier and service provider
agreements and property lease arrangements. The legal risk arising
out of such change of control 1s dosely managed by the Company
as part of 15 contractual governance processes.

The Company has an unsecured £100.0m multicurrency revolving

. loan facility agreement with HSBC UK Bank plc, National Westminster

Bank plc Citigroup Inc. and Santander UK plc for general corporate and
working capital purposes. If there is a change of control of the
Company, any lender, by not less than 30 days’ notice to the Company,
may cancel its commitment under the facility and declare the
outstanding utilisation of that lender's commitment {together with
accrued interest) immediately due and payable.

" The Company’s subsidiary Rousaud Costas Duran SLP and twe of its

=

no voting rights are to be exercisable in respect of the
Relevant Shares;

C

no further shares are to be issued in right of the Relevant Shares
or in pursuance of any offer made to their holder; ‘

o

except in liquidation, no payment is to be made of any sums due
from the Company on the Relevant Shares whether in respect of
capital or otherwise; and

o

any restriction the SRA or Relevant Licensing Authority may
impose in respect of the Relevant Shares in accordance with
the Legal Services Act 2007

A Divestiture Condition includes where a Non-authorised Person
holds a Restricted Interest in the Company by virtue of holding
shares in the Campany in any of the following circumstances:

a) as a result of the person taking a step in circumstances that
constitutes an offence under paragraph 24(1) of Schedute 13
to the Legal Servicas Act 2007 (whether or not the persen is
charged with, or convicted of, an offence under that paragraph};

b) in breach of conditions imposed under paragraph 17, 28, or 33
of Schedule 13 to the Legal Services Act 2007, or

¢} incontravention of an objection by the Relevant Licensing
Authority under paragraph 31 or 36 of Schedule 13 to the
Legal Services Act 2007,

For so long as the restrictions set out above apply to a Defaulting
Person, the Company may (in its absolute discretion), notify the
Defaulting Person that, within seven days of the date of service

of the notice, they must dispose of such number of their shares
representing the Relevant Shares in the Company that will resultin
the Defaulting Person no langer holding a Restricted interestin the
Company {the 'Disposal Shares').

If the Defaulting Person does not dispose of the Disposal Shares,
the Company shall arrange o sell the Disposal Shares as soon as

is reascnably practicable. The Company shall not be liable to the
Defaulting Person for any alleged deficiency in the amount of sale
proceeds in respect of, or any other matter relating to, the Disposal
Shares. The Company rmay make any arrangements it deems necessary
or desirable to sell the Disposal Shares. The Defaulting Person will
receive the net proceeds from the sale of the Disposal Shares.

subsidiaries have unsecured multicurrency revoiving loan facilities
agreements with several local banks for general corporate and
working capital purposes, The total value of all such facilities is
€15.95m. If there is & change of control of the Company, any lender
may cancel its commitment under the facility and declare the
outstanding utilisation of that lender’s commitment {together with

- accrued interest)immediately due and payable.

In the event of a change of cantrol, the facilities referred to above
would either require repayment or renegotiation. Further details on
banking facilities are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 150.

The Directars are not aware of any agreements between the Company
and its Directors or employees which would pay compensation in
the event of a change of control. The rules of the Company’s share
plans generally provide for accelerated vesting or release of the
share awards in the event of a change of control of the Company.

Transactions with retated parties
Please refer to note 24 on page 157 of the consclidated financial

© statements for details of related party transactions in the year.

Political donations

* The Group did not make any political donations or incur any political
expenditure during the year (2020/21: nil),

At the Annual General Meeting to be held on 28 September 2022,
and to avoid an inadvertent breach cf the Companies Act 2006,
the Company will seek authority for itself and its subsidiaries and
subsidiary undertakings to make political donations not exceeding
£100,000 in total.

Information required by Sch 7.11B(1) Companies {(Miscellaneous

Reporting) Regulations 2018 - Business relationships

The Group has chosen to pravide information in relation to

the engagement with suppliers, customers and other business
relationships eisewhere in this report. These are cross-referenced
in the table overleaf:

Directors’ Responsibility Statement
The Directors' Responsibility Statement can be found on page 113,

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Governance

Directors’ report continued

i vl Carnion of the repant Page
How the Directors have had Section 172(1) 28to 37
regard to the need to foster statement

the Company's business Engaging with

relationships with suppliers, our stakeholders

customers and others

The effect of that regard, Section 172(1) 28 to 31

including on the principal
decisions taken by the
Company during the
financial year

Statement
Engaging with our
stakeholders

Information required by Sch 7.11(1)(b) Companies
(Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 - Statement
of Engagement with Employees

The Group has chosen to pravide information in relation to the
statement of engagement with employees which are covered
elsewhere in this report. These are cross-referenced in the

table below:

I~ fr rnanion

ERST FIURE R L TR S T BRI

28 and 29

How the Directors engage Section 172(1)
with employees statement
Engaging with 28 to 31
our stakeholders
Corporate 65 and 66
Governance report
Heow the Group provides Section 172(1) 26 and 27
employees with information  statement
on matters of concern to tngaging with 28 and 31
them as employees our stakehclders
Corporate 65 and 66
Gaovernance report
How the Group consults Section 172(1) 26 and 27
with and considers statement
employee feedback Engaging with 28 to 31
our stakeholders
Corporate 651066
Governance report
How the Directars have had  Non-Financial 49
regard to employee interests Information Statement
Engaging with 28 to 31
our stakeholders
Corporate 65 and 66
Gaovernance report
How the Group informs Section 172{1) 26 and 27
employees of the financial statement
and economic factors Engaging with 281031

affecting its performance

our stakeholders

Employees with disabilities

Throughout the Group, the principles of equal ocpportunities are
recognised in the formulation and development of employment
policies. We retain our Disability Canfident Leadership status for
removing barriers to disabled talent in the workplace. It is the
Company's pohcy to give full and fair consideration to applications
from people with disabilities, having regard to their partcular
aptitudes and abilities. If an employee becomes disabled, the
Company’s objective Is to continue to provide suitable employment

in the same ar an aftérnative position, with appropriate adjustrments

made if necessary. Employees with disabilities share equally in the
opportunities for training, career development and promotion.
Further information on supporting disabitity can be found

cn page 46,
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Research and development

DWF Ventures {'Wentures') is DWF's research and development arm,
serving as a vehicle to invest in and nurture new service lines that
do not easily fit into the conventional and regulated practice
group-based business model. Ventures was launched in October
2017 as an arms-length limited company within Caonnected Services,
and provides services to internat teams as well as clierts, with a
focus on generating ideas, delivering research and development
requirements and nurtdring early-growth services.

| Branches outside of the UK

The Company has no overseas branches. The Company's
subsidiaries are detailed in note 2 to the financial statements.

Annual General Meeting

The 2022 Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at
and be broadcast from 20 Fenchurch Street, London, EC3M 3AG on
28 September 2022 at 2.00 pm. The Notice of Annual General
Meeting together with explanatory notes accompanies the Annual
Report and Acceunts which 1s sent to Shareholders. It is also
available on our website at dwfgroup.com/en/investors.

Important events affecting the Group since 30 Apri} 2022
There are na events since 30 April 2022 that require adjustment t
the Financial Statements or are iImportant in the understanding of

i the Company's current position.

Disclosure of information to the Auditor

Having made the requisite enguiries, so far as each of the Directors
1s aware, there is no relevant audit information {as defined by
section 418(3) of the Companies Act 2006) of which the Company’s
Auditor is unaware, and the Directors have taken all the steps they
ought to have taken as Directors to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information, and to ensure the Company’'s Auditor 1s
aware of that information.

. Going concern
- Having assessed the financial forecasts of the business, the principal

risks and other matters discussed in connection with the viability
staterment an pages 55 and 56, the Directors consider it appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
financial statements, as the Company will generate sufficient cash
o meet its ongoing obligations for at least 12 months from the date
of signing the financial statements.

The Directors’ report was approved by the Board and has
been signed on its behalf by the Group General Counsel and
Company Secretary.

By order of the Board

Darren Drabble
Group General Caunsel and Company Secretary

20 July 2022
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Directors’ responsibility statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and
Accounts and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulation,

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared
the group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards and the company financial
statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accountng Standards,
comprising FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and
applicable law).

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the group and company and of the
profit or loss of the group for that period. In preparing the financial
statements, the directors are required to:

« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently,

state whether applicable UK-adopted international accounting
standards have been followed for the group financial statements
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101
have been followed for the company financial statements, subject
to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements;

* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent; and

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
uniess [t is inappropriate to presume that the group and company
will continue in business.

The directors are respansible for safeguarding the assets of the
group and company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the group's and
cormpany’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at

any time the financial position of the group and company and enable

them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’
Remuneration report comply with the Companies Act 2006.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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/
i
|

Directors’ Confirmations
Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed n

! the ‘Governance: Board of Directors’ on pages 58 and 59 of

the Annua! Report and Accounts confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge:

the group financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards,
give atrue and fair view of the assets, liabilities, firancial position
and profit of the group;

the company financial statements, which have been prepared

in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
comprising FRS 101, give a true and fair view of the assets,
habilities and financial position of the company; and

* the strategic reportincludes a fair review of the development and

performance of the business and the positicn of the group and
campany, together with a description of the principat risks and
uncertainties that it faces.

In the case of each directar in office at the date the directors’ report
IS approved:

so far as the director 1s aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the group’s and company’s auditors are
unaware; and

they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a
director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the group’s and company’s
auditors are aware of that information.

This responsibility statement was approved by the Board of
Directors on 20 July 2022 and is signed on its behalf by:

Sir Nigel Knawles Chris Stefani
Group Chief Execurtive Officer Chief Financial Officer
20 July 2022 20 July 2022
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Financial statements

Independent Auditor’s report to the members
of DWF Group plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion, DWF Group plc’s group financial statements and company financial statements (the “financial staterments”):

*+ give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and of the company's affairs as at 30 April 2022 and of the group’s profit, the
company’s loss and the group's tash flows for the year then ended;

* have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards; and

* have been prepared in accordance with the reguirements of the Companies Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statements, included within the « 1o ensure that we had a clear plan as to what work needed to be
Annual Report, which comprise: the Consolidated Statement of done when and where at year-end,;

Financial Position and Company Statement of Financial Position as
at 30 April 2022; the Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consclidated Staterment of

= to perform initial substantive testing, particularly where larger
sampies were required; and

Changes in Equity, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and = to enable early consideration of the key sources of estimation
Cempany Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; uncertainty and critical judgements before the year-end. The
and the notes to the financial statements, which include a audit transition and pre year-end audit work were important in
description of the significant accounting policies. determining our 2022 Group audit scope, areas of focus and

Our opinicn is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee detailed testing approach.

of DWF Group plc. As we undertook each phase of this first year audit, we regularly

Basis for opinion ! reconsiderad our risk assessment to reflect augit findings, including
We conducted our audit in accordance with Internationail Standards . our asse'ssmegt of;:e Gr?;apds_] Cﬁ}”:;?;]esngf‘rﬁ;kzeszgsgget:f_ mpact
on Auditing (UK) ("SAs (UK)") and applicable law. Qur responsibilities On ourpianned audit app ’ '
under 1SAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities s given the nature of the Group's operaticns and the methodology

for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We . for revenue recognition, we considered revenue recognition and
believe that the audit evidence we have obrtained is sufficient and * waluation of unbilled revenue to be the most significant area
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. . and therefore have included this as a key audit matter; and
Independence -« we considerad the recoverability of trade recevables given the
We remained independent of the group in accordance with the " level and aging of receivables, and hence also included a key audit
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial matter in relation to this.

statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as
applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

- Overview
- Additscope

= Qur audit focused on those entities with the most significant
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit contribution to the Group’s net revenue. Of the Group's 68
services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided. reporting units, we identified two, which in our view, required an
audit of their complete financial information for Group reporting
purpases. These were DWF Law LLP and DWF LLP. We also
audited material consolidation journals;

Other than those disclosed in note 4, we have provided no non-
audit services to the company or its centrolled undertakings in the
period under audit.

Another three reporting units were subject to audit procedures
over specific balances and transactions, due to their contribution
towards specific financial statement line items. Revenue and trade
and other receivables were in scope for Rousaud Costas Duran
S.L.P, Cash and cash equivalents was in scope for DWF Poland
Jamka and Property, plant and eguipment was in scope for
Mindcrest {India) Private Ltd;

Our audit approach

Context

DWF Group is a listed law firm, predominantly operating in the UK.
The Group focuses on the provision of legal and alternative legal
services. The Group's consolidated financial statements are
primarily an aggregation of the two UK Business Units, representing
the regicnal UK law partnerships, DWF Law LLP and DWF LLF,

with other overseas entities. For the purposes of our audit, we * We have considered the out-of-scope entities and performed
considered DWF Law LLP and DWF LLP to be separate compaonents. analytical procedures over key balances as part of our procedures;
The context of our audit is underpinned by 2022 being our first year
as external auditors of the Group. As part of our audit transition, we
performed specific procedures over opening balances by reviewing
the predecessor auditors’ working papers and risk assessment and

» All audits were performed by the Group engagement team with
the exception of Rousaud Costas Duran S.L.F, which was audited
by a PwC component audit team; and

re-evaluating the predecessor auditors’ conclusicns in respect of » The components within the scope of cur work, and work

key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in performed centrally by the Group engagement team, accounted
the opening balance sheet at 1 May 2021. We performed process for 73% of Group revenue, 69% of Group net revenue and 74% of
walkthroughs tc understand and evaluate the key financial Group profit before tax.

processes and controls across the Group. We performed a i i

significant amount of early audit pracedures in advance of the Keysuotmaters , .

year-end, covering each of the in-scope Business Units and the * Revenue recognition and valuation of unbilled revenue {group)
Group functions. » Recoverability of trade receivables (group)

The objective of this audit work was: + Carrying value of investments (parent)
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Materalizy
» Uveralt group matenality: £3.5m based on 1% cf net revenue.

» Overall company materiality: £3.2m based on 1% of total assets
capped at 90% of overali group materiality.

*» Performance materiality: £1.8m {group) and £1.6m (company).

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality
and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the
financial statements.

Key audit matter

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are thase matters that, in the auditors’
professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financiz! statements of the current period and include the most
significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not
due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had
the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of
resources in the audit; and directing the effarts of the engagement
teamn. These matters, and any ccmments we make on the results of
our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial statements as a whele, and in forming our cpinion
thereon, and we do not provide 3 separate opinion on these matters.

This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition and valuation of unbilled revenue (group)

Refer to page 80 (Audit Committee Report), note 1.4, note 1.20 and
note 13 to the Financial Statements for the Directors’ disclosures of
the related accounting policies, judgements and estimates.

AT 30 April 2022, total unbilled receivables balances included in
note 13 were £79,940k (2021: £76,108k).

The fair value of unbilled revenue is calculated using a per-hour
recovery rate based on historic billing of hours and applying this
to the number of hours which are not yet billed as at the year end.
Specific adjustments are then applied based on specific client
agreements, historical performance and forward-tooking factors.

The valuation of the unbilted revenue balances is considered to be

a key risk due to the significance of these balances to the Financial
Statements and the estimates required in assessing the fair value of
the unbilled revenye.

in order to test the revenue recognition and valuaticn of unbilled
revenue, we performed the following procedures:

(i) We evaluated the Group’s control procedures and assessed and
validated the ageing profile of unbilled revenue;

(i) We have understooed and tested the application of the Group’s
policy for recognition of unbilled revenue;

{iii} We have understood and evaluated the significant assumptions
used by management and performed sensitivity analysis to
understand the susceptibility of the valuation to changes in the key
assumptions;

{iv) We have performed look-back procedures on the valuation at
the prior year-end and compared the level of unbilled revenue
write-offs during the current period in order to assess the
reasonableness of the estimated recovery rates applied by
management;

(v} We have understood and evaluated the appropriateness of the
adjustments made by management to specific matters within
unbilled revenue and revenue recognition; and

{vi) We have tested the calculation of team recovery rates, tracing
billed hours back to timesheets, and historic billings to source
documentation. We have verified the number of year end unbilled
hours as at the year end back to support.

Based on our audit work, we found estimates made in the revenue
recognition and valuation of unbilled revenue to be acceptable. We
also consider the disclosures made in the financial statements to
be appropriate.

Recoverability of trade receivables (group)

Refer to note 1.6 and note 13 to the Financial Statements for
the Directors’ disclosures of the related accounting policies,
judgements and estimates.

AU30 April 2022, total trade receivables balances included in note
13 were £88,949k (2021: £91,185k), net of provisions of £11,729k
(2027: £13,031k). The recoverability of trade receivables and the
level of provisions for expected credit losses are considered to
be a key risk due to the significance of these balances to the
Financial Statements and the judgements reguired in making
appropriate provisions,

In order to test the recoverability of trade receivables, we
performed the fellowing procedures:

(i) We evaluated the Group's credit control procedures and
assessed and validated the ageing profile of trade receivables;

(iiy We assessed recoverability on a sample basis by reference to
cash received subsequent to year-end, agreement to the terms of
the contract in place and issue of credit notes post year-end as
necessary;

(i} We considered the appropriateness of estimates regarding the
level of expected credit loss for trade receivables and assessed
whether the associated provisions were calculated in accordance
with the Group's provisioning policies and/or whether there was
evidence of management bias in provisioning, cbtaining supporting
evidence as necessary; and

DWF Group plc | Annyal Report and Accounts 2022
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Financial statements

Independent Auditor’s report to the members
p p

of DWF Group plc continued

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

{iv) We also challenged management as to whether the
methodology applied in determining the appropriate expected
credit |6ss provisions appropriately reflected the level of risk in the
total receivables balance with consideration given to individual
counterparty credit risk and the general economic conditions in
each jurisdiction, taking into account in particular the impact of
macroecenamic conditions and inflationary pressures on
corporate solvency.

Based on our audit work, we found estimates made in the
recoverability of trade receivables to be acceptable. We also
consider the disclosures made in the financial statements to be
appropriate.

Carrying value of investments (parent)
Refer to note 1.1 and note 2 of the Company Financial Statements.

The Campany holds investments in its subsidiaries of £255,955k
(2021: £247,281k).

We focused on this area due to the size of the investment balances.

Management has performed an assessment of the recoverable
armount of the investments and compared this to the carrying value
using the same cash flow methodclogy applied in the impairment
test for goodwill.

The results showed that no impairment was required against
these investments.

We obtained Management's assessment of the carrying value of the
investments and we challenged:

(i) the key assumptions for short and long term growth rates '
in the forecast cash flows for those businesses underpinning

the investees' recoverable amounts, comparing them with

historical results;

(ii} the discount rate used in the calculations by assessing the cost
of capital for the Group and comparable organisations; and

(iii) the recoverability of investment in subsidiaries by comparing
the net asset values of these subsidiaries against the carrying
value of the investment including consideration of the market
capitalisation of the Group. Thére were ne indications of
impairment identified.

(iv) We performed sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions within
the cash flow forecasts. This included sensitising the discount rate
applied to the future cash flows, and the short and longer term
growth rates and operating profit forecast.

Following the conclusion of our procedures above, we are satisfied
that no impairment is required.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed
enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whele, taking into account the structure of the
group and the corpany, the accounting precesses and controls, and
the industry in which they cperate.

The Group is organised into 68 reporting compeonents and the
Group financial statements are a consolidation of these reperting
components. The reporting units vary in size. We identified two
units that required a full scope audit of their financial information
due to either their size or risk characteristics. These were DWF LLP
and DWF Law LLP. We also audited material consolfidation journals.
Three reporting components were subject to audit procedures over
specific balances and transactions due to their contribution to the
Group's results: Revenue and trade and other receivables were in
scope for Rousaud Costas Duran S.L.P. Cash and cash equivslents
was in scope for DWF Poland Jamka and Property, plant and
equipment was in scope for Mindcrest {Iindia) Private Ltd. Qur audit
scope was determined by censidering the significance of each
component’s contribution to net revenue and profit before tax, and
individual financial statement line items, with consideration to
obtaining sufficient coverage over identified risks.

All audit work was performed by the Group engagement team, with

. the exception of one component which was performed by a PwC

component audit team. The Group engagement team supervised
the direction and execution of the audit procedures performed
by the component team. Our involvernent in their audit process
included the review of their reparting and supporting working
papers. The Group engagement team also attended planning
and clearance meetings during the audit cycle. Together with the
additional procedures performed at Group level, this gave us the
evidence required for our opinjon on the financial statements as
awhole.

~ The Group engagement team also performed the audit of
. the Company.

Materiafity
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of

- materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality.

These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us 1o
determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent
of cur audit procedures on the individual financial statement line
iterns and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatemenis,
both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements

as a whole.

122

PWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accaurits 2622




Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial staternents as a whole as follows:

Financiat statements - group

Financial statements - company

Overall materiality £35m

£32.2m

How we 1% of net revenue

determined it

1% of totai assets capped at S0% of overall
group materiality

Rationale for
benchmark applied

auditing benchmark.

Based on the benchmarks used in the Annual Report,
net revenue is in our view the primary measure used by
the shareholders in assessing the performance and
growth of the Group, and Is a generally accepted

We believe that total assets is the primary measure used
by the shareholders in assessing the performance of the
entity, and is a generally accepted auditing benchmark
for non trading companies.

Fur eadli compunentin the scope of our group audit, we allocated a
materiality that is less than our overall group materiality. The range
of materiality allocated across components was between £1.5m and
£3.2m. Certain components were gudited to a local statutory audit
materiality that was also less than our overall group materiality.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately

low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceeds overzall materiality. Specifically,
we use performance materiality in determining the scope of our
audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances,
classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in determining
sampie sizes. Our performance materiality was 50% of overall
materiality, amounting to £1.8m for the group financial statements
and £1.6m for the company financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we censidered a
number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment
and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and
conciuded that an gmount in the middle of our normal range

was appropriate.

We agreed with the Audit Committee of DWF Group plc that we
would report to them misstatements identified during our audit
above £175k {group audit) and £158k (company audit) as well as
misstatemnents below those amounts that, in our view, warranted
reporting for qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Cur evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s and the
company's ability tc continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting includec:

* We obtained from management their latest assessments that
support the board’s conclusions with respect to the going concern
basis of preparation for the financial statements;

* We evaluated management's forecast and downside scenarios
and challenged the adequacy and appropriateness of the
underiying assumptions in comparison to headroom on debt
covenants and facilities;

*+ We reviewed management accounts for the financial period to
date and checked that these were consistent with the starting
point of management's scenarios and supparted the key
assumptiens inclyded in the assessments;

* We evaluated the historical accuracy of the budgeting process to
assess the reliability of the data;

* We have tested the mathematical integrity of management's going
concern forecast models; and

* We have reviewed the disclosures made in respect of going
concern included in the financial statements

| Based on the work we have performed, we have notidentified

+ ary material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's
and the company’s ability 1o continue as a going concern for a
pericd of at least tweive months from when the financial statements
are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be
! predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the group’s
- and the company's ability tc continue as & going concern.

In relation to the directors’ repaorting on how they have applied the
UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material to add
ar draw attention to in relation to the directors’ statement in the
financial staterments about whether the directors considered it
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting,

- Qur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with
respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of
this report.

- Reporting on other information
The other informaticn comprises all of the information in the Annual
Report other than the financizal statements and our auditors’ report
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information,

" which includes reporting based on the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) recommendations. Qur opinion on the

~ financial staterments does not cover the other information and,

- accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of
assurance thereon.

- In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or cur knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we {dentify
an apparent material inconsistency or material misstaterment, we

! are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is

" a material misstaterment of the financial statements cr a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the werk we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstaternent
. of this cther information, we are required to repoert that fact. We

| have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors’ Report, we also
- considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies
i Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the
Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions
and matters as described below.

DWF Group plc | Annyal Report and Accounts 2022
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Financial statements

Independent Auditor’s report to the members

of DWF Group plc continued

Strategic report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Strategic report and Directors’
Repert for the year ended 30 April 2022 is consistent with the
financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and
company and their environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we did not identify any material misstatementsin the
Strategic report and Directors' Report.

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report to
be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Caompanies Act 2306.

Corporate governance statement

The Listing Rules require us to review the directors’ statements in
relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of

the corporate governance statement relating to the company’s
compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance
Code spedified for our review. Our additional responsibilities with
respect to the corporate governance statement as other information
are described in the Reporting on other information section of

this report.

Based on the work undertzken as part of our audit, we have
conciuded that each of the following elements of the corperate
governance statement is materially consistent with the financial
statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit, and we
have nathing material to add or draw attenticn to in relation to:

= The directors’ canfirmation that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the emerging and principal risks;

* The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those principal
risks, what procedures are in place to identify emerging risks and
an explanation ¢f how these are being managed or mitigated,

* The directors’' statement in the financial statements about
whether they considered it approgriate to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing them, and their
identification of any material uncertainties to the group's and
company’s ability to continue to do so over a period of at least
twelve months from the date of approval of the financial
statements;

* The directors’ expianation as to their assessment of the group's
and company’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and
why the pericd is appropriate; and

The directors’ statement as to whether they have a reasonable
expectation that the company will be able 1o continue in
operaticn and meetits liabilities as they fall due aver the period
of its assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary gualifications or assumptions.

Our review of the directors’ statement regarding the longer-term
viability of the group was substantially tess in scope than an audit
and only consisted of making inquiries and considering the directors’
process supporting their statement; checking that the statement

is in alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code; and considering whether the statement is
consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge and
understanding of the group and cornpany and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit.

in addition, based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we
have concluded that each of the following elements of the corporate
governance statement is materially consistent with the financial
statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit:

= The directors' statement that they consider the Annual Report,
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable, and
provides the information necessary for the members to assess
the group's and company's position, perfermance, business
model and strategy;

* The section of the Annual Report that describes the review of
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems;
and

* The section of the Annual Report describing the work of the Audit
Committee of DWF Group pic.

We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to report

" when the directors' statement relating to the company's compliance

with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a
relevant provision of the Code specified under the Listing Rules for
review by the auditors.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Respansibilities of the directors for the financial statements
As explained mare fully in the Directors’ Responsibility Statement,

. the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
i statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for

being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are
also responsible for such internal control as they determine is
necessary 1o enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

{n preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting untess the
directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to
cease operations, or have ne realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

| Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance

is a high level of assurance, butis not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK} will always detect a material
misstaternent when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, iIndividually or in the aggregate,

' they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic

decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance

- with laws and reguletions. We design procedures in line with our

respansibilities, outlined above, to detect materiat misstatements
in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The exten? tg which our
procedures are capabtle of detecting irregularities, including fraud,

i Is detailed below.

" Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we

identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws

. and regulations related te Solicitors Reguiation Authority ("SRA™)

Regulation, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance
might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also
cansidered those laws and regulations that fave a direct impact

on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006.

We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for
fraudulent manipulation cf the financial statements {including the
risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks
were related to posting inappropriate journal entries to manipulate
reported results focusing on journals impacting revenue and profit
befare tax and management bias in significant accounting estimates.
The group engagement team shared this risk assessment with the
component auditors so that they could include appropriate audit
proceduresin response to such risks in their work. Audit procedures
performed by the group engagement team and/or component

- auditors included:
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* chalienging assumptions and judgements made by management Appointment o
in their significant accounting estimates, in particular around Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee of DWF B
the valuation of unbilled revepue and the valuation of the Group plc, we were appointed by the members on 28 September o
trade receivables; 2021 to audit the financial statements for the year ended 20 April 3
. .y . . ‘ ) 2022 and subseguent financial periods. This is therefore cur first 2

. |denf£Lfylﬂg and tgstmg]oumai entries, in pgrtw;ular any journal vear of uninterrupted engagement. =
entries posted with unusual account combinations;

+ discussions with the Audit Committes, managemert and nternal | Other matter
audit, including consideration of known or suspected instances of | o¢ teqired by the Financial Conduct Authority Disclosure Guidance .
non-compliance with laws and regulation or fraud; and Transparency Rule 4.1.14R, these financial statements form part 2

» performing unpredictable procedures as part of our audit; and of the ESEF-prepared annual financial report filed on tlhe National 5

o ‘ ‘ . ! Storage Mechanism of the Financial Conduct Authority in accordance S

* reviewing minutes of meetings of those charged with governance. | with the ESEF Regulatory Technical Standard (ESEF RTS). This 3

auditors’ report provides no assurance over whether the annual
. financial report has been prepared using the single electronic
format specified in the ESEF RTS.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described
above. We are less likely 1o become aware of instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to

events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, | Jonathan Studholme (Senior Statutory Auditor)
the risk of not detecting a material misstatement cue to fraud is " for 2nd on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery Manchester

or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. ‘
) ) ) ) © 21 July 2022
Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of

certain transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing
techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number
of items for testing, rather than testing complete populations. We
will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their
size or risk characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling
to enable us to draw a conclusion about the population from which
the sample is selected.
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of

the financial staterents is located on the FRC's website at:
www fre.org uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description ferms
part of our zuditors’ report.

UonEWIo U 13410

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only
for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Cormpanies Act 2006 and for no cther purpose. We
do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for
any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is
shown or into whaose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prigr consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are reguired to repert to you if,
in our opinion:

= we have not cbtained ali the information and explanations we
require for our audit; or

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company,
or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

* certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are
not made; or

* the company financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.
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Financial statements

Consolidated income statement

Year ended 30 April 2022

2022 2021
Notes £'000 £000
Revenue 3 416,052 400,948
Recaverable expenses 3 (65,810) (62,818)
Net revenue 3 350,242 338,130
Direct costs 3 (169,332) {166,349)
Gross profit 3 180,910 171,781
Administrative expenses (146,691} (187,471}
: Trade recevables impairment 13 (2,973) (5,249)
: Other impairment 4 (3,593) (4,595)
Operating profit/(loss} 4 27,653 (25,634)
Net finance expense 5 {3,664} (2,682)
Net interest expense on leases 5 {1,673) (2,284)
J Profit/{loss) before tax N ) 22,316 (30,600)
I Total of adjusting items as defiﬁed under the Group’s alternative performance measures 2 (19,081) (64,792—)l
! Adjusted profit before tax p 41,397 34,192
Taxation & {2,029) (4,567)
Profit/{loss) for the year i 20,287 {35167)
Earnings/{losses) per share attributable to the owners of the parent:
] Basic (p) 3 6.8 (11.9)
I Diluted {p) 8 6.5 (11.9)
‘ The resuits are from continuing operations.
Notes 1 to 27 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Year ended 30 April 2022
2022 2021
£000 £000
Profit/{loss) for the year 20,287 (35,167)
Iltems that are or may be subsequently reclassified to the iIncome statement:
Foreign currency translation differences - foreign operations 83 (2,855)
Total other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 83 {2,855)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 20,370 (38,022)

There is no taxation on items within other comprehensive income.

Notes 1 to 27 are an integral part of these consolidated financal statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 30 April 2022

1

Re-presented

(note 121) &
2022 2021 =
Notes £000 £000 a
Non-current assets %
Intangible assets 10 45,604 49173
Property, plant and equipment i 11,239 12,615
Right-of-use assets 12 65,234 69,166
Investments - 227 §
Trade and other receivables 13 1.464 - %
Deferred tax assets 20 3,938 4,649 5
Total non-current assets 127,479 135,830
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 13 190,174 183,506
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding bank overdrafts) 14 28,310 34,711 o
Total current assets 218,484 218,217 f
Total assets 345,963 354047
Current liabilities 5
Trade and other payables 15 63,325 85381 B
Corporation tax lizhilities 6,190 6030 &
Deferred consideration 890 1,699 o
Lease liabilities 16 14,576 13,104 g
Interest-hearing loans and borrowings 17 9,786 19434 3
Provisions 18 6,315 3764 3
Amounts due 1o members of partnerships in the Group 27 28,243 31,492 g
Total current liabilities 129,325 160,904
Non-current liabilities “
Deferred tax liabilities 20 5,869 7,584
Lease liabiiities 16 63,163 70,898
Interest-bearing loans and borrowngs 17 90,344 75444
Provisions 18 4,147 1.837
Total non-current liabilities 163,523 155,763
Total liabilities 292,848 316,667
Net assets 53,115 37,380
Equity
Share capital 21 3,254 3,246
Share premium 21 89,365 88,610
Treasury shares 21 (129) (129)
Other reserves 22 4,929 6,219
Accumulated losses 22 (44,304) (60,566)
Total equity 53,115 37,380

Notes 110 27 are an integrat part of these consolidated financial statements.

The consclidated financial statements of DWF Group plc (company number: 11561594} were approved by the Board on 20 July 2022 and
signed on its behalf by,

Sir N Knowles C J Stefani
Group Chief Executive Officer Group Chief Financial Cfficer
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Financial statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Year ended 30 April 2022

Other reserves

Share-based

payments Translation Accumulated
Share capital Share premium  Treasury shares Merger reserve reserve reserve losses
(note 21) (note 21} {note 21) {note 22} (note 22} (note 22} (note 22} Total equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000
At 1 May 2021 3,246 88,610 {(129) {2,385) 12,885 (4,281) (60,566) 37,380
Profit tor
the year - - - - - - 20,287 20,287
Other
comprehensive
inccme - - - - - 83 - 83
Total
comprehensive
income - - - - - 83 20,287 20,370
Shares issued 8 755 - - - - - 763
Dividends paid - - - - - - (13,537) (13,537)
Share-based
payments
(note 23) - - - - 7,701 - - 7,701
Recycling of
share-based
payments
{note 23) - - - - (9,074) - 9,074 -
Tax on share-
based payments - - - - - - 438 438
At 30 April 2022 3,254 89,365 (129) (2.385) 11,512 {4,198) {44,304) 53,115
Year ended 30 April 2027
Other reserves
Share-based
payrnents Translation Accumulated
Share caprai  Share premium  Treasury shares Merger reserve reserve reserve losses
{note 21) {note 21} (note 21) {note 22) (note 22) {note 22) {note 227) Total equity
£000 £000 £:000 E000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 May 2020 3,246 88,610 (20) (2,385) 9,672 (1,426) (28,500) 69,197
Loss for the year - - - - - - (35.167) (35167)
Other
comprehensive
expense - - - - - {2,855) - {2,855)
Total
comprehensive
expense - - - - - {2,855) (35,167) (38,022)
Purchase of
treasury shares - - {109} - - - - (109)
Dividends paid - - - - - - 6,521 (6,521)
Share-hased
payments
(note 23)* - - - - 12,642 - - 12,642
Recycling of
share-based
payments
(note 23y* - - - - (9,429) - 9,429 -
Tax on share-
based payments - - - - - - 193 193
At30 April 2021 3,246 88,610 {129 (2,385) 12,885 (4,281} (60.566) 37,380

*

Notes 1 to 27 are an integral part of these consclidated financial statements.

These movements have been re-presented to separately identfy the recycling of share-based payments,
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Year ended 30 April 2022

2022 2021
Note ED00 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations before adjusting items 26 41,623 65,161
Cash used to settle non-underlying items (8,464) {13,167)
Cash generated from operations 33;159 51,994
Interest paid {4,596) {5,064}
Tax paid (2,854) {3,155)
Net cash generated from operating activities 25,709 43,775
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of investment 227 -
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired (3,540} (7.412)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3.581}) (4,001}
Purchase of other intangible assets (4,300) (6,635)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (11,194) {(18,048)
Cash flows from financing activities '
Purchase of treasury shares - {109)
Dividends palid {(13,537) (6,521)
Loan arrangement fee (626) (551)
Proceeds from borrowings 109,727 19173
Repayment of borrowings (104,861) (17,553)
Repayment of principal of lease labilities (13,396) (14,191
Interest received 101 a8
Capital contributions by members 2,132 4,276
Repayments to former members (1,072) (4113)
Net cash flows from financing activities {21,532) (19,491)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (7,.017) 6,236
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 34,580 28,727
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes an cash and cash equivalents 141 (383)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 14 27,704 34,580
Notes 110 27 are an integral part of these consclidated financial statements.
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Financial staterments

Consolidated notes to the financial statements

Year ended 30 April 2022

1 Accounting policies

1.1  General information

DWEF Group plc (the "Company’), is a public limited company
domiciled in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006,
and registered in England. The registered office is 20 Fenchurch
Street, London, EC3M 3AG.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiary
undertakings (together referred to as the 'Group’) and the nature
of the Group's operaticns are set out in the Strategic report.

The presentational currency of the Group financial statements is
British Pounds Sterling, which is the functional currency of the
Parent Company. Foreign operations are included in accordance
with the policies set out below.

For the year ending 30 April 2022 the following subsidiary
undertakings of the Company were entitled to exermption from
audit under s479A of the Companies Act 2006 relating to subsidiary
undertakings:

Registration

Subsidiary name number
DWF Holdings Limited 115528068
DWF Connected Services Group Lirmited 10826005
DWF Connected Services Holdings Limited 10745072
DWF Connected Services Investments Limited 13356833
DWF Costs Limited 10754856
DWEF Advocacy Limited 10780559
DWF Resource Limited 11271111
DWF Claims Lirnited 10586109
DWF Adjusting Limited 10586114
DWF Forensic Limited 10749670
DWF Ventures Limited 10749685
DWF Company Secretarial Services Limited 04176234
MOAT Pensions Limited SC134776
Greyfern Law Limited 06666404
DWEF (Northern Ireland) LLP NC0013563
Mindcrest UK Limited 10685700
DWEF (TG) Limited 10568838
DWF 360 Limited (3556829
NewCo 4736 Limited 12130043
Zing 365 Holdings Limited 11920125
Zing Associates Limited 09322425
Zing 365 Limited 10423788
Try Solutions Limited 07424707
Marlborough Training and Consultancy Limited 04349133

1.2 Basis of accounting
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Cempany
and its subsidiary undertakings and partnership undertakings.

On 31 December 2020, IFRS as adopted by the Eurcpean Union
atthat date was brought into UK law and became UK-adopted
international Accounting Standards, with future changes being
subject to endorsement by the UK Endorsement Beard. The Group

transitioned to UK-adopted International Accounting Standards inits .

consolidated financial statements an 1 January 2021. This change
constitutes a change in accounting framework. However, there is no
fmpact on recognition, measurement or disclosure in the period
reported as a result of the change in framework. The consoclidated
financial statement of the Group have been prepared in accordance

with UK-adopted international Accounting Standards and with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to
companies reporting under those standards.

! The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated,

been applied consistently to all periods presented in the Group
financial statements.

. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cast
| basis except where IFRS requires an afternative trearment.

Subsidiary and partnership undertakings are entities which are
consolidated because they are controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable

! returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to

i
Subsidiary arc partnesstip unoerta<irgs
,

affect those returns through its power over the entity. In assessing

" control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights.

The financial information of subsidiary undertakings is included in
the consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases.

Trarsactons eliminated on corsohdation

Allintra-Group asserts, liabilities, equity, Income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between the entities within the Group
are eliminatad on conselidation,

Business combinatons

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which contral
is transferred to the Group

. The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
» the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
+ the fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree; less

« the net recagnised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a gain on bargain purchase is

¢ recognised in the income statement.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with
the issue of debt or equity securities, are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at
" the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is classified as
. equity, itis not re-measured and settlement is accounted for within
! equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the
| contingent consideration are recognised in the income statement.

' 1.3 Going concern

i The Directors have assessed the going concern basis adopted by the

* Group in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements,

. taking into account the current financial position including its
available financing facilities, the business model and future cutlook,
as well as the principal risks as tisted in the Strategic Report. The
Directors conclude that the Group has adequate resources to
continue as a going concern across the period of assessment.

CASSELSTIErTCf ZoINg LnTIe T
The going concern assessment has been considered for the period
to 31 July 2023 and is carried out as follows:

» The Group’s Board-approved budget base case is used to
calculate the net debt position, liquidity and covenant compliance
and available headroom over the going concern period.

« The assessment of going concern is carried out with reference ro
available financing facilities, the ability to pay debts as they fall
due and the covenants associated with the financing facilities.

» Plausible downside scenarios are modelled to quantify the impact
of an individual risk materialising over the going concern period.
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» Mitigating actions which could be taken are identified, quantified
and included in the assessment.

s+ The reasonable worst case scenario, along with mitigating actions,
is then used to test that the Group would continue to have
headroom in its available financing facilities, settle liabilities as
they fzll due and comply with the asscciated financial covenants
over the going concern period. i

Financi—g facilities,

The Group closed the year with committed banking facilities of
£127m (of which £97m were drawn). The largest of these is the
£100m revolving credit facility (RCF) which was re-financed in
December 2021 1o increase the facilities availahle 1o the Groinp

This RCF has anaiaitial maturity of three years, with two one-year
extensions. The undrawn portion of the RCF is readily accessible and
does not require any further approval for drawdown by the Group's
banking syndicate. Associated with the facility is a further £20m
accordion facility which is available on the same terms as the original
RCF but is subject 1o the agreement of the banking syndicate for
drawdown. The modelled assumption is that we do not draw on this.
The facility agreement alsc permits the Group to obtain a further
£30m of external funding and £15m of leasing facilities, if required.
The covenant thresholds across the assessment period are set

out below:

Covenant Jul-22 Oct-22 Jan-23 Apr-23 Jul-23
Net Asset Value i
te Consolidated i
Net Borrowings 1.6x 1.6x 1.6x 1.6x 1.6x
Interest Cover 4x Ax 4x 4x 4x
Leverage 1.75x% 1.75x 1.75x 1.75x 1.75x

Each of the covenants noted above is measured on a pre-IFRS 16
basis in accordance with the banking facility agreement. interest
cover is defined as the ratio of EBITDA to interest expense, and
leverage is defined as the ratio of net debt to EBITDA. The Group's
budget anticipates a cash inflow during the going concern periad,
whereas 2021/22 reported a cash outflow although this was
because of the repayment of all remaining COVID-19 VAT deferrals
of £10.7m in the year as well as the payment of acquisition related
consideration,

Future outlook, risks and uncertainties

The going concern and viability assessments are closely linked

and therefore the conclusions of the going concern assessment
are directly refevant to and should be read in conjunction with the
viability staternent. The Board-approved base case combined with
the annual three-year plan have been used to measure the going
concern and future viability of the Group. This includes monitoring
net debt positions and cash management activities of the Group
and their effect on covenant testing. The going concern and viability
of the Group have been assessed taking into account the potential
impact of certain scenarios arising from the principal risks

and uncertainties,

In particular, the Board has considered the impact of a range of
potential M&A activities including impacts on net assets, cash flows
and covenants. In addition the assessment considers the reduction
in demand caused by either macro environmental factors,
commercial pipeline, our ability to retain or attract the correct level
of talent as well as inflationary pressures over and above the

base case.

Mitigating acuons

If faced with the reasonable worst-case scenario, the Board zlso
considers possible mitigating actions available to the Group to
maintain liguidity and covenant compliance. These can be swiftly
implemented should the worst-case scenario arise and include
{but are not limited ta):

+ freezing recruitment and a slowdown in investmentin recruitment
and reward;

¢ reducing discretionary operating spend such as marketing

and travel;
» reducing non-committed capital expenditure;
» revision of the existing dividend policy; and

* cost cutting measures in non-fee earning areas including an
acceleration of the execution of the Group's real estate strategy
and a reduction in headcount.

Reverse stress test

In addition to the modelling of the above scenarios, a reverse
stress test was conducted by the Group to assess the quantum
of increased inflationary pressures and downside on trading
performance that would materially impact our ability to comply
with financial covenants. Such a material impact is not considered
a reasonable scenario to adversely impact the going concern
assessment.

Conclusion

Based on this assessment, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group has sufficient resources to continue its
operations for the period of assessment. In particular the Directors
have a reasonable expectation that it will cperate under its existing
financing facilities, will comply with all covenants with adequate
headroom and settle all cther ligbilities as they fall due. The
Directors therefore consider it appropriate for the Group to adopt

" the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

" 1.4 Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective
functienal currencies of Group entities at the foreign exchange rate

! ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the statement of financial

position date are retranslated to the functional currency at the
foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange
differences arising on translation are recognised in the consoligated
income statement within administrative expenses. Non-monetary
assets and lizbilities that are measured in terms of histerical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the dare
of the transaction.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operatiens, including goadwili
and fair value adjustments arising on consoelidation, are translated
to the Group’s presentational currency, at foreign exchange rates
ruling at the statement of financial position date. The revenues and
expenses of foreign operations are translated at an average rate for
the year where this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions.

Exchange differences arising from this translation of foreign
operations are reported as an item of other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the translation resarve.,

" 1.5 Alternative performance measures ('APMs’)

In accordance with the Guidelines on APMs issued by the European
Securities and Markets Authority {ESMA), additional information is

provided on the APMs used by the Group below. In the reporting of
financial information, the Group uses certain measures that are not
required under IFRS.

These additional measures provide the Group's stakeholders
with additicnal information on the performance of the business.
The measures are consistent with those used internally, and are

* considered insightful in understanding the financial performance

of the Group. The Group's APMs provide an impertant measure
of how the Group is performing by providing insight in to how the

- business is managed and measured on a day-to-day basis and

achieves consistency and comparability between reporting periods.
The APMs are primarily utilised in the following ways:
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Financial statements

Consolidated notes to the financial statements continued

Year ended 30 April 2022

1 Accounting policies continued

Nor-statuto-y measdres; These are often sector specific KPis
such as lock-up days, net revenue and cost ta income ratio. These
allow greater comparability of the Group’s performance within the
legal sector. EBITDA and net debt are also widely utilised within
the Group and are both regularly used among the listed legal
sector and other listed businesses.

* Acjusting sems, These are adjustments to statutory profit metrics
such as profit before tax ('PBT') and operating profit. These are
iterns (both recurring and non-recurring) that are material in
nature and include, but are not limited to, costs relating to
acquisitions, disposals and significant events or programmes,
seme of which span multiple years. These items are excluded
from adjusted PBT as management believe their inclusion distorts
the underlying trading performance.

= Non-urderlying items; Non-underlying items, a subset of
adjusting items, are non-trading, non-cash or one-off items where
management consider the quantum or nature of such items wouid
distort the view of the underlying performance of the Group.
By removing these items the reader is better able to compare
like-for-like performance that would otherwise be hard to
determine,

The foliowing are included by the Group in its assessment of
non-underlying items:

* Transaction expenses associated with acquisitions

* Purchase price relating to acquisitions not treated
as consideration

+ Expenses directly associated with COVID-19

+ Expenses and impairment charges associated with office ciosures
or scale-back of operations

» Costs associated with the change of CEQ; and

* Costs associated with re-financing,

A complete list of APMs is included and fully defined in the glossary
to the financial statements.

1.6 Financial instruments

Non-derivative finandial instruments comgrise investments, trade
and other receivables, cash and cash eguivalents, trade and other
payables and interest bearing borrowings. Amounts due to
members of partnerships in the Group are also non-derivative
financial instruments and are covered in note 1.18.

Trade ans atrer recevables

Under the Group's business model, trade and other receivables are
held for collection of contractual cash flows and represent sclely
payments of principal and interest. Trade receivables and other
receivables are recognised initially at fair value, Subsequent to initial
recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less any allowance for expected credit losses.

The Group applies the simplified approach in measuring expected
credit losses.

Trade and other receivabies expected to be realised in the course
of the Group's operating cycle and those assets receivable within
ane year from the reporting date are classified as current assets.
All other trade and other receivables are classified as non-
current assets.

Cas~ anc ash equ veleats

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and cash
depasits, and also include bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s ¢
cash management are included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows only.

‘ has notincreased significantly since initial recognition, the Group

“rade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value. '

, Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amartised
{ cost using the effective interest method. Due to their short-term

nature they are not discounted.

Interest-bearing lcans and borrowirgs
interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
incremental transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,

| interest-bearing loans and borrowings are stated at amortised cost

using the effective interest method.

IMmpairmert of “inanaal assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on

. financial assets.

The Group recognises lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) for
trade receivables and contract assets. The contract assets relate
to unbilled work in progress and have sybstantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivabies for the same types of
contracts. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, general economic conditions and an

" assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of |

conditions at the reporting date, including the time value of money
where appropriate.

For other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument

measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

. Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result
from all possible defauit events over the expected life of a financial

instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the

! reporting date.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor s in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debter has

been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written-off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries

- made are recognised in the incorme statement.

1.7 Leases

At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a
contractis, or contains, a lease, which cenveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

AS 2
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
re-measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred and lease payments made on or before the
commencement date, plus an estimate of the costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which itis located, less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the asset's
useful life and the iease term on a straight-line basis,

25he8

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments} less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend
on anindex or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under
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residual value guarantees. The lease payments alse include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasconably certain tc be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating
atease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate.

The Group re-measures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset, or to the income
statement if the right-of-use asset carrying value has been reduced
to nily whenever:

* the iease terr has changed or thereis a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase opticn, in which case the
lease liability is re-measured by discounting the revised [ease
payments using a revised discount rate.
the lease payments change due te changes in an index or rate or
a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which cases the lease liability is re-measured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate {unless the
fease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest
rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).
+ alease contract is modified and the lease madification is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease hability
is re-measured by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate.

In calculating the initial present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate specific to each lease at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the lease
liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
methad. The amount of lease liabilities Is increased te reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made.

In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is re-measured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the
in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to
purchase the underlying asset.

Extension and termination options are included in several leases
across the Group. The Group determines the lease term as the
non-cancellable term of the |ease, together with any periods covered
by an option to extend the lease if it Is reasonably certain to be
exercised, or any period covered by an option to terminate the lease
if itis reasongbly certain not to be exercised. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise
an cption to renaw or terminate a lease. Management considers

all facts and ¢ircumstances that create an economic incentive to
exercise an extension option, ar Not exercise a termingation option.
After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term
if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is
within its control and affects its ability to exercise, or not to exercise,
the option to renew or terminate the contract.

Payments associated with short-term leases, leases of intangible
assets and leases of low-value assets (with a value of less than
£5,000) are recognised on a straight-line hasis as an expense in
the income statement. Short-term leases have a term of 12 months
or less,

As a lessor
Where the Group acts as an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its
interests in the head lease and the sublease separately.

It determines at the incepticn of a sublease whether each sublease
is a finance or operating lease. To classify each lease, the Group
makes an overall assessment of whether the sublease transfers
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the right-of-
use asset arising from the head lease. Where this is the case, it is
classified as a finance lease. As part of this assessment, the Group
considers indicaters such as whether the sublease term constitutes
a major part of the economic life of the right-of-use asset.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as
lease receivables at the amount of the Group’s netinvestmentin
the leases. The Group applies the de-recognition and impairment
requirernents in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the lease.

Where sublease payments are received under operating leases,
these are recognised as income on a straight-line basis over the
sublease term as part of other income.

i 1.8 Property, plant and equipment
- Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
ditterent usetul lives, they are accounted for as separate items ot
property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the estimared useful life of each part of an item of
property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives are as
follows:

* Leasehold improvements The shorter of remairning
lease term or 10 years

4 years

510 10 years

» Computer equipment
* Office equipment and fixtures
and fittings

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed

- ateach statement of financial position date.

19

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is not amortised
but is tested annually for impairment {note 10).

Custamer relationships

The Group recognises acquired customer relationships at their fair
value at the date of acquisition less any accumulated impairment
losses. Customer relationships are amortised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful life.

Brand

The Group recognises acquired brands at their fair value at the date
of acquisition less any accumulated impairment losses. Brands are
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life.

Software

Costs associated with maintaining software programmes are
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs that are
directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and
unigue software products controlled by the Group are recognised

" asintangible assets where the following criteria are met:

* itis techinically feasible to complete the software sa that it will be
available for use;

+ rnanagement intends to complete and software and use or sellit;

+ thereis an ability to use or sell the software;

+ it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable
future econamic benefits;

+ adequate technical, financial and other resources 1o complete the
development and to use or sell the scftware are available; and

+ the expenditure attributable to the software during its
development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the
software include employee costs.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets
and amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use.
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Financial staterments

Consolidated notes to the financial statements continued

Year ended 30 April 2022

1 Accounting pelicies continued

Amorusation

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised to the income
statement, through administrative expenses, on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives
are as follows:

« Customer relationships 2to 10 years
+ Brand 2t0 9 years
* Software costs 4years

+ Capitalised development costs 310 4 years

1.10 Impairment

Non financtat assers

The carrying amounts of the Group's non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwilt and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available
for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the

same time.

Cash-generating units ((CGU') have been determined on the basis

of service offering, dependencies and locations of members of the
Group. The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of
its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that refiects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets
that cannot be tested individually are grouped together intc the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets
or groups of assets (the ‘cash-generating unit’ or ‘CGU"). The goodwill
acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment
testing, i1s allocated to CGUs that are expected to benefit from

the synergies of the combination. For the purposes of goodwill
impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated

are aggregated so that the level at which impairment is tested
reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitared for internatl
reporting purposes but not at a level higher than the Group's
operating segment.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect
of cther assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are
assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amorusation, if no iImpairment loss had been recognised.

1.11 Employee benefits

Defirec cortaboucn plans

A defined centribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
pension plans are recognised as an expense inthe income
statement in the periods during which services are rendered

by employees.

Srcrtenr nenefics

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be
paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the
Group has a present legal ar constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a resuit of past service provided by the employee and
the obligation can be estimated reliably. :

1.12 Share-based payments

The Group operates equity-settled, share-based compensation
plans, under which the business receives services from members

of partnerships within the Group (members’} and employees &3
consideration for equity instruments (share awards and options) of
the Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the
grant of share awards is recognised as an expense. The total amount
tc be expensed 1s determined by reference to the fair value of the
share awards and options granted, excluding the impact of any
non-market service and performance vesting conditions (for
example, remaining engaged by the entity cver a specified time
period). Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of share awards and options that are expected

to vest. The total amount expensed is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the specified existing
conditions are to be satisfied. At each statement of financial position
date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of share awards
and options that are expected to vest based on the non-market
vesting conditicns. It recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share-based payments reserve within equity.

The social security contributions in connection with the grant of the
share awards are considered separate 1o the grant, and the charge
will be treated as a cash-settled transaction.

The cumulative share-based payment charge held in reserves is
recycled into retained earnings when the share awards or options
lapse or are exercised.

1.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. See note 22 for
moere information.

. Where any Group company purchases the Company's equity share
i capital {'treasury shares”), the consideration paid, including any

directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes), is
deducted from equity attributable to the Company's equity holders
until the shares are cancelled or reissued.

. 1.14 Revenue recognition

Revenge

The Group generates revenue primarily by delivering professional
services to clients, with the types of services offered being similar
within each of its divisions. These services, when delivered to
individual clents, are almost always bespoke in nature. However, the
performance obligations tend to be consistent from client to client
and the two that the Group maost commaonly satisfies are:

* legal advice and services; and

-+ non-legal advice and services that are complementary to

legal services.

As a provider of professional services, the Group generally does not
have obligations for returns, refunds or other similar obligations, nor
does it have warranties or other related obligations.

The amount of consideration the Group receives varies from both
service to service and from client to client, reflecting the bespoke
nature of the services provided. The consideration typically reflects
the skills and experience of the individuals who provide the services
as well as the availability of similar skills and experience in the wider
professional services market. These factors tend to vary from

: business to business.
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Consideration includes recoverable expenses. Recoverable
expenses (often referred to as disbursements) are necessarily
incurred to deliver on the Group's contractual promises to its clients
that make the Group principal in the transaction.

The consideration the Group receives is primarily based on one of
three types of fee arrangements:

« time and materials;
= fixed fee; and
* contingent fee.

The Group adjusts its estimate of revenue throughout the
contractual period of providing services as circumstances change
and are reflected in Lhe income statement in the period in which
the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known.
The Group’s contractual arrangements comprise a single
performance obligation. Fee arrangements are constrained to
the amounts expected to be recovered in accordance with the
requirements of IFRS 15. Invirtually all fee arrangements the Group
has an enforceable right ta payment for services rendered and,
given the bespoke nature of the services provided, recognises
revenue over time as such services are rendered.

The Group measures progress in satisfying the performance
obligations as follows:

* Fortime and materials arrangements, revenue is recognised as
the werk is performed as captured daily by fee earners recording
time against specific matters at contracted rates. The contracted
rates are constrained to a true recovery rate. The revenue
constraint is determined with reference to historical recovery
rates, specific agreements with clients and amounts considered
irrecoverable by fee earners.

* For contingent fee arrangements, revenue is recognised in the

same method as the time and materials arrangements above.

However, thereis a further constraint based on projected

success rate.

For fixed fee arrangements, the appropriate proportion of

revenue to be recognised is measured by assessing time incurred

to date, at an hourly rate that reflects the seniority and expertise
of each individual, as a propertion of the total expected time at
these rates for the arrangement.

The Group typically invoicés its customers monthly or quarterly
in arrears, or for certain projects at the end of the engagement,
but payment terms do vary depending on the types of services
being offered or for individual contractual agreements. As the
performance obligation is satisfied, revenue is recognised and
amounts recoverable from clients in respect of unbilled revenue
{contract assets) are simultaneousty created. Deferred income
represents amounts invoiced for performance obligations which
are not yet satisfied.

The Group has determined that no significant financing component
exists in respect of its professional services, as the pericd between
when the Group transfers a promised service to a client and when
the client pays for that service will be one year or less.

The majerity of services performed by the Group are in respect of
contracts with an expected duration of one year or less either
because the goods or services are expected to be provided within a
12-month period or because the client and/or the Group has the
right to terminate the contract without substantive penalty upon the
delivery of written notice.

1.15 Financing income and expenses

Financing expenses comprises interest payable, unwinding of the
discount on provisions, and net foreign exchange losses that are
recognised in the income statement {see foreign currency
accounting policy - note 1.4).

Financing income comprises interest receivable on funds invested,
interest income on lease receivables and dividend income. Interest
income and interest payable is recognised in the income statement
as it accrues, using the effective interest method. Dividend income
is recognised in the income statement on the date the entity's right
to receive payments is established. Interest income and interest
payable is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using
Lhe effeclive interest method. Dividend in¢come is recogmsed in the
income statement on the date the entity's right to receive payments
is established.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

1.16 Taxation

current tax

The tax expense represents the current tax relating to the Company
and other Group entities. The current tax expense is based on
taxable profits of these entities for the year. Taxable profit differs
from net profit as reperted in the income statement because it
excludes iterns of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The current tax liability is czlculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of
financial position date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only whenthereis a
legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and the Group
intends to either settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultanecusly.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method

on any temporary differences between the carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes and those for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can ke utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences arise
from the initial recogniticn of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised for temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries where the Group is able to

- control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable

that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
reglised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they

. relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and

the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabiiities on
a net basis.

Current tax anc deferrec tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in the income statement,
except when they relate to items that are recegnised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,

the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is inciuded in the accounting
for the business combination.
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Financial statements

Consolidated notes to the financial statements continued

Year ended 30 April 2022

1 Accounting policies continued

A share of the Group's profits is earned by the limited hability
partnerships ('LLPs") within the Group. The taxation on profits
earned by the LEPs is, generally, recogrised as a liability borne

by the members. The members include a corporate entity and
individual persons. The corporate member is subject to taxation
onits share of the LLPs' profits as set out above. Taxation on the
individual persons’ share of the LLPs’ prefits remains their personal
liability so neither taxation nor related deferred taxation is
accounted for in the financial information of the Group, althocugh
payment of such liabilities is administered by the Group on behalf
of those members.

1.17 Dividends

Dividend distributions are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements when the sharehalders’ right to receive payment is
established.

Final dividend distributions are recognised in the period in which
they are approved by the shareholders, whilst interim dividend
distributions are recognised in the period in which they are declared
and paid,

1.18 Transactions with and amounts due to members of
partnerships in the Group

Divisible profits and paymerts tc members of pastressnips in

the Group

Members of partnerships within the Group {'members’), under

the terms of the relevant members’ agreement, draw monthly on

account. Drawings are based on a fixed share. Any unallocated

profit after distribution to members is included in retained earnings/

accumulated losses.

All members have a fixed share that forms part of a wider
remuneration package. This amount is reviewed on an annual basis
and is recognised within the income statement within direct costs.
The amounts that are due to the members are recognised as
amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group. See note 27,

Members remianeraton chaged as an experse

Members’ remuneration charged as an expense is recognised
within direct costs totalling £43.7m (2021: £41.4m). This has been
calculated based on the Total Fixed Annual Compensation Amount,
which is the members’ annual fixed profit share plus, for some
members, a nominal salary. Any dividend income received as
Shareholders and amounts from participation in share incentive
plans are excluded from mermbers' remuneration charged as

an expense,

1.19 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

New ang amendea stancards anopted Sy the Group

There are no new IFRS or IFRIC Interpretations that are effective for
the first time this financial year which have a material impact on
the Group.

Sew STEroaros,

r eforref
aCOpiec eany
There are no other IFRS or IFRIC Interpretations that are not yet
effective that would be expected to have a material impact on
the Group.

1.20 Accounting estimates and judgement

The preparation of the financial statements under IFRS requires
management Lo make judgernents, estimates and assumptions
which affect the financial information. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant and are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. The critical judgements and key estimates applicable to these
financial statements are set cut below.

Criucal jacgement it applying tne Group's accourting policies
Contral ceer tne 285 ana non ABS growps

Regulations in certain jurisdictions in whch the Group is
represented allow Alternative Business Structures (ABS") where
legal firms can be owned by non-lawyers. This is not the case in
other jurisdictions ('non-ABSY). As a result, DWF LLP, the head of the
non-ABS group, is not directly owned by any entity within the ABS

+ group (which includes the ultimate parent, DWF Group ple).

Consohdation of DWF LLP and the other non-ABS entities depends

I onthe assessment of whether a member of the ABS group is
¢ exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with

such entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over such entity. Therefore, judgement is required in this
assessment to determine if the non-ABS entities should be
consolidated in the Group accounts.

A Governance Deed exists between DWF Law LLP (as representative
of the ABS group) and DWF LLP. This Governance Deed mandates
that the executive Board of both DWF Law LLP and DWF LLP be the
same, bestowing DWF Law LLP the ability to affect returns of DWF
LLP and meaning that DWF Law LLP's members have rights tc
variable returns from DWF LLP. On this basis, DWF LLP and the other
non-ABS entities are consclidated in these financial statements.

Key sources of estumanson Lncertairy

The key assumption concerning the future, and other key source
of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period that may have
a significant risk of causing material adjustrent of the carrying

i amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,

is discussed below.

Re.erae re oomnicT ana valuatnor of antiiled -evenue

The amount of variable ¢consideration to be constrained in a time
and material contract and the stage of completion of fixed fee
contracts are key sources of estimation uncertainty. When services
are invoiced, the uncertainty is removed so this applies to the
unbilled revenue only, recorded as amounts recoverable from

. clients in respect of unbilled revenue in the statement of financial

position (the contract asset). Respective amounts are provided in
note 13.

For the estimates of revenue constraint and stage of completion,
the Group estimates the value of the services provided to date as

| a proportion of the expected revenue under the contract. The

expected revenue under the contract is either the anticipated level
of price concession or the fixed fee, These estimates are hased on
specific chent agreements, historical performance and forward-
tooking factors including improving efficiencies.

In valuing the Group’s unbilled revenue a per-hour recovery rate is
used. A 5% increase in the per-hour recovery rate would lead to a
£3,665,564 Increase in the carrying value of amounts recoverable
from clients in respect of unbilled revenue and a £3,665,564
increase in revenue, profit before tax and equity. A 5% decrease

In the per-hour recovery rate would lead to an equal and opposite
impact on the carrying value of amounts recoverable from clients
in respect of unbilled revenue and revenue.

1.21 Re-presentation of comparative period

The consolidated staterment of financizat position has been re-
presented for the comparative period to present the IFRS 16
right-of-use assets as a standalone financial statement line item in
order to provide users with clearer information on the leased assets.
Note T1 now comprises solely the property, plant and equipment
information, and Note 12 comprises solely (FRS 16 right-of-use

. asset information

© This note is intended to disclose material re-presentations within

the primary financial statements. For other re-presentations within
note disciosures, explanations have been provided within the note
that has been changed.
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2 Alternative performance measures p
APMSs are not intended tc supplant IFRS measures but are included in response to investor feedback or to provide readers of the financial =
statements with additional understanding of the underlying trading perfermance of the Group. o
APMs are fully defined and information as to why they are useful is provided in the glossary to the financial statements on pages 165 to 173. é
Adjusted profit before tax reconciles to profit/{loss) before tax as follows: 3
2022 2021
£000 £000
Profit/{loss) before tax 22,316 (30,600) o
Adjusting ftems: %
Amortisation of intangible assets - acquired 4,655 4,609 g
Impairment of intangible assets 2,966 1,411 &
Impairment of tangible and right of use assets 627 3134
Impairment of investments - 50
Non-underlying iterns 1,224 27,1
Share-based payments expense 9,609 28,510
Gain on investment - {23)
Total of adjusting items 19,081 64,792
Adjusted pgT 41,397 34702 B
Adjusted PBT reconciles to profit/(loss) before tax with reconciling items by nature as follows:
2022 2021
£000 £000 Qo
Profit/{loss) before tax 22,316 (30,600) ’:DD'
Office closures and scale-backs (238) 14,898 %
Acquisition-related expenses 9,564 20,743 §
DWF RCD modification impact - 13,796 E
Change of CEO - 1,011
impact of COVID-19 - 1,011
Other share-based payment expenses 9,609 13,333
Refinancing costs 146 -
Adjusted PBT 41,397 34,192

Cash used to settle non-underlying items includes £3.8m (FY2021: £2.3m) relating 1o closures and £4.6m{FY2021: £6.9m) relating to the
remuneration element of purchase price payments for acquisitions,

Non-underlying items are set out in the table below:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Acquisiticn-related advisory fees - successful a 336 3
Acquisition-retated advisory fees - aborted b - {544)
Acquisition-related expense o 1,104 15,222
COVID-19-related costs d - 1,017
Closure and scale-back of operations = (362) 10,370
Costs associated with the change of CEQ f - T,0T1
Non-underlying items within operating profit 1.078 27,101
Non-underlying finance expense g 146 -
Total non-ungerlying items ’ 1,224 27,701

a. The Group periodically considars and analyses potential acquisition targets and recognises there is inherent complexity and risk
associated with acquisitions. The Group manages this by employing external professional advisors to perform legal, financial, commercial
and tax due diligence on targets. These costs relate to opportunities the Group identifies and pursues, of which a portion resultin
successful acquisitions. Acquisition fees in the current period relate to the acquisitions of Zing and BCA.

b. No fees have been incurred in the current period for aborted acquisitions. Prior year aborted acquisition-related advisory fees are
releases of accruals for work done in FY2020 that were credited following the decision to abort the transaction.
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Financial statements

Consolidated notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 April 2022

2 Alternative performance measures continued

¢. Acquisition-related expense relates to the remuneration expense fram the acquisition of Mindcrest in FY2020. Payments to the sellers
of Mindcrest were deemed to be remuneration (and not consideration) under IFRS 3, and therefore expensed over the deemed service
pericd rather than included in goodwill. As these costs are not considered recurring and ceased in February 2022, they have been
included within adjusting items in order to give greater clarity of underlying trading performance. The pricr year comparator is of the
same nature but relates to both the Mindcrest and RCD acquisitions, including the costs relating to the modification of the RCD
acquisition agreement (see note 9).

d. COVID-19 related costs were inturred between March 2020 and October 2020 and relate to one-off additional expenses for IT support
and sanitisation of offices that cavers the period of the first UK national lockdown. As the Group was not making use of its UK offices
during this period and was already supporting agile working across its workforce, these costs are one-off and specifically as 2 result of
COVID-19.

e. Closure and scale-back of cperations in the current year relate to the scale-back of the operations in Australia, which began in FY2027,
and Germany. The credit in the current year principally reflects warking capital provisions made for Germany, offset by the reversal of
a provision made for Australia in FY2021. The prior year costs relate to the Board decision to close the Singapore and Brussels offices
and to scale back the operations in Dubai and Australia. These costs camprise people and supplier exit expenses as a result of the
decision taken.

f. Costs of the prior year relate to the one-off costs for the change in CEO.

g. These costs are associated with the re-financing and include professional fees incurred that are significant in value and by their nature
are not recurring annually. More detail around the refinancing can be found in note 17.

The cost to income ratio is used to assess the levels of operational gearing in the Group. The cost to income ratio is defined as
administrative expenses less adjusting items and divided by net revenue and is calculated as follows:

2022 2021

£'000 £000
Net revenue 350,242 338,130
Administrative expenses and impairment 153,257 197,415
Total of adjusting items (19,081) (64,792)
Less: re-financing costs included In adjusting items 146 -
Adjusted administrative expenses 134,322 132,623
Cost to income ratio n ' 38.4% 39.2%

3 Operating segments

Reporting segments

In accordance with IFRS 8: Operating Segments (‘IFRS 8", the Group's operating segments are based on the operating results reviewed
by the executive directors of the Board, who represent the chief operating decision maker (CODM’). The Group has the following three
strategic dsvisions, which are its reportable segments. These divisions offer different services and are reparted separately because of
different specialisms within teams in the business group.

The following summary describes the eperatons of each reportable segment:

Reportable segment Operations

Legal Advisory Services Premium legal advice, commercial intelligence and relevant industry experience.

Connected Services Collection of products and business services that enhance and complement our legal offerings.
Mindcrest QOutscurced and process-led legal services, designed to standardise, systemise, scale and optimise

legal workflows.

The revenue, net revenue and gross profit are attributable to the principal activities of the Group.

Effective from 1 May 2027, the Group changed from five strategic divisions to three more streamlined, consistent and efficient global
divisions that match the Group's strategy.
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The comparative period table below has been re-presented to reflect the current divisional structure.

Foryear ended 30 Apnil 2022

Legal Connected
Advisory Services Mindcrest Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
Revenue 355,063 34,181 26,86‘3 416,052
Recoverable expenses (63,110) (324) (2,376) {65,810}
Net revenue 291,953 33,857 24,432 350,242
Direct casts (138,729) (18,828) {11,775) {169,332)
Gross profit ’ 153,224 15,029 12,657 180,910
Gross margin % 52.5% 44.4% 51.8% 51.7%
Administrative expenses (1 46591_)
Trade receivables impairrnent (2,973)
Other impairment (3,553)
Operating profit 27,653
Net finance expense (3,664)
Net interest expense on leases (1,673)
Profit before tax 22,316
Taxation (2,029)
Profit for the year 20,287
Foryear ended 30 April 2027  Re presented
Legal Connected
Advisory Services Mindcrest Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
Revenue 345,559 28752 26,637 400,948
Recaverable expenses (60,233) (329} (2,256) (62,818)
Net revenue 285,326 28423 24,381 338,130
Direct costs (137,487) (16,225} {12,637) {166,349)
Gross profit 147,839 12,198 11,744 171,781
Gross morgin % 51.8% 42.9% 48.2% 50.8%
Administrative expenses (187,471)
Trade recejvables impairment (5,349)
Other impairment (4,595)
Operating loss (25,634)
Net finance expense (2.682)
Net interest expense on leases (2,284)
Loss befare tax (30,600)
Taxation {4,567}
Loss for the year (35,167)
There are no inter-segmental revenues which are material for disclosure. Administrative expenses represent indirect costs that are not
specifically allocated to segments.
Non-Current assets, revenue and net revenue by regior
The UK is the Group's country of domicile and the Group generates the majority of its revenue from external clients in the UK,
The geographical analysis of revenue and net revenue is on the basis of the country of origin in which the client is invoiced.
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Financial statements

Consolidated notes to the financial statements continued

Year ended 30 April 2022

3 Operating segments continued

The Group's non-current assets, net revenue and revenue by geographical region are as follows:

Non-current assets Revenue Net revenue
’ Re-presented* Re-presented*
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
£000 £1000 £000 £000 £000 £000
UK - 57,141 71,756 310,381 290,966 250,584 234,824
Spain 23,935 26,087 36,515 33,530 36,515 33,530
Asia 14,063 15,701 11,107 9,260 8,838 7.976
Rest of World 26,938 17,408 58,049 67,182 54,305 61,800
Total allecated to geographical regions 122,077 130,954 416,052 400,948 350,242 338,130
Deferred tax assets 3,938 4,649
Non-current other trade receivables 1,464 -
Investments - 227
Total 127,479 135,830

*  The revenue and net revenue for 2021 have been re-presented for consistent comparison with 2022 to reflect a change inthe allocation of which countries were

includedin Asia and Rest of World.

Total assets and liabilities for each reportable segment are not provided to the CODM and therefore not presented.

4 Operating profit and auditor's remuneration

2022 2021
£000 £000

Recognised in the income statement

Impairment of intangible assets 2,966 1,411
Amortisation of intangible assets - acquired 4,655 4,609
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 627 3,134
Impairment of investment B 50
Gain on sale of investment - 23)
Non-underlying items (less: non-underlying finance expense) 1,078 2710
Share-based payments expense (note 23) 9,609 28,510
Total of adjusting items within operating profit 18,935 64,792
Members’ remuneraticn charged as an expense 43,670 41,361
Net foreign exchange gain (1,856) (55)
Amortisation of intangible assets - software and capitalised development costs 4,251 2,244
Cepreciation of tangible assets 2,960 4,745
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 12,737 11,977
Gain on disposal of leases - (775)
Auditor’s remuneration 7 )

Audit of the Group financial statements 510 369
Audit fees in respect of prior periods - 99
Total audit fees 510 468
Amaounts payable to the Company’s auditor and its associares in respect of:

Audit of financial information of subsidiaries, subsidiary undertakings and partnerships cf the

DWF Group plc 125 158
Other assurance services - 44
Other services pursuant to legislation or regulation 105 107
Total fees 740 777
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5  Netfinance expense

2022 2021
£000 £000
Finance income
Interest receivable 101 98
101 a8
Finance expense
Interest payable on bank borrowings 2,300 1,767
Other interest payable 54 a7
Bank and other charges 1,265 866
Nen-underlying finance expense 146 -
3,765 2,780
Net finance expense & ' ' 3,664 2,6—8?
Net interest expense on leases
Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,673 2,284
1.673 2,284
6  Taxation
2022 200
£000 £000
UK corporation tax on profit/loss A 5,639 5,582
Foreign tax on profit 2,822 1,576
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (5,443) (129)
Current tax expense 3,018 7,029
Deferred tax credit (2,354) (2,468)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 1,365 6
Total deferred tax credit (989) (2.462)
Total tax charge for the year 4 2,029 4,567

The effective tax rate is lower (2021 higher) than the average rate of corporate tax in the UK of 19% (2021: 19%), and excluding prior year
adjustments the effective tax rate is higher than the average rate of corporate tax in the UK. The difference is explained below:

2022 2021

£'000 £000
Profit/(loss) before taxation 22,316 (30,600)
Tax on Group profit/{loss) at standard UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2021: 19%) ) 4,240 (5,814)
Fareign tax rate differences 4) (128)
Non-deductible expenses 706 7,620
Temporary differences on intangible assets - -
Adjustments in respect of prior periods {4,079) (123)
Brought forward tax losses uttlised (263) (84)
Tax losses not recognised as assets 2,060 2,622
Impact of share price on expected tax deduction 203 474
Effect on deferred tax of change in corporation tax rate (834) -
Group total tax charge for the year 2,029 4,567

In the Spring Budget 2021, the Government announced that from 1 April 2023 the corporation tax rate will increase to 25%. The proposal to
increase the rate to 25% was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021, therefore the relevant deferred tax balances have been remeasured.
The impact of the change in tax rate has been recognised in tax expense in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to
items previously recognised cutside the income statement.

The reported tax charge for the year, excluding pricr year adjustments, is £6.1m on a profit before tax of £22.3m, representing an effective
rate of tax of 27.4%. The effective tax rate was higher than the UK statutory tax rate primarily due to tax losses that have not been
recognised as deferred tax assets (increasing the tax charge by £2.1m) and the tax effect of non-tax deductible expenses {increasing the tax
charge by £0.7m) offset by the effect on deferred tax resulting from the change in the UK corporation tax rate from 19% to 25% effective
from 1 April 2023 (reducing the tax charge by £0.8m).
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Financial statements

Consolidated notes to the financial statements continued

Year ended 30 April 2022

[ Taxation continued

The Group also booked prior year tax adjustments of a net credit of £4.1m. Those adjustments arise principally as a resutt of (a} increased
claims of the departing Australian partners on the Group's UK profit pool following the restructuring of the Group’s Australian business in
F¥2021 reducing the profits subject ta UK corporation tax (£5.1m}, offset by {b) revaiuations of the Group’s deferred tax assets relating to

tax depreciation timing differences and expected tax deductions for share based payments as at 30 April 2021 (£1.4mj,

7 Dividends
Distributions to owners of the parent in the year:

2022 2021
pence pershare  pence per share
Final dividend recognised as distributions in the year 3.00 0.75
Interim dividend recognised as distributions in the year 1.50 150
Total dividend paid in the year 4.50 225
Final dividend proposed 328 3.00
2022 2021
£000 £000
Final dividend recognised as distributions in the year 9,008 2,162
Interim dividend recognised as distributions in the year 4,529 4,359
Total dividend paid in the year B 13,537 6,521
Final dividend proposed o 10,574 5,737
The Board recommended a final dividend for the year ended 30 April 2022 of 3.25 pence per share on 20 July 2022 which is subject te
Shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting on 28 September 2022, If approved by the Shareholders, the dividend will be paid
on 7 October 2022 to all shareholders on the Register of Members on 9 September 2022.
8 Earnings per share
2022 2021
£000 £000
Profit/{loss) for the year for the purpose of basic earnings per share 20,287 (35,167)
Number Number
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share 298,898,991 294,302,422
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Future exercise of share awards and options 13,639,188 17,067,508
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 312,538,179 311,455,930
Earnings/{loss) per share attributable to the owners of the parent:
Basic earnings per share {p) 6.8 (11.9)
Diluted earnings per share (p) 6.5 *11.9)

*
loss per share, and hence have been excluded.

For the year ended 30 April 2021, potential ordinary shares of 17,067,508 are anti-dilutive, as their inclusion in the diluted loss per share calculation would reduce the

Adjusted basic and adjusted diluted earnings per share are APMs (as defined in the glossary on pages 169 to 173) and have been calculated

using profit/(loss) for the purpose of basic earnings share adjusted for total adjusting items and the tax effect of those items.

142

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022



Adjusted basic and adjusted diluted earnings per share may be reconciled to basic earnings per share as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Profit/(loss) for the year 20,287 (35,167)
Add/Aremove):
Total of adjusting fitems (note 2) 19,081 64,792
Tax effect of adjustments above (4,651) (5,503)
Adjusted profit for the purpose of adjusted earnings per share 34,717 24121
Number Number
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of adjusted basic earnings per share 298,898,991 294,392427
Ordinary shares for the purposes of adjusted diluted earnings per share 325,352,865 324,554,653
Adjusted basic earnings per share (p) . 1.6 . 82
Adjusted diluted earrings per share (p) 10.7 74

Shares held in trust are 1ssued shares that are owned by the Group’s employee benefit trusts for future issue to employees as part of share
incentive schemes. These are recognised on consolidation as treasury shares. The future exercise of share awards and options is the dilutive
effect of share awards granted to employees that have not yet vested.

Share held in trust are deducted from the weighted average number cf ordinary shares for basic earnings per share. For its adjusted basic
measure, the Group uses the weighted average number of ordinary shares.

The definitions of adjusted basic earnings per share and adjusted diluted earnings per share can be found in the glossary to these
financial statements.

9  Acquisitions of subsidiaries and transactions reiated to previous acquisitions

Acquisitions in the year to 30 April 2022

Two acquisitions were made in the year; Zing 365 Holdings Limited {'Zing') and BCA Claims and Consulting Limited {'BCA). Details of the
acquisitions are as follows:

Consideration Percentage

Country of Incorporation Nature of activity Date of acquisition £000 ownership

Zing UK Training and compliance 24 May 2021 1,157 100%
BCA Canada Claims and adjusting 25 May 2021 2,297 100%

Zing is a compliance training business based in Bristol, and was purchased to support growth in the Connected Services division through
offering additional services to the Group's clients. BCA is a market-leading claims handling business based in Vancouver, acguired to
increase the Group's presence in the focal market.

The fair values of the assets and lizbilities and the associated goodwill arising from the acquisitions are as follows:

Zing BCA
£000 £000

Intangible assets 659 1,064
Trade and other receivablies 123 524
Cash and cash equivalents 69 148
Trade and other payables (276) {158}
Lcans and borrowings (331 -
Deferred consideration (341) -
Deferred tax liability (149) (282)
Net (liabilities)/assets acquired (246) 1,296
Purchase consideration 1,157 2,297
Purchase consideration satisfied by:
Initial cash consideration 394 884
Deferred cash consideration - 1,413
Shares issued to Zing/BCA Shareholders 763 -
Goaodwill 1,403 1,001

Of the £2.3m consideration for BCA, £1.4m is deferred and payable over two years post-acquisition. This is not contingent on future
performance targets. During the period £0.61m of deferred consideration has been paid.
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Financial statements

Consolidated notes to the financial statements continued

Year ended 30 April 2022

9  Acquisitions of subsidiaries and transactions related to previous acquisitions continued

The goodwill is attributable to the benefits of operating two already well-established businesses in the relevant sector and the synergies
that are expected to be achieved from incorporating the businesses into the Group's operations. As the purchases were not made with any
gualifying intellectual property, all goodwill acquired is non-tax deductible.

The following intangible assets were recognised at acquisition. These have been measured at therr fair value through the multi-period
excess earnings method (customer relationships} and royalty relief method (brand).

Zing BCA

£000 £000

Intangible assets - brands - 248

Intangible assets - customer relationships 659 816

Deferred tax (14%9) (282)

Total fair value on acquisition 510 782
Cash flows arising from the acquisition were as follows:

Zing BCA

£1000 £000

Purchase consideration (394) (884)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 69 148

Total fair value on acquisition (325) (736)

Deferred consideration paid in the year - 612)

Net cash outflow (325) {1,348)

The table below outlines the revenue and PBT of the acquirees since the acquisition date, which is included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year, and the annualised revenue and PBT of the acquirees had the acquisition dates for the business
combinations been at the beginning of the year:

Revenue
contributed  PBT contributed  Revenue In year PBT in year of
post-acquisition  post-acquisition of acquisition acguisition
£000 £1000 £000 £000
Zing 750 38 819 41
BCA 1,779 43 1,939 47

Transaction costs comprised mainly advisor fees, including financial, tax and legal due diligence. These are all included within administrative
expenses (non-underlying items) within note 2.

Acquisitions in the year to 30 April 2021
There were no acquisitions during the year.

0On 22 January 2021 DWF Group plc and the original sellers of Rousaud Costas Duran S.L.P. (RCD'), a Spanish subsidiary, mutually agreed
to modify the acquisition agreement and related documents ('RCD Documents’) entered into on 20 December 2019 to help facilitate the
integration of DWF-RCD into the wider Group as part of moving to the new operating model effective from 1 May 2021.

Full details of the modification can be found in the Annual Report and Accounts 2021 at www.dwfgroup.com.
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10 Intangible assets

Acquired External Capitalised
Customer software development
Goodwill relationships Brand costs casts Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 May 2021 1,141 35,608 1,633 4,322 11,311 64,015
Additions - internally developed - - - - 2,854 2,854
Additions - externzlly purchased 2,403 1,475 248 1,446 - 5.572
Disposals - - - (354) - (354)
Asset transfers - - - 1,347 - 1,347
Effect of moverments in foreign exchange 480 (271) 52 1 - 272
At 30 April 2022 14,034 36,812 1,933 6,762 14,165 73,706
Amortisation and impairment A
AL 1 May 2021 1,357 6,128 1,041 1,587 4,729 14,842
Amortisation for the year - 3,945 711 1,593 2,658 8,907
Disposals - - - (94) - (94)
Impairment - 2,955 - " - 2,966
Asset transfers - - - 1,347 - 1,347
Effect of movernents in foreign exchange - 104 30 - 134
At 30 April 2022 1,357 13,132 1,782 4,444 7.387 28,102
Net book value )
At 30 April 2022 1 2,677 23,680 151 5,31 8 6,778 45,604
At 1 May 2021 9,784 29,480 592 2,735 6,582 49,173
Acquited External Capitalised
Customer software development
Goodwill relationships Brand costs costs Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 May 2020 11,691 35211 1,685 1,923 7,083 57,593
Additions - internally developed - - - - 4,228 4,228
Additions - externally purchased - - - 2,407 - 2,407
Disposals - - - (10) - {10)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (550) 397 (52) 2 - (203)
At 30 April 2021 11,141 35,608 1,633 4322 11.311 64,015
Amaortisation and impairment
At 1 May 2020 1,356 1,351 159 1,007 3,066 6,939
Amortisation for the year - 3,695 914 581 1.663 6,853
Disposals - - - (10) - (10
Impairment - 1,409 - 2 - 1,411
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 1 (327 (32) 7 - (35M)
At 30 April 2021 1,357 5,128 1,04 1,587 4,729 14,842
Net book value
At 30 April 2021 9,784 29,480 592 2,735 6,582 49173
At 1 May 2020 10,335 33,860 1,526 916 4,017 50,654

Individual intangible assets that are material to the financial staternents are set out below:

+ Customer relationships - Spain: Net book value at 30 April 2022 £19.5m (2021: £23.0m) - remaining amortisation period is 8 years
+ Customer relationships - Mindcrest Net book value at 30 April 2022 £0.8m (2021: £4.1m) - remaining amortisation period is 8 years
» Customer relationships - Peland: Net book value at 30 April 2022 £2.2m (2021; £2.3m) - remaining amortisation period is 7 years
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Financial statements

Consolidated notes to the financial statements continued

Year ended 30 April 2022

10  Intangible assets continued

Goodwill

Goodwill considered significant in comparison to the Group's total carrying amount of such assets has been allocated to CGUs or groups of
CGUs as follows:

2022 2021

£000 £000

Mindcrest (note 3) 9,127 8,569
Other individually immaterial CGUs 3,550 1,215
12,677 9,784

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The catculations have been based on a discounted
cash flow model covering a period of five years using forecast revenues and costs, extended to perpetuity. The inputs into the model
appropriately consider the relevant market maturity and lecal factors. The first year of the forecast is established from the budget for
FY2023 which is underpinned by the business plan that has been signed off by the Board. Cash flows for FY2023 through to FY2026 have
been included on a consistent basis with the Board approved strategy. In each case, the calculations use a long term growth rate of 2%
(2021 2%) consistent with the sector average and a pre-tax discount rate of 10-12% (2021: 10-11%). These pre-tax discount rates reflect
current market assessments for the time value of money and the specific risks associated with each CGU. The long-term growth rates used
are based on management's expectations of future changes in the markets for each CGU.

Goodwill that has been allocated to other individually immaterial CGUs in the table above is monitored at a lower level than operating
segment. Significant headroom exists for each CGU. No reasonable worst-case scenario gives rise to a material impairment risk,

Customer relationships

The impairment charge of £3.0m includes £3.0m relating to the impairment of customer relationship assets which were recognised on
acquisition of Mindcrest in FY2020. The impairment trigger, and subsequent reduction in vaiue of the associated intangible asset, s due 1o
Mindcrest delivering services under certain contracts in an increasingly efficient manner and passing those savings on to the customers
whilst maintaining a consistent gross margin percentage. The scale of the efficiencies gained and the resuiting decrease in absolute

margin was not anticipated as part of the valuation methodoiogy at the point of the acquisition. The recoverable amount for the customer
relationship asset has been determined based on fair value less cost of disposal as at 30 April 2022. The fair value calculation was based

on cash flow projections from financial budgets covering a one year pericd, with a degradation rate applied for the following six years (the
remaining useful economic life). The post-tax discount rate applied to cash flew projections is 9%, and cash flows have assumed degradation
at 2% per annum. It was concluded that the value in use did not exceed the fair value less cost of disposal. The remaining carrying amount as
at 30 April 2022 was £0.8m. The impairment charge is recorded within cther impairment in the income statement.

11 Property, plant and equipment

Office equipment

Leasehold  and fixtures and Computer
improvements fittings aquiprmnent Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
Cost o
At 1 May 2021 16,179 15,366 38,49¢ 70,044
Additions 508 1,169 1,903 3,580
Disposals 669) (448) (1,584) (2,701)
Asset transfers 2,130 {2,130) (1,347) (1.347)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 22 (19) 20 23
At 30 April 2022 18,170 13,938 37,491 69,599
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 May 2021 13,287 8,235 35,907 57,429
Charge for the year 778 1,029 1,153 2,960
Bisposals (463) {129) (608) (1,260)
Impairment 402 84 17 503
Asset transfers 46 (46) (1,347} {1,347}
Effect of movements :n foreign exchange e (10 9 15
At 30 April 2022 14,066 9,163 35131 58,360
Net book value
At 30 April 2022 4,104 4,775 2,360 11,239
At 1 May 2021 2,892 7,131 2,592 12,615

The impairment expense includes £0.5m relating to asset write-offs following the scale-back of operations in Australia and Germany
(see note 2).
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Office equipmenit Re-presented )

Leasehold  and fixtures and Computer (note 1.21) §

mprovements fithings equipment Total -

£:000 £000 £600 £000 A

Cost fgn

At 1 May 2020 16,782 12,282 39,838 68,902 -

Additions 59 3,310 632 4,001

Disposals (666) (232) (1,964} (2,862)

Effect of movements in foreign exchange 4 6 (7} 3 5

At 30 April 2021 16,179 15,366 38,499 70,044 §

Accumulated depreciation 3
At 1 May 2020 12,736 7,188 34,860 54,784
Charge for the year 935 219 2,891 4,745
Disposals (392) (232} (1,964) (2,588)

Impairment - 370 128 498 T

Effect of movements in foreign exchange 3 10} (8 ao B

At 30 April 2021 13,287 8,235 35,907 57429 f

Net book valua g

At 30 April 2021 2,892 7131 2,592 12,615 Z

At 1 May 2020 4,046 5094 4,978 14118

12 Right-of-use assets g
Leases as a lessee 3
Re-presented 3:
(note 1.21) 3
Property Equipment Total =
£000 £000 £000 g
Right-of-use assets
At T May 2020 69,615 42 69,657
Additions 14,258 2,315 16,573
Depreciation (11.,712) (265) (11,977)
Impairment {2,832) - (2,832)
Disposais {4,061} - {4,061)
Remeasurement adjustment 2,367 - 2,367
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (562} 1 (561
At 30 April 2021 67,073 2,093 69,166
Additions 10,467 - 10,467
Depreciation (12.264) 473} (12,737)
Impairment (124) - (124
Disposals {1,110) - (1,110}
Remeasurement adjustment (1.156) - (1,156)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 729 M 728
At 30 April 2022 63,615 1,619 65,234

The impairment expense during the year includes £1.2m relating to the scale-backs of operations in Australia and Germany (see note 2).
The remeasurement adjustment relates to the impact of term and rent changes on property leases during the year.

Leases as a lessor
During FY2022, the Group has sub-leased property in Australia. In the recognition of the lease receivables pertaining to the sub-leased
property, the Group has reversed impairment of £1.0m (2021: £nil} which was previcusly recorded against the right-of-use assets.
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Financizl statements
Consolidated notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 Aprit 2022

13 Trade and other receivables

*Re-presented

2022 2021
£000 £000
Current

Trade receivables 88,949 81,185
Amounts recoverable fram clients in respect of unbilled revenue 71,958 66,677
Unbilled disbursements 7,982 5,437
Contract assers 79,940 76,108
Trade receivables and contract assers 168,889 167,293
Other receivables - 2,216 2,890
Amounts due from Members of partnerships 2,238 2,008
Lease receivables 432 -
Reimbursement asset 4,040 852
Prepayments 12,359 10,463
190,174 183,506

Non-current
Other receivables 938 -
Lease recelvables 526 -
) 1,464 -

The comparative year has been re-presented so as to split out the Amounts due fram Members of partnerships from other receivables,
in order to provide clearer information as to the nature of the balance.

The reimbursement asset s attributabie to the FOIL provision and the professional indemnity provision {see note 18).
Prepayments include £nil (2021: £1.1m) relating to acquisition-related remuneration expense.

Ageing of trade receivables, amounts recoverable from clients in respect of unbilled revenue and unbilled disbursements

2022 2021

£000 £000
Trade receivables not past due o 14,794 22,235
Trade receivaobles past due
0 - 90 days 59,876 53,271
81 - 180 days 8,846 S417
181 - 270 days 3,337 4,597
271 - 365 days 2,366 3,603
Maore than 365 days 11,459 11,093
Gross trade receivables 100,678 104,216
Amounts recoverable from clients in respect of unbilled revenue 71,958 66,671
Unbilled dishursements 7,982 9,437
Expected creditlosses (8,588) {11,192)
Other impairment provisions (3,141) {1,839}
Total trade receivables and contract assets 168,889 167,293

Lifetime expected creditiosses are used to measure the loss allowance. These balances are held against trade recewvables, amounts
recoverable from clients in respect of unbilled revenue and unbilled disbursements. Other impairment provisions are applied against the
trade receivables which are not based on the average expected credit foss rates presented below. The other categories of trade and other
recevables do not contain impaired assets.

Expected credit loss rates

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled revenue and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same types of contracts.
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The average expected credit loss rates for trade receivables and contract assets are presented below.

Group rates Spain rates
2022 2021 2022 2021
0-90 days 0.5% 1.7% 0.9% 0.9%
91 - 180 days 3.4% 0.6% 4.2% 4.2%
181 - 270 days 10.5% 14.3% 13.1% 13.1%
271 - 365 days 19.9% 255% 20.7% 20.7%
More than 365 days 50.6% 62.4% 45.0% 45.0%
Movement in provision for impairment
2022 2021
£000 £000
At 1 May 13.031 11,871
Provision utilised and other moverments {4,275) (4,189)
Charges to income statement 2,973 5349
At 30 April 11,729 13,031

Other movements include expected credit loss provisions acquired from business combinations in the year of £61,500.

Trade receivables, unbilled disbursements and contracts assets are written off where there is ne reasonable expectation of recovery. For
trade receivables and unbilled disbursements, impairment losses are presented as net impairment iosses within operating profit whereas
contract asset impairment losses are presented as a reduction in revenue. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previousty written off are
credited against the same ling itemn.

14 Cash and cash equivalents

2022 2021

£000 £000
Cash at bank and in hand 28,310 34,711
Bank overdrafts (606) {131}
Cash and cash equivalents 27,704 34,580

15 Trade and other payabies

*Re-presented

2022 2021

£000 £000
Trade payables 27,896 28,236
Other payables 3,748 10,337
Other taxation and social security 15,284 27,375
Deferred income 2,014 757
Accruals 14,383 18,676
Trade and other payables 63,325 85,381

Ceferred incoms has been re-presented for the prior year to split it out as a separate line from accruals.

Other payables relates principally to payroll-related creditors but has largely reduced due to the utilisation of amounts recognised relating
to the closure and scale-back of operations (note 2) which were included in the balance in the prior year.

Accrualsinclude £nii (2021: £4.9m) relating to acquisition-related remuneration expense (see note 2).

In 2020, the Group participated in the UK Government’s VAT deferral scheme, which was launched to assist businesses in their response to
COVID-19. Within other taxation and social security in FY2021 was £10.7m of VAT payable, which was deferred from March 2020. This has
been fully repaid in Fy2022.

In FY2021 the Group’s Polish and US businesses benefited from local COVID-19 assistance programs totalling £984,000. Of the assistance,
£307,000 was recognised in the P&L (within administrative expenses) in FY2021 as the conditions attached to the assistance had been
satisfied. The remaining £677,000 was held in other payables as at 30 April 2021, In FY2022, a further £515,000 was recognised in the P&L
as the relevant conditions for those elements of Government assistance had been met. The remaining £161,000 is included within other
payables as at 30 April 2022, which is due to be repaid to the Polish Government as remaining conditions will not be met.
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Finandcial statements

Consolidated notes to the financial statements continued

Year ended 30 April 2022

16 Lease liabilities

2022 2027

£000 £000

AL 1 May 84,002 84,678
Additions 7,683 16,573
Interest expense reiated to lease liabilities 1,673 2,284
Net foreign currency translation loss/(gain) 763 {589
Disposals - {4,836)
Remeasurement adjustment (1,313) 2,367
Repayment of lease liabilities (including interest) (15,069) (16,475)
At 30 April 77,739 84,002
Current lease liabilities 14,576 13,104
Non-current lease liabilities 63,163 70,898
77,739 84,002

The maturity of lease liabilities can be found in note 19.
The undiscounted contractual cash flows relating to lease liabilities accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 is £82.9m {2021: £81.4m).

Operating costs, included within administrative expenses, relating tc short-term and low value leases during the year were £1.6m
(2021: £1.6m).

17 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

This note provides information about the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost. For more
information about the contractual terms and the Group's exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, refer to note 19.

Obligations under interest-bearing loans and borrowings

2022 2021
£000 £000
Current liabilities
Bank loans 5,093 19,099
Supplier payment facility 87 204
Bank overdrafts 606 131
9,786 19,434
Non-current liabilities
Bank loans 90,907 76,085
Unamortised finance costs {(563) (641)
90,344 75,444
100,130 94,878

On 22 December 2021, the Group completed a refinancing of its principal RCF. The new facility was increased to £100m and matures in fiscal
year ending 2025 with two 12-month extension options and additional headroom on some covenants (with no reduction in headrcom in any
covenant) that better aligns to the current business structure and operations. The refinancing alsc moves the facility from a fixed LIBOR
benchmark rate to a variable SCNIA rate (see note 19). The non-current borrowings relating primarily to the principal RCF.

The Group operates a supplier payment facility with HSBC, which has a limit of £11m. This facility 1s utilised in paying certain suppliers from
time to time and repaid in the short term.

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents and other interest-bearing loans and borrowings:

Exchange Non-cash
1 May 2021 Cash flow movement movement 30 April 2022
£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000
Cash and cash equivalents 34,580 {(7.017) 141 - 27,704
Bank loans (94,544) (4,240} 227 (880) {99,437)
Supplier payments facility (204) 15,683 - {15,566) (87)
Total net debt (excluding IFRS 16} (60,168} 4,426 368 (16,446) (71,820}
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Exchange Norn-cash

1 May 2021 Cash flow movement movement 30 Aprli 2022

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents 28,727 6,236 (383) - 34,580
Bank loans (93,279) 1,069 (205) (2,129 (94,544}
Supplier payments facility (310 23,144 - (23,038) {204}
Total net debt {exciuding IFRS 16) (64,862) 30,449 (588} (25167) {60,168}

Non-cash movernents within bank leans relate to the amortisation of fees incurred on arrangement of the facility, over the expected life of
the facility. Non-cash movements within the supplier payments facility relate to the utilisation of the faciity to settle liabilities with suppliers,
with the supplier payments facility being settled with cash when the liahility becomes due.

Net debt including lease liabilities is £149.6m {2021: £144.2m).
Net debt is an APM and is defined in the glossary to the financial statements on pages 169 to 173.

18 Provisions

Professional

Dilapidation indemnity
provision FOIL provision provision Total
£000 £000 £1000 £000
At 1 May 2021 1,837 1,252 2,512 5,601
Utilised in the year - - (3,472) (3.472)
Released in the year {100) (552) (507) (1,159)
Provisions made in the year 2,725 - 7,717 10,442
Reclassified to other payables - (700) (250) {950)
At 30 April 2022 4,462 - 6,000 10,462
Current 315 - 6,000 6,315
Non-current 4147 - - 4147
4,462 - 6,000 10,462

Professional indemnity provision

The provisicn for professional indemnity reflects the Group’s expected outflow for legal claims brought against the Group relating to historic
professicnal services rendered. A provision is only recognised where an outflow is probable. The probability is established by reference

to whether a claim is more likely than not to be successful. A professional indemnity liability for a claim that is agreed (i.e. the timing and
ameount of payments are well understood) is recognised in accruals (see Note 15). Claims are assessed as being settled in full within the next
5 years.

Separately, the Group recognises expected reimbursements from professional indemnity insurance when it is virtually certain that the
reimbursement will be receivaed {note 13). No separate disclosure is made of the detail of such claims or proceedings, or the costs recovered
by insurance, as such detail would be seriously prejudicial to the position of the Group. Note that in the prior year the professional indemnity
provision and the reimbursement asset is presented net within provisions within the financial statements. This pricr year presentation has
not been restated to match the current year presentation.

There are circumstances of which the Group is aware but there is insufficient information available to either estimate whether a claim will
develop or, where a claim appears possible, make an assessment of the outflow. Such circumstances are contingent liabilities of the Group.

Dilapidation provision

Dilapidation provisions are established for restoration and reinstatement costs for property leases, held at the date of the statement of
financial position. Such provisions are estimated at the start of the fease and updated annually. The Group's current lease portfolio
terminates over the course of the next 10 years.

The Group has engaged external valuators to perform a review of the Group's property portfolio and they have provided updated estimaies
of required dilapidations at the end of the lease terms. The increase in the dilapidations provision for the various properties has been
reflected in the corresponding right-of-use assets and is depreciated over the remaining Jease term.

FOIL provision

The Forum of Insurance Lawyers (FOIL) provision represents the total VAT (partial exemption) exposure on historic ciaims handling
engagements. During FY2022, a settlement amount has been agreed with HMRC, and therefore the settlemant amount has been
reclassified as other payables,
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Financial statements

Consolidated notes to the financial statements continued

Year ended 30 April 2022

12 Financial instruments
The Directors have overall responsibility for the oversight of the Group's risk management framework. Further explanation on management
of risk factors is provided in the risk section of the Strategic report.

The Group's trading and financing activities expose it to various financial risks that if left unmanaged could adversely impact on current or
future earnings. These risks can be categorised as credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk {interest rate risk and foreign currency risk) and
capital risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a client or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations,
and arises principally from the Group's trade receivables. Credit checks are performed for new clients and ongoing monitoring takes place
for existing clients. A provision is carried for expected credit losses, see note 13.

In connection with the Group's financial instruments there is not believed to be & material concentration risk based on the nature of

the instruments.

Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group maintains sufficient cash
or working capital facilities to meet the cash requirements of the Group in order to mitigate this risk.

The Group is financed through a combinaticn of members’ capital (repayable on retirernent of the member), undistributed profits, cash and
bank borrowing facilities.

The Group's principal facility is a £100m (2021: £35m) 'RCF. Details of amounts drawn can be found in note 17. Management maintain a rolling
12-month cash flow and covenant forecasts to ensure visibility of short-term liquidity and manage facility usage, in addition to annual
budgets and longer-term planning. The RCF matures in 2024, with two 12-month extension cpticns and there are no contracted repayments
until that date. The Group anticipates continued utilisation of the facility to fund working capital.

Note 1.3 sets out the financial covenants attached to the RCF held with the Group's banking syndicate, and more information on how the
Group manages liquidity risk.

The Group has bank guarantees of £0.7m denominated in Euros (2021: £nil). The Group has issued rental guarantees of £2.1m dencminated
in Euros and Australian dollars (2021: total of £1.7m).

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the Group’s income.
The Group's exposure to market risk predominantly relates to interest and currency risk.

Inierest rate ris<
The Group's bank borrowings incur both fixed and variable interest charges. The variable rates on its principal borrowing facilities are linked
to SONIA or EURIBOR plus a margin.

When the Group's principal RCF was re-financed in December 2021, the base interest rate changed from being a fixed LIBOR rate at the
point of drawdown to a variable SONIA rate (note 17), which has exposed the Group to interest rate risk in both the cash flows and the
impact on the income statement. Itis not expected that the impact of this will be material to the accounts.

The Group has no other financial instruments that are impacted by the LIBOR benchmark reform.

Foreign carrency rnis<

The Group has overseas operations in Europe, the Middle East, Asia, Australia, and North America and is therefore exposed to changes in
the respective currencies in these territories. The Group maintains bank balances in local currency. Cash positions are monitored and any
imbalances are dealt with by purchasing currency at the spot rate.

Capital risk

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, as disclosed in note 17, and equity. The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability te continue as a going concern and to provide optimal returns for Shareholders, The Group manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes 10 economic conditions and the strategic objectives of the Group.

Fair value measurement
Financial assets and liabilities are measured in accordance with the fair value hierarchy and assessed as Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
following criteria:

* Level 1: fair value measurement based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

* Level 2: fair value measurements derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or Lability, either directly
{i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);

* Level 3: fair value measurements derived from valuation technigues that include inputs for the asset or Lability that are not based on
observable market data.

nvestments, held at fair value through profit or loss, are a Level 3 financial asset. The remaining financial instruments are measured at
amortised cost. The carrying values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values.

152 DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2022




The table betow sets out the Group's accounting classification of each category of financial assets and ligbilities and their carrying values at

the end of the financial year.

2022 2021
Notes £000 £000
Cash and cash equivalents 14 27,704 34,580
Measured at amortised cost:
Trade and other receivables 13 179,279 173,043
Fair value through profit or loss:
Investments - 227
Total financial assets 206,983 207,850
Measured at amortised cost:
Trade and other payables 15 61,311 67,647
Lease habilities 16 77,739 84,002
Borrowings 17 100,087 94,747
Amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group 27 28,243 31,482
Total financial liabilities 267,380 277,888

Maturity analysis

The table below presents the outstanding contractual maturity profile by fiscal year for the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings
and lease liabilities. Trade and other payables are excluded from this profile as they falt due within a year.

The majority of the Group's borrowings comprise the drawn-down balance on the RCF, as discussed above. The payments shown below
reflect the contractual repayments upon expiry of the facility, excluding the extension options, so if the facility is extended these

repayments will be deferred.

Borrowings Lease liabilities
2022 2021 2022 2021
Payments £000 £000 £'000 £000
Year to 2022 - 19,303 - 14,978
Yearto 2023 9,180 76,085 16,030 14,501
Year to 2024 - - 14,639 13,270
Year to 2025 90,907 - 13,056 11,827
Year to 2026 - - 11,850 -
Later years - - 27.326 36,775
100,087 95388 82,901 91,351
Effect of discounting cash flows - - (5,162} (7,349)
Carrying value 100,087 85,388 77,739 84,002

Financial instruments sensitivity analysis

The Group has exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate movements given the nature of its borrowings and operations. At the
end of the year, the effect of hypothetical changes in interest and currency rates are as follows.

Interest rate SEﬂSi[I\/i:y

At 30 April 2022, based upon the amount of variable rate debt outstanding, the Group’'s pre-tax profits would change by approximately
£0.9m for each one percentage point change in interest rates applicable to the variable rate debt and, after tax effect, equity would charge

by approximately £0.7m.

Foreign excharge rate sensitivity

The Group transacts in a range of currengies, but is primarily exposed to changes in the Euro and US Dollar exchange rates.

A 20% (2021: 10%) strengthening and weakening of the above currencies against Pound Sterling would have the fellowing impacts on net

assets and profit shown below.

This calculation assumes that the change occurred at the statement of financial position date and had been appiied to risk exposures
existing at that date. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed

on the same basis for comparative periods.
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Financial statements
Consolidated notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 3C April 2022

19  Financial instruments continued

Effect of change  Effect of change

Strengthening Year in EUR rate n UsD rate
impact on eguity 2022 1,796 203
fmpact on equity 2021 (453) {143)
Impact on profit or loss 2022 (647) (207)
Impact on profit or loss 2021 3,285 265

Effectof change  Effect of change
Weakening Year in EUR rate in USD rate
Impact on equity o o 2022 (1,198) (135)
Impact on equity 2021 370 17
Impact on prefit or loss 2022 431 138
Impact an profit or loss 2021 (2,696) 217

20 Deferred taxation
The deferred tax asset is as follows:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Assets
A1 May 4,649 3,522
Deferred tax debit recognised directly in equity 438 193
Deferred tax (charge)/credit in the income statement for the year (1,173} 1,092
Exchange rate translation 24 {158)
At 30 April 3,938 4,649

Deferred tax assets of £3.9m have been recognised in respect of tax depreciation timing differences (£1.3m), expected tax deductions for
share-based payments (£2.3m) and other temporary differences (£0.3m). It is anticipated that the Group and certain reiated subsidiary
undertakings will make sufficient taxable profit to allow the benefit of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. A potential deferred tax asset of
£11.7m (2021 £5.2m) has not been recognised relating to tax losses in subsidiary undertakings that are not anticipated to make sufficient
taxable profit to allow the benefit of the deferred tax asser to be utllised.

The deferred tax liability as at 30 April 2022 is as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Non-current liabilities
At 1 May 7.584 8,884
Arising on acguisition intangibles 503 -
Deferred tax creditin the income statement for the year (2,163) (1,427)
Exchange rate translation (55} 127
At 30 April 5,869 7,584
The Group deferred tax liability relates to the recognition of acquired intangible assets arising on consciidation.
21 Share capital
Number Share capital  Share premium  Treasury shares Total
of 1p each £000 £1000 £000 £'000
At 1 May 2020 324,554,653 3,246 88,610 (20} 91,836
Purchase of treasury shares - - - (109) {109)
At 30 April 2021 324,554,653 3,246 88,610 (129} 91,727
Shares issued on acguisition of Zing 365 Holdings Ltd 798,212 8 755 - 763
At 30 April 2022 325,352,865 3,254 89,365 {129) 92,490

Qn 24 May 2021 798,212 ordinary shares were issuéd as a result of the acquisition of Zing.
The Group has 24,322,488 (2021: 30,162,231) shares held in treasury.
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22 Reserves

L
The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity: s
2]
Share premium The amount subscribed for share capital in excess of the nominal value. =
The treasury shares reserve represents shares in DWF Group plc held by the Group's share trusts, The trusts én
Treasury shares are consolidated in the Group's financial statements. -

The difference between the norminal vatue of shares acquired by the Cempany in the share-for-share exchange

Merger reserve with the former DWF LLP members and the nominal value of shares issued to acquire them.

Share-based payments 0
reserve The cumulative share-trased payment expense net of release of amounts in respect of option exercised. 2
2l
Translation reseryve Gains/losses in translating the net assets of overseas operations into GBP. z
=
Accumulated losses All other net gains and lusses gtid ransactivns with gwners not recognised elsewhere. 2

23 Share-based payments
Share-based payment arrangements
The Group operates three share-based payment plans (2021: two plans), all of which are equity settled and consist only of share awards.

* The equity incentive plan {EIP"): This is used to incentivise and reward performance from primarily Directors, upper-level management
and members, Within the EIP are the following schemes: The EIP-IPO award, the career level 1-3 award, the long-term incentive ptan (LTIP7)
and the promotion award.

* The buy-as-you-earn (‘BAYE) plan: All employees, excluding members, are eligible for the BAYE plan which is used te incentivise retention
and reward contribution. Within the BAYE are the following schemes: The BAYE-IPO award, the free-share award and the share incentive
plan matching award ('SIP matching award’).

= The deferred bonus plan: This comprises the deferred bonus award scheme. This plan is used as an alternative to cash bonuses for
eligibie employees and awards may be made following year-end results announcements.

The social security expenses in relation to share-based payment arrangements are based on the rates and treatment prevailing in each o
jurisdiction. This is accounted for as a cash-settled award. 4
Cetails of Directors’ share awards are set out in the Directors' Remuneration report on pages 83 to 114. é
Charge to the income statement g
The charge to the income statement is set out below: g
2022 2021
£000 £000
Share plans:
Equity incentive plan 6,721 24,058
Buy-as-you-earn plan 871 3,720
Deferred bonus plan 109 -
7,701 27,818
Social security expenses 1,908 692
Total expense 9,609 28,510

Impact of SBP movement in 2022:

Other taxation

Accumulated and sociat

SBP expense SBP reserve losses Prepayrents security

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Share-based payment schemes 7,701 (7.701) - - -
Recycling of vested shares - 9,074 (9,074) - -
Social security expenses 1,908 - - - {1,008}
Total movement 9,609 1,373 (9,074) - (1,908}

DWF Group plc | Annual Report and Accaunts 2022 155



Financial statements
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23  Share-based payments continued
Impact of share-based payments {'SBP') movement in 2021:

Other taxation

Accurnulated and social

SBP expense SBP reserve losses Prepayments security

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

DWEF-RCD acquisition™ 15176 - - (15,176) -
Share-based payment schemes 12,642 (12,642} - - -
Recycling of vested shares - G,429 {9,429} - -
Sacial security expenses 692 - - - (6952)
Total movement 28,510 (3,213) (9,429) (15,176) {692)

*  Thecharge for 2021 includes the accelerated expense, post-modification of the acguisition agreement, for shares awarded as part of the purchase price for the
acquisition of DWF-RCD This was charged against the related prepayment, which was released in full.

Summary of share awards
The following table shows the movements in share awards across all plans for the year:

2022 2021

Number of Number of

shares shares

‘000 ‘000

Number of shares awards outstanding 1 May 33,046 24,286
Awards granted during the year 12,331 19,149
Awards vested during the year (8,598) (7.1886)
Awards lapsed during the year {2,706) (3,203)
Number of shares awards outstanding 30 April 34,073 33,046

The weighted average remaining contractual life at the end of the period is 1.8 years {2021: 1.9 years}.

The exercise price of all share awards is nil. The weighted average share price at the vesting date for all awards vested during the year was
£1.07 (2027: £0.63).

Details of the Group's share awards are as follows:

Snare awards Lraer the DWFE Group plc 2079 IR IPC award
At IPO, conditional and restricted share awards were granted to a limited number of the senior management team.

The awards are subject to a service condition and have an entitiement 1o receve dividend equivalents. A portion of the awards were
previously subject to performance targets, but these have subseguently been removed.

Snare awards urcer ne DWF Grous PLC EIP - Career level 1-3 awa-o

This scheme 15 to incentivise senior employees for performance and exceptional contributions to the Group, on promotion or as a lateral or
senior hire to the Group. Additionally, as part of the RCD acquisition, shares are ring-fenced far future grant to employees of the acquired
business which fall under this award.

All of the awards under this scheme are subject to service conditions and a portion of the awards are also subject to performance targets.
There is an entitlement to receive dividend equivalents on the awards.

Skare awaras ander the DWF Group P_C EIP-Laorg-Ter~ I1cequve Plar

The Group incentfvises its Executive Board with long-term rewards based on challenging performance targets.

The awards under this scheme are also subject to service conditions. There is no dividend or dividend equivalent entitlement until such time
as they vest and after a holding period.

Snate awaras Lrae re DWR Croop PLCEIP - Pro o7 o award

The Group may incentivise its employees on premotion with a share award from this scheme.

All of the awards under this scheme are subject to service conditions. A portion of the awards were previously subject to performance
targets, but these have subsequently been removed. There is an entitlement to receive dividend eguivalents on the awards.

Snate awaras wnder tre DWE Group plg BAYE - IPC award

ALIPO, awards were granted to eligible employees.

The awards under this scheme were subject to service conditions. There was no entitlement to receive dividends or dividend equivalents on
the awards until such time as they vested.

STere awnanas Lraesine DWE Groap plc BAYE - Free crare 3warc

The Group incentivises its employees for exceptional contributions from this scheme.

The awards under this scheme are subject to service conditions. There is no entitlernent to receive dividends or dividend equivalents until
such time as they vest.
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Share awards under the DWF Group plc BAYE - Plar matching award (BAYE matching shares award’)

[%al
The Group offers its employees in the UK, Spain and the US the opportunity to actively buy shares in DWF Group plc and become an <
investor in the business. The Group will match a certain number of awards, subject to service conditions. ]
There is no entitlement to receive dividends or dividend equivalents until such time as they vest. -
Q
Share awards under the DWF Group plc Deferred bonus plan -
The Graup may make awards under this scheme to eligible employees as part of the bonus plan.
The awards under this scheme are subject to service conditions. There is no entitlement to receive dividends or dividend equivalents until
such time as they vest. o
=]
Share awards granted 5
The Black Scheoles method was used to value all share awards granted during the year. The following tabie cutlines the inputs and §
assumptions used: m
2022 2021
EIP BAYE Deferred bonus EIP BAYE
weighted average fair value at measurement date 114 1.10 0.95 0.70 068
Weighted average share price at grant date 1.19 1.20 1.17 0.74 0.72
Expected volatility 42.96% 43.46% 43.52% 45.05% 50.23%
Expected life (years) 2.87 1.37 2.87 2.56 1.30
Expected dividend yield 1.33% 5.72% 6.57% 5.00% 5.00%
Risk free interest rate 0.50% 0.51% 0.18% 0.07% 0.03%
Estimate of attrition 21.60% 9.42% 20.46% 25.0% 25.0%
Estimate of performance conditions being met 85.70% N/A N/A 94.15% N/A
o
The expectations and estimates used represent the average across the tranches granted. Expected volatility was determined by reference §
te the period for which the share price history is available. The expected life used Is the vested date of the award. =
24  Key management personnel Eau.
Compensation paid to key management personnel ]
2022 2021
£000 £000
Remuneration of the PLC Board
Short-term employee benefits 2,717 2,263
Post-employment benefits 92 71
Loss of office - 526
Share-based payments 640 1,078
3,449 3,937

Key management personnel comprise the PLC Board of Directers. The amount paid to the highest paid member of key management was
£0.8m (2021; £0.8m). Further information can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration report on pages 83 tc 114,

25 Employee information and their pay and benefits
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Executive Directors) during the year, analysed by category, and the
aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

2022 2021

No. Na.

Legal advisors 2,426 2,405
Support staff 1,222 1,265
3,648 3,670

£000 £1000

Wages and salaries 199,828 192,493
Social security costs 11,694 11,528
Contributions to defined contribution plans 6,698 6,822
218,220 210,843

The Group operates defined contribution pension plans. The total annual pension cost for the defined contribution plan was £6.7m
(FY2021: £6.8m) and the outstanding balance at 30 April 2622 was £0.9m (30 April 2021: £0.9m).
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26 Cash generated from operations
a) Cash generated from operations before adjusting items

2022 2021
£000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax 22,316 (30,600}
Adjustments for:
Other impairment 3,593 4,595
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 4,655 4,609
Depreciation of right-of-use asset 12,737 11,977
Other depreciation and amortisation 7,21 6,989
Gain on disposal of leases and investments - (798)
Nan-underlying items 1,224 27,101
Share-based payments expense 9,609 27,818
Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,673 2,284
Net finance expense 3,518 2,682
Operating cash flows befere movements in working capital 66,536 56,657
{Increasey/decrease intrade and other receivables {8,031) 13,120
Decrease in trade and other payables {17,641) (176)
Decrease in provisions 4,798 (296)
Decrease in amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group {4,039} {4,144}
Cash generated in operations before adjusting items 41,623 65,161
b) Free cash flows
Free cash flows is an APM and 1s defined in the glossary to the financial statements on pages 169 to 173.
2022 2021
£000 £000
Free cash flows
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 66,536 56,657
Net working capital movement (20,874} 12,648
Amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group (4,039) (4,144)
Cash generated from operations before adjusting items :11,623 65,161
Net interest paid {4,596) {5,064)
Tax paid (2,854) 13,155}
Repayment of lease liabilities (13,396) (14,197}
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,581} (4,001)
Purchase of other intangible assets {4,300) (6,635)
Free cash flows 12,896 32,15
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¢} Working capital measures

2022 2021

£'000 £000
WIP days
Amounts recoverable from clients in respect of unbilled revenue 71,958 66,671
Unbilled disbursements 7,982 9,437
Total WIP 79,940 76,108
Annualised net revenue 350,490 338130
WIP days 83 82
Debtor days
Trade receivables (net of allowance for doubtful receivables) 88,949 21,185
QOther receivables* 3,154 2,890
Total debtors 92,103 94,075
Annualised net revenue 350,490 338,130
Debtor days 96 102
Total lock-up days
Total WIP 79,940 76,108
Total debtors 92,103 94,075
Total lock-up 172,043 170,183
Annualised net revenue 350,490 338,130

179 184

Total lock-up days

* Inachange to the calculation of lock-up days from the prior year, other receivables 1s shown excluding amounts due from members of partnerships as it does not
represent part of the Group's normal working capital. The comparator has been restated for consistency. This has the impact of reducing the current and prior year
lock-up days by two days each. Under both methods of calculation, lock-up days have reduced by five days and therefore the change in calculation has had no impact

on the reduction of lock-up days for the year.

Annualised net revenue, an APM as defined in the glossary, reflects the total net revenue for the previous 12-month period inclusive of

pro-forma adjustments for acquisitions and scale-backs.

Lock-up days is an APM and is defined in the glossary to the financial statements on pages 169 to 173.

The Group alse measures lock-up as above but excluding other receivables as this more closely aligns with lock-up measurement of other
businesses in the legal sector and also as other receivables do not represent sales outstanding. Excluding other receivables, lock-up days

are 176 days (2021: 180 days).
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Financial statements

Consolidated notes to the financial statements continued

Year ended 30 April 2022

27 Amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group

Amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group comprise members’ capital and other amounts due t¢ members ¢lassified as

liabilities as follows.:

Total amounts

dueto

Other amounts members of

Members’ dueto partnerships in

capital members the Group

£000 £000 £'000

At 1 May 2021 13,348 18,144 31,492
Members’ remuneration charged as an expense - 43,670 43,670
Unrealised foreign exchange translation differences (38) (80) (118)
Capital introduced by members 2,132 - 2,132
Repayments of capital (1,072) - (1,072)
Drawings - (47.861) (47,861)
At 30 April 2022 14,370 13,873 28,243
Total amounts

due to members

Members'  Other amoums of partnerships

capital due to membpers in the Group
000 £000 £000
At 1 May 2020 13,231 22,621 35852
Members' remuneration charged as an expense - 41,361 41,361
Unrealised foreign exchange translation differences (46) (333) (379
Capital introduced by members 4,276 - 4,276
Repayments of capital 4,113) B {4,113)
Drawings - (45,505) (45,505)
At 30 April 2021 13,348 18,144 31,492
The average number of members during the year was as follows:
2022 2021
Average number of members of partnerships held by the Group durning the year 366 373
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Company statement of financial position

As at 30 April 2022

2022 2021 w
Netes £000 £000 o
7Non-current assets 7 ﬁ
_Investments 2 255,955 247281 %
_Total non-current assets 255,955 247,281 -
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 3 163,515 170,096
_Cashatbankand in hand 445 113 g
_Total current assets ‘ 163,960 170,209 ;:D
Total assets 419,915 417,490 7
Current liabilities 7
Trade and other payables 4 17,461 7,390
Deferred consideration - -
Tetal current liabilities 17,461 7,390 T
Non-current liabilities :<
interest-bearing loans and borrowings 5 90,344 90,445 ::
_Total non-current liabilities 7 90,344 90,445 i
Total liabilities 107,805 97835 |4
Net assets 312,110 319655
Equity o
Share capital 6 3,254 3,246 3
$hare premium 6 89,365 83,610 é
Share-based payments resarve 11,512 12,885 é
_Retained earnings 207,979 214,914 §
Total equity 312,110 319,655

Under section 5408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exernpt from the requirement to present its own income staterment.
The loss for the year to 30 April 2022 was £2.5m (2021: profit of £10.3m).

These financial statements of DWF Group plc (registered number: 11561594) were approved by the Board on 20 July 2022.

Notes 1 to 7 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Sir N Knowles C ] Stefani
Group Chief Executive Officer Group Chief Financial Officer
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Company statement of changes in equity

Year ended 30 April 2022

Share-based

payments Retained

Share capital Share premium reserve earnings Total equity

£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000

1 May 2021 3,246 88,610 12,885 214914 319,655
Loss for the year - - - (2,.472) (2,472)
Totafl comprehensive income - - - (2,472) (2,472)
Shares issued 8 755 - - 763
Dividends paid - - - {13,537) (13,537)
Share-based payments - - (1,373) 9,074 7,701
At 30 April 2022 3,254 89,365 11,512 207,979 312,110

Share-based
payments Retained

Share capital Share premum reserve earnings Total equity

£000 £'000 £1000 £000 £000

1 May 2020 3,246 88,610 9,672 201,729 303,257
Profit for the year E - - 10,277 10,277
Total comprehensive income - - - 10,277 10,277
Dividends paid - - - (6,521) (6,521)
Share-based payments - - 3,213 9,429 12,642
At 30 April 2021 3,246 88610 12,885 214914 319,655

Further information on dividends paid is included in note 7 of the Group financial statements.

Notes 110 7 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Company notes to the financial statements

Year ended 20 April 2022

1 Accounting policies

General information and basis of accounting

DWF Group plc (the *Company’), is a public limited cormpany, domiciled in the United Kingdem under the Companies Act 2006, and registered
in England. The registered office is 20 Fenchurch Street, Londan, EC3M 3AG.

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 ‘Application of Financial Reporting Reguiremeants’ issued by the FRC.
Accordingly, these financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 107 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’
{¢'FRS 107"). In preparing these financial staterments, the Company applies the recagnition, measurement and disclosure reguirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the UK ('IFRS'), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with
the Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The functional currency of the Company is British Pounds Sterling because that is the currency of the primary econemic environment in
which the Company operates. The Comparty financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling.

in the preparation of these financial staterments, DWF Group pi¢ has applied the following exemptions from the requirements of IFRS
available under FR5 101:

+ Paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2, 'Share-based Payment’ (details of the number and weighted average exercise prices of share
options, and how the fair value of goods or services received was determined),

« |FRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’;

= Paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurement’ (disclosure of valuation techniques and inputs used for fair value measurement
of assets and liabilities);

* Paragraph 38 of IAS 1, 'Presentation of Financial Statements’ - comparative information requirements in respect of paragraph 79(a)(iv) of
IAS 1;

* The following paragraphs of 1AS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements”.
- 10(d} (statement of cash flows)
- 16 (statement of compliance with all IFRS)
- 38A({requirement for minimum of two primary statements, including cash flow statements)
- 38B-D (additional comparative informaticn)
- 111 (statement of cash flows information)
- 134-136 (capital management disclosures)

= 1AS 7, 'Statement of Cash Flows';

+ Paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8, 'Accounting Palicies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ (requirement for the disclosure of
information when an entity has not applied a new IFRS that has been issued but is not yet effective};

= Paragraph 17 of IAS 24, 'Related Party Disclosures’ (key management compensation);

 The requirements in IAS 24, ‘Related Party Disclosures’, to disclose related party transactions entered into between two or more members
of a group provided that any subsidiary which is a party to the transaction is wholly owned by such member;

= The requirements of paragraphs 62, B64(d), B64(e), B64(g), B64(h), B64(j) to B64(m), BE4(n}ii), Bo&4(o)(il), B&4(p), B&4(q)(ii), B66 and B67
of IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations', given that equivalent disclosures are included in the consolidated financial staterments of the group in
which the entity is consolidated;

= Paragraphs 130(f)(ii}, 130{F)(ii), 134(d) to 134(f} and 135(c} to 135(e) of IAS 26, 'Impairment of Assets’”.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless ctherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in the Company
financial statements. The accounting policies in note 1 of the consolidated notes to the financial statements of DWF Group plc also apply
to the Parent Company.

11 Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for any impairment in value.

1.2 Amounts due from/to subsidiary undertakings
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are non-derivative financial assets and are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent ta initial
recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any aliowance for expected credit {osses.

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings are non-derivative financial liabilities and are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial
recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method and due to their short-term nature, they are not

discounted.

1.3 Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements under IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions which
affact the financial information. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant and are reviewed on an ongoing basis. There are not considered to be any critical judgerments or key estimates
applicable to these financial statements.
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Financial statements

Company notes to the financial statements continued

Year ended 30 April 2022

2 Investments
2022 2021
£000 £000
Investments '
ALT May 247,281 235,605
Additicns 8,674 11,676
At 30 April o ) 255,955 247,281

Additions in the year ended 30 April 2022 relate to, inter alia, the Zing acquisition and the push down of the share-based payment expense
to entities that the employees provide services to. Further details of the Group’s share-based payment schemes are included in note 23 of
the Group financial statements.

The Group has investments in the following undertakings, which are all held as ordinary shares:

Principal place Proportion

Repistered address of business Nature of business of ownership
Subsidiaries
Direct
DWF Holdings Limited® i UK Investment holding 100%
DWE Group {US) LLC Xxvil USA Investment holding 100%
DWF Connected Services Investments Limited<4 XXX UK Connected services 100%
Zing 365 Holdings Limited* i UK Connected services 100%
Indirect
DWF {TG) Limited* i UK Investment holding Note 1
DWF LLP | UK Legal services Note 2
DWF Law LLP i UK Legal services Note 1
DWF (Northern ireland) LLP® ii UK Legal services Note 2
Vueity Limited i UK Dormant Note 1
DWF Costs Limited® i UK Connected services Note 1
DWF Claims Limited® i UK Connected services Note 1
DWF Advocacy Limited® i UK Connected services Note 1
DWF Forensic Limited® [ UK Connected services Note 1
DWF Ventures Limited® i UK Connected services Note 1
DWF Adjusting Limited® i UK Connected services Note 1
DWF Resource Lirniteds UK Connected services Note 1
DWF Connected Services Holdings Limited® i UK Connected services Note 1
DWF Company Secretarial Services Limited® i UK Connected services Note 2
Greyfern Law Limited* I UK Connected services Note 2
Davies Wallis Foyster Limited i UK Non-trading Note 2
Davies Wallis {unlimited)? i UK Darmant Note 2
DWF Solicitors Limited? ! UK Dormant Note 2
DWF (Trustee) Limited? i UK Dormant Note 2
DWF Nominees Limited?® i UK Dormant Note 2
Resclution Law Limited® i UK Dormant Note 1
OWF Middle East Group LLP? i UK Dormant Note 1
DWF (Nominees) 2013 Limited? i UK Dormant Note 2
Harborne Road Nominees Limited® i UK Dormant Note 2
DWF Connected Services Limited< i UK Dormant Note 2
DWF Connected Services Group Limited® i UK Non-trading Note 1
NewCo 4736 Limited® [ UK Non-trading Note 1
Bailford Trustees Limited? iii UK Dormant Note 2
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Principal place Proportion v
Registered address of business Nature of business of ownership B
DWF Trustees (Scotland) Limited? iii UK Dormant Note 2 c";
DWEF Directors (Scotland) Limited? iii UK Dormant Note 2 -g
DWF Secretarial Services {Scatland} Limited? iif UK Dormant Note 2 &
DWF Pension Trustees Limited iv UK Doermant Note 2
DWF 360 Limited i UK Software provider Note 1
EBT v UK Trustees Note 6 &
&
RST v UK Trustees Note & 3
DWF (France} AARPI® vi France Law services Note2 2
DWEF Claims (France) SAS vi France Connected services Note 1
DWF Holding GbR wii Germany Investment holding Note 2
DWF Germany RmbH vii Germany Law services Note 2
DWF LLP Studic Legale Associato i ltaly Law services Note 2
DWF Claims (Italy) SrL.b ix ltaly Connected services Note 1
DWEF (Ireland) LLP X ROI Law services Note 2
DWF Claims (Ireland) Limited viii ROI Connected services Note 1
DWF Dublin Secretarial Limited® X RO Dormant Note 2
DWF Poland Holdings Sp. z 0.0. XX Poland investment holding Note 1
DWF Poland Jamka sp.k® xXi Poland Law services Note 1 -
DWEF Spain S.L.P. XXV Spain imvestment holding Note 1 §
Rousaud Costas Duran S.L.RPU. KXv Spain Law services Note 1 %
Rousaud Costas Duran Abogados S.L.PU. Xxiv Spain Law services Note 1 3
Rousaud Costas Duran Concursal S.L.P. XXV Spain Law services Note 1 §
Rousaud Costas Duran Valencia S.L.PU. XXV Spain Law services Note 1
RCD Tax & Legal Advisors S.LP.U. XXV Spain Law services Note 1
Gestart Assessors S.L.UL XXV Spain Law services Note 1
Gestart Asesoramiento Empresarial S.1L.U. xxiv Spain Law services Note 1
DWF Law Australia Pty Limited i Australia lLaw services Note 1
DWF Australia Holdings Pty Limited X Australia Law services Note 1
DWEF Claims (Australia) Pty Limitad il Australia Connected services Note 1
DWF Adjusting {Australia} Pty Limited Xii Australia Connected services Note 1
DWF Connected Services Austratia Pty Limited xi Australia Dormant Note 1
DWF Claims (Canada) Limited xiii Canada Connected services Note 1
DWF Adjusting (Canada) Limited Xiii Canada Connected services Note 1
DWF Compliance (Singapore} Pte Limited Xiv Singapore Connected services Note 1
Triton Global Claims (Asia) Pte Limited XV Singapore Dormant Note 1
Triton Globat Claims (HK) Pty Limited xvi Hong Kong Dormant Note 1
DWF (Middle Bast) LLP xvii UAE Law services Note 1
Mindcrest Inc. xxi USA Law services Note 5
Mindcrest (India) Private Limited Xxili India Law services Note 5
Mindcrest UK Limited® i UK Law services Note 5
DWF Claims {USA) LLC xviii LUSA Connected services Note 1
Moat Pensions Limited« iii UK Connected services Note 2
DWF MGA (USA) LLC UsA Connected services Note 1
Zing Associates Limited«d i UK Connected services Note 3
Zing 365 Limited=® [ UK Connected services Note 3
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Company notes to the financial statements continued

Year ended 30 April 2022

Principal place Proportion

Registered address of business Nature of business of ownership

Marlborough Training and Consultancy Limitede? i UK Connected services Note 3
Try Solutions Limited<d i UK Connected services Note 3
BCA Claims & Censulting Limited® XXix Canada Connected services Note 4
DWF (Hong Kong) LLP i UK Dormant Note 2

& Subsidiary undertakings have been excluded from the consotidation on the basis of immateriabty,

b The statutory year end in the period being reported is 31 December.

¢ Entiies have claimed audit exemption for the year to 30 April 2022 under section 479A of the Campanies Act 2006.
d (nvestments have been made during the year to 30 April 2022.

Note 1 DWF Group plc indirectly controls these entities through its subsidiary, DWF Holdings Limited.

Note 2 DWF Group ple indirectly controls these entities by virtue of Governance Agreements and Intra-Group Agreements between the
Company, DWF Law LLP, DWF LLP and other related subsidiary undertakings.

Note 3 DWF Group plc indirectly controls these entities through its subsidiary, Zing 365 Holdings Limited.

Note 4 DWF Group pic indirectly controis these entities through its subsidiary, DWF Connected Services Investments Limited.

Note 5  DWF Group pic indirectly controis these entities through its subsidiary, DWF Group (US) LLC.

Note 6  These trusts are consolidated as if they were subsidiaries of the Group.

(i) 1 Scott Place, 2 Hardman Street, Manchester, United Kingdom, M3 3AA
(i) 42 Queen Street, Belfast, BT1 6HL

i) 103 Waterloo Street, Glasgow G2 7BW

(iv) 5 St. Paul's Square, Old Hall Street, Liverpool, L3 9AF

) 26 New Street, St. Helier, |E2 3RA, Jersey

(vi) 137-139 rue de I'Université, 75007 Paris, France

{vii) Habsburgerring 2, Westgate, 50674 Cologne, Germany

(viii) 2 Dublin Landings, North wall Quay, Dublin 1, v4A3, Ireland

(ix) Via dei Bossi 6, Milang, Italy

(x} 5 George’s Dock, [FSC, Dublin

{xi) Level 36, 123 Eagle Street, Brisbane, QLD 4000, Australia

{xii) Suite 204, Level 2, 165-167 Philip Street, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia
{xiii) 111 Queen Street East, Suite 450, Toronto, Ontario, M5C 152, Canada
(xiv} 9 Raffles Place, #58-0 Republic Plaza, Singapore, 048619

(xv) 8 Cross Street, #24-03/04 PWC Building, Singapore, 048424

(xvi) Rocom 1901, 19/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
(xvii) P.O. Box 507104, Office 901 & 904, Tower 2, Al Fattan Currency House, DIFC, Dubai
{oviii) 740 Waukegan Road, Deerfield, Chicago, llincis, 60015, USA

{xix) Harrow House, 23 West Street, Haslemere, Surrey, GU27 2ZAB
XX} Martello Court, Admiral Park, 5t Peter Port, Guernsey, GY? 3HB
%1} plac Stanislawa Malachowskiego 2, 00-066 Warsaw

{xxii) 425 5. Financial Place, Suite 1100, Chicago, IL 60605

{xxiii} 603/604 Biock D, Welkfield {T-Citi Info Park, Nagar Rd, Vadgaon Sheri, Pune, 411014, India
{(XxiVv) Calle Serranc, 116, 28006 Madrid, Spain

{xxv) Calle Escoles Pies, 102, 08317 Barcelonam, Spain

{%xvi) Gran Via Marguez dei Turia n 55 Puerta 8, 46005, Valencia, Spain

{xxvii} 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware 19808, US

{xxviii)  Colthouse Grange Farm, Ramsgill, Harrogate, North Yorkshire, United Kingdom, HG3 5AE
{xxix) A400-725 Granville Street, PO Box 10325, Vancouver BC V7Y 1G5, Canada

{xxx) 20 Fenchurch Street, London, England, England, EC3M 3AG

3 Trade and other receivables

2022 2021

£000 £000

Amounts due from subsidiary undgertakings 163.154 170,090
Prepayments 361 [
163,515 170,096

Amaounts due from all subsidiaries are interest free, unsecured and repayable an demand.
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4  Trade and other payables

w

2022 2021 %

£000 £000 g

Trade payables 111 55 =

Other taxation and social security 2,025 646 2
Accruals 1,578 1,345
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 13,747 5,344

17,461 7390 g

2

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings are interest free and repayable on demand. g

5  Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
This note provides information about the Company’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost.
Further details on the Company’s revolving credit facility (RCF') can be found in the consolidated financial statements note 17

Obligations under interest-bearing loans and borrowings

2022 2021 -

£000 £000 >

Current liabilities ‘ £

Bankloans - 15000 N4

- 15000 [

Nen-current liabilities ) Z
Bank loans 90,907 76,086

Unamaortised finance costs (563) 641) ]

90,344 75445 &

50,344 80,445 §

6  Share capital g
Number  Crdinary shares  Share premium Total
of 1p each £000 £000 £000
At 1 May 2020 324,554,653 3,246 88,610 91,856
At 30 April 2021 324,554,653 3,246 88,610 91,856
Shares issued on acquisition of Zing 365 Holdings Ltd 798,212 8 755 763
At 30 April 2022 325,352,865 3,254 89,365 92,619

On 24 May 2021 798,212 ordinary shares were issued as a result of the acquisition of Zing.

7 Employee information and Directors’ remuneration
The Company had no employees (other than Directors) employed during the year. No Directors received remuneration in respect to services
to the Company in the year {2021: £nil}.
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Unaudited information

Appendix

Reconciliation to new global operating structure - re-presented year ended 30 Aprit 2021

The following reconciliation shows how the prior year’s revenue and gross profit has been re-presented from the old operating structure to

the new global operating structure:

As reported

under new global

operating

As reported for structure

the year ended Impact of effective

30 April 2021 restructure 1 May 2021

£1000 £000 £000
Segment net revenue T
Legal Advisory - 285,326 285,326
Commercial Services 110,667 (110,667) -
Insurance Services 103,884 (103,884) -
International 85,255 {85,255) -
Connected Services 25,338 3,085 28,423
Mindcrest {(FY2021: Managed Services) 12,986 11,395 24,381
Net revenue 338,130 - 338,130

Segment direct cost a

Legal Advisory - (137,487} (137,487}
Commercial Services {46,245) 46,245 -
Insurance Services {51,560) 51,560 -
International {49,012) 49,012 -
Connected Services (14,406) (1,819) (16,225)
Mindcrest (FY2021: Managed Services) (5,126) (7.511) {12,637}
Direct cost {166,349) - (166,349)
Segment gross profit o
Legal Advisory - 147,839 147,839
Commercial Services 64,422 (64,422) -
Insurance Services 52,324 (52,.324) -
International 36,243 (36,243) -
Connected Services 10,932 1,266 12,198
Mindcrest (FY2021: Managed Services) 7,860 3,884 11,744
Gross profit 171,781 - 171,781
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Glossary

Alternative Performance Measures ('APMs’)

in accordance with the Guidelines on APMs issued by the Furopean Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA’), additional information is
provided on the APMs used by the Group below. In the reporting of financial information, the Group uses certain measures that are not
required under IFRS,

These additional measures (commaonly referred to as APMs) provide the Group's stakeholders with additional information on the
performance of the business. These measures are consistent with those used internally, and are considered insightful for understanding
the financial performance of the Group. The Group’s APMs provide an important measure of how the Greup is performing by providing a
meaningful comparisen of how the business is managed and measured on a day-to-day basis and achievas consistency and comparability
between reporting pericds.

These APMs may not be directly comparable with similar measures reported by other companies and they are not intended to be
a substitute for, or superior to, IFRS measures. All Income Statement measures are provided for continuing operations unless
otherwise stated.

Changes to APMs

The Directors and management have redefined adjusted diluted earnings per share {'adjusted DEPS') to aid comparability and simplicity.
The denominator reflects the aggregate of shares in issue and those shares held in trust, to represent a fully diluted EPS. In addition, the
denominator for the adjusted earnings per share {‘adjusted EPS’) has been made consistent to the basic EPS measure to provide further
consistency to the statutory measure. The definitions of adjusted DEPS and adjusted EPS are fully defined below.

APM
Net revenue

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Revenue

Definition and purpose
Revenue less recoverable expenses

Recoverable expenses do not attract 2 profit margin and can vary significantly month-to-month such that they may distort the ink between
revenue and the performance of the Group. Net revenue is widely reported in the legal sector as the key measure refiecting underlying
trading, and allows greater comparability with other legal businesses.

Reconciliation

2022 2021
£'000 £000
Revenue 416,052 400,948
Recoverable expenses (65,810} (62,818)
Net revenue 350,242 338,130

APM
Adjusting items

Closest equivalent statutory measure
None

Definition and purpose
Those items which the Group excludes from its statutery metrics to arrive at adjusted profit or cash flow metrics in order to present further
measures of the Group's performance.

These include items which are significant in size or by nature are non-trading or nan-recurring. This provides a comparison of how the
business is managed and measured on a day-to-day basis and provides consistency and comparability between reporting periods, as well
as aliows our results to be compared more fairly with other similar businesses.

Share-based payment charges within adjusting items relate to shares allocated from the pre-funded employee benefit trust, which are not
dilutive to shareholders.

Reconciliation
See note 2

APM
Adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (‘adjusted EBITDA’)

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Operating profit/(loss)

Definition and purpose
Operating profit agjusted for adjusting items, as detailed in note 2, and adding back depreciation and amortisation.

Adjusted EBITDA is useful as a measure of comparative operating performance between both previous periods, and other companies as it
is refiective of adjustments for adjusting items and other factors that affect operating performance. Adjusted EBITDA removes the effect
of depreciation and amortisation, and adjusting items as described above, as well as items relating to capital structure {finance costs and
income) and iterns outside the control of management.
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Financial statements

Unaudited information continued

Reconciliation

2022 2021

£000 £600
‘Operating profit/{loss) 27,653 (25,634)
Depreciation of right-of-use asset 12,737 11,977
Other depreciation and amortisation 7.2M1 6,989
Total of adjusting items 19,081 64,792
Adjusted EBITDA 66,682 58,124

APM
Adjusted profit befcre tax (‘adjusted PBT")

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Profit/(loss) before tax

Definition and purpose
Profit before tax and after reflecting the impact of adjusting items.

Adjusted PBT is useful as a measure of comparative operating performance between both previous periods, and other companies as it is
reflective of adjustments for non-underlying items, amortisation of acquired intangibles, share based payments expense, impairment/
impairment reversal and other factors that affect operating performance. Adjusted PBT is used to provide a useful and consistent measure
of the ongoing performance of the Group. Adjusted measures are reconciled to statutory measures in note 2.

Reconciliation

2022 2027
£000 £000
Profit/{loss) before tax T 22316 (30,600)
Total of adjusting items (note 2) 19,081 64,762
Adjusted profit before tax 41,395’7 34,192

APM
Costta income ratic

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Not applicable

Definition and purpose
Adjusted administrative expenses and impairment as detailed in note 2, divided by net revenue as defined above.

After adjusting for significant items that are one-off in nature, the cost to incorme ratio is an essential metric in assessing the levels of
underiying operational gearing in the Group. The Group uses the cost to incorme ratio to measure the efficiency of its activities. A decrease
in cost to income ratio indicates an improvement to efficiency, and likewise an increase indicates a decline. Management note that the
usefulness of the cost to income ratic is inherently timited by the fact that it is a ratic and thus does not provide information on the
absolute ameount of operating revenue and expenses.

Reconciliation

2022 2021
£000 £000
Net revenue 350,242 338,130
Adjusted administrative expenses and impairment {(note 2) 134,322 132,623
Cost to income ratio 38.4% 39.2%
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APM
Adjusted administrative expenses

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Administrative expenses and impairment

1odal igaens

Definition and purpose
Adjusted administrative expenses are defined as administrative expenses plus impairment {ess adjusting items (as defined above).

Adjusted administrative expenses provide a useful and consistent measure of the ongoing administrative expenses of the Group.
In particular, the adjusted administrative expenses are utilised within the Group's definition of 'Cost to income ratio’ which 15 also

o
defined above. %’
Reconciliation z
See note 2 ﬁ
APM

Net debt (excluding {FRS 16)

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Cash and cash equivalents less borrowings

Definition and purpose
Net debt comprises cash and cash equivalents less interest-bearing loans and borrowings (including the supplier payments facility).

Net debt is ane measure that can De used to indicate the strength of the Group’s statement of financial position and can be a useful
measure of the indebtedness of the Group. This metric excludes the Group's lease liabilities under IFRS 16 in order to provide consistency
with how the Group manages and reports its indebtedness and alse providing consistency with the definition of Net debt under the
Group’s banking agreement.

o
w
o
P
T
=
n

=]
Reconciliation :_;’
See ncte 17 z
g
3
APM g

Lock-up days

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Not applicable

Definition and purpose

Lock-up days comprise work-in-progress (‘WIP') days, representing the amount of time between performing work and invoicing clients; and
debtor days, representing the length of time between invoicing and cash collection. WIP days are calculated as unbilled revenue divided by
annualised net revenue multiplied by 365 days. Debtor days are calculated as trade and other receivables, excluding amounts due from
members of partnerships, divided by annualised net revenue multiplied by 365 days. Annualised net revenue is the total net revenue for
the previous 12 month penod with adjustrents for acquisitions and discontinuations.

Reconciliation
See note 26
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Unaudited information continued

APM
Adjusted diluted earnings per share (‘adjusted DEPS)

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Diluted earnings per share (DEPS')

Definition and purpose
Adjusted earnings divided by the total number of ordinary shares in issue.

Adjusted earnings is defined as {loss) / earnings from continuing operations adjusted for:

= non-underlying items;

» share-based payments expense;

* gain oninvestment;

* amortisation of acquired intangible assets;
* impairment; and

* the tax effect of the above items;

Whilst this metric is not prepared in accordance with [AS 33 ‘Earnings per Share’, itis an important APM to provide the Group’s stakeholders
with a fully diluted EPS metric using the Group's adjusted earnings for the period that is consistent year on year.

Reconciliation
Seenote 8

APM
Adjusted earnings per share {‘adjusted EPS')

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Basic EPS

Definition and purpose
Adjusted earnings divided by weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of the basic earnings per share calculation
See adjusted diluted EPS definiticn and purpose above for details of adjusting measures.

This metric provides the Group's stakehelders with an EPS metric using the Group's adjusted profitability but with a denominator
consistent with the statutory basic EPS measure.

Reconciliation
Seenote 8

APM

Like-for-like {'L4L)

Closest eguivalent statutory measure
N/A

Definition and purpose

Like for like metrics, are applied to net revenue, direct costs, gross profit and gross margin to exclude the results of DWF Australia and
Germany following the scale-back of operations in March 2027 and April 2022 respectively, along with the results for current year
acquisitions, Zing and BCA.

This metric ailows the Group’s stakeholders to compare the performance of the business on a consistent basis with the prior period, given
that the scale back of the Australian and German business was a significant change to the Group.

Reconciliation
Not applicable

APM
Revenue per partner

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Revenue

Definition and purpose
Revenue per partner is defined as net revenue divided by average number of partners (on a full time equivalent basis) for the period.

This metric allows the Group's stakeholders to view the performance of the business based on average revenue per partner, split by
dwision (this includes both member and employee partners).
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Reconciliation

v

2022 2021 =

£000 £000 &

Legal Advisory 896 B42 3

Connectad Services 1,382 1,428 =
Mindcrest 12,216 16,254
Group ' 975 924

(]

(=]

&

APM §

Annualised net revennie "

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Revenue

Definition and purpose ‘ .
Annualised net revenue reflects the total net revenue for the previous 12-month period inclusive of pro-forma adjustments for acquisitions
and discontinuations/ciosures/scale-backs.

This metric is utilised as a denominator for lock up, WIP and debtor day calculations which allow greater comparability within the legal
sector consistent with prior and full year metrics.

Reconciliation
Not applicable

w
5
T
3
o
=

APM
Free cash flows

Closest equivalent statutory measure

Not applicable

Definition and purpose ‘

Free cash flow is the amount by which the operating cash flow exceeds working capital, amounts payable to members, tax, interest and
capital expenditure.

uonewIou 13410

This metric provides the Group's stakeholders detail around the efficiency of cash generation and utilisation.

Reconciliation
See note 26

APM
Leverage

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Not applicable

Definition and purpose
Leverage is calculated as net debt, divided by the {ast 12 manths adjusted EBITDA (both defined above),

This metric provides the Group's stakeholders detail around the Group's ability to repay debt and meet payment obligations. Leverage
should be compared with a benchmark, or industry average and is widely used by analysts and credit rating agencies.

Reconciliation

2022 2021
£000 £000
Adjusted EBITDA (last 12 monthis) 66,682 58,124
Net debt 71,820 60,168
Leverage 1.08 1.04
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Other information

Shareholder information

2022 financial calendar

8 Septernber 2022

Ex dividend date for the final dividend

G September 2022

Reccord date to be eligible for the final dividend

28 September 2022

Annual General Meeting

7 October 2022

Payment date for the final dividend

December 2022

Announcement of interim results

Annual General Meeting ('AGM’)

The AGM of the Company will be held at
and be broadcast from 20 Fenchurch Street,
London, United Kingdem, EC3M 3AG on

28 September 2022 at 2.00pm.

The Notice of AGM and a proxy form
accompanies this Annual Report. You can
also find the Notice of AGM on the Company’s
website at dwfgroup.com/en/investors.

Shareholder enquiries

The Company’s share register is maintaned
by Equiniti. Shareholders with queries relating
to their shareholding should contact Equiniti
as follows

By post:
Equiniti Limited, Aspect House, Spencer
Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BNS9 6DA

UK Telephone:*
0371 384 2030

Overseas telephone:
+44 {0121 415 7047

Online:

help.shareview.co.uk

{from here you can email Equiniti securely
with your enquiry)

* wnes are open from 8.30am 1o 5.30pm UK ume.
Monday to friday.

Direct credit of dividend payment
Dividends can be pald automatically into
your bank or building society account. The
benefits of doing this are that you will:

« receive cleared funds in your bank
account on the payment date;

» avoid postal delays; and

* remove the risk of your cheques getting
lost in the post

To take advantage of this service or for
further detatls, contact Equiniti or visit
shareview.co.uk

For overseas Shareholders, a separate
dividend service provided by Equiniti
enables those living overseas to have their
dividend paid into their bank account, for a
small fee. For further details please contact
Equiniti or visit shareview.co.uk

Electronic communications

Shareholders can sign up for etectronic
communications online by registering with
Shareview, the internet-based platform
provided by our Registrars, Equiniti. In addition
to enabling Shareholders to receive
communications by email, Shareview provides
a facility for Shareholders to manage their
shareholding online by allowing them to:

+ receive trading updates by email;
+ view their sharehcldings;

» update their records - including change
of address; and

» vote in advance of Company general
meetings. To find out more about the
services offered by Shareview please
visit shareview.co.uk

Corporate website
Shareholders are encouraged to visit our
website dwfgroup.com which provides:

« Company news and information;

» ourthree offerings - Legal Advisory,
Mindcrest and Connected Services; and

» the Company's approach to
operating responsibly.

There is alse a specific investers’ section
which contains up-to-date informaton
for Shareholders, including:

» comprehensive share price information;
« financial results;
« information on how to manage your shares;

« dividend history and dividend
calculator; and

« access to current and historical
Shareholder documents, such as this
Annual Report and Accounts and the
AGM Notice of Meeting.

Unsolicited telephone calls and
correspondence Shareholders should be
wary of any unsolicited advice, offers to
buy shares at a discount, or offers of free
reports aboutthe Company. These are
typically from overseas ‘brokers’ who target
UK or US Shareholders, offering to sell them
what often turns out to be worthless or
high-risk shares. These operations are
commonly known as beiler rooms, and the
brokers can be very persistent and
extremely persuasive.

Shareholders are advised to deal only with
financial services firms that are authorised
by the Financial Conduct Authonty {'FCA).
You can check if a firm is properly authorised
by the FCA by visiting fca.org.uk/register.

If you do deal with an unauthorised firm,
you will not be etigible to receive payment
under the Financial Services Compensation
Scheme if anything goes wrong. For more
detailed information on how you can protect
yourself from an investment scam, or to
report a scam, go to fca.org.uk/consumers/
scams/repeort-scam-us or call 0800 111 6768.

Cautianary note regarding
forward-lccking statements

* This Annual Report and ACCOUNES contains

certain forward-looking statements with
respect to the Company’s current targets,
expectations and projections about future
performance, anticipated events or trends
and other matters that are rot historical
facts. These forward-looking statements,
which sometimes use words such as'aim’,
‘anticipate’, ‘believe’, ‘intend’, ‘plan, 'estimate’,
‘expect’ and words of similar meaning,
include all matters that are not historical
facts and reflect the directors’ beliefs and
expectations and involve a number of risks,
uncertainties and assumptions that could
cause actual results and performance to
differ materially from any expected future

" results or performance expressed or

implied by the forward-looking statement.
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Corporate information

Company name . Registrar »
DWF Group plc Equiniti Limited 5
. Aspect House ‘ w®
e wdsgwu srgz? “ spencer Road 3
nelan Lancing 3
Secretary and registered office BN399 6DA =
Darren Drabble United Kingdom
DWF Group plc "
20 Fenchurch Street London ggﬁ(?'ge?tgzg%g;.
EC3M 3AG g
United Kingdem Overseas telephone: &
44 (01121 4 47 B
companysecretary@dwf law +4410) 1570 §
* Lines are open from 8 30am to 5 30om UK time, i o
dwfgroup.com Monday to Friday I
Statutory Auditor :
PricewaterhouseCoopers .
1 Hardman Square :
i Manchester i -
' M3 3EB §
United Kingdom i 2
Corporate stockbrokers i é
. Berenberg . 3
60 Threadneedle Street i z
London | @
EC2R 8HP |

' United Kingdom

Zeus Capital Limited
82 King Street
Manchester

M2 4WQ

" United Kingdom

. Principal UK bankers
HSBC UK Bank plc

! 8 Canada Square

- London
E14 5HG
United Kingdom
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Other information

Principal offices

United Kingdom
42 Queen Street
Belfast

BT1 6HL

One Snowhill

Snow Hill Queensway
Birmingham

B4 6GA

Redcliff Quay

120 Redcliff Street
Bristol

BS1 6HU

23-25 Coldharbour Road
Redland

Bristol

BS6 7T

Na. 2 Lochrin Sguare
96 Fountainbridge
Edinburgh

EH3 90A

103 Waterloo Street
Glasgow
G2 7BW

Bridgewater Place
Water Lane
Leeds

LS11 5DY

5 St Paul's Square
Oid Hall Street
Liverpcol

L3 9AE

20 Fenchurch Street
Londen
EC3M 3AG

Australia

Level 36

Riverside Centre
123 Eagle Street
Brisbane

QLD 4000

GPO Box 74
Brisbane QLD 4001

Level 9

Wyndham Corporate Centre
1 Corporate Court

Bundall

QLD 4217

Tower 4

Level 17

727 Collins Street
Docklands

VIC 3008

Level 25
85 Castlereagh Street
Sydney

©NSW 2000

. DWF Adjusting
Suite 1

Level 1

123 Midson Road
! Epping

PNSW 2121

Canada

111 Queen Street
; BastSuite 450

. Toronto ON

M5C 152

605 - 1185 West Georgia St.
Vancouver

India

Mindcrest

701/801, Gera - Commerzone
Bullding No 6 (R4)

Survey No 65

Kharadi

Pune 411014

Ireland

2 Dublin Landings
North Wall Quay
North Dock
Dublin

Dubln 1

Italy

Via dei Bossi b
20021

Milano

Poland

plac Stanistawa Malachowskiego 2
00-066 Warszawa

Poland

Qatar

Suite A

23rd Floar
Tornado Tower
PO Box 9417
Doha

Qatar

Spain
Escoles Pies 102
08017 Barcelona

Serrano 116
28006 Madnd

Gran via Margués del Turia
55 46005 Valencia

BC, V6E 4E6
; E'COtdt P\aces France United Arab Emirates
ardman Street
Manchester 137-139 rue de I'Université Office 902,
75007 Tower 2
M3 3AA Paric Al Fattan Currency House
2nd Floor DIFC PO Box 507104
France Dubai
Central Square Toque K165
South Orchard Street United States of America
Newcastle-Upon-Tyne ¢ Germany ‘
NET 3AZ | Rechtsanwaltsgesellschaft mbH Mindcrest
. 425 S, Financial Place
. Linkstr. 12 <urte 1100
10785 Berlin Hite
' Garman Chicago
| wermany IL 60605
Rechtsanwaltsgeselischaft mbH DWF Claims (USA) LLC
- Kongsallee 60 ¢ 740 Waukegan Road
© D-40212 Dasseldorf 8
. German Suite 340
. ¥ Deerfield
" Rechtsanwaltsgeselischaft mbH iL 60015
_ Prinzregentenstrale 78
- 81675 Munich
© Germany
Rechtsanwaltsgesellschaft mbH,
Habsburgerring 2, Westgate
50674 Cologne
Germany
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